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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
| 8
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The State argues that the instant Petition should be denied as the facts set forth are
misleading. This argument is without merit. The State further argues that “in the critical areas of

this case, the selective factual presentation in the writ paints an inaccurate picture of the facts
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presented.” In the instant Petition, testimony was accurately cited directly Trom the Transcript of
Proceedings as to what the witnesses said “verbatim” at the Preliminary Hearing. The testimony was
not “edited” in any way as alleged by the State. However, the State is correct in its assertion that the
testimony presented does support Petitioner’s argument.

The State mistakenly argues that Petitioner concedes that Brodie Aschenbrenner was
murdered. This is simply not the case. This case is surrounded by uncertainties. The most specific |
being the cause of death of Brodic Aschenbrenner. Although the State continues to argue that these
offenses were committed, if any such alleged abuse occurred to Brodie, it was not by Petitioner,
despite the State’s allegations of the facts being “uncontroverted.” Based upon all of the testimony
presented at the Preliminary Hearing, it is erroneous to allege that Petitioner concedes in any way,
that Brodie Aschenbrenner was murdered.

The most critical testimony provided at the Preliminary Hearing was given by Dr. Lisa Gavin
who performed the autopsy on Brodie. Dr. Gavin’s testimony was that her diagnosis of ;the condition
of Brodie Aschenbrenner during her antopsy was that he had acute peritonitis due to duodenal
transection due to blunt force injury of the abdomen. (PHT at Page 46). She further testified as
follows (PHT at Page 47):

BY MR. STANTON:

Q. Now, what was the transection of an organ that you observed in
the abdominal vault?

A, The duedenum extends from the stomach and goes out through
several loops of your small bowel and eventually go into your colon
and then fecal matter, if you will, extends from there. The duodenum
comes directly after the stomach and it’s a tube essentially, and the
tube was transected, in other words essentially cut in half, and
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therefore all the contents that were coming from the stomach would

1
5 just empty up into the abdominal cavity.
Q. Let me ask you in separate forms. Would the dissection of the
3 duodenum be an instantaneously incapacitating injury to a
s two-year-old child?
A. There would be immediate pain, but the contents going out into
5 the abdomen eventually generate this inflammatory response which
in turn the acute peritonitis and eventually cause the death. So it could
6 be minutes to hours rather than instantaneous.
7 Q. What would be the symptoms generally speaking when a child of
Brodie’s age that one would be able to observe after the transection
8 of the duodenum?
9 A. Abdominal pain, possibly vomiting as well as fever eventually.
10 Q. When you say “pain”, a child obviously would be manifesting in
some sort of crying or fussiness?
11
A. 1 could imagine.
12
3 Q. What about the appetite?
1 ,
A. Usually it’s limited. Decreased.
14
15 Dr. Gavin clearly stated that there would be immediate pain, but the contents going out into
16 || the abdomen “cventually” generate this inflammatory response which in tum causes the acute
17 || peritonitis and “eventually” causes the death. She described symptoms which Brodie was in fact
18 || experiencing prior to his death as testified to by Arica Foster. (PHT at Page 114). Aricatestified that
19 §f she had told the detectives that Brodie had been experiencing some flu-like symptoms a couple
20 | weeks prior to his demise. She also stated that she was concerned about these symptoms but does
21 || not remember if she took him to the pediatrician.
22 Arica also testified that during their trip to the Shark Reef, Circus Circus and the other stores
23 || until the time they arrived at home that Brodie had been tired and cranky. (PHT at Page 123 - 126).
24 [ She indicated that he was cranky from being tired, however, testified that once they arrived home
25 || she started to clean and Brodie helped her, despite his fussy demeanor.
26 " Dr. Gavin testified that she noted in her report itemns consistent with transection of the
27 || duodenum in Brodie’s abdominal cavity. She testified that the presence of the fluid, the kind of
28 Il brown fluid that was present in the abdominal cavity, is an indicator of the transection and of course

3
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the development of peritonitis suggests that in some way the bowels have been disrupted. (PHT at
Page 48). Dr. Gavin stated that the location of the duodenal where this was torn is essentially just
anterior to the spinal cord and although the bowel is loose within the abdomen, there’s a point
anatomically and developmentally where it stays somewhat attached to the center. There’s essentially
a point where the bowel is attached at that point and if enough force occurs, it presses that bowel up

against that area and actually can cause it to tear, to lacerate essentially.
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A portion of Dr. Gavin's testimony follows:

BY MR. STANTON;
Q. Now, what type of other incidents do J'ou as a pathologist
encounter transections of duodenums in children or adults for that
matter?
A. A motor vehicle accident, any blunt force injury to the abdomen.

Q. And you’re talking about severe enough blunt force trauma that
someone actually dies during that automobile accident?

A. Correct,

Dr. Gavinclearly testified upon direct examination that if enough force occurs, it presses that
bowel up against that area and actually can cause it to tear. She clearly testified that there would be
immediate pain, but the contents going out into the abdomen “eventually” generate this inflammatory
response which in turn causes the acute peritonitis and “eventually” causes the death. She stated

there would be flu like symptoms and could imagine there may be some fussiness, Dr. Gavin clearly

testified that this type of blunt force trauma can be consistent with that of an automobile accident. |

Upon cross examination, Dr. Gavin testified that it’s hard to tell the direction the blunt force
trauma came from. It’s less likely that it came from directly from the back. It’s more likely it came
from the front or the sides. (PHT at Page 60). She testified that she didn’t see any evidence of
injury to the skin in the abdominal area and that it takes a tremendous amount of force to cause the
damage that she saw, force so significant it is close to being consistent with an automobile accident.
(PHT at Page 61). Dr. Gavin also testified that she noticed contusions that were in various stages
of healing but that it’s difficult to date a contusion specifically. A portion of Dr. Gavin's testimony

follows:
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BY MR. McDONALD:

2 Q. Could a contusion last for a week?
3 A. They would be in usually a different shade, a different color if
. they’ve been there for a weeK’s time. '
Q. Well, you said usually.
Z A. Yes. _
Q. You had no prior history with this individual, correct?
! A. Correct.
’ Q. You don’t know how long it took for his body to process a
9 contusion so to speak? '
10 A, Correct.
11 Q. So could some of those contusions on his body had been there
longer than a week?
2 A. Possibly.
13
14 Dr. Gavin also testified as to the subscalpular contusions which were found in the skull area,
15 | under the hairline which can be found any where over the skull or under the skin. (PHT at Page 63),
16 || She testified that after looking at those histologically these injuries are probably about 24 hours
17 | before his demise. (PHT at Page 64). Dr. Gavin stated that this is determined by looking at the
18 | cells under the microscope for the presence of red blood cells, the presence of macrophages, and
19 |} those cells, whether or not the red blood cells are starting to clot and break down, whether or not the
20 macrophaées are present and have any iron present in them, those help you indicate timing. Because
21 || we know the sequence of events that it takes for different types of cells in the body fo come out {o
22 |l try to heal injury that’s occurred. (PHT at Page 64). _
23 || Dr. Gavin was asked if that timeline was standard for every person, to which she replied “It’s
24 || what’s been documented in all of our textbooks. So it’s a standard approach. The timing of those
25 |l different ones has been argued.” She was further asked “So there isn’t a total agreement then on the
26 || timing?” Dr.Gavin’s reply was “There’s a standard text in terms of when those particular cells come
27 || out.” Dr. Gavin stated that she sent the entire brain to a neurological pathologist to Dr. Bennett
28
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i 1 [ Omalu who is located in California but that she wasn’t present when he did any testing on it. (PHT
= 2 i at Page 65).
- 3 Based upon Dr. Gavin’s testimony, the time of the injury is based upon what’s been
- 4 || documented in textbooks, and is probably 24 hours old. This is not an absolute degree of certainty
. 5 || as to the timeline of when these injuries occurred. It is a “textbook” standard, and not an
; 6 || individualized diagnosis. |
B 7 Dr. Gavin was next questioned about what the deféctives had fold her while she was
8 || performing the autopsy of Brodie. (PHT at Page 71). A portion of Dr. Gavin’s testimony follows:
9 BY MR. McDONALD:
10 Q. All right. Did the detective tell you or did the captain tell you that
the child had been in a motor vehicle accident within three weeks of
11 his demise?
12 A. Yes. I don’t remember if it was the detective that told me or |
found that out through my investigator, but [ was aware that the child
13 had been in an accident.
14 Q. Did you review any of the reports from the accident?
15 A. Yes.
16 Q. What did you review?
17 A, [ believe it was an incident report and also the pediatrician visit,
18 Q. You reviewed the incident report?
19 A. I believe so.
| 20 Q. Do you recall anything about the incident report?
| 21 A. I remember that he was in a car seat but that’s what T remember,
22 Q. Do you recall that the mother represented that the car seat was
broken as a result of the accident?
2 A. Yes, | recal] as you’re saying that.
2 Q. The pediatrician, you reviewed pediatrician reports?
2 A. Correct. The records that were sent to me by the pediatrician.
% Q. Do you know if you were sent all the records?
?7 A, ldon’t know, We request all them, we subpoena that information
28 and I assume that they sent them.
6
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Dr. Gavin was asked if the detectives had advised her that Brodie had pulled down the curtain

and the rod had struck him in the back, to which she replied that she had. (PHT at Page 73). She

LAl

testified that she had never seen the rod or the curtains, in order to determine if the curtain rod caused

2

3

4 || the parallel lines she had seen on Brodie’s back. In her earlier testimony when asked which direction
5 }j the blunt force trauma came from she stated “It’s more likely it came from the front or the sides,”
6

Dr. Gavin testificd that the motor vehicle accident could have caused a partial tear to the

[

7~ | dwodenumy, (PHT at Page 74). Her testimony follows:

8 BY MR. McDONALD:
9 . Q. Could the motor vehicle accident have caused a partial tear to the
| duodenum?
0
A. A motor vehicle accident can cause that. But the timing is off in
11 this particular case.
i2 Q. It can cause it to partially tear,. not transect fully?
13 A. It can cause a partial tear but there would be symptoms at that
time.
14
' p Q. Could it be symptoms like an upset stomach?
]
A. They can have an upset stomach.
16
Q. It would be like flu-like symptoms?
17
A. It’s possible.
18

Q. And then as the partial tear -- the way I understand it is that matter
19 instead of processing out it’s coming from the stomach into the
abdominal cavity?

] 20 .
~ A. Yes. [t doesn’teven go into -- he wouldn’t necessarily have normal
21 bowel movements. He would be vomiting, he wouldn’t want to eat.
22 Q. Depending on the extent of the - -
23 A . Well, it’s the peritonitis that develops regardless about the size of
the transection. People can get it from iverticula and they can
24 develop peritonitis and it can be very painful with abdominal
distension. It happens very quickly. It doesn’t necessarily matter the
25 size of the hole. It’s the fact that the contents themselves are going
into the abdominal cavity and it’s the response - -
26

A. It doesn’t matter the size of the hole, it’s the fact of the abdominal
27 contents going into the cavity and that’s causing the peritonitis and
it’s that reaction that ends up making the person sick.

28
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1 Q. Well, wouldn’t the size of the hole regulate the amount of matter
) that is emptying into the abdominal cavity?
A. The amount that gets into the abdominal cavity isn’t relevant either
3 because it’s the reaction to something that’s not supposed to be there
that causes the problem that causes the peritonitis that causes the
4 death,
5 Q. So it’s not uncommon for someone to have peritonitis for in
p excess - of two weeks before expiring?
A, They can have it for - that’s correct, but they’re usually sick, a
7 fever, abdominal pain , not eating, could be vomiting, may not have
3 normal bowel movements.
Q. And those are some of the symptoms that a person may have,
9 correct?
10 A. That’s correct.
11 Q. They wouldn’t necessarily have to have all those symptoms?
12 A. Usually they have a majority of them.
13 Q. And that comes from just your education from the text books?
14 A. Education. I have seen that when I was in medical school. | have
seen people with peritonitis present. I've seen children with
15 peritonitis present. I've seen aduits die from peritonitis as well as
children,
16 ‘
Q. You don’t necessarily have to have as you mentioned a transection
17 of the duodenum to incur peritonitis?
18 A. That’s correct.
19 Q. It can happen from problems with your pancreas?
20 A. That’s correct.
21 Q. How about your gall bladder?
22 A. Correct. It can do that with the gall bladder as well.,
23 Based upon this testimony, it could take a matter of time, in excess of two weeks, for death
24 || to occur. Dr. Gavin further testified that a person my experience localized pain symptoms for a
25 || fracture of the ribs depending on the éxtent.(PHT at Page 77), Brodie’s fractured rib was found to
26 || be non-displaced, a displaced fracture would carry more severe symptoms. Dr. Gavin further
27 || testified that she did not recall being advised that four to five days prior to his demise, Brodie was
28 [} riding on a battery operated quad, went off the curb and allegedly hit his face. (PHT at Page 77).
8
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1 |f When asked if this is something she would put in her report if someone had told her, she stated “[
2 || usvally leave some of that material to the investigative reports, Occasionally I’ll take pieces of that
3 || and put it into the summary, but it may or may not. I don’t know whether I would have chose to put
4 [ it in or not.”
5 Finally, in the conclusion of cross examination, Dr, Gavin was asked whether or not she felt
6 || that there was an indication that Brodie bruised a lot or bruised easily. Dr. Gavin stated yes. (PHT
7 || at Page 79). A portion of her testimony follows:
8 BY MR. McDONALD:
9 Q. You reviewed the pediatrician’s reports or files?
10 A. What [ was given.
11 Q. What you subpoenaed, correct?
12 A. What was given to me by subpoena.
13 Q. And that there was an indication that this child bruised a lot or
bruised easily? _
14
A. Yes.
15 -
Q. Did that cause you any concern?
16
A. He did what I feel to be the proper evaluation, he looked at the
17 platelet levels and he looked at some clotting in formation to see
whether or not there was any kind of abnormality. It’s what | know to
18 be a preliminary investigation of that issue and all of that seemed to
be within normal limits.
19
Q. But there’s other testing that can be done, correct?
20 ,
A. There are some other tests that could have been done,
21
Q. But this was just preliminary testing?
22
A. My impression. I'm not a clinician, but that’s my impression.
23 '
Q. Of the 800 or so autopsies that you’ve done how many involve the
24 transection of the duodenum?
25 A. 1 have only seen a couple cases and I’ve only done this case.
26 Q. This is the first one you did yourself?
27

A. Myself.

130



bl

1)

The State’s argument that Dr. Gavin was able to testify, from a medical degree of certainty
that the primary cause of Brodie’s death (acute peritonitis) occurred within (“minutes to hours”) from
his death. Thus, the State’s argument that “the timing of the fatal injuries was clearly testified to and
was not imprecise,” is without merit. There are uncertaintics which exist in this case. There is
testimony based upon “textbook™ standards, rather the individualized facts presented in this case.

The State questions the relevance as to Arica’s testimony regarding the car accident which

occurred and may have been the source of Brodig s injurics. Arica testificd that sheand Brodie had—
been in an accident on May 26", (PHT at Page 111). She stated that she was hit from behind and
it had caused Brodie’s car seat to break on the left hand side and it had broken off the Styrofoam.
Arica testified that here was quite a bit of damage to the back of her car. (PHT at Page 112). If you
recall once again, Dr. Gavin testified that the blunt force trauma came from the front or the sides,
Brodie’s car seat was broken on the left hand side,
When Arica was asked if Brodie received medical attention, she testified as follows (PHT
at Page 113):
BY MR. MCDONALD:
Q. Did you sustain any injuries in the automobile accident?
A. | jerked my neck.
Q. What about your head?
A. It was fine.
Q. Did you lose consciousness when your head hit the side window?
A. No.

Q. And Brodie never complained of any injuries on May 26", the day
of the automobile accident?

A. No,

Q. And when you took him to the doctor on May 27th did the doctor
do any x-rays?

A, No.

Q. Doctor just examined him in the room when you were present?

A, Yes.

10
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Q. About how long was the doctor in the room with you and Brodie?

2 A. Ten or fifteen minutes.
3 It is difficult to believe that Brodie was only physically examined for approximately ten to
4 | fifteen minutes and no x-rays were taken after he was involved in an automobile accident which had
5 | the force to literally break his car seat. As Dr. Gavin previously testified, it is not always
6 || instantaneous and that a tear in the duodenum can partially tear and for someone to experience
7 (| peritonitis for in excess of two weeks before expiring. A simple physical examination after an
8 |[ automobile accident of that rﬁagnitude was less than sufficient. There are uncertainties in the case
9 || atbar.
10 The State further argues that Petitioner’s contentions that if actual abuse occurred to Brodie
11 {| which resulted in his death, they V\.fere not as a result of any actions of Petitioner, are without merit,
12 || The State argues that it is “uncontroverted™ that Petitioner was also alone with Brodie on numerous
13 || occasions prior to his death. It should be noted that if any abuse did occur, the timing of events is
14 || more compelling that it was Arica Foster who was alone With Brodie during this critical timing of
15 ) events. The following portion of Arica’s testimony would negate the inference of either “slight or
16 || marginal” evidence that probable cause exists to believe that it was Petitioner who committed these
I7 || acts against Brodie. (PHT at Page 128): |
18 BY MR. McDONALD:
19 Q. When you cleaned Brodie up what was he wearing?
20 A. His underwear and I {ook his shirt off,
21 Q. So you removed his shirt. Did you see any injuries when you
removed his shirt?
22
A. No.
23
Q. No injuries at all?
2 A. I didn’t notice anything, I was half asleep and it was still kind of
25 dark in the house.
26 Q. Well, you took him in the bathroom to clean him up, didn’t you?
27 A. Yes. .
28

Q. You tumed the light on in the bathroom?

11
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A. Yeah,
Q. So it wasn’t dark in the bathroom, correct?
A. Correct.
Q. Youdidn’t have any problems seeing Brodie at that time, did you?

A. No, I didn’t notice anything.

Q. You took him out to the couch and did you arrange the couch in
any special way? :
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A. Ijust put a towe] down.

By her own testimony, she did not observe any injuries to Brodie at that time. It was
following this incident that she and Petitioner went to bed together and the following morning
Petitioner, on his way to work, placed Brodie next to Arica on the bed before he left. Arica testified
that she awoke around 8:50 am,, noticed that Brodie was at the edge of her bed and rubbed his back.
She felt that he was cold and non responsive, and that’s when she called 911,

By her own testimony, Arica admitted that she did not observe any injuries to Brodie when
she put him to bed that evening. She further testified that she and Petitioner went to bed together,
The State argues that “Incredibly, the Petition fails to mention that when Brodie is suffering signs
of his fatal beating, vomiting, he was. “found” by the petitioner alone, and further, when taking care
of Brodie (Petitioner played no role in caring for Brodie when he was vomiting) the relevant
testimony was: Q. What did Brodie tell you about how he was feeling? A. He told me that his head
hurt.” The State conveniently does not mention the fact that Arica testified, under oath, that she did
not see any injuries to Brodie at that time. She took him into a lighted bathroom to clean him up,
and observed no injuries.

The State further relies on Arica’s testimony, referring to it as “uncontroverted” testimony
of what occurred at the Mandalay Bay Shark Reef visit. The State argues that this portion of Arica’s
testimony is quite “compelling.” Specifically, the State argues that Arica went into her hair salon
to get some money back since she had previously overpaid for some services. (PHT at Page 96).
Based upon Arica’s testimony, the State argues that what actually occurred follows:

Q. When you went into the hair salon how long were you in there?

12
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A. Five minutes.

2 Q. When you went in what was Brodie doing?
3 A. Sleeping.
4 Q. When you came out what was he doing?
5 A. Screaming.
6 When questioned by the State, Arica made it appear that Brodie was grumpy during their trip
7 | to the Shark Reef, among other piaces, on Monday, due to some fault of Petifioner, However, when
8 I cross-examined, Arica testified as follows (PHT at Page 124):
9 BY MR. MCDONALD:
10 | Q. When you went to Circus Circus had that been planned prior to
, going to the Shark Reef? ' ‘
Y A. No.
12
Q. Sc once you were done at the Shark Reef you and Mike discussed
13 going to Circus Circus?
14 A. Yes.
I5 Q. And Brodie was in his stroller at Circus Circus, wasn’t he?
16 A. Yes. |
17 Q. He wasn’t walking?
18 A. No.
19 Q. When Brodie was at Circus Circus did he tell you he was tired?
20 A. Yes. 7
21 Q. Would Brodie get cranky when he was tired?
22 A. Yes.
23 Q. So he was cranky at Circus Circus?
24 A. Yes.
25 Q. So after that you went to Fantastic Sam’s?
26 A. Yes.
27 Q. And then to the bank?
28 A. Yes,

134




fdd

1 Q. Was that a drive-thru?
2 A. Mike went in.
3 Q. And you and Brodie stéyed in the car?
4 A, Yes,
5 Q. So it took 30 or 40 minutes to get from Circus Circus to Fantastic
p Sam’s to the bank and then to Best Buy?
: A. Somewhere around there, yes.
: Q. And was Brodie still telling you that he wanted to go night night?
o A. He had fell asleep between Circus Circus and Fantastic Sam’s.
Q. But he woke up when you got out of the car at Fantastic Sam’s,
10 correct?
11 A. Yes.
iz Q. Did he stay awake to the bank and to Best Buy?
13 A. Yes.
14 Q. Was he cranky?
15 A. A tittle bit.
16 The State left out the relevant portion of Arica’s testimony as to the actual events of what
17 || took place at the hair salon. Arica testified as follows (PHT at Page 96):
18 Q. When i;ou left the Mandalay Bay, McDonald’s area you said you
went to a hair salon?
19
A. Correct.
20
Q. Did you drive there?
21
' A. Mike drove, I was the passenger.
22
) Q. Where was Brodie?
3 ,
A, In the back seat in his car seat,
24
QQ. Is that behind you or behind the defendant?
25
A. In the center.
26 '
Q. Can you reach Brodie as he was seated from either the driver’s
27 side or the passenger side without getting out of the car?
28 A. Yes. From both.

14
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Q. When you went into the hair salon how long were you in there?

2 A. Five minutes.

3 Q. When you went in what was Brodie doing?

4 A. Sleeping.

5 Q. When you came out what was he doing?

6 A. Screaming.

7 Q. Did you ask the defendant what happened?

8 A. He just said yes. He said he woke up.

9 Q. Brodie did?
10 A. Yes.
I Q. When did he tell you Brodie woke up in relationship to when you

went into the hair salon?

:j A. When [ shut the car door,
14 Clearly, as Arica’s testified, Brodie was cranky following the Mandalay Bay trip. He had
15 || fallen asleep and if in fact Brodie had been woken up as a result of Arica shutting the car door, as
16 || most cranky children, he would most likely be screaming and fussy.
17 The State argues that another “compelling” fact omitted from the instant Petition is the
18 i| behavior exhibited by Brodie towards the Petitioner during the last day of his life. The State argues
19 || that on several occasions Brodie did not want to be near the Petitioner. The only testimony
20 | supporting that allegation, is that of Arica Foster, which does not constitute being “uncontroverted
21 | facts” as the State describes them to be. Given Mr. Stanton’s statement during closing arguments,
22 || Arica’s testimony should be considered anything but “uncontroverted facts.”
23 As previously argued by Petitioner, at the Preliminary Hearing, even the State argues that it
24 || is questionable as to who actually committed these crimes against Brddie that caused his death. Mr.
25 §f Stanton’s statement during his closing argument follows in part (PHT at Page 141);
26 BY MR. STANTON:
27 This child died at the hands of another human being and critically

N
o

that it’s non-accidental trauma. So one of three things took place. The
defendant murdered this child, the mother murdered this child or they

15
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both did. Now, what we have in this case is the mother of this child

and the care and concern that you saw of what and how she cared for

this child under oath. With that testimony, Judge, | would submit that

there’s only one of three options that exist based upon this evidentiary
resentation and that the defendant committed tﬁe charge that’s set
orth in the criminal complaint and ask that you bind him over.

Based upon that statement alone, it is unclear how the State can refer to Arica Foster’s

testimony of events as “uncontroverted facts,” regardless of whether or not her testimony was

oo~
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16
17
18
19
20
21
2
23
24
25
26

27

28

presented under oath.

The “uncontroverted facts,” as reiterated by Mr, Stanton’s own statement in his closing
argument, are that the evidence against Petitioner does not establish probabie cause to support a
reasonable inference that it was Petitioner who committed these offenses, if any had been committed.
Mr. Stanton eﬁcplicitly states: “there are three options that exist based upon the testimony and
arguments presented at the Preliminary Hearing,” That statement alone “one of three options,”
reflects that even the State realizes that there was no finding of probable cause at the Preliminary
Hearing o support the criminal charges based on “slight or even marginal evidence” to bind
Petitioner over on these charges. For the Court to find that the State’s argﬁment “that since we
cannot with certainty say who did this, then it must be Petitioner who is to blame,” establishes
probable cause either “slight or marginal,” to bind Petitioner over on these charges, is simply
reversible error., |

Moreover, this case is full of uncertainties, uncertainties as to the actual cause of death of
Brodie Aschenbrenner.

The State argues that the petition quotes a lengthy passage of Arica’s testimony, yet stops just
short of the next portion of Arica’s testimony that is extrémely relevant and directly contradicts the
entirety of the Petitioner’s argument. (PHT at Page 135). The State alleges that the omitted
testimony on cross-examination was that when she was asked if Brodie ever told her that Mike had
hit him, she replied “He told me one time the bump hurt head. He used to call Mike bump.” She was
asked if Brodie told her what happened to which she replied no. Arica testified that this occurred
a coﬁple weeks before Brodie passed away., She testifted that she asked Mike about it, she was

concerned at first, but her concern was alleviated by Mike telling her that they were wrestling and
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he hit his head. She testified that Mike and Brodie played. They would play wrestling in the

2 || apartment.
30 In her earlier testimony however, Arica testified that if Brodie was asked how he received
4} acut, would he be able to tell you, (PHT at Page 132). Her testimony follows in part:
5 BY MR . MCDONALD:
6 Q. Brodie was about two and a half years old, correct?
7 A. Yes.
8 Q. Was he speaking at two and a half?
9 A, A little bit. Not like tons, but enough.
10 Q. If you were to ask him something was he able to answer. you?
11 A. Depends on what it was.
12 Q. Well, if you asked him how did you get that cut, would he be able
to tell you?
13
A. No.
14
Q. Did he ever tell you that Spanky the dog had knocked him down?
. A. He said Spanky did it.
o Q. Spanky did it?
v A. Uh-huh.
'* Q. And that would have been in response to your question as to what
19 had happened?
20 A. Uh-huh.
21 This testimony seems to contradict itself, first she stated no he could not tell me how he got
22 || acut, then conflicted her own testimony by stating Brodie had told her that Spanky had knocked him
23 [ down. Arica’s testimony is very conflicting or very confusing, at best. In no way should it be
24 || considered “uncontroverted fact.”
25 The State argues that Petitioner had motive due to his frustration over potty training and that
26 || there was substantial evidence that Petitioner was frustrated with Brodie not being potty trained fast
27 | enough. The State argues that further, Brodie had an episode where he wet himself at McDonald’s
28 || during the last day of his life. (PHT at Page 94). They further allege that in reading the petition, it
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is as if none of these events ever happened. However, keep in mind that this argument is based upon
the “uncontrovcﬁed facts” provided by Arica Foster.

The State argues that the Petitioner’s argument that Arica testified that Brodie was very
clumsy and although she had previously been advised to take Brodie to a neurologist, she neglected
to do so, is somehow inaccurate, (PHT at Page 134). The State argues that the complete testimony

sheds a completely different and more accurate explanation to these events. When Arica was asked
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“Did you ever take Brodie to a pediatric neurologist,” shé Teplicd “No. My pediatrician said niot to|
worry about it.” She was then asked “So you discussed it with the pediatrician,” to which she replied
“Yes.”

It should be noted that there was no evidence provided at the Preliminary Hearing that this
conversation with the pediatrician ever took place. Moreover, if in fact it did, why didn’t the State
submit the relevant medical records into evidence at the Preliminary Hearing? This would once
again be due to the State’s argument that this Honorable Court should rely on Arica Foster’s
testimony as “uncontroverted facts.”

The State argues that the testimony of Meridee Moshier does not indicate that Brodie was
a clumsy child and was constantly getting bruises. However, in the Preliminary Hearing Transcript
from pages 16 through Page 20, she describes him as a “wild child,” “he had a habit of hitting his
head on her countertops,” “his legs were always bruised” and she called him “Bamm-Bamm™
because he was so wild.

The State alleges that the critical aspect of Ms. Moshier’s testimony is‘completeiy absent
from the petition. That testimony being that she was the last adult person, outside of Petitioner and
Arica, to care for Brodie before he died. On Sunday evening, she bathed and applied lotion to
Brodie’s naked body. (PHT at Page 11). Ms. Moshier testified that she observed him from head to
toe and adamantly denied that she had never seen anything like the nature, severity and most of the
injuries depicted in those photographs.

“The State argues thét the portion of the Petition of the testimony by Ms, Moshier is simply
a gross mischaracterization of the record. However, it was taken directly from the Transcript of

Proceedings, as to what Ms. Moshier testified to. Petitioner agrees that Ms. Moshier testified that
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Brodie was delivered to Arica and Petitioner, with a few minor bruises and he was otherwise in

2 || excellent health and full of vigor. Petitioner does not view this as a mischaracterization of the record.
3 || Especially given that Arica testified that on the night prior to Brodie’s death, she did not observe any
4 || injuries on Brodie either.
5 The State argues that there is no evidence to suggest that Arica inflicted any of numerous
6 || and fatal injuries to her own child and highlights a portion of Arica’s testimony wherein the State
7 || asks “My final question to you Miss Foster, is did you in any way harm Brodie from Sunday evening
8 || to when you just rubbed his back on the next moming [when Brodie was found dead]?” Arica
9 (| replied “No, sir.” '
10 Again based upon the State’s own closing argument wherein Mr, Stanton states “So one of
11 || three things took place. The defendant murdered this child, the mother murdered this child or they
12 || both did,” there was absolutely no evidence sufficient to establish probable cause, either “slight or
13 || marginal” that Petitioner committed any of the acts alleged by the State. Moreover, it certainly does
14 || not place much weight on the State’s argument that when Arica was questioned as to whether or not
15 || she harmed Brodie and she testified, under oath, that she did not, and yet it was not mentioned at all
16 || in the petition. As clearly documented, given that even the State has pointed out the fact that there
17 || is a question as to which one of three things took place, Arica’s testimony is questionable at best.
18 What is of more importance to note, is again, even the Court was not convinced that there
19 || was “slight or even marginal” evidence to hold Petitioner to answer to these charges in District
20 || Court. The Honorable David S. Gibson, Jr., noted in his decision:
21 “I have some problems with the case, with the amount of knowledge
that I’ve been given here this afternoon. [ believe that the burden is
22 slight or marginal. This is a tragedy. The testimony is uncontroverted
that the death was a homicide at the hands of another. The question
23 of who did it is a big question. At this point in time with all of the
testimony, and we haven’t heard from the defendant, which at this
24 paint in time I don’t think you can un-ring a bell, but with the
testimony of the friend questioning the bruising, with the testimony
25 that we have 1 believe that the burden has been met. I think by the
slightest and slimmest of margins and there’s a lot of stuff here that
26 I don’t know and of course I’m not the one who is able to ask the
uestions. I believe that slight or marginal evidence has been shown
27 that murder and child abuse with substantial bodily harm has been
_ met and we’ll hold the defendant to answer to the charges in the
28 Eighth Judicial District Court.”
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Clearly, the burden of presenting evidence which establishes probable cause by either “slight
or marginal” evidence, that Petitioner committed the -offenses alleged by the State, has not been met.
IL
ARGUMENT

A. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRODUCED AT PRELIMINARY
HEARING :
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To withstand 2 Writ of Habeas Corpus, the Court must find that the State presented sufficient
legal evidence at the preliminary hearing or at the grand jury proceedings to show (1) probable cause
that a crime was committed and (2) probable cause to believe that the defendant charged committed
that crime. Fruti-gcr v, State, 111 Nev. 1385, 907 P.2d 158 (1993); sce also Lamb v. Holsten, 85
Nev. 566, 459 P.2d 771 (1969); NRS 172.155. “The purpose of the preliminary proceedings is to

weed out groundless or unsupported charges of grave offenses and to relieve the accused of the

degradation and the expense of a criminal trial.” State v. VonBrincken, 476 P. 2d 733 (Nev. 1970).

Before a person may be held for trial, the grand jury must determine that there is probable
cause to believe (1) an offense (otherwise known as the corpus delicti) has been commitied; and (2)
the defendant has committed it. N.R.S. 172.155. Frutiger v. State,111 Nev. 1385, 907 P.2d 158
(1995). On appeal, Frutiger first argues that there was insufficient evidence before the grand jury
to prove the corpus delicti.

In Frutiger, Defendant sought review of the decision of the Second Judicial District Court,
Washoe County (Nevada), which convicted him of one count of first degree murder pursuant toa
jury verdict. The defendant was convicted of first degree murder for the death of a woman that he
shared a motel room with, who was found partially decomposed in defendant’s mote! room aﬂer.he
left the motel. When defendant was arrested, defendant had some items owned by the victim on his
person. A pathologist testified that he could not determine the cause of death and that the victim’s
very high blood alcohol level or heart or liver failure may have caused her death. Based on that
evidence the grand jury indicted defendant. Attrial, the pathologist reiterated that the victim’s cause
of death may have been heart or liver failure, and that the victim did not appear to be strangled.

Another pathologist testified that victim’s death was most likely due to the syndrome of chronic and
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acute alcoholism. A jury convicted defendant of first degree murder. On appeal, the court reversed
and vacated the conviction. The court held that, based on the pathologists’ testimony there was
insufficient evidence to show that the victim’s death was caused by the criminal agency of another,
the jury could not have even reached the issue of whether there was sufficient evidence to link

defendant with her death.

Defendant’s conviction of first degree murder was reversed and vacated.
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Although the State need not eliminate all non-criminal inferences, theré must be sufficient
proof of the hypothesis of death by a criminal agency. In thé case of Frutiget, before the grand jury,
the State clearly did not present sufficient proof of a hypothesis of death by a criminal agency
because the State did not even assert what the hypothesis might be. The State did not submit a
possible cause of déath to the grand jury. The complaint simply asserted Frutiger was charged with
murder by “means currently uﬁdetermined.”

The court in Frutiger found that “the proper standard is whether, after viewing the evidence
in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have concluded beyond
a reasonable doubt that Poulter’s death was caused by a cﬁmina] agency.” See Koza v, State, 100
Nev. 245, 250, 681 P.2d 44, 47 (1984) (citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307,319, 61 L. Ed. 2d
560, 99 S. Ct. 2781 (1979)).

However, the Frutiger court noted: “The law applicable to sustainable indictments is that the
State must present only sufficient evidence to create a reasonable inference that the accused
committed the charged offense. Such evidence may be of a quality that is only slight or marginal.”
State v Boueri, 99 Nev. 790, 672 P.2d 33 (1983).

By the State’s own admission, the question of who committed these alleged acts, if any were
committed, is insufficient evidence to create a reasonable inference that the accused committed the
charged offense. Such evidence may be of a quality that is only slight or marginal, however, in the
case at bar, the vidence is neither “slight or marginal.”

On appeal from a denial of pre-trial habeas the sole function of this court is to determine
whether all of the evidence recéived at the preliminary hearing, or by the grand jury, establishes

probable cause to believe that an offense has been committed and that the accused committed it.
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State v. von Brincken, 86 Nev. 769, 476 P.2d 733 (1970); Lamb v. Holsten, 85 Nev., 566, 459 P.2d

771 (1969). To enable us to accomplish that function it is necessary that the transcriﬁt of the

proceedings before the magistrate or the grand jury be made a part of the record. Shelby v. District

Court, 82 Nev. 204, 414 P.2d 942 (1966). Further review of the record is not required, as probable
cause or the lack of it will be disclosed by the transcript.

The transcript in the instant matter, clearly reflects that not only the State, but the Judge as
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well, expresses that there is insufficient evidence to create a reasonable inference that the accused
committed the charged offense. The quality of such evidence is neither slight or marginal.
At a preliminary examination or in proceedings before a grand jury, the issue of guilt or

innocence of the accused is not involved. Marcum v. Sheriff, 85 Nev. 175,451 P.2d 845 (1969). The

evidence need not be sufficient to support aconviction. Maskaly v, State, 85 Nev. 111,450 P.2d 790
(1969). Nor must the State produce the quantum of proof required to establish the guilt of the
accused b.eyond a reasonable doubt. Robertson v. Sheriff, 85 Név. 681, 462 P.2d 528 (1969). To
commit an accused for trial, the State is not required to negate all inferences which might explain
his conduct, but only to present enough evidence to support a reasonable inference that the accused
committed the offense. Johnson v, State, 82 Nev. 338, 418 P.2d 495 (1966); Beasley v. Lamb, 79
Nev. 78,378 P,2d 524 (1963).

In the case at bar, given the fact that both the State and the Judge voice their concerns over

whb committed unlawful acts, if any were committed, cannot be considered evidence which
establishes probable cause, either “slight or marginal.” Further, based upon the testimony of Dr.
Gavin, the acts alleged by the State may not have been the cause of death to Brodie Aschenbrenner.

The State argues that “It is unnecessary to analyze murder by means of child abuse in terms
of deliberation ana premeditation because the soundest view is simply that a murder perpetrated by
anenumerated means is first-degree murder by force of statute, without legal’ concern with or factual
inquiry to willfuiness, deliberation, and premeditation, citing Collman v. State, 116 Nev. 687, 714,
7 P.}d 426,443 (2000).

In Collman v. State, a jury instruction was given that “There are certain kinds of murder

which carry with them conclusive evidence of malice aforethought. One of these classes of murder
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is murder committed by means of child abuse. Therefore, a killing which is committed by child
abuse is deemed to be murder of the first degree, whether the killing was intentional or
unintentional.” (Emphasis added.) |

This jury instruction for murder by means of child abuse was not challenged on appeal, but
after reviewing the record, the court ordered the parties to provide supplemental briefs addressing

whether this instruction correctly provided that child abuse constituted conclusive evidence of
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malice when murder is charged pursuant to NRS 200,030(1)(a).

In Nevada, consistent with the common law, murder “is the unlawful killing of a human
being, with malice aforethought, either express or implied.” NRS 200.010; see Wayne R. LaFave
& Austin W. Scott, Jr., Criminal Law § 7.1, at 605-06 (2d ed. 1986); Model Penal Code and

Commentaries § 210.2 cmt. | at 13-15 (Official Draft and Revised Comments 1980}, Today, the |

phrase “malice aforethought”does ndt even approximate its literal meaning. Hence it is preferable
not to rely upon that misleading expression for an understanding of murder but rather to consider the
various types of murder (typed according to the mental element) which the common law came to
recognize and which exist today in most jurisdictions: (1) intent-to-kill murder; (2)
intent-to-do-serious-bodily-injury murder; (3) depraved-heart murder; and (4) felony murder.
Nevada expressly recognizes three of these malicious states of mind in its statutes and case
law. NRS 200.020 defines express malice as the “deliberate intention unlawfully to take away”
another’s life and implied malice as “an abandoned and malignant heart.” These forms of malice are,
respectively, the mental elements for intent-to-kill murder and depraved;heart murder. Nevada
statutes and this court have apparently never employed the phrase “depraved heart,” but that phrase
and “abandoned and malignant heart” both refer to the same ‘.‘essential concept . . . one of extreme
recklessness regarding homicidal risk,” Model Penal Code § 210.2 cmt. 1 at 15; see also Thedford
v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 741, 744, 476 P.2d 25, 27 (1 970) {malice as applied to murder includes “general
malignant recklessness of others’ lives and safety or disregard of social duty”). NRS 200.030(1)(b)
defines felony murder, in which “the felonious intent involved in the underlying felony may be

transferred to supply the malice necessary to characterize the death a murder.” Ford v. State, 99 Nev.
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209, 215, 660 P.2d 992, 995 {1983). The jury instruction in Collman was patterncd after the

2 {| felony-murder instruction épprovcd of in Ford, See id. at 214, 660 P.2d at 995.

3 Nevada defines by statute three kinds of first-degree murder.

4 Murder of the first degree is murder which is:

5 (a) Perpetrated by means of poison, lying in wait, torture or child abuse, or by any

other kind of willful, deliberate and premeditated killing;
° (b)_Committed in the perpetration or attempted perpetration of sexual assault,
7 kidnaping, arson, robbery, burglary, invasion of the home, sexual abuse ot achild or
sexual molestation of a child under the age of 14 years; or

’ (¢) Committed to avoid or prevent the lawful arrelst of any person by a peace officer

9 or to effect the escape of any person from legal custody. NRS 200.030(1).
10 The issue presented in the Collman case is: for first-degree murder under subsection (1)(a)
11 { of NRS 200.030, can malice be established simply by proving that the killing was done by an
12 || enumerated means? The State answers this question affirmatively, offering three or four arguments
713 in support of its position. The Court concluded that none had merit.
14 Malice versus willfulness, deliberation, and premeditation
15 First, the State asserted that: (1) the means enumerated in NRS 200.030(1)(a) constitute
16 || willfulness, deliberation, and premeditation as a matter of law, and (2) willfulness, deliberétion, and
17 || premeditation subsume malice aforethought as a matter of law. Thus, the State contends, the child
18 || abuse in this case established willfulness, deliberation, and premeditation which in turn established
19 || malice. The court rejected both prongs of the state’s argument.
20 The means enumerated in sub;ection (1}(a) do not necessarily constitute willfulness,
21 [ deliberation, and premeditation, though there is authority for construing the statute in this manner.
22 || See Graham v. State, 116 Nev. , 992 P.2d 255 (2000). The original enumerated means are poison,
23 || lying in wait, and torture, whereas child abuse was added to subsection (1)(a) only recently.
24 | Although the three traditional enumerated means are normally consistent with deliberate,
25 || premeditated action,.cf. LaFave & Scott, Criminal Law § 7.1, at 605, child abuse can be and often
26 || is a rash, impulsive crime, It is unnecessary 1o analyze murder by means of child abuse in terms of
27 || deliberation and premeditation because the soundest view is simply that a murder perpetrated by an
28 || enumerated means is first-degree murder by force of statute, without legal concern with or factual
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inquiry into willfulness, deliberation, and premeditation. See Graham, 116 Nev. at , 992 P.2d at
257-58; State v. Johnson, 317 N.C. 193, 344 S.E.2d 775, 781 (N.C. 1986); People v. Thomas, 41
Cal. 2d 470,261 P.2d 1, 3 (Cal. 1953). ‘

Though Nevada’s code now appears to be in the minority, for many years statutes commonly

deemed poison, lying in wait, and torture to be predicates of first-degree murder. See LaFave &

Scott, Criminal Law § 7.1(a), at 605, and § 7.7©, at 646; Model Penal Code § 210.2 cmt. 2 at 16.
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By contrast, child abiise Was added fo NRS 200.030( 1 }(a) just ten years ago- See 1985 Nev-Stat,
ch. 408, § 1, at 865. |

The most recent legislative session resulted in the removal of child abuse from subsection
{(1)(a) and its placement in (1){b), the felony murder subsection. See 1999 Nev. Stat., ch, 319, § 3,
at 1335.

The second prong of the state’s argument contains a more pronounced flaw because malice
is not subsumed by willfulness, deliberation, and premeditation. This court has so stated, but without
much explanation. See, e.g., Hern v, State, 97 Nev. 529, 532, 635 P.2d 278, 280 (1981). But the
proposition can be easily illustrated. For example, it is possible for a police sniper to act wiilﬁllly,
deliberately, and premeditatedly but without malice in fatally éhooting aman who has taken hostages
and threatens their lives, The legal defense of defense of self or others justifies a homicide and
negates the element of malice. “Even a deliberate killing, if done in actual self-defense, is justifiable;
the intent is not unlawfully to take the life of another.” Kelso v. State, 95 Nev. 37, 42, 588 P.2d
1035, 1039 (1979); see also State v. Vaughan, 22 Nev. 285, 299-302, 39 P. 733, 735-36 (1895).

Malice versus specific intent to kill

As a second argument, the State repeatedly invokes and cites authority for the proposition
that specific intent to kill is not a necessary clement of murder, This proposition, however, does not
address this court’s concern with the proposed jury instruction number. Thé instruction stated that
“murder committed by means of child abuse” is a kind of murder which carries with it “conclusive
evidence of malice aforethought.”(Emphasis added.) Specific intent to kill is not synonymous with
malice. The fact that not ev'ery murder requires a specific intent to kill does not relieve the State of

the burden to prove some kind of malice to establish murder.
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As the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals explained, “the language ‘murder by poison,
lying in wait, imprisonment, starving’ does not require that premeditation or a specific intent to kill
has to be shown, but to elevate the homicide to first-degree murder, a killing with malice must be
proved and one of the four enumerated acts must be established.” State v. Harper, 179 W, Va. 24,

365 S.E.2d 69, 72 (W. Va. 1987); see also People v. Benjamin, 52 Cal. App. 3d 63, 124 Cal. Rptr.
799, 813 (Ct. App. 1975).
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First-degree murder by an enumerated means versus first-depree felomy mmurder

The State analogizes murder under NRS 200.030(1)(a) to felony murder under subsection
(1)(b). In the latter case, by law the malice required for murder is supplied by the intent to commit
an enumerated felony. Likewise, the State argues, the requisite malice arises as a matter of law from
the use of ant enumerated means under subsection (1)(2). However, this and other courts have never
followed the view urged by the State (the court discussed exceptional cases treating murder by

torture below).

The California Supreme Court explained this matter clearly in People v. Mattison, 4 Cal. 3d

177,481 P.2d 193, 196,93 Cal. Rptr. 185 (Cal. 1971). Thusifakilling is murder within the meaning
of sections 187 [defining murder as an unlawful killing with malice aforethought] and 188 [defining
express and implied malice], and is by one of the means enumerated in section 189 [i.e., poison,
lying in wait, or torture], the use of such means makes the killing first degree murder as a matter of
law. It must be emphasized, however, that a killing by one of the means enumerated in the statute
is not murder of the first degree unless it is first established that it is murder. If the killing was not
murder, it cannot be first degree murder, and a killing cannot become murder in the absence of
malice aforethought. Without a showirig of malice, it is immaterial that the killing was perpetrated
by one of the means enumerated in the statute.

It is true that murder may be committed without express malice, i;e., without a specific intent
to take human life. To be so committed, however, unless the felony-murder rule is applicable, “the
defendant must intend to commit acts that are likely to cause death and that show a conscious

disregard for human life.” {Thomas, 261 P.2d at 7 (Traynor, J., concurring).] . . .
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The above rules apply to all murders, other than felony murders, regardiess of whether they
are committed by one of the means enumerated in section 189. :

Sce also Harper, 365 S.E.2d at 72 (quoted above); Benjamin, 124 Cal, Rptr. at 813 (cited
above); cf. State v. Johnson, 821 P.2d 1150, 1156-57 (Utah 1991) (first-degree murder first requires

proof of what would otherwise be second-degree murder and then proof of an enumerated

aggravating factor, ¢.g., administering poison).
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This Collman court’s case law was in accord with Mattison. That malice is required to ﬁnd'
murder by an enumerated means was implicit to this court’s reasoning in Pinana v. State, 76 Nev.
274, 286, 352 P.2d 824, 831 (1960). In that case, the court upheld the giving of a jury instruction
which stated: “All murder which is perpetrated by means of lying in wait is murder of the first
degree.” Id.

In Collman, Appellant contends that the instruction was defective because the court failed

to explain that murder must first be established before the question of lying in wait can arise. [n the
other instructions given the court defined murder and stated that to find appellant guilty thereof all
of the elements must have been proven beyond a reasonable -doubt. This instruction was proper to
aid the jury in determining the degree of the offense in the event they found the appellant guilty of
murder. .

The state’s position is not only contrary to the law regarding murder by enumerated means,
but seeks to expaﬁd the doctrine of felony murder when the weight of authority calls for restricting
{t. Many commentators criticize the felony-murder doctrine, and the trend has been to limit its
applicability, not extend it. See Model Penal Code § 210.2 cmt. 6 at 29-42; LaFave & Scott,
Criminal Law § 7.5, at 622-23, 632, 640-4].

Furthermore, first-degree murder by an enumerated means fundamentally differs from felony

murder. Although child abuse, as discussed below, is a special case, the means originally enumerated -

| in subsection (1)(a)--use of poison, lying in wait, and torture--do not denote crimes. Thus, it cannot

be presumed that they necessarily carry a felonious intent which can supply the malice necessary to
characterize a killing as 2 murder. For example, friends and family who spring a surprise birthday

party on a middle-aged man as he steps into his home may be “lying in wait,” but they are not liable
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for murder if he collapses and dies from a heart attack because they did not act with malice. As
noted, lying in wait is defined as watching, waiting, and concealment from the person killed with the
intention of killing or inflicting bodily injury upon that person. See Moser, 91 Nev. at 812 & n.3,
544 P.2d at 426 & n.3. In effect, this definition places the requisite malice within the element of
lying in wait.

Murder by torture warrants further discussion because the State has cited authority for the
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proposition that the malice required for murder can be transferred Trom the commuission of torture.
This is the only authority that supports the state’s position, and it provides support only if it can be
extended to apply to murder by other enumerated means. However, it appears that no court has taken
this approach with poison, lying in wait, or any other enumerated means. More important, we
conclude that the approa.ch is not sound even in regard to torture.

The Supreme Court of North Carolina reasoned that murder by torture “isanalogous to felony
murder in that malice may be implied by the very act of torturing the victim. Torture is a dangerous
activity of such reckless disregard for human life that, like felony murder, malice is implied by the
law.” State v. Crawford, 329 N.C. 466, 406 S.E.2d 579, 587-88 (N.C. 1991). The California

Supreme Court also held: “When a killing is perpetrated by means of torture, the means used is

conclusive evidence of malice and premeditation, and the crime is murder of the first degree.” People
v. Turville, 51 Cal, 2d 620, 335 P.2d 678, 685 (Cal. 1959), overruled on other grounds by People v.
Morse, 60 Cal. 2d 631, 388 P.2d 33, 44, 36 Cal. Rptr. 201 (Cal. 1964). | |

Although as a practical matter malice may almost always be factually present when there is
akilling by torture, the decisions in Crawford and Turville err in abandoning the established analysis
of first-degree murder by enumerated means and concluding that, given torture, malice must be

present as a matter of law. Such an approach introduces laxness and inconsistency into the

' application of a statute which defines first-degree murder by enumerated means in a uniform, reliable

way. This lax approach is not sound because it is conceivable that torture, like other enumerated

means, can be done without legal malice.
Actually, although Turville has not been expressly overruled on this point, the California

Supreme Court has since reiterated that to prove murder by torture, “it must be established that the
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defendant intended to ‘cause cruel suffering on the part of the object of the attack, either for the

Mattison,

17

purpose of revenge, extortion, persuasion, or to satisfy some other untoward propensity.
481 P.2d at 197 (quoting Peaple v. Tubby, 34 Cal. 2d 72, 207 P.2d 51, 54 (Cal. 1949)). The required
“yntoward propensity” goes to the element of malice. The California Supreme Court has also
explained that murder by torture is first-degree murder not because of the amount of pain inflicted

but because of “the state of mind of the torturer--the cold-blooded intent to inflict pain for personal
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gain or satisfaction.” People v. Steger, 16 Cal. 3d 539, 546 P.Zd 605,060, 12

Cal. Rptr—161-(Cak:
1976). Therefore, the court has held that first-degree murder by forture is “murder committed with
a wilful, deliberate, and premeditated intent to inflict extremne and prolonged pain.” Id.; see also
People v. Wiley, 18 Cal. 3d 162, 554 P.2d 881, 887, 133 Cal. Rptr. 135 (Cal. 1976). Further, in cases
of murder by torture in California, the current standard jury instructions require the jury to find both
malice aforethought and that “the perpetrator committed the murder with a willful, deliberate, and
premeditated intent to inflict extreme and prolonged pain upon a living human being for the purpose
of revenge, extortion, persuasion or for any sadistic purpose.” California Jury Instructions; Criminal
8.24 and accompanying use note (6th ed. 1996): Thus, desﬁite the unqualified statement made in
Tur\'fillc, malicious intent must be independently proved to establish murder by torture in California.
As already discussed, child abuse was added onh;' recently to the means enumerated in NRS
200.030(1)(a) and is somewhat anomalous, but the State has not argued nor would we agree that this
is a basis to treat it differently from the other enumerated means. To maintain coherency and rigor
in the application of the statute, first-degree murder by child abuse can and must be proven in the
same manner as the other three enumerated means. To reiterate, poison, lying in wait, and torture are
not separate statutory offenses, but all are consistent with deliberate, premeditated action. Child
abuse, on the other hand, can denote a crime, but does not appear to do so in NRS 200.030(1)(a)
because the statute provides its'- own definition of child abuse in subsection (6)(a) rather than
referencing the independent offenses involving abuse or neglect of children proscribed in NRS
200.508. Child abuse more clearly diverges from the other three enumerated means in that it does
not strongly correlate with delibérate, premeditated action since it.can be and often is committed in

a rash, impulsive manner. Therefore, it is critical that jurors expressly find malice aforethought
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before convicting a child abuser of first-degree murder under subsection (1)(a). Otherwise, a single
rash, impulsive act by an otherwise decent parent leading td a child’s death--an act which was
abusive to the child but lacked legal malice;-would constitute first-degree murder.

Thus, unlike felony murder pursoant to NRS 200.030(1)(b), to establish that a killing is
murder under subsection (1)(a), the State must prove that the killer acted with malice aforethought,

1.e., with the deliberate in'teniion unlawfully to take life or with an abandoned and malignant heart.
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See NRS 200.020. Proof of an enumerated means then establishes that the murder is of the Tirst
degree,

The jury instruction in the Collman case impropetly relieved the State of this requirement.
For Collman’s actions to constitute murder, the jury had to find that he acted with malice
aforethought. This malice could not be presumed simply from his commission of child abuse
pursuant to NRS 200.030(6)(a), i.e., physical injury of a nonaccidental nature to a child.

As in the instant matter, for Petitioner’s acts to constitute murder by means of child abuse,
the state must prove by even slight or marginal that there is evidence substantiating that alf of the
elements of the alleged offense were committed. The State has not met that burden by either slight
or marginal evidence.

CORPUS DELICTI DOCTRINE

The State concedes that the Corpus Delicti doctrine has relevant applications under two
circumstances: (1) when the sole basis of a criminal prosecution is based upon the defendant’s
confession to police; and (2) in a criminal case when an issue exists as to whether a person died
(missing body (_:asés) or, if they did die, whether the death was the result of ¢criminal agency (See
Frutiger, et al).

However, in Frutiger, the court held that

“Before a person may be held for trial, the grand jury must determine that there is probable
cause to believe (1) an offense (otherwise known as the corpus delicti) has been committed; and (2)

the defendant has commitied it. NRS 172,155,
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In proving the corpus delicti, “two elements must be established (1) the fact of death; and (2)

2 | the criminal agency of another responsible for that death.” Azbill v. State, 84 Nev, 345, 350-51, 440
3| P.2d 1014, 1017 (1968) (citation omitted).
4 In the case at bar, neither of the elements have been established. The cause of death is
5 || surrounded by uncertainty due to Brodie’s prior automobile accident which could have resulted in
6 || his death. Further, should the State argue that the cause of death was non-accidental, it has not
7 || established the criminal agency of another responsible for that death.
8 II1.
9 CONCLUSION
10 WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing facts and argument, Petitioner prays that this
11 || Honorable Court issue a Writ of Habeas Corpus.
12 DATED thiss27% day of December, 2011,
13 STEVEN B, WOLFSON, CHTD.
14 .
15 By 227
PATRICEE. McDONALD, ESQ.
16 Nevada Bar No. 3526
601 South Seventh Street
17 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorney for Petitioner
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
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PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ,

January 30, 2012

11:00 a.m.

2 I Nevada Bar No. 3526
STEVEN B. WOLFSON, CHTD.
3 |t 601 South Seventh Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
4 f Tel: (702) 385-7227
|l Fax: (702) 385-5351
5 | Attorney for Petitioner
6 DISTRICT COURT
7 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
8 * ok ok K
9 | STATE OF NEVADA, )
) CaseNo: (277650
10 Plaintiff, ) Dept No:  XXIII
)
11 ] vs. )
12 || MICHAEL ALAN LEE, ; Date of Hearing:
#1699107, Time of Hearing:
13
Defendant.
14
15 RECEIPT OF COPY
16 RECEIPT OF COPY of REPLY TO STATE’S RETURN TO,PETITION FOR WRIT
17

, 2011,

OF HABEAS CORPUS is hereby,agknowledged thisz_Oday of ‘7&(/

153



|

o o b

r ‘ 1
A ; ?
1 OPI . . ‘ ‘
DAVID ROGER F ‘ L E D '
2 || Clark County District Attorney _
Nevada Bar #002781 W \|\2
3 || DAVID STANTON - 18 105
Chief Deputy District Attorney .
4 | Nevada Bar #003202 P _
200 Lewis Avenue Q&':“ o b e rran—
5 I Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2211 SLekh o T OURT
(702) 671-2500 ’ :
6{lAttorney for Plaintiff
7 DISTRICT COURT
3 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
9 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
10 Plaintiff, CASENO: C-11-277650-1
. DEPT NO: XXIII
11 V8-
” c-11-277850-1 h
12 | MICHAEL ALAN LEE, g?gm ratioton of |
3 #1699107 1_;‘“10; eduction of inmate
IDENRIRA
14
13 ORDER FOR PRODUCTION OF INMATE
16 " MICHAEL A. LEE, BAC #81950
DATE OF HEARING: 01/30/2012
17 TIME OF HEARING: 11:00 A.M.
18
19 TO: DWIGHT NEVEN, Warden of the High Desert State Prison;
20 TO: DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE, Sheriff of Clark County, Nevada
21 Upon the ex parte application of THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff, by DAVID
22 || ROGER, District Attorney, through DAVID STANTON, Chief Deputy District Attorney,
23 | and good cause appearing therefor, |
24 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that DWIGHT NEVEN, Warden of the High Desert
m
o~ &5 || State Prison shall be, and is, hereby directed to produce MICHAEL A. LEE, in Case No. C-
o & Y
g_-! E Y6 || 11-277650-1, wherein THE STATE OF NEVADA is the Plaintiff, inasmuch as the said
. -
“é ; %7 || MICHAEL A. LEE is currently incarcerated in the High Desert State Prison located in
< % . s :
e = 28 || Indian Springs, Nevada and his presence will be required in Las Vegas, Nevada commencing
3 _

PAWPDOCS\ORDRIFORDRVOUTLYINGVIH1VIH143301 doc
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on 01/30/2012, at the hour of 11:00 o'clock AM. and continuing until completion of the
prosecution's case agaiﬁst the said Defendant.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE, Sheriff of Clark
County, Nevada, shall accept and retain custody of the said MICHAEL A. LEE in the Clark
County Detention Center, Las Vegas, Nevada, pending completion of said matter in Clark

County, or until the further Order of this Court; or in the alternative shall make all
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arrangements for the transportation of the said MICHAEL A. LEE to and from the Nevada
State Prison facility which are necessary to insure the MICHAEL A, LEE's appearance in
Clark County pending completion of said matter, or until further Order of this Court.

DATED this “ day of January, 2012,

DAVID ROGER JUDGE STEFANY A. MILEY

DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #002781

= N il
Chief De uty District Attorney
Nevada Bar #003202

sam/MVU

PAWPDOCS\ORDRFORDRIOUTLYING\IHINIH 165301 doc
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PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 35626

STEVEN B. WOLFSON, CHTD.
601 S. Seventh Street _ - ,
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 g L E
Tel: (702) 385-7227 LERK > 5 rapr
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CLARK COUNTY; NEVADA -

* k Kk

STATE OF NEVADA,
Case No: C277650

Plaintiff, Dept No:  XXIil

Vs, T L-1-277860-1

EXPT
Ex Parlo
1841434

| TMTHININL

EX PARTE APPLICATION FOR COURT APPROVAL.
OF PAYMENT OF SPECIFIC CATEGORIES
OF ANCILLARY DEFENSE COSTS

Defendant, MICHAEL ALAN LEE, by and through his counsel, PATRICK E.
McDONALD, ESQ., moves this court for an order approving certain specific

MICHAEL ALAN LEE,
1D#1699107, '

Defendant.

S M ol i N at® gt St gt Vet “mct®

categories of ancillary defense costs which are necessary for an adequate defense
which shall be paid by the State of Nevada in a reasonable amount.

_ This Motion is made pursuant to NRS § 7.135, the Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendments of the United States Constitution, Article 1, Section 8 of the Nevada
Constitution, and the authorities cited' herein.

This Motion is supported by the attached Memorandum of Points and
Authorities and the papers and pleadings on file in this case.

DATED this 17"_day of_January , 2012.

- STEVEN B. WOLFSON, CHTD.

7 PATRICKE. McDONALD, ESQ.

State Bar No. 3526

601 South Seventh Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Attorney for Defendant
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1 MEMORANDUM OF PQINTS AND AUTHORITIES
2 A BACKGROUND INFORMATION _
3 On November 18, 2011, the State of Nevada filed an Information against the
4 [pefendant charging him with: 1 count - Murder (Felony) and 1 count - Child Abuse
5 INeglect with Substantial Bodily Harm (Felony).
6 The Defendant has been incarcerated on these charges since October 27, 2011,
7 lOn November 8, 2012, the Defendant proceeded with his preliminary hearing wherein
8 lhe was bound over to the District Court to answer to these charges. Currently the
9 [[Defendant's jury trial is scheduled to start on July 23, 2012.
10 Although his family has pooled together the funds to have retained counse! to
1 represent him, they cannot incur the additional costs of an investigator. They have
12 | depleted any and all funds available to them at this time and given the light of the facts
13 [iof the case, it is obvious that an investigator is necessary for adequate defense of the
14 iDefendant.
15 B. THESTATEIS OBLIGATED TO PAY REASONABLE DEFENSE COSTS
16 |
Recently, in the case of Widdis v. Second Judicial Dist. Court of State, 114
17
Nev. 1224, 968 P.2d 1165 (1998), the Nevada Supreme Court explained the State's
18
obligated to pay costs incurred in the representation of an indigent when attorneys’
19
fees are paid by a third party: _
20 :
' Widdis argues that even though he had been privately retained by
21 Lewic' family, Lewis was indigent and, thus, the State was legally
obligated to pay for reasonable defense services such as Dr.
22 Mahaffey's fee. We agree that the State has a duty to provide
reasonable and necessary defense services at Fublic expense to
23 indigent criminal defendants who have nonetheless retained private
counsel. However, in the instant case, we conclude that our
24 extraordinary relief would be premature due to a lack of specific
findings with respect to Lewis' indigency status and whether Dr.
25 Mahaffey's evaluation was reasonably necessary for Lewis' defense.
26 :
‘The lowa Supreme Court faced a similar situation in English v.
27 Missildine, 311 N.W.2d 292 (lowa 1981). In English, a éefendant's
mother retained private defense counsel for her son, but could not
28 afford to pay for expert witness fees or deposition expenses.

Consequently, the defendant applied for these services at count
expense; however, the trial court denied the defendant's application.
Id. at293. On appeal, the lowa Supreme Court issued a writ of
certiorari compelling the county to pay the requested expenses. |d. at

-
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294. The court noted that although an lowa statute similar to NRS
7.135 authorized the public payment of defense services for
court-appointed attom%ys, this statute did not appIY because the
defendant's mother had retained private counsel. Id. at 293.
Irrespective of the absence of any express statutory authorization, the
court concluded that the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance
of counsel provided authority for the payment requested by the
defendant. Id. at 294. According to the court, the determinative
question was the defendant's in i%enc . Once indigency was
established, the court conciuded that the " 'defendant {was)
constitutionallé/ entitled to those defense services for which he
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demonstrate[d] a need." ' Id. (quoting People v. Worthy, 109

Cal-App.3d 514; 167 Cal.Rptr. 402,406 (1980))

We conclude the English court's analytical framework is sound.
Accordingly, we hold that a criminal defendant who has retained private
counsel is nonetheless entitied to reasonable defense services at
public expense based on the defendant's showing of indigency and
need for the services. Although the use of public funds in this manner
may appear to be a misuse of such funds, we feel that a contrary rule
would have a greater negative impact on scarce public resources by
creating disincentives for defendants to seek private representation at
their own expense. Such representation, at least, defrays the most
costly aspect of defending a person charged with criminal misconduct;
costs that otherwise would be born by public funds. Additionally, a
contrary rule disallowin%the use of gublic funds would undoubtedly
create disincentives to the defense bar from taking those cases in
which defense counsel would possibly have to absorb the cost of
defense services. Further, we are confident that a sufficient safeguard
against the misuse of public funds is created by placing the burden
squarely on the defendant to demonstrate both indigency and
reasonable need for the services in question,

CONCLUSION

The Defendant respectfully submits that his indigency is established by his
atiached affidavit and that the costs set forth in the affidavit of counsel are

reasonably incurred in this matter.

DATED this_17" day of__January , 2012.
Respectfully submitted,
STEVEN B. WOLFSON, CHTD.

By:

~ PATRICK E. McDONALD; ESQ.

State Bar No. 3526

801 South Seventh Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Attorney for Defendant

158




Ll

LA

a)

AFFIDAVIT OF PATRICK E. McDONALD

1
o STATE OF NEVADA
ss:

3 COUNTY OF CLARK

4 PATRICK E. McDONALD, testifies as follows:

5 I am a lawyer duly authorized to practice law in the State of Nevada. | represent

6 Defendant, MICHAEL ALAN LEE, in this action. | am competent to testify and have

7 personat knowledge of thefacts stated-in-this-affidavit.——--

3 1. The Court has scheduled the trial in this matter for July 23, 2012.

g 2. Affiant believes that the Defendant is‘indigent and does not have
10 money to pay for his defense costs. _
11 3. That defense requires the assistance of a private investigator, and
12 estimates that the cost of the investigator will not exceed $5,000.00 and the
13 investigator is as follows:

TOM DILLARD
14 Professional Investigator's Inc.
123 N. 9" Street
15 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
16 (702) 702-383-4005
17 4. Specifically, the defense requires the State to pay costs associated with
18 Defending the Defendant against the alleged charges,
19 5. Affiant believes that the Defendant is unable to pay the necessary
20 expenses associated with this defense.
21 FURTHER, affiant sayeth naught.
22
N /%{%
PATRICK E. McDONALD
24
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me
25 |this \+"Hay o -2012. - SARAH HUGAR
3 3 Notary Public
E : Staip of Nevada
' . \ : E Appointment No. 114399-1

27 My Appl. Expires Apr 25, 2015

8
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AFFIDAVIT OF MICHAEL ALAN LEE

; STATE OF NEVADA ..

3 COUNTY OF CLARK

4 I, MICHAEL ALAN LEE, having first been duly sworn, depose and state that:
5 1. I am the Defendant in the instant matter.

6 2. ! currently am being detained at the Clark County Detention Center and
7 have beenincarcerated here since-October-26;-20H: .

8 3. That | have no funds available to me and | am unable to afford the

9 costs necessary to defend myself against these allegations.

10 4, That my family has paid for my attorney's fees and they are upable to
11 [IPay for these necessary expenses associated with my defense nor can they continue
12 to assist me in this matter as they have depleted all funds available to them.

13 5. The above statements are made by Affiant under the penalty of perjury
14 of the laws of the State of Nevada pursuant to N.R.S. 15.010 and Affiant hereby

15 certifies that same are frue and correct to the best of his knowledge.

16 FURTHER, affiant sayeth naught.

17

18 ' /

20
21 N

22

23

24
25
26
27

28
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PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ. / L £ D7
Nevada Bar No. 3526 . ﬂ
STEVEN B, WOLFSON, CHTD. Ar | /
601 S. Seventh Street : &y
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Tel: (70 2) 385-7227 | %.‘.
Fax: (702) 385-5351

DISTRICT COURT
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CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

¥ % k%

STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No: C277650
Plaintiff, Dept No:  XXII .

I'd ——
6-11-277850 1 N
Vs, EXPR

MICHAEL ALAN LEE, f";ﬂ: Order

A nmmummmmnmm

EX PARTE ORDER DECLARING THE DEFENDANT INDIGENT
FOR PURPOSES OF AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF SPECIFIC
CATEGORIES OF ANCILLARY DEFENSE COSTS

Defendant.

This Court, upon application of the Defendant pursuant to Widdis v. Second
Judicial Dist. Court of State, 114 Nev. 1224, 968 P.2d 1165 (1998), and upon finding

that the Defendant is indigent, finds it necessary fo approve payment of specific
defense costs associated with the Defendant's defense:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Defendant is declared indigent and that the
State shall pay for the costs necessary for the Defendant to defend against the
allegations.

I
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— 1 IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED that TOM DILLARD is appointed as the
- ) Investigator.
- 3 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Clark County Manager's Office is to
7 4 determine the amount of the expenditure approved therefore.
E ) DATED this _ 3, day of Q‘%’M J 12012,
6 '
_ 5 . ,@7 4 {
8
Respectfully Submitted,
9 [STEVEN B. WOLFSON, CHTD. '
10 JUDGE STEFANY A. MILEY
12 " PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 3526
13 601 South Seventh Street
14 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
] 23
24
25
26
27
28
-7
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1 yPATRICKE. M3cDONALD, ESQ. oot o
Nevada Bar No. 3526 B < L ¢ s )
2 McDONALD ADRAS, LLC F;?{FED
601 South 7™ Street
3 |(702) 385-7227 @ "
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 @Eﬂ Nﬁ' s ¥'12
4 || Atrorneys for Defendant
5 Aoas A’
CLERK OF THE COURT
6 DISTRICT COURT
7
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
8 Rk kR
9 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, Case No.; C277650
10 Plaintiff, | Dept. No.: XX
11 [vs. MOTION TO CONTINUE TRIAL
12 | MICHAEL ALLAN LEE, Date of Hearing:
13 #1699107 Time of Hearing:
14 Defendant.
‘ COMES NOW, Defendant MICHAEL ALLAN LEE, by and through his attorneys,
15
16 PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ., of the law office of McDONALD ADRAS, LLC, and hereby
17 submits his Motion to Continue Trial. This Motion is brought pursuant to the Nevada Rules of
18 | Criminal Procedure, the following memorandum of points and authorities, all pleadings and
19 | papers filed herein, any other evidence the Court may consider when ruling upon Defendant's
p
20 | Motion.
21 : th
Dated this 19" day of June, 2012.
22 ~
7 6-11-277860-1 PO DRAS, LL.C
23 mgzn to Continus Trial : /
1877480 B Kf//
* | (IDIORANIY | etk RS
! Nevada Bar No. 3526
25 - 601 Southr 7" Strect
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
26 Attorneys for Defendant
27 RECENVED
28 JUN 19 2012
_— GLERK.OFTHECOURY
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NOTICE OF MOTION

YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Petitioner will bring the foregoing Motion on

3 [for hearing in Department XXIII of the above-entitled Court on the day of
4 M&_ﬁ{f', 2012, at the hour of 7 7 _z_f.m. or as soon thereafter as counsel can be heard.
5 McDONALD ADRAS, LLC |
6
7 T g :/ ., P ol e S UM
ATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ.
8 Nevada Bar No, 3526
601 South 7" Street
9 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorneys for Defendant
10
11 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
3 12 I. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS
-
: 13 Defendant was bound over to District Court on November 17, 2011, on the following
o
14
E charges: Count 1: Murder and Count 2: Child Abuse/Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm. A
z I3
% s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was thereafter filed and heard on January 30, 2012. Although
o
=
-

Defendant’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was ultimatély denied, Defendant hag since been
aggressively developing defenses in his case and denies committing the alleged offenses.

To aid in his defense, Defendant has retained two expert witneéses; a Medical Examiner,
as well as 2 Biomechanical Engineer. Defendant is also in the process of securing a General
Surge011 to testify at trial. Since Defendant has been déclared indigent for purposes of costs in this
matter, before being retained in this matter, each proposed expert witness must be submitted to
the County for prior approval. As such, there are time delays form the time an expert witness is

identified, until Defendant can actively engage his expert.
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Developing the full theories of defense and 'locating experts who are qualified and
available to testify for trial in July 23, 2012, has taken some time. As set forth above, Defendant
is still attempting to locate a qualified expert in the field of General Surg‘ery to testify at trial.
Additional time delays have taken place, to secure the items Defendant’s experts have to
review, including x-ray films, autopsy slide ‘re-cuts’, the damaged motor vehicle the alleged

victim was in prior to his death, and the related broken carseat.

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

=) o ~J [= N

10
1
12
13
14

15

16
17
18

19

Given the severity of the charges: Count 1: Murder and Count 2: Child Abuse/Neglect
with Substantial Bodily Harm, additional time is necessary for Defendant to prep.are a meaningful
defense to the charges. Defendant is thérefore seeking a 90 day trial continuance.

II. LEGAL AUTHORITIES
Local Rule of Practice for the Eighth Judicial District Court, Rule 3.20(a) provides that

(a) Unless otherwise provided by law or by these rules, all motions must be
served and filed not less than 15 days before the date set for trial. The
court will only consider late motions based upon an affidavit
demonstrating good cause and it may decline to consider any motion filed
in violation of this rule.

Trial in this matter is currently set for July 23, 2012, This motion is brought well in
‘advance of the 15 day deadline. Based upon the need for additional time to retain expert

witnesses, Defendant requests that trial in this matter be continue for a period of at least 90 days.

185




Based upon the above, Defendant respectfully requests that this Court grant Defendant’s

Motion to Continue Tnial,

Dated this 19™ day of June, 2012,

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

10
3
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

B

L CONCLUSION

Respectfully submitted,

e -McDONAED-ADRAS, LLC

g

PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 3526

601 South 7" Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorneys for Defendant

166




Ll

s

£ W N

LN

AFFIDAVIT OF ATTORNEY PATRICK E. McDONALD. ESQ.

STATE OF NEVADA )
' ) ss:
COUNTY OF CLARK )
PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ, being first duly sworn, deposes and says;

I That I am a licensed attorney practicing law in the State of Nevada and that 1

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

A > - IS -

10
11
12
13
14

15

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

represent the Defendant MICHAEIL ALLAN LEE, inthe above-entitled case.

2. That I have personal knowledge of the facts contained in this Affidavit and am
competent to testify as to those facts.

3 That since being retained, Defendant has been incarcerated at High Desert State
Prison and has been declared indigent for purposes of paying defense costs, including. expert
witnesses. Before an expert is fetained, Defendant must wait for County approval,

4, That Defendant has retained two expert witnesses, a Medical Examiner, as ﬁell as
a Biomechanical Engineer. It has taken so@e time to identify and retain the above experts.
However, a General Surgeon third expert witness still needs to be retained, although Defendant
has been actively seeking a qualified and available expert,

5. That once all of the experts have been retained, additional time will still be
necessary for the experts to review all of the pertinent information, including items that
Defendant is not in possession of, namely: x-ray films, autopsy slide ‘re‘cuts®, the damaged motor
vehicle the alleged victim was in prior to his death, and the related broken car seat.

6. That to properly mount a defense against the charges of Murder and Child
Abuse/Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm, a trial continuance of at least 90 days is necessary.

FURTHER, your affiant sayeth not

PATRICK E. McDONAliD ESQ.

-5-

167



Ll dobe dd

ROC

Nevada Bar No. 3526 .
McDONALD ADRAS, L1.C
601 South 7™ Street

PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ.

“FILED?
ORIGIRBL) s gy 12

3 | (702) 385-7227
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 A o
4 || Atiorneys for Defendant VAZ I 1 ,/é,:ﬁ.,,._,._h__
CLERE * © ~ ~puRT
3
6 DISTRICT COURT
! CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
3 Tkvekek
9 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, Case No,: C277650
i0 Plaintiff, Dept. No.: XXIII
11 [vs. RECEIPT OF COPY
12 | MICHAEL ALLAN LEE,
#1699107
13
Defendant.
14
15 ‘ -
16 Receipt of the foregoing MOTION TO CONTINUE TRIAL is hereby acknowledged
17 | this 19™ day of June, 2012.
19 DISTRICT ATTORNEVS OFFICE
J _
20 ' |
21 '
22 Recalpt ol Copy
23
. \\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\
5"-5: o 24
= .
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Electronically Filed
01/11/2013 10:29:11 AM

SUPP . )S-Zsﬁn;ww

STEVEN B, WOLFSON CLERK OF THE COURT

2 I Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
3 || JOHN GIORDANI
Deputy District Attorney
4 § Nevada Bar #012381
200 Lewis Avenue
5 || Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
6 || Attorney for Plaintiff
A ~ DISTRICT COURT
g CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
g | THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
10 Plaintiff, g CASENO: C-11-277650-1
11 -V§- ) DEPT NO: XX
12 | MICHAEL ALAN LEE, J '
| #1699107 %
3 Defendant. %
14 7
SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF WITNESSES
15 [NRS 174.234(1)(a)]
16
17 TO: MICHAEL ALAN LEE, Defendant; and
18 TQO: PATRICK E. MCDONALD, ESQ., Counsel of Record:
19 YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the STATE QF
20 ]| NEVADA intends to call the following witnesses in its case in chief:
21 NAME ADDRESS
22 PACHECO, SANDRA ABC Pediatrics
| 10950 8. Eastern Ave., Ste. 100
23 Henderson, NV 89052
24 PULIDO, ANNA ‘¢/o CCDA’S OFFICE
200 Lewis Ave., 3rd Flr.
25 Las Vegas, NV 89155
26 SIRSY, DR. HESHAM ABC Pediatrics
_ 10950 S. Eastern Ave., Ste. 100
27 Henderson, NV 89052
28 1 1/

C\Program Files\Neevia.Com\Document ConverterMemp\3825292-4508439.DOC
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ZAVALA, JOANNA ' - ¢/o CCDA’S OFFICE

200 Lewis Ave., 3rd Flr.
Las Vegas, NV 89155

These witnesses are in addition to those witnesses endorsed on the Information and

any other witness for which a separate Notice has been filed.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar#001565

O o ] N v B oW o
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BY /s/JOHN GIORDANI

JOHN GIORDANI
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #012381

CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION
I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE .
OF WITNESSES, was made this _11th day of January, 2013, by facsimile transmission to:

PATRICK E, MCDONALD, ESQ.

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT
FAX#385-5351

BY: /s/P. Manis

P. Manis
Employee of the District Attorney's Office

pmv/L-2

C :\Pm?;ram Files\Neevia.Com\Document Converter\ternp\3825292-4508439.D0C
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Electronically Filed
01/11/2013 10:32:41 AM

SUPP . ikﬂﬂ”""—'

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

CLERK OF THE COURT

2 | Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
3 || JOHN GIORDANI
Deputy District Attorney
4 | Nevada Bar #012381
200 Lewis Avenue
5 || Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
6 || Attomney for Plaintiff N B
7 DISTRICT COURT
g CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
¢ | THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
10 Plaintiff, i CASENO: (C-11-277650-1
11 Vs~ g DEPTNO:  XXIII
12 | MICHAEL ALAN LEE,
3 #1699107 g
. Defendant. %
14
SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF EXPERT WITNESSES
15 [NRS 174.234(2)]
16
17 TO: MICHAEL ALAN LEE, Defendant; and
18 TO: PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ., Counsel of Record:
15 YOU, AND FACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the STATE OF
20 || NEVADA intends to call the following witnesses in its case in chief:
21 1. SIRSY. DR. HESHAM - ABC Pediatrics,
10950 S. Eastern Ave., Ste. 100
22 Henderson, NV 89042
23 DR. HESHAM is expected to testify as an expert regarding the medical care and
24 | treatment of BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER for the time period prior to Brodie's death.
25 |
26 |
27 |
28 || /1

C:\Program Files\Neevia.Com\Document Converteriternp\38253 50-4508503.DOC
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The substance of each expert witness' testimony and a copy of all reports made by or
at the direction of the expert witness has been provided in discovery. |

A copy of each expert witness' curriculum vitae, if available, is attached heteto.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar#001565

T T BY /RTOHNGIORDAN———
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JOHN GIORDANI
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #012381

CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION
[ hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE

OF EXPERT WITNESSES, was made this_11th _day of January, 2013, by facsimile

transmission to:

PATRICK E. MCDONALD, ESQ.

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT
FAX#385-5351

BY: /s/P. Manis

P, Manis
Employee of the District Attorney's Office

pm/L-2

C:\Prc%ram Files\Neevia. Com\Document Converter\temp'38253 50-4508503.DOC
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Electronically Filed
03/11/2013 10:33:40 AM

OPI o Q%« 8 g&ﬁum-—

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

2 | Clark County District Attorney - CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #001565
3 || DAVID L.. STANTON
Chief Deputy District Attorney
4 I Nevada Bar #003202
200 Lewis Avenue
51 Las Vc%as, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
6 {| Attorney for Plaintiff
7 DISTRICT COURT ~ ™™~
g CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
9 | THE STATE OF NEVADA,
10 Plaintitf, -
11 s CASENO: C-11-277650-1
12 | MICHAEL ALAN LEE, DEPTNO:  XXIlI
13 #1699107
Defendant.
14
R ORDER FOR PRODUCTION OF INMATE
16 MICHAEL A. LEE, BAC #81950
DATE OF HEARING: (3/13/2013
17 TIME OF HEARING: 9:30 AM.
18 o
19 TO: DWIGHT W. NEVEN, Warden of the High Desert State Prison;
20 TO: DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE, Sheriff of Clark County, Nevada
21 Upon the ex parte application of THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff, by STEVEN
22 | B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, through DAVID L. STANTON, Chief
23 {| Deputy District Attomney, and good cause appearing therefor,
24 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that DWIGHT W. NEVEN, Warden of the High Desert
25 | State Prison shall be, and is, hereby directed to produce MICHAEL A. LEE, in Case No. C-
26 | 11-277650-1, wherein THE STATE OF NEVADA is the Plaintiff, inasmuch as the said
27 | MICHAEL A. LEE is currently incarcerated in the High Desert State Prison located in
28 | indian Springs, Nevada and his presence will be required in Las Vegas, Nevada commencing

FAWPDOCS\ORDRWFORDRIOUTLYING\Eh 111 H165302.do¢
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on 03/13/2013, at the hour of 9:30 o'clock A.M. and continuing until completion of the
prosecution's case against the said Defendant.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE, Sheriff' of Clark
County, Nevada, shall accept and retain custody of the said MICHAEL A. LEE in the Clark
County Detention Center, Las Vegas, Nevada, pending completion of said matter in Clark

County, or until the further Order of this Courti or in the alternative shall make all

O e =1 N ot B W R

T T S T T N T N R o i N R o T v =
o8 -1 O L b W N~ O W e -y th B W N = O

arrangements for the transportation of the said MICHAEL A. LEE to and from the Nevada | = "

State Prison facility which are necessary to insure the MICHAEL A. LEE's appearance in

Clark County pending completion of said matter, or until further Order of this Court.
DATED this z day of March, 2013.

I QTR ANY A MILEY

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

BY' /]| /
AVID L. STANTON
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #003202

11FH1653X/sam-MVU

PAWPDOCS\ORDR\FORDRWOUTL YINGU HINH165302.doe
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NATHA von MAGDENKD, SO,
Neeada Bar No, 7045 Electronically Filed

‘ %Mﬁ;;;}&“ﬁk{} % ANSOUYATES, PLIC ca €
“f’f‘ ot 10/17/2013 04:30:02 PM

.
s :s,s'wumﬁd\\ O
saratle TO2383 1611 2

CLERK OF THE COURT

EHER

PESTRICT COURTY
CLARK COUNTY, NEVARA

2 & £

Bk K il

DTHE $YATE OF NEVADA, CQase Naw CRFTE30

Pralagiiy, | Diept. Noo XX

MCTION 15 LIMINE TO EXCLUDE
[ ALLAN LER PRIOR BAD ACTS OF DEFENDANT

Defendant.

a-v/

TEOMESTROW, Defindam MY coaned thrmagh his sitomeys,

(A von MAGRENKD, B8O, ﬁ} Taw firm of von MAGDENKO & ASSOCTATES MAL

R& | aved hereby submits his Motion in

and GREGG PESCE of the KNAPP LAW I

"
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Rates of Oviming Procedore, the folloswing memorsadun of polats and suthorities, all plosdings
and papers fHed hereln, any ofher evidencs the Cowrt sy consider when ruling upon Defondmt’s

wfoidon, Drated this 17 day of Qoober, 2013,

von MAGDENKO & ASROCIATES, PLLC

o

R i ] v-‘(\\ JEE. - JUR

$ "d\t.\l Bar \s ) ~§”\
j!f{}f!?{'* ¥ m. Aicka
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

HEREBY CERTIPY that on the 175 day of Ooebser, 2013, Loaused 1o be deposited 1o

EXCLUDE PRIGR BAD ACTS OF DEFENDANT fn 2 sealed envitlope, frst olass postag

Sully propaid, addressed & e following persons or vig email where indicasads

oy

‘}&y & Stauton, Eag.

o and

1 Mogstelonen
£ ) it uf VO ?K {\ (%» i1 nli &;
Assoviates, PLLO

o

# frue and corect copy of the fregning MOTION IV LIMINE TO
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(S

Electronically Filed
10/30/2013 01:27:34 PM

| NOTM | : gz . 5£ ‘

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

2 [ Clark County District Attorne
Nevada Bar%OOl 565 Y CLERK OF THE COURT
3 | DAVID L STANTON
Chief D%')uty District Attorney
4 || Nevada Bar #003202
200 Lewis Avenue
5 || Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
6 | Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
8 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
9 || THE STATE OF NEVADA,
10 Plaintiff,
CASENO: C-11-277650-1
11 . -Vs-
12 | MICHAEL ALAN LEE, DEPTNO:  XXII
" #1699107
Defendant,
14
15 NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION FOR PROPER AND CORRECT SERVICE
16 DATE OF HEARING: 11/13/13
17 TIME OF HEARING: 9:30 A.M.
18 COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County
19 District Attorney, through DAVID L STANTON, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and files
20 this Notice of Motion and Motion for Proper and Correct Service.
1 This Motion is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
29 attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
93 deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.
24 |
25 ||
26 || "
27 | 7
8 7

PAWPDOCSWMOTIONOutlying\ | H 1\ h165301.doc
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10

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

NOTICE OF HEARING
YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned
will bring the foregoing motion on for setting before the above entitled Court, in Department

XXIII thereof, on Wednesday, the 13th day of November, 2013, at the hour of 9:30 o'clock

A M., or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard.
DATED this ?@Tp/day of October, 2013.

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

) Y- |
Chief D%)uty District Attorney
Nevada Bar #003202

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Recently defense counsel filed 2 Motion in Limine on or about October 17, 2013.

The “Certificate of Service” listed on page 12 of that Motion (attached as Exhibit A) shows
that neither email addresses listed are the correct email address for the undersigned counsel
or the Clark County District Attorney’s Office,

The listed email addresses for the Defendant"s Motion were:

- david.stanton@ccdanv.gov and’

- Pdmotions@cecdanv.gov

i
I/
i
i
i
i
i

PAWPDOCS\WOTIONOutlying\HI\1 h165301.doc
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Ll L)

b

Neither of these addresses is correct. All Clark County District Attorney emails

2 | addresses end with; .com NOT .gov. Further the “Pdmotions” address has nothing to do
3 || with the District Attorney’s office whatsoever,
4 The correct email address for lead counsel is:
5 - david.stanton@pclarkcountyda.com
6 DATED this _“*—"day of October, 2013.
7 - 'STEVEN B. WOLFSON =~ 77777~
Clark County District Attorney
8 ', Nevada Bar #001
o ‘
10 BY .
IT g Chief1 BeLuSt;/r%Iiig(i?:?Attomey
12 Nevada I_far #003202
13
14 CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION AND/OR ELECTRONIC MAIL
15 [ hereby certify that service of Notice of Motion and Motion for Proper and Correct
16 {| Service was made this 30th day of October, 2013, by facsimile transmission and/or e-mail to:
17
18 NADIA VON MAGDENKO, ESQ.
19 E-MAIL: NADIA@VPLASVEGASLAW.COM
20 GREGORY D. KNAPP, ESQ.
21 FAX #385-1611
22
23
» o, W@P
22 | {a'r%%;ﬁ?f the District Attorney’s Office
27
28 | 11FH1653X/jt/MVU

PAWPDOCS\MOTION\Outlying\] HIM h165301.dos

(WS
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ATTORMNEYS AT LAW

ES i

G

et

)
L

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

( HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 17 day of Ocioher, 2013, T caused 1o be deposited i
the United States mail o froe and correct copy of the foregoing MOTION N LIMINE TO
EXCLUDE PRIOR BAD ACTS OF DEFENDANT in 2 seafed envelope, first clasy postag
fully propaid, addressed 1o the following persons or via email where indivated:

Daviad Sianton, sy,
Fanail

Prosecutor

A Manued Monteloneo
An employee of von Magdenko &
Assoviates, PLLO
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1
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24 -

25
26
27
28

1661-South 7* Street -+ - -

Electronically Filed
12/11/2013 02:27:22 PM

NOTC *
NADIA von MAGDENKO, ESQ. R S
Nevada Bar No. 7945

von MAGDENKO & ASSOCIATES, PLLC : CLERK OF THE COURT
624 South 9™ Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Electronic Mail: Nadia@vplasvegaslaw.com

Telephone: 702.385.1600/Facsimile: 702.385.1611

In association with
GREGORGY D. KNAPP, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 6381

Las Vegas, NV §9101
Telephone: 702.380.4199

Attorneys for Defendant Michael Allan Lee

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

*hEkEh®

THE STATE OF NEVADA, Case No.: C277650
Plaintiff, Dept. No.: XXII1
V8.
: DEFENDANT MICHAEL ALLAN LEE’S
MICHAEL ALLAN LEE, WITNESS DISCLSOURE
#1699107
Defendant.

COMES NOW, Defendant MICHAEL ALLAN LEE, by and through his attorneys,
NADIA von MAGDENKOQO, ESQ. of the law firm of von MAGDENKO & ASSOCIATES,
PLLC and GREGORY D. KNAPP, ESQ. of the KNAPP LAW FIRM , and herby lists the
following witnesses he intends to call at the time of trial:

A. Jonathan L. Arden, M.D.
Arden Forensics
1390 Chain Bridge Rd., #105
McLean, VA22101
Telephone: 703.749.0227

Dr. Arden is expected to testify as to his findings and. conclusions related to his forensic
pathology analysis of the death of Brodie Aschenbrenner.

A copy of Dr. Arden’s curriculum vitae, schedule of fees, and report have been

previously provided, as Bates Nos. LEE000I-0024.
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

22

23
24
25
26
27
28

B. Steven A, Rundell, Ph.D,, P.E.
Armstrong Forensic Engineers
5 Research Dr., Suite B
Ann Arbor, M1 48103
Telephone: 813.948.8010

Dr. Rundel] is expected to testify as to his findings and conclusions related to forensic

biomechanical engineering analysis related to the death of Brodie Aschenbrenner.

I . A copy of Dr. Rundell’s curriculum vitae, schedule of fees, and report have been

previously provided, as Bates Nos. LEE0025-0049.
C. Devesh Tiwary, M.D., FACS
Tiwary Surgical
1682 Canopy Oaks Blvd.
Palm Harbor, F1. 33761
Telephone: 727.3460.6489

Dr. Tiwary is expected to testify as to his findings and conclusions related to his forensic

trauma analysis of the death of Brodie Aschenbrenner.

A copy of Dr. Tiwary’s curriculum vitae, schedule of fees, and report have been
previously provided, as Bates Nos. LEE(0050-0055.
D. Shannon Krynzel
145 1% St.

Las Vegas, NV 89015
Telephone: 702.472.3863

Ms. Krynzel is expected to testify as to her eye witness observations and conversations
with Michael Lee in the hours prior Brodie Aschenbrenner’s death.
E. Jennifer Lee
11970 White Lilly St

Las Vegas, NV 89183
Telephone: 702.810.2852

Ms. Lee is expected to testify as to eye witness observations of Brodie Aschenbrenner, as

well as her conversations with Michael Lee and Arica Foster prior Brodie Aschenbrenner’s

death,
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F. Jackie Lemke
194 Gilliflower Dr,
Las Vegas, NV 89183
Telephone: 702,569.7748
Ms. Lemke is expected to testify as to her conversations with Arica Foster and Michael

Lee, and her eye witness observations of Brodie Aschenbrenner, prior Brodie Aschenbrenner’s

death.
~ G. Danny Fico
194 Gilliflower Ave.
Las Vegas, NV 89183
Telephone: 702.250.3405
Mr. Fico is expected to testify as to his conversations with Arica Foster and Michael Lee,

and his eye witness observations of Brodie Aschenbrenner, prior Brodie Aschenbrenner’s death,

H. Brad Moshier
Address and telephone number presently unknown.

Mr. Moshier is expected to testify as his conversations with Arica Foster and his eye

witness observations of Brodie Aschenbrenner, prior Brodie Aschenbrenner’s death.

I. Merridee Moshier
Address and telephene number presently unknown.

Ms. Moshier is expected to testify as her conversations with Arica Foster and her eye
witness observations of Brodie Aschenbrenner, prior Brodie Aschenbrenner’s death.

J.  Amanda Butler
Address and telephone number presently unknown.

Ms. Butler is expected to testify as her conversations with Arica Foster and her eye
witness observations of Brodie Aschenbrenner, prior Brodie Aschenbrenner’s death.

K. Alaine Opie
Address and telephone number presently unknown.

Ms. Opie is expected to testify as her conversations with Arica Foster and her eye

witness observations of Brodie Aschenbrenner, prior Brodie Aschenbrenner’s death.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

1 HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 11" day of December, 2013, I caused to be deposited in the
United States mail a true and correct copy of the foregoing DEFENDANT MICHAEL ALLAN

LEE’S WITNESS DISCLSOURE in a sealed envelope, first class postage fully prepaid,

David Stanton, Esq.

" Email: david.stanton@ccdanv.com;
david.stanton@clarkcountyda.com;
Prosecutor

addressed to the following persons or vig email where indicated:

/s/ Nadia von Magdenko. Esq.
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Electronically Filed
12/11/2013 02:32:48 PM

DISC | )
NADIA von MAGDENKO, ESQ. % i-/&p‘“"‘-"

Nevada Bar No. 7945

von MAGDENKQ & ASSOCIATES, PLLC CLERK OF THE COURT
624 South 9 Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Electronic Mail: Nadia@vplasvegaslaw.com

Telephone: 702.385.1600/Facsimile: 702.385.1611

In association with
GREGORGY D. KNAPP, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 6381
.} _601__South_7ﬂl_stl.eet__ SN . .. O g
{.as Vegas, NV 89101
Telephone: 702.380.419%
Attorneys for Defendant Michael Allan Lee
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
FhkRwdk

THE STATE OF NEVADA, Case No.. C277650

Plaintiff, Dept. No.: XXIII
Vs,

DEFENDANT MICHAEL ALLAN LEE’S

MICHAEL ALLAN LEE, DISCLSOURE OF DOCUMENTS
#1699107 '

Defendant.

‘COMES NOW, Defendant MICHAEL ALLAN LEE, by and through his attorneys,

NADIA von MAGDENKO, ESQ. of the law firm of von MAGDENKO & ASSOCIATES,
PLLC and GREGORY D, KNAPP; ESQ. of the KNAPP LAW FIRM , and herby lists the
following witnesses he intends to call at thé time of trial:
I. A copy of Dr. Arden’s curriculum vitas, schedule of fees, and report have been
previousty provided, as Bates Nos. LEE0001-0024.
2. A copy of Dr. Rundell’s curriculum vitae, schedule of fees, and report have been
previously provided, as Bates Nos. LEE0025-0049.
3. A copy of Dr. Tiwe_lry’s curriculum vitae, schedule of fees, and report have been
previously provided, as Bates Nos. LEE0050-0055.

4. Photographs, Bates Nos, LEE0056-LEE0074.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 11 day of December, 2013, I caused to be deposited in the
United States mail a true and correct copy of the foregoing DEFENDANT MICHAEL ALLAN
LEE’S DISCLSOURE OF DOCUMENTS in a sealed envelope, first class postage fully

prepaid, addressed to the following persons or via email where indicated:

David Stanton, Esq.
--Email:-david.stanton@ccdanv.com; -
david.stanton@clarkcountyda.com,

Prosecutor

/s/ Nadia von Magdenko. Fsq.
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Electronically Filed
01/02/2014 03:48:34 PM

MLIM . Eﬁl ,
STEVEN B. WOLFSON % i

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #001565

DAVID L. STANTON

Chief Deputy District Attorney

Nevada Bar #003202

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
| CLARR COUNTY. NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, ‘

Plaintiff,
-v§- CASE NO: C-11-277650-1
MICHAEL ALAN LEE, | DEPT NO: XXIIL
- #1699107

Defendant.

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION IN LIMINE RE: DEFENDANT’S
EXPERT (RUNDELL) AND TO FOUNDATIONAL ASPECTS
OF THE DEFENSE EXPERTS’ OPINION

DATE OF HEARING: JANUARY 13, 2014
TIME OF HEARING: TO6-RM g : 30 AM

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County
District Attorney, through DAVID L. STANTON, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and files
this Notice Of Motion And Motion In Limine Re: Defendant’s Expert (Rundell) And To
Foundational Aspects Of The Defense Experts’ Opinion.

This Motion is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in 'support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.

| NOTICE OF HEARING
YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned

will bring the foregoing motion on for setting before the above entitled Court, in Department
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o 9:30AM
XX thereof, on Monday, the 13th day of January, 2014, at the hour of [86-0"Clock PM, or

as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard.

DATED this 2nd day of January, 2014.

IDT.. STANTON
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #003202

Defense counsel has filed a notice of three (3) experts to include, Steven Rundell a
“biomechanical engineer.” The State secks this Court to order limitations on the scope of
Runddell’s testimony to be confined to his area of expertise and to exclude any portion outside
of his expertise contained in his August 12, 2013 or presented at the time of his testimony,
Additionally, the State seeks an order from this Court that limits the testimony of these experts
to their opinions and not to the underlying factual information unless directly relevant or
otherwise already admitted at trial.

L RUNDELL

The State has received and reviewed the report apparently authored by Rundell filed by
defense counsel in this matter. The report is nineteen (19) pages in length. (See attached
Exhibit 1). A significant portion of Rundell’s opinion goes outside the area of expertise that
he is presented as an expert — biomechanical engineer.

For example (but certainly not an exhaustive listing) Rundell opines that duodenal
ruptures are the subject of a “wide range of blunt impact magnitude” and this trauma has
“delayed onset of symptoms.” This testimony is properly the subj ect matter of a qualified
expert such as a forensic pathologist not a biomechanical engineer. The CV of Rundell fails
to indicate any basis of how he can render an opinion of anything within this realm of expertise.
Rundell concedes as much in his report on the latter wherein he state states, several times, that

he reviewed literature on the matter. Merely reviewing other documents does not make the

2
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content of those documents a proper subject matter for an expert to testify about. The amount
of force used to cause duodenal trauma is one that is observed and reviewed by pathologists
at autopsy of the decedents. Further, the diagnosis of the symptoms is properly the subject
matter of a qualified medical professional — a physician. Rundell has no expertise in either of
these two areas. Therefore, the State asks that this Court order that Rundell be limited to
opinions contained in his report that fall within his area of expertise only.

- Finally, there are numerous “articles” referenced in Rundell’s report. Contrary to the
defense expert (Arden), none of the articles relied upon by Rundell have been produced to the
State. These numerous reports have not been produced to the State. Rundell’s report was
written on or before August 12, 2013. Yet to date, and more importantly outside Nevada’s
expert Witness notification, none of the reports deemed to be critical to Rundell have been
produced to the State.

II. FACTS SUPORTING THE DEFENSE EXPERTS OPINIONS

The State asks this Court to order that the testimony of any defense expert be limited
to their reSpective opinions and that the underlying facts be limited to those that are/have been
admitted to the jury. Further, that the source of these facts be redacted from their trial
testimony. Simply put, an expert witness is permitted to discuss the underlying facts that give
rise to their respective opinion, However, there is not an evidentiary basis to permit the expert
witness to testify as to the source of that information.

That testimony (through an expert witness) is hearsay and not subject to any exception,
Second, that testimony would be irrelevant to the testimony itself. Finally, it improperly
invades the province of the jury to be the determiners of the facts in this case.

DATED this 2nd day of January, 2014.

ST EVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County-District Attorney
Nevada Ba (11

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #003202
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that on the 2nd day of January, 2014, I e-mailed a copy of the foregoing

BY

NADIA VON MAGDENKO, Esq.
Nadia@vplasvegaslaw.com

GREGORGY D. KNAPP, Esq.
regkna lawverx.pro

2 oo

R JOHNSON
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office

PAWPDOCSWMOTIONOUTLYINGTHIMH165301 DOCX

220



EXHIBIT 1




J

L

forensic investigation of traumatic injury, and computational analysis of

Licensure

ARMSTRONG

Curriculum Vitae

Steven A. Rundell, Ph.D., P.E.

Professional Proﬁlé

Dr. Rundell is a Professional Engincer and consultant speclalizing in
biomechanics and mechanical engincering. His major practice areas include the

orthopedic and spinal implants. He holds a B.S. and M.5. in Mechanical
Enginecring from Michigan State University and a Ph.D. in Biomedical
Engincering from Drexel University,

Dr. Rundell's research has resulted in the publication of numerous peer-
reviewed journal articles and abstracts. He has presented scientific findings at
both medical and engincering confercnces, Most recently, Dr. Rundell has
worked with the Food and Drug Administration to investigate failure modes of
spinal implantx in order to develop more robust pre.clinical test standards,

Dr. Rundell uses his understanding of mechanical engincering and injury
hiomechanics to perform forensic investigations of accidents, Recent
investigativns include evaluating the effect of seatbelt use during a large olf-road
dump truck rollover, determining the likelihood of spinal injury during a rear-
end motor vehicle collision, investigating the causc of a shoulder injury during 2
slip and fall on a construction site, and determining the forces and motions
imparted to-a pedestrian during contact with a vchicle.

Professional Engincer, State of Michigan, # 6201057108
Professional Engincer, Statc of Texas, # 110462
Professiomal Engineer, Stawe of IMinals, # 062064089
Professional Engineer, State of Florida, # 73726

865 9448010 Tl Freer
oW armsongiorentc Lo Web

Contact Information

Direct: (248) §79-0101
Cell: (248) 979-7052 -
s.rundeli@armstronglorensic.com

Detroit Office

1042 North Milford Road
Suite 208

Milford, Mj 48381
Phone: (248) 529-3735
Fax: (248) 529-6185

Education

Drexel University
FPhiladelphta, Pernsylvanin
Ph.D. in Biomcdical Engineering

Michigan State University
Ear Lapsing, Michigan

limoe
CHILALE
Aud Ty
R TETH

Master of Science in Mechanical Engineering

Michigan Statc University
East Lansing, Michigan

Bachclor of Scicnce in Mechanical Engincering

o S s e Mioeon U Mo Bl PGS Pa e dod:
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Professional Honors

Paper Competition Winner, ASTM International Annual Mecting, 2010
Paper Competitiun Finalist, ASME Sumner Bio Enginccring Confercnce, 2010

Michigan $tate University Companion Animal. Fund Grant, 2004

TRW Foundation Grant Rectpient, 2603

Design News Magazine Award Redipient, 2003

Graduate Fellowship, 2003

Professional Affiliations

Society of Automative Engincers (SAE), Member
American Saciety of Blemechanics (ASB), Member

Journal Reviewer

Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Rescarch
Journat of Medical Devices
Spine

L
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21 wgikr

Work Experience

Armstrong Forensic Engineers, Inc,

Senior Consultant: 201 1-Presemt

Expontnt

Managing Engineer: 2010-2011
Senior Engincer: 2007-2010
Engincer: 2005-2007

Michigan Stare University

Crthopacdic Biomechanies Labs

Graduate Research and Teaching Assistant
2001-2005

| e 2o
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Presentations and Published Abstracts

Rundell A, Day ]S, Isazz |, Siskey R, MacDonald D, Kurtz SM,
Determining the biomechanical environment of lumbar mobile total
disc replacements wsing casc-specific finite element modeling related
ta retricved implants, FDA Workshop on Computer Methods for
Medical Devices, 2011

Siskey, 8.D., Siskey, R L., Kurtz, .M., Rundell, S.A. Sensitivity of
cervical total disc rcphccmcnt armmlatum to device Jordosis and dise
height distraction, FDA Workshop on Computer Methods for
Medical Devices, 2011

Auverbach [, Hanulewicz P, Rundell SA. Novel, semi-rigid lambar
spinal stabilization lowers pedicle screw pull-gut risk in an
ostepporotic spine when compared with titaniumn and PEEK rods.
cPuster, 18th Internationsl Mecting un Advanced Spine Techniques
(IMAST), 2011,

Auerhach |D, Parry |, Rundell $A. Dynamiv corvizal stabilization: A
nuvel, motion-preserving aternative te fusion and articulating total
dise replacement. ePoster, 18th International Mecting on Advanced
Spine Techniques (IMAST), 2011,

Auerbach |0, Rundelt SA. Dynamic cervical stabilization; A novel,
motion-prescrving alternative to fsion and articulating tolal disc
replacement. Poster Preseatation, 11 th Annual Mccting of the Spinal
Arthreplasty Seciety, 2001,

Aucrbach |D, Hanulewicr P, Rundell SA. Semi-rigid lumbar spinal
stahilization lawers screwhone interface foree and cancellous bone
strain when compared with PEEK and titanium rod systems in a
healthy and osteoporaotic spine. Poster Presentation, 11th Annual
Mecting of the Spinal Arthroplasty Socicty, 2011,

Aucrhach JD, Parry §, Rundel] A, No profile cervical interbudy cage

with lag screw fixation incveases graft loading and reduces bone
resorption signal when compared with static and dynamic cervical
plating. Podium Presentation, 1 Tth Annual Mecting of the Spinal
Arthroplasty Society, 2011,

Rundell SA, Day J8, Isaza ), Siskey R, MacDonald D, Kurtz SM.
Derivation of clinically relevant houndary conditions suitable for
cvaluation of vhromic impingement of Jumbar total dise replacement:
Application to standard development, Podiem Presentation, ASTM
[nternational Mecting 2040, San Antunia, TX. (Paper cumpetition
winner),

Sitkey SD), Cordars NM, Siskey R1., Rundell SA, Characterization of
adjacent Tevel loading in the ev rvical spine for fusion amd motion
preserving alternatives. Eur Spine | 2010; E9(Suppl 3):8233- 364,
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Rumdell 5A, Isaza |, Day J§, Guillory §, Newberry WN, Kurta 8M,
The importance of posterior muscle strength and facet contact in
preventing lumbar dise herniation during forward bending,
Proccedings, ASME 2010 Summer Bioengineering Canierence
(SBC2010), Naples FL, Junc 1619, 2010,

Rundel! $A, Isazs §, Guillory §, Day [5, Kuriz SM. Posterior muscle
activation in the lumbar spinc cngages facet contact and redluces shear
fortes in the intervertobral dise during simulated standing.. Poster
Presentation, 56th Annual Meeting of the Orthopacdic Rescarch
Socicty, 2010,

Rundel SA, Tsaza ], Guillory §, Day JS, Kurtz SM. The: role of facet
contact in reducing Intervertebral shear during simulated standing,
Oral Poster Presentation, 10th Annual Mecting of the Spinal
Arthroplasty Society, 2010,

Rundell SA, Siskey R, lsaza ], Kurtz 8M, Disc height distraction
fnereases range of motien and impingement risk in fixed and mabile
bearing total disc replivements, Qral Poster Presentation,

10th Annual Meeting of the Spinal Arthroplasty Sodiety, 010,

Rundell SA, Guerin HL, Yim . The Development of 3 madel for use
in evaluating dugenerative disc discase. Poster Presentation, 10th
Annual Mecting of the Spinal Arthruplasty Society, 2010.

Angiband LD, Steflens |, Rundell SA, Hayes A, Weisenburger JN,
Haider H. Effects of tibial insert slope on pulycthylene wear and
stress, 54th Annual Meeting of the Orthopacdic Research Soclety,
2008.

Rundell SA, Guerin HL, Auerbach [D, Kurtz SM. Nucleus pulposus
replacement material stiffness propertivs affedt vertehral body strains
ant remodeling response. Podium Presentation, #th Annual Mceting
of the Spinc Arthreplasty Society, 2008,

Rundell SA, Averbach JD, Balderston RA, Kortz SM, Evaluation of
the influence of TDR positioning on subsidence and facet arthrosis.,
Podium Presentation, 8th Annual Meeting of the Spine Arthroplasty

. Socicty, 2008,

" Yhm J, Bowman B, Pagancili ], Rundell §, Jahng T, Watson R, A

finite clement analysis 10 predict peak bending and shear stresses on
the Nflex dynamic stabilization deviee and comparison to emplrically
derived fatigue data, Poster Presentation, Bth Armual Meeting of the
Spine Arthroplasty Soriety, 2008.

Rundell §, Gimbel [, Evalwation of prdicle screw loosening in 3
vombined facet and wial dise replacement system, Poster
Presentation, 8th Annual Meeving of the Spine Arthroplasty Secicty,
2008,
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Presentations and Published Abstracts Continued

Rundell 84, Auerbach jD, Balderston RA, Kurtz SM, Effects of TDR
implantation and positioning on adjacent level facet forees and disc
prcasﬁrcs. Poster Presentation, 8th Annual Mecting of the Spine
Arthroplasty Socicty, 2008.

Coleman )C, Bowden A, Rundell §, Nockels RP, Foley KT, Effect of
scmi-rigid posterior rods on kincrvatic: stability and load distribution
in the lumbar spine, Poster Presentation, Congress of Neurological
Surgeons, 2008.

Ong K, Rundell 8, Licpins 1, Laurent R, Markel B, Kurtz S,
Biomechanical eyaluation of acetabular component polycthylene
stresses, fracture risk, and wear rate during press-fit implantation.
Puster No. P10, 2nd Juinl Mecting of the Bene Research Sociery and
the British Orthepaedic Research Soviety, Manchester, UK, Jone 23—
25, 2008.

Rundell 54, Auerhach ]D, Balderston RA, Kurtz SM. Total disc
replacenent positioning aFfects Tacet contact forces and vertebral
hody strains. Poster Fresentation S4th Annual Meeting of the
Orihopacdic Rescarch Society, 2008,

Ong K, Rundctl SA, Markel D, Kurta $M. Biomechanical evaluation
of acetabular component polyethylene stresses, fracture risk, and
wear rate during press-fit fmplantation, 54th Annual Meeting of the
Orithopacdic Research Socicty, 2008,

Coleman, |.C., A.E. Bowden, §. Rundell, R.P. Nockels, and K.T.
Foley (2008). Elfect of semi-rigid posterior rods on kinematic
stability and toad distribution in the lumbar spine, Proc AANS/CNS,
Chicago, IL, Apri} 26-May 1.

Ong X, Rundell §, Markel D, Kurtz 8, Biomuechanical evaluation of
acctabular tomponent polycthylene strosses, fractore risk, and wear
rare during press-fit implantation. Poster P22, 20th Annual
Symprsivm of the International Soulety for Technology in
Arthroplasty, Pasis, Octaber 4--6, 2007.

Bowden, A. E., 8. Rundell, 1. Averbach and R, Balderston (2007).
Total dise replacernent changes Jacet contact strosses in exiension,
lateral bending, and axial renation. Spine Arthroplasty Summit 7,
Berlin, Germany, May 1.4,

Coleman, |, A, E, Bowden, 8. A, Rundell, R. P, Nockels and K. T.
Foley (2007}, ENect of a semi-rigid posterior implan on range of
imotion and load distribution in the lambar spine: A finite clement
study. Spine Arthroplasty Summit 7, Berlin, Germany, May 1-4.

Rundell, §., A. E. Bowden, J. Aucrbach and R. Balderston {2007).
Effects of Prodise positioning on Jum har kinumatics as determined
wsing speeimen-specific Hnite clement model, Spine Arthroplasty
Summit 7, Berlin, Germany, May 1.4,
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Baars DC, Rundell S, Haut RC. Acute repair of chondrocyte
membrancs can help prevent DNA fragmentation, 52nd Annual
Mucting of the Ovthopacdic Rescarch Socicty, 2006,

Rundell, 8., A, E. Bowden, M, L. Yillarraga, Q. Zhu and P, Cripion
(2006). Validation of experimental implant-bone interface Joad
mueasurernent for a facet replacement device sing finite element
analysis. $pinc Arthroplasty Sumomit 6, Montreal, Quebee, Canada,
May 10-13.

Rundell SA, Haut RC. Tissue equilibration alters the response of
cartitage cxplants o unconfined compression. 514t Annual Meeting
of the Orthopaedic Rescarch Society, 2005

Rundedl $A, McPhilamy A, Orth M, Haut RC. Glucosamine
supplementation can help limit marix damage and adjacent cell death
iry traumatized explants, 51st Annual Meeting of the Orthopacdic
Rescarch Seciety, 2005,
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Technical Reports and Publications

Rundell, §.A., Day, ].5., lsaza, ., Guillory, §., Kurtz, $,M. Lumbar
total disc replacement impingement sensitivity o disc heighe
distraction, spinal sagittal oricntation, jmplant position, and implant
fordusis, Spine 2011 in press

Rundell SA, Day 5, Isaza ), Siskey R, MacDonald [, Kurtz SM.
Derivation-of clineally relevant houndary conditions suitable for
evaluation of chronic impinpement of lumbar total disc replacement:
Application to standard development. Int J ASTM 2011; 8{5): 1-14.
jAI103556.

Runde!l 5A, The biomechanics of lumbar total disc replacement
impingement: In silica investigations of polycthylene damage maodes
of fumbear toral disc replacement. Ph.D), Dissertation, Drexcel
University, 2011.

Rundel) SA, Isaza [, Kurtz SM. Biomechanival evahuation of spherical
lumbar interhody device at varying levels of subsidence. SAS Jouwrnal
2011; 5(1):16-25.

Ong KL, Rundcdl 5, Liepins 1, Laurent R, Markel D, Kurtz 5.
Riomechanital nindeling of acctabular component palycthylene
stresses, fracture risk, and wear rate during press-fit implantation.
Orthop Res 2009; 27(11):1467-1472,

Rundell SA, Guerin HL, Auerbach JB, Kurtz SM. Effect of nuclens
replacement device propertics on fumbar spinc mechanics. Spine
2005; 34(19):2022-2032.

Rundell SA, Auerbach [D, Balderston RA, Kurtz SM. Total disc
replacement pusitioning affects facet contact forces and vertebral
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s Nevada v. Michael Allan Lee
> ARNSTRONG e

Armstrong Forensic Engineers, Inc.

Information Reviewed

You retained Armstrong Forensic Engineers (Armstrong) to conduct a forensic
biomechanical analysis pertaining to the above captioned matter that involved the death
of Brodie Aschenbrenner on June 15, 201 ). This report serves as a summary of the
technical consulting services provided to date, In general, | anticipate offering opinions
related to the area of injury biomechanics.

The following items have been reteived, considered, and reviewed:

»  Affidavit for Warrant

¢ Autopsy Report of Brodie Aschenbrenner, dated June 16, 2011

+ State of Nevada Traffic Accident Report from May 26, 201

* Report of johathan L. Arden, MD and associated materials

* Record from ABC Pediatrics associated with Brodie Aschenbrenner
¢+ 23 Color Photos of Brodie Aschenbrenner

+ Statements

o

0 0 QO 0

&}

Alaine Opie
Amanda Butler
Avrica Foster

Brad Moshier
Danny Fico
Merridee Moshier

+  September 9, 201 | Henderson Police Department Letter
* Transcript from Preliminary Hearing

Page 3 of 19
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Affidavit for Warrant

Basic Information
o June 15,2011 - 8:51 am a 911 call occurred from mother (Arica Foster) of

—
—————

decedent, (Brodie Aschenbrenner DoB 12/30/2008).

o Ms. Arica Foster administered CPR to decedent.

Injuries
o “She (Arica Foster) also said that the victim has dome bruising about the

face, but that all the family members that were outside the apartment were
saying that the victim was very active and rambunctious. That he was
constantly falling and running into things.”

“Affiant observed pinpoint bruising to the chest and upper arm areas of the

victim and various bruising to the victim's face and extremities.”
“Specifically, to the forehead, left and right cheeks and chin area.”

“On the victim's back were several severe bruises that were consistent
with child abuse. In the lower left back of the victim was an injury

consistent with him being violently hit with an object that had left a pattern '

consistent with two paraltel lines, about 20 millimeters apart.”
“Yn the middie of the lower back, were what appeared to be fingernail
indentations that had significant bruising surrounding it.”
“At the upper right shoulder was a bruising pattern that was
unidentifiable.”
“Arica mentioned some scraps (sic) on the victim's back and said that the
victim had pulled the curtains down, in his room.”
Autopsy Report ‘

*  Acute peritonitis due to duodenal transection due to biunt force

injury of abdomen
= Acute mild traumatic brain injury due to blunt force injury of head

Prior Accidents
o “Michael said that there is a wall, just outside the victim's bedroom door

that the victim constantly runs into it. He said that the victim always has
bruises.” _

“She said that she thought the victim was bruising too easily.”

“Arica said that she knew that the victim fell and would run into furniture
quite a bit and was a very rambunctious kid for his age.”

“Arica said that he has always been clumsy and that he runs into things a
lot.”

“Arica mentioned some scraps {sic) on the victim's back and said that the
victim had pulled the curtains down, in his room. She said that she found
him mixed up in the curtains and that the victim had told her about an
‘owie’ to his back. She said that she looked at it and it looked like a scrap
(sic). She said that it happened two days ago.”

“She said that the victim is always running into things at her parent’s
house.”

edof 19
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B o On June 13%, “Brodie was driving his 4 wheel electric car and tried to jump
a curb. She said that when he struck the curb, it sent him forward and he

-3 Il struck his face on the car.”

B o “Arica sald that Brodie always had a bump on his forehead from falling or

' running into things.”

o Involved in a car accident three weeks prior.

Autopsy

An autopsy of Brodie Aschenbrenner was performed on june 16, 201 1. The pathologic
diagnosis was laid out in an enumerated format. The documented external and internal
injuries are depicted as diagrams in Figure | and Figure 2, respectively. The report
indicated that Brodie was involved in a motor vehicle accident on May 26, 201 1. He was
treated by a pediatrician and reported to have no injuries.

Extensive subgabeal hemorrhage

Extensive subsalpular hemorrhage with early clo formation

with early £lot formation

Contwslons -
left upper arm

Periorbital contusion

of left lower eyelid Prasure marks behind right

ear {poasible abrasion)

Abrasions of lefr chin

and below efclip Pamernzd Yeshapad sbrasion of right upper

brack near to a lingar abrasion

Pamermed abrasians of right mid Sack forming

Contusions of [eft forchead, [eft ¢chaek, contar
slight semi-cirele w/ assoclaved conwsion

of forchead near hairline, bridge of nese

Conmiiens of dorsum of right arm. right

Comuslons of right flank
eibow, and right forearm

and righe fateral hip

Contuston of right antertor hip/thigh and
3 right faceral hip/thigh

Fatterned contusion wiln which are
parullel pressure marks on lef lowsr back

Patterned gemi-circudar

Partly crusted abrasions comusions of left lower e

just batow right knee

Figure |. Diagram depicting the external injuries documented in the Autopsy Report
of june 16, 201 |
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Acute non-displaced
injury of left 8th rib

Periosteal irregularicy In left

Acute mild toraumatic brain injury Seh and 6th rlb
5

Swollen Brain

Transection of duodenum with
laceration of mesentery

Figure 2, Diagram depicting the location of external injuries and specific internal
injuries documented in the Autopsy Report of June 16, 2011,

The fatal injury was determined to be the transection of the duodenum. The report
indicated that the mesentery and mesenteric vessels were lacerated near the ligament of

Treitz.

Statements

Ms. Alaine Opie

Brodie was her nephew. She often babysat Brodie, and saw Brodie on the Sunday prior to
his death. He had a bruise on his right check and locked “a little dark under his eyes.”
Her mother told her that the bruising came from pinkeye. On Sunday night, she gave
Brodie a bath, She did not notice any scratches on Brodie’s back, It was not unusual for
Brodie to bruise. She stated, “He's ail over the place all the time.” Brodie’s relationship
with Mr. Lee was normal. She never felt uncomfortable leaving Brodie with Mr. Lee.

Ms. Amanda Butier

She began watching Brodie on Thursdays thru Sundays for her sister about 2 month prior
to the statement. Her parents helped out on the weekends. In a text message, her sister

Page 6 of 19
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told her that Brodie had strange bruises. When she asked her sister about the bruises,
she was told that Mike's sister had been baby-sitting Brodie and Mike's sister’s child was
aggressive. This child threw things, hit, bit and punched.

When she began watching Brodie, around May 147, she noticed a bruise inside his right
ear. They assumed that Mike's nephew had caused this bruise, The bruises began to go
away after she started watching Brodie. Brodie did run into the cupboard one time and
get a bruise on his forehead. Most of the bruises Brodie had were explainable. He was
always jumping off of furniture.

Two or three weeks ago, she noticed that Brodie had a bruise on his cheek that was
black and blue. It started to heal and it started to get worse again. Brodie told her that
the dog did it. On Thursday, she also noticed that Brodie had a couple bruises around his
collarbone, a scratch on his fower back and a reddish mark on his buttock,

Brodie also started to throw tantrums when Mike came to pick him up. She had a feeling
that Brodie may have been afraid to go with Mike.

Ms. Arica Foster

Ms. Foster is Brodie's mother, She noticed that Brodie began to bruise easily after Mike’s
sister began to watch him. As an example, she found a bruise in Brodie's ear. She was
uncomfortable and thought Mike's nephew was playing too rough with him, After Brodie
stopped going to Mike's sister’s house, the bruising stopped. Mike would pick up Brodie
from her parents’ home and he would have Brodie at night. He always put Brodie to bed.

Brodie had to get stitches after being hit in the eye at a park with a swing. Brodie always
had little bruises on his forehead from walking into things. She thought the bruises may
have been caused by Brodie hitting his head on his bed while sieeping. Brodie would tell
her, “mom, bump head.” On June 3™, Brodie had 2 knot on the back of his head. The
following Monday, he had a cut and bruise on his upper lip when he climbed up on a piece
of jagged wood she left In his room.

Three weeks ago she was in a car accident with Brodie in the car. She was hit from
behind. Brodie did not complain of any pain at the scene. She took him to the doctor’s
the next morning. She asked the doctor about the bruising and the doctor ran some
blood work. The blood work came back fine.

On Friday June 10", Brodie woke up with pinkeye. Brodie also fell off of his 4-wheeler
and had a quarter-sized bruise on his cheek. On Saturday, she dropped Brodie off at her
parent’s house with his sister. On Sunday, Brodie wrapped himself up in the curtains in
his room. He had two scratches on his back. His eyes were still puffy from the pinkeye
and the bruise on his cheek was almost gone. She also noticed two little bruises and

assumed it was from Brodie playing with her dad.

On Monday she noticed “lightening bruises’ on Brodie’s chest. The bruise on his cheek
was almost gone. He had a mark on his lip. She does not believe Brodie had anything on
his forehead. Brodie wanted nothing to do with Mike all day. When she left for work,
around 3:15p, Brodie was taking a nap. When she got home, she noticed that Brodie had
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a bump and a little bruise on his forehead. Mike told her that Brodie was running, fell
down and hit his head, When she asked Brodie what happened, he often said the dog did
it. '

On Tuesday, the bump on Brodie’s head looked worse, the bruise on his cheek had
gotten larger and his eye was black. He had “quite a few bruises” on his face, Brodie
refused to be with Mike. He did not want to eat lunch or dinner. She put him to bed
earlier than normal because he did not have a nap that afternoon. When she put Brodie
to bed, the bruise on his cheek was really dark, the bruise on his forehead was worse, his
eye was black, and had little scratches on his back.

After they went to bed, Mike got up to go to the bathroom around lam. Mike came in
and told her that Brodie got sick in his room. She went to check on him and Brodie told
her that his head hurt. She brought him into the bathroom and he was sick again, She
cleaned him up and laid him down on the couch. Brodie fell asleep right away.

Mr. Brad Moshier

Mr. Moshier is Brodie's grandfather, He watched Brodie on the weekends; he always
stayed over Saturday nights. Brodie had a little bruise that was fading near the center of
his forehead. It was from the week before when he walked into the kitchen counter. He
had a little bruise on his cheek. He had blackish discoloration under his eyes from rubbing
them. His shins were bruised but it was “nothing major.” The pinpoint bruising on his
chest was from wrestling and tickling him.

He stated

“I mean the weekend before | had taken his quad over to his house. He had a little
battery operated quad... And | kind of pushed it in the front door and I'm like, ‘Brodey,
come help me.’ So he runs over and he climbs right up on it and he stepped on the gas
pedal and shot straight through his front ~ through the front door, across the living room
into a coffee table. And he had that thmg shdrng sideways from the impact, so... you
never know what he’s going to run into..

Brodie threw tantrums when Mike would come pick him up. One day Brodie gave Mike a

jook. He thought it was strange for Brodie to look at Mike that way. He noticed bruises

along Brodie's diaper line that came and went over two months. '

At the viewing, he noticed that Brodie had a bruise across the top of his left ear. it was

identical to once he had a month before his death, It was a weird bruise because it went
straight across like a line, across the top of his ear,

Ms, Merridee Moshier

Ms. Moshier is Brodie's grandmother. She and her husband usually kept Brodie for at least
one weekend night. Brodie was diagnosed with pink eye on Friday. His mother dropped
him off at her home on Saturday. Brodie had a bruise on his left cheek. He fell off of his
quad a week earlier. He also had a discolored bruise under his left eye from rubbing his

eye due to the pinkeye.

Page 8 of |9
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Brodie was a “wild child.” He would get up on tables and on the couch, and jump off. He
also would hit his forehead on her granite countertop. The bruises from the eounter
were typically on the right side. He also liked to run and crash into the tub to see how
wet he could get his grandfather. His lower legs and knees always had bruises. Sometimes
she could see them on his lower arms. He was a normal kid.

When she gave him a bath the night before, she did not notice any injuries on his back.
He had scratches on his lower legs and feet. Each eye had scars. Brodie acted like he did
not want to be with Mike. She assumed it was because it was more fun at her house. She
never had the idea that he was scared to go with Mike.

Mr. Danny Fico

Mr. Fico stated that Brodie did not injure himself while he was at his home on Monday
night with Mike. He did not see any injuries to Brodie and Mike did not tell him about
Brodie receiving any injuries. '

Transcript of Preliminary Hearing

Dr. Lisa Gavin

Dr. Lisa Gavin is the medical examiner in the Clark County coroner’s office (44). She
performed the autopsy of Brodie Aschenbrenner (45). She concluded that Brodie
experienced biunt force trauma to the abdomen, which resulted in a complete
transection. Specifically, she stated, “...if enough force occurs, it presses that bowel up
against that area and actually can cause it to tear, to lacerate essentially.” She indicated
the types of events that cause this injury are, “a motor vehicle accident, any blunt force
injury to the abdomen.” She testified that the amount of “energy or blunt force it would
take to transect the abdomen is closer to that you'd see in a car accident than just a child
falling.”

She testified that there wasn't any evidence of blunt force trauma to the anterior aspect
of Brodie's abdomen, and this isn’t unusual for this type of duodenal injury. Specifically,
“there's enough give to the skin and the elasticity of the skin on the outside and the
energy Is essentially transferred inward and doesn't necessarily cause contusion to the
skin or subcutaneous area in the abdomen.”

Ms. Merriddee Moshier

Ms. Moshier was Brodie’s grandmother (7). She worked as an RN (11). Brodie usually
spent at least one weekend day with Ms. Moshier and her husband while his mother was
at work (7). Brodie and his mother also lived with them “for quite awhile” in the past (7).
Ms. Moshier described Brodie as a “wild child” (16). She testified that he often got up on
her counters and tables, and jumped off (16-17). Brodie sometimes hit his forehead on
her granite countertops and his lower legs often had bruises on them because he was so
wild {18-19). He had bruises on his face from time to time (20).

Page 9 of 19
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- Ms. Moshier cared for Brodie for several hours on Sunday, June 12 (7). He arrived on

Saturday night and left Sunday evening with her daughter (8). She noticed that Brodie had

a “lictle round bruise” on his right cheek, about the size of “his little fingertip” (12, 20).
He also had a chapped lower lip (12-13). After applying lotion to Brodie following a bath
Sunday evening, Brodie did not react in pain when she touched any area of his body (13).
He had no bruises on his arms, but may have had some on his lower legs (20). Ms,
Moshier testified that she saw none of the injuries shown in Exhibits 2-4 when Brodie left
her care Sunday night. )

Mr. Danny Fico

Mr. Fico is a childhood friend of Mr. Lee's (22). Mr, Fico saw Brodie almost every day
(26). On the morning of Monday, June 3%, Brodie came into the store with Mr. Lee and
Ms, Foster (37). He noticed the bruises on Brodie (37). Brodie was acting normal (37).

He invited Brodie and Mr. Lee to his home that evening to watch the Yankees game.
Brodie and Mr. Lee were at his home for several hours (24-26). Brodie gave him no
indication that he was injured or in pain (26-27). No accidents occurred in his presence in
his home while Brodie was there (30). On Tuesday, June 14%, Brodie and Ms, Foster came
back into his store (31). Brodie had the same bruises that he observed on Monday night
(42). Nothing looked different to him (42). He asked Ms. Foster how Brodie got the
bruise on his cheek (32). She told him that she did not know how he got the bruise (32).-

He observed that Brodie had a few bruises under his chin, on his cheek and on his
forehead (27). Brodie looked like he had a black eye (27). The bruise on his right cheek
was “a decent size” and was yellowish-blue in color {27, 29). There were four to five
bruises on Brodie's forehead {29). He did not ask Mr. Lee about the bruising (29). Prior
to Monday, june 13", he observed bruises on Broadie’s face before (41). It seemed iike
Brodie “was constantly having bruises” (41).

Ms. Arica Foster

Ms. Foster is Brodie’s mother (84). She was in a relationship with Mr. Lee (85). Brodie
was diagnosed with pink eye on Friday (90, 120). Also on Friday, Brodie fell off his quad
during a walk with her and hit his check on the concrete curb (115-1186). The dog would
also knock Brodie down (I 16). On Sunday evening when she picked up Bredie from her
mother's house, Brodie was acting normal (86). Brodie had a tiny dime-sized bruise on his
right cheek and his lower lip was chapped (87). He also had two tiny marks on his chest
(118). She did not think Brodie had any bruising on his forehead Sunday night (1 18).

On Monday, she noticed that the area underneath Brodie's left eye was “a little bit black™
(90). On Monday evening, when she arrived home from work, Mr. Lee told her that he
and Brodie went to Mr. Fico's house (88). She did not see Brodie Monday evening when

she returned home from work (88).

On Tuesday, she noticed that Brodie had two bruises on his forehead and a scratch on
his back (89). The bruise on his cheek was darker (89-90}, Mr. Lee told her that Brodie
fell when they left Mr. Fico’s house (89). Brodie was upset and mad, and he acted like he
did not want to be around Mr. Lee as they spent the day together (89, 93).
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Around 1:00 a.m. on Wednesday, Brodie became sick in bed (105-107}. Brodie told her
that his head hurt as she was cleaning him up (106). After Brodie fell asleep with her on
the couch, she went to bed in her bedroom (107). When Mr. Lee went to work early the
next morning, he moved Brodie into bed with her (108). She glanced at Brodie, rolled
over and went back to sleep {108} When she woke up, she noticed that Brodie looked
like he was about to fall off the bed (109). When she rubbed his back, he was cold (109).
She got out of bed and called 911 (110).

They were in a car accident approximately two weeks prior to Brodie's death (}10-111).
She was hit from behind (I 12). There was damage to the back of her vehicle (112).
Brodie's car seat came undone and the Styrofoam on the top left side broke off {112). Ms.
Foster took Brodie for medical care the morning after the accident (110). She asked the
doctor about “Brodie bruising too easily” and was told that some tests were run (110}.
Brodie also had some flu-like symptoms for a couple weeks before he died (114). He had
diarrhea for about two days but did not vomit or have a fever (i14-115). A monthand a
half before he died, Brodie tripped and felf while running (117). He hit his face on a piece
of park equipment and required stiches at his eyelid (117).

Brodie had a lot of trouble with his balance (133). He was clumsy and would fall down
(133-134). After having tubes placed in his ears in February of 201 I, the surgeon
suggested she take Brodie to a neurologist if his balance did not get better (132-133),
Brodie would walk and “trip over things like his own feet” (134). Brodie once told her
“the bump hurt head” and he used to call Mr. Lee “bump” (134). Mr. Lee told her that
they were wrestling and Brodie hit his head (135). Brodie liked to get up on things and

jump off of them (135).
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Forensic Biomechanical Analysis

I was retained to perform a forensic biomechanical investigation and analysis. Medical
dictionaries define biomechanics as the science concerned with the actions of forces,
internal and external, on the living body. Webster's dictionary defines biomechanics as
the application of the principles and techniques of mechanics to the structure, functions,
and capabilities of living organisms. In simplest terms, biomechanics is the field of science
that investigates injury mechanisms and potential in relation to forces and motions applied
to the human body during dynamic and static loading. Conversely, the word medical is
defined as relating to the science of medicine, or the treatment of iliness and injuries.
Medicine is defined as the science or practice of the diagnosis, treatment, and prevention

of disease,

For the matter at hand, | was asked to determine the mechanism associated with Brodie
Aschenbrenner’s fatal injury. The biomechanical analysis performed for the subject
incident was based on the materials provided listed at the beginning of this report);
fundamental laws of physics; principles of dynamics; principles of kinematics; principles of
kinetics; published, peer-reviewed studies refated to duodenal injury; classic
biomechanical and engineering text books; studies of human tissue mechanics and
tolerance to forces; and my training, education, and experience. The evaluation also

involved a detailed review of the autopsy in order to extensively characterize Brodie's "
injuries.

According to the available information, Brodie Aschenbrenner’s primary, and fatal injury
was the complete transection of his duodenum. The duodenum is the anatomic structure
that connects the stomach to the jejunum (part of the small intestine}. It is located
primarily in the retroperitoneal space anterior to the spinal column at the level of the
third lumbar vertebra (L3) (Ivatury, Nassoura, Simon, & Rodriguez, 1996). From a
biomechanics perspective, duodenal injury can occur during either penetrating (stabbing,
gunshot) events or blunt impact. The available evidence indicates that Brodie did not
sustain a penetrating injury, and therefore was exposed to a blunt impact, Duodenal tears
associated with blunt impact have three possible mechanisms;

I. “Crushing” - Direct trauma to the abdomen resulting in compression of the
duodenum between the point-of-contact and the spinal column.

2. “Blow Out” - Impact loading to the lower torso, which generates pressure in the
duodenum that exceeds the failure tolerance of the tissue.

3. “Inertial” - Inertial loading of the duodenum that generates shearing forces
between its mobile and immobile portions.
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Figure 3. Anatomlcal diagram depicting the location of the duodenum (highlighted in
blue)

According to the autopsy report, Brodie did not sustain injury to his pancreas or other
abdominal cavity components. Had Brodie experienced direct contact to his upper
abdomen sufficient to crush the duodenum there would have most likely been injury to
the nearby structures. Specifically, the duodenum wraps around the head of the pancreas
in the area anterior to the spinal column. Therefore, any force that could crush the
duodenum would have most likely generated force in the pancreas as well (Cocke, Meyer,
& Orleans, 1964). Further, there are no external indicators of evidence to Brodie's upper
abdomen, such as a bruise or abrasion. Given the lack of external evidence or other
associated internal injuries, Brodie's duodenal tear was most likely not due to a crushing

mechanism.

Figure 4, Image deplcting the location of the duodenum in relation to the head of the
pancreas. The tail of the pancreas is highlighted In blue.
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The latter two mechanisms, “blow-out” and “inertial”, are the more likely mechanisms
experienced by Brodie. During either of these mechanisms, the loading experienced does
not have to occur directly to the abdomen, Rasaretnam et al (1974) reported four case
studies of duodenal tears, Two of the patients had sustained loading to their backs
(directed posterior to anterior} as a result of falls from trees (Rasaretnam & Thavendran,
1974). An “inertial” mechanism is consistent with a fall from a height in which the body’s
movement is suddenly halted. The mobile portions of the duodenum will continue to
move, and can cause the tissue to tear at these junctions. These events will typically cause
injuries associated with the fall, or other inertial type injuries. A “blow-out” mechanism
can occur during relatively minor |mpact to the abdomen, and result in isolated injury to
the duodenum,

it is noteworthy that the available testimony and statements indicates that Brodie had a
history of falls and other injurious incidents. These events included:

i. Trip and fall at a park, which required stiches in May 201 I{p 117 of prelim hearing)
2. A motor vehicle accident on june 1, 201 |

3. Pulied wood onto himself

4, Incident involving pulling drapes on himself

5. Multiple events involving a battery operated quad

Based on the available photographs, the quad operated by Brodie was a Fisher-Price
© Battery Powered Kawasaki KFX with 2 top speed of 5 mph (Figure 5). According to The
available information, Brodie experienced an incident involving his quad days prior to his

death, The Affidavit for YVarrant states:

“,, .Brodie was driving his 4 wheel electric car and tried to jump a curb. She said that
when he struck the curb, it sent him forward and he struck his face on the car (page 8).”

According to Ms. Foster's statement to the police:

* ..he had a bruise on his cheek. But it was « little one, and that's from falling off his
little four-wheeler. .. He tried to jump...” (page 83 of 128 of Incident Report)

According to Ms. Foster's testimony:
Q. And he fell off of the little quad?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And hit his foce on a car?
A, N, sir,
Q. What did he hit his face on?
A. He hit his cheek on the curb.
Q. So on the concrete?

A. Yes

li While the available information is somewhat contradictory, it seems that Brodie was
attempting to jump a curb with his battery-operated quad. Based on the laws of physics,
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contact with the curb would have resulted in the quad coming to an immediate stop.
Brodie, however, would have continued to move forward, This continued forward

motion wouid have resulted in contact between his abdomen and the center of the quad’s
handlebars, ‘

Figure 5. A marketing brochure image of the Fisher Price Kawasaki KFX (left) next to
an Image of Brodie Aschenbrenner aboard his quad (right). -

The amount of force required to cause a duodenal rupture is highly variable. Previously
reported incidents involving duodenal ruptures include a wide range of impact trauma
magnitude. The events associated with duodenal trauma have specifically been referred to
as “trivial” (Rasaretnam & Thavendran, 1974). While duodenal ruptures may occur during
severe trauma, such as violent automobile accidents, they have also been shown to occur
during relatively minor trauma to the abdominal wall. In a case study reported by Cocke
et al., an 8-year-old male was diagnosed with a duodenal rupture 14 hours after having
“ridden his bicycle into a pile of sand.” The authors specify, “the handlebar unexpectedly
twisted and jammed into his abdomen, striking him in the upper quadrant...”

Seemingly benign events can result in duodenal ruptures due to the ‘blow-out’
mechanism. Specifically, there are times during the normal course of an individual's life, at
which the duodenum can be closed off on both sides by the pyloric sphincter on one end,
and the ligament of Treitz on the other. This results in a ‘closed-loop’ effect. Blunt impact
to the abdomen delivered at this time will generate pressure within this closed loop,
which could strain the duodenal tissue beyond its tolerance. Such a blunt impact,
delivered when the loop is not closed, will have the potential to generate such an injury.
Therefore, duodenal tears can occur during seemingly benign events if the force is
delivered when the duodenum is in a ‘closed-loop’ state. :
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Given Brodie’s extensive history of traumatic events, determining the precise event that
resuited in his duodenal rupture is not possible. Moreover, it has been commenly
reported that the onset of symptoms is often delayed. It has been written that there are
“Instances of patients with this injury for 24, 5, 6, 14, 18, and 210 days with few '
symptoms...” (Fish & Johnson, 1965). I¢ has also been shown that damage to the
duodenum can increase over time after the initial insult. Essentially, a smaller injury to the
duodenum can become larger over time.

Dr. Lisa Gavin has testified that the cause of Brodie's duodenum injury was a blunt impact
to the abdomen. Specifically, she indicated that the duodenum tore due to the ‘crushing’
mechanism described previously. Further, she stated that the amount of energy required
to cause this to occur would be more consistent with a car accident then with a child
falling, This statement lacks sufficient detail, The energy associated with a car accident can
be greater than, |less than, or equal to a child falling. Motor vehicle collisions occur at all
different severities, and therefore, Dr. Gavin's statement can be both true and false,
Furthermore, duodenal tears in children have been shown to result during low-speed
motor vehicle collisions. In a review of twenty-seven children with duodenal tears, the
authors stated, “Thirteen injuries resulted from motor vehicle accidents, of these, | |
children wore passive restraining devices (6 hematomas, 5 perforations). Low-velocity
impact resulted in 10 injuries...” (Shilyansky, Pearl, Kreller, Sena, & Babyn, 1997).

In recent years, the primary event associated with duodenal tears has become automobile
collisions. Fish and johnson (Fish & Johnson, |965) wrote “Only four of Cohn’s 25 cases
of retroperitoneal rupture of the duodenum reviewed in 1952 were sustained in
automobile accidents. In contrast, later cases from the Cleveland and YWaddell's review
and isolated reports during the past 2 years involve the automobile in 24 of 41 cases.”
Clearly, the available data related to duodenal tears indicates that it can result from both
motor vehicle accidents and other forms of accidental injury. Additionally, there is
documented evidence that for children, the motor vehicte collision can be of either low
or high severity. The following non-penetrating events have been associated with
duodenal tears:

* Being kicked by a horse

* Motorcycle accident

* Being “knocked down by a cycle”

* Being struck in the abdomen by a plank of wood in the act of sawing
* Falling from a tree {(unknown height)

* Vehicle accident (severities not quantified)

* Riding bike into a pile of sand

* Assault/abuse

In assuming that Brodie's injury was caused by a2 high-energy ‘crushing’ event, Dr. Gavin
fails to acknowledge the possibility that it occurred due to a ‘blow-out’ or ‘inertial’
mechanism, Duodenal tears arising from these mechanisms can occur as the result of
relatively benign trauma, and may result from a fall on the back rather than direct trauma
to the abdomen. Further, the ‘blow-out’ mechanism is more likely to result in isolated
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trauma to the duodenum without external evidence of injury, as seen in the case of
Brodie Aschenbrenner, Dr. Gavin indicates that the lack of external trauma to Brodie's
abdomen is characteristic of a duodenal tear, She is correct that duodenal tears often
occur without any evidence of external trauma to the abdomen. However, it is more
likely that the reason for the lack of evidence of external trauma is due to minor trauma,
rather than an impact sufficient enough to crush the duodenum up against the spinal

~ column. She testified,

“...that’s actually not unusudal for this type of transection injury that you don't see
because there’s enough give to the skin and the elasticity of the skin on the outside that
they energy is essentially transferred inward and doesn’t necessarily cause contusion to
the skin or subcutaneous area in the abdomen.”

This statement lacks foundation or basis. The energy transferred from an impact is
primarily governed by the transference of velocity and the difference in mass between the
two objects. Given the lack of structure, i.e. bone, in the abdomen, the tissue is able to
move out of the way during impact, and thus experience no entrapment between an
impact and the bone. However, Dr. Gavin has indicated that the duodenum became
entrapped between the contact and the spinal column, Therefore, the skin will also be
essentially trapped and experience similar loading to the duodenum, Conversely, during a
blow-out scenario, there is no entrapment between the skin and bone, and therefore a
lack of external evidence of trauma is more likely.
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Conclusions and Opinions
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I hold the foliowing conclusions to a reasonable degree of engineering and

biomechanical certainty.

I. There is no evidence of external injury to the abdomen that can be linked with

Brodie Aschenbrenner's duodenal tear.

2. Duodenal tears can occur during very severe, and refatively minor abdominal

trauma.

3. The fack of external trauma and the isolated nature of Brodie's duodenal tear
indicate that it most likely occurred as a result of a ‘blow-out’ mechanism.
4. Duodenal tears can occur during blunt impact loading to the abdomen {anterior to

posterior) or to the back (posterior to anterior).

5. The available testimony and information indicates that Brodie experienced
multiple traumatic events that could have resuited in blunt impact loading to his

abdomen or back.

6. Given the wide range of blunt impact magnitude associated with duodenal
ruptures, along with a characteristic delayed onset of symptoms reported
extensively throughout the literature, it is not possible, from a biomechanics
perspective, to determine precisely when and how Brodie received his duodenal

“rupture.

This report summarizes work performed to date and presents the findings resuiting from
that work, The findings presented herein are made to a reasonable degree of engineering
and biomechanical certainty, and are based on my experience, education, and training, |
reserve the right to supplement this report and to expand or modify opinions based on
review of additional material as they become available through ongoing discovery and/or
through any work or review of additional work performed by others.

Steven A. Rundell, Ph.D., P.E.
Armstrong Forensic Engineers
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Date 0f Hrg: 10/27/2014 ..ottt e bbb s 1395-1398

Recorder’s Transcript of Proceedings,
Sentencing _
Date of Hrg: 10/20/2014 ..ot seeeeesr et sters e st abe s eaen b ens st s s ens 1377-1379

Recorder’s Transcript of Proceedings,

Sentencing
Date of Hrg: TO/21/2014 ..ottt sttt ar s 1380-139%4

Recorder’s Transcript of Proceedings,
State’s Request: Reset Trial Date

Date of Hrg: 03/04/2013 .ottt st ettt nen 460-463
Recorder’s Transcript of Hearing,

Arraignment :

Date of Hrg: 11/21/201 1ottt s bn sttt b e 440-442
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JUSTICE COURT, HEND?IIKSON TOWNSHIP
M \.l “.rE

2 CLARK COUNTY,NEVADA
3 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, MOy 25 A Tug
4 Plaintiff, e |1 L 0017540000
5 e D BRED " CASENO: 11FH1653X
6 | MICHAEL Al ANIF,F,#_I69§107. ) PEFTING: 3
7 Defendant.
g CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
9 The Defendant above named having committed the crimes of MURDER (Felony -
10 | NRS 200.010, 200.030, 200.508) and CHILD ABUSE & NEGLECT WITH
11 | SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM (Felony - NRS 200.508, 0.060), in the manner following,
12 | to-wit: That the said Defendant, on or between June 13, 2011 and June 15, 2011, at and
13 || within the County of Clark, State of Nevada,
14 | COUNT 1 - MURDER
15 did, on or between June 14, 2011 and June 15, 2011, then .and there, without
16 || authority of law and with malice aforethought, willfully and feloniously kill BRODIE
17 | ASCHENBRENNER, a minor child being approximately 2 years of age of age, by
18 [ subjecting the sald BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER to acts of chlld abuse, to-wit: by striking
19 || the said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER in the abdommal area and/or did cause blunt force
20 | trauma to BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER'S abdominal area in an unknown manner, all of
21 || which resulted in the death of said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER.
22 | COUNT 2 - CHILD ABUSE & NEGLECT WITH SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM
23 did, on or between June 13, 2011 and June 14, 2011, wilfully, unlawfully,
= || feloniously, and knowingly neglect, cause, or permit a child under the age of 18 years, to-
G';g‘égwsn. wit: BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER, being approximately 2 years of age, to suffer
JisrictCout unjustifiable physical pain and substantial bodily harm, by striking the said BRODIE

N

ASCHENBRENNER in the head and/or did cause blunt force trauma to BRODIE
ASCHENBRENNER'’S head in an unknown manner and/or after determining that the said

PAWPDOCS\COMPLTFCOMPOUTLYINGAIHINTH165301,DOC
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BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER had suffered head injuries, Defendant did fail to seek

medical care for the said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER.

All of which is contrary to the form, force and effect of Statutes in such cases made |
and provided and against the peace and dignity of the/étate of Nevada. Said Complainant
makes this declaration subject to the penalty%é&jui'y.
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JUSTICE COURT, HENDERSON TOWNSHIP

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
DOCKET SHEET...CRIMINAL

CASE#  11CRH001794-0000 11FH1653X DAVID 8 GIBSON - DEPT #3
State LEE, MICHAEL ALAN 1699107 (SCOPE)
DATE, JUDGE, OFFICERS PROCEEDINGS

OF COURT PRESENT __APPEARANCES - HEARING EVENTS
October 27, 20711 ALERT INFORMATION )

‘| D.EMARTIN, PRO-TEM ARREST WARRANT - CRIMINAL served on:

FORD.S.GIBSON SR, | 10/25/2011

P. MCDONALD, ESQ. SET FOR COURT APPEARANCE
H. GARCIA, CLK Event: PRELIMINARY HEARING HND
L. BRENSKE, CR Date: 11/08/2011  Time: 9:30 am
, Judge: GIBSON SR, DAVID § Location:
DEPARTMENT 3

ARRAIGNMENT HEARING HELD

The following event: FELONY ARRAIGNMENT HND
scheduled for 10/27/2014 at 9:00 am has been resuited
as follows;

Result: ARRAIGNMENT HEARING HELD

Judge: GIBSON SR, DAVID § Location;
DEPARTMENT 3

INITIAL ARRAIGNMENT:

Defendant PRESENT IN CUSTODY _
Defense Counsel ACKNOWLEDGES, WAIVED reading
of the Complaint. By and through his attorney,
defendant asked for date certain for hearing. INVOKED
15 day rule.

Preliminary Hearing date set

MOTION BY DEFENSE TO REDUCE/SET BAIL -
OBJECTION BY STATE - REQUESTS DEFENSE FILE
A WRITTEN MOTION. MOTION DENIED. -

BAIL SET: $100,000 CASH ONLY

REMAND TO METRO '

October 26, 2011 SET FOR COURT APPEARANCE

Event. FELONY ARRAIGNMENT HND

Date: 10/27/2011  Time: 9:00 am

Judge: GIBSON SR, DAVID 8§ Location:
DEPARTMENT 3

Resuit: ARRAIGNMENT HEARING HELD
Complaint FILED.

Upon Motion by State, Arrest Warrant [ISSUED,
BAIL SET.

ARREST WARRANT - CRIMINAL created on:
10/26/2011

For: LEE, MICHAEL ALAN

October 25, 2011 ALERT INFORMATION

ARREST WARRANT - CRIMINAL issued on;
10/25/2011

Far: LEE, MICHAEL ALAN

Bond Amt: SET IN COURT

11/9/2011 7:24 am Minutes - Criminal Page 3 of 4




JUSTICE COURT. HENDERSON TOWNSHIP
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
DOCKET SHEET...CRIMINAL

CASE#  11CRH001794-0000 11FH1653% ‘ DAVID S GIBSON - DEPT # 3

State LEE, MICHAEL ALAN . 1699107 {(SCOPE)
DATE, JUDGE, OFFICERS PROCEEDINGS

OF COURT PRESENT APPEARANCES - HEARING o EVENTS -
November 08, 2011 PRELIMINARY HEARING

- DEFENDANT PRESENT IN CUSTODY
g: 3'&}?%’,3‘ SS;\"P STATE READY. DEFENSE READY.
! JOINT MOTION TO EXCLUDE WITNESSES -
P. MCDONALD, ESQ. & A
N, VON MAGDENKO, | MOTION GRANTED

ESQ. STATE WITNESSES:
H. GARCIA, CLK 1. MERRIDEE MOSHIER. SWORN IN BY CLERK.
L. BRENSKE CR DIRECT. WITNESS ID'D DEFENDANT. CROSS.

' WITNESS EXCUSED.

2. DANNY FICO. SWORN IN BY CLERK. DIRECT.
WITNESS ID'D DEFENDANT. CROSS. WITNESS
EXCUSED.

3. LISA GAVIN. SWORN iN BY CLERK. DIRECT.
CROSS. REDIRECT. RECROSS. WITNESS
EXCUSED.

4. ARICA FOSTER. SWORN IN BY CLERK, DIRECT.
WITNESS 1D'D DEFENDANT. CROSS. REDIRECT.
WITNESS EXCUSED,

EVIDENCE:

1. PHOTOGRAPHS - OFFERED - ADMITTED.

2-11 - PHOTOGRAPHS - OFFERED - ADMITTED.
A-B - PHOTOGRAPHS - OFFERED - ADMITTED,
STATE RESTS

DEFENDANT ADVISED OF H!IS STATUTORY RIGHT
TO MAKE A SWORN OR UNSWORN STATEMENT,
TO WAIVE MAKING A STATEMENT, AND/OR OF HIS
RIGHT TO CALL WITNESSES - DEFENDANT
WAIVES HIS RIGHT TO MAKE A STATEMENT
MOTION TO DISMISS AND ARGUMENT IN FAVOR
OF SAID MOTION BY DEFENSE - ARGUMENT
AGAINST SAID MOTION BY STATE

Thereupon Court ORDERED defendant held to answer
to said charge in the Eighth Judicial District Court,
BOUND OVER TO DISTRICT COURT

BAIL STANDS: $100,000 CASH ONLY

RETURN TO METRO

November 02, 2011 MEDIA REQUEST AND ORDER ALLOWING
CAMERAS IN THE COURTROOM SIGNED AND
FILED

Cctober 31, 2011 NOTIFICATION OF MEDIA REQUEST SIGNED,

FILED AND FAXED TO ALL PARTIES

MEDIA REQUEST AND ORDER ALLOWING
CAMERAS IN THE COURTROOM FROM 8 NEWS
NOW FORWARDED TO CHAMBERS.

114872011 7:24 am Minutes - Criminal Page 2 of 4

1=




JUSTICE COURT. HENDERSON TOWNSHIP

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
DOCKET SHEET...CRIMINAL

CASE#  11CRH001794-0000 11FH1653X . DAVID S GIBSON - DEPT #3
State LEE, MICHAEL ALAN 1699107 (SCOPE)
Charge(s) MURDER . BOUND OVER
CHILD ABUSE WITH SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM BOUND OVER
Conditions
Description Required Amount  Bal Due Due Dt Notes

LINKED CASES FOR: 11CRH001794-0000

CASE # STATUS EVENT DATE EVENT DESCRIPTION
NO FUTURE EVENTS

DATE, JUDGE, OFFICERS PROCEEDINGS
OF COURTY PRESENT APPEARANCES - HEARING EVENTS
November 09, 2011 SET FOR COURT APPEARANCE

Event: DISTRICT COURT ARRAIGNMENT HND
Date: 11/21/2011  Time: 10:30 am

Location: LOWER LEVEL DISTRICT COURT
DEPARTMENT 23

Result: HEARD IN DISTRICT COURT

1192011 7:46 am ‘ Minutes - Criminal Page 1 of 4




-

e 2

H1ITHNESSES

1 | mhaw 1  HRLITHESSES
3 - md(Q—?—?‘Q S O § Eﬂgigggtngﬁgéﬁation by Mr. Stenton
b ED Cross-Examination by Mr. HcDona?d 12
4 I¥ THE JUSTECE'S COURT OF HENDERSQM TOWNSHIV F \\L 4
: ' DANNY FICO |
: FATE 0 CLAE STAT OF B0 Wil Gowminpedan %
§ POV \\39“““1& AN
7 | STATE OF NEVADA, p [\) J (\ P b /{‘\ i “(ﬁ 7-3 7 sﬁigecg Examination by Hr. stantﬂ
- RN B Crogs-Examinakion by Mr. McDona
B Plaintiff, i + B RegueCE Exapination by Nr. Ségntfﬂ ég
vs. ecross-Exapination by Mr, Mcbona
9 CASE NO. llml(%‘;‘ i‘ rtger Redirect Examlmatior by Mr. Stanton
10 | MICHAEL ALAN LEE, D | ARICA FOSTER
I ttantot. enor THE O e Bt g
Reglrect Examinatio Ey Mr. Stanton {
12 2 :
13 TEPORTERYS TRANSCRIPT 13 )
14 oF 14
15 PRELIMINARY HEARING 15
16 BEFORE THE HONORABLE DAVID 3. GIBSON, SR. 16
17 JUSTICE QF THE PEACE 17
}g TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 8, 201t :g
20 APPEARANCES ! 20 /'{,;A‘,}" 977660 -1 ™
| T s S s I - ” oportrs Transart
23| For the Dofandant;  PATRICK HCDOVALD, ESQ. 23 r" l‘ m”"” " m"”"mm
24 NADIA VON MAGDENKO, ESQ. 24
25 | Reported by: Lisa Brenske, CCR 186 25
3 4
l THDEX OF EXHIBITS ) HENDERSON, MEVADA, NOVEMBER 8, 2011, 12:30 P.M.
2 | Exhibit Descristion Admitted 2
3 [ DEFENDANT'S A & B PHOTOGRAPHS 124 3 L A
4 | STATE'S 1 PHOTCGRAEH 9 4 THE COURT: State of Mevada versus Michael
5 | SEATE'S 2 - 11 PHOTOGRAFHS 50 5 | Allen Lee, 11FK1653X,
6 ] hre we ready to proceed?
7 7 MR. STANTOR: State is, Your Honor,
8 8 MR. MCDONALD: Defense is ready, Your
9 9 | Honor.
10 10 THE COURT: Do you want to invoke the
11 11 | exclusionary rule?
12 12 MR. MCDONALD: Defense would invoke the
13 13 { exclusionary rule, Your Honor.
14 14 MR. STANTOM: State would join, Your
15 15 | Honar.
16 16 In addition, Judge, for purposes of this
17 17 | prelivinary hearing I have served this morning the
18 18 | defendant's sister and the defendant's mother with
19. ' 19 | subpoenas to attend a Grand Jury presentation directiy
20 20 | related to the subject matter of this preliminary
21 mEVED 21 | hearing in this case. I'd ask that they be excused as
2 NOV 23 201 22 | well,
23 23 THE COURT: ALl right. Anyone who has
ZEI.ERK OF THE COURT 24 | been served with a subpeena regarding this case or who
25 25

expects to bestify or wants te testify, it doesn't mean
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I {you'l} get to, but if you are under the expectation of 1 { notes could his right hand be unhandcuffed so that --
2 | being called or you are under subpoena in this case or 2 THE COURT: Yes. That shoujdn't be a
3 |a Grand Jury case relating to it, you are excluded from 3 | problem.
4 | the courtroon and must stay outside, If you're not one 4 MR. MCDONALD: Thank you, Your Honor.
§ | of those people, then you can stay inside. This is a 5 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand,
6 | tragic case and we need to make sure that in the 6 Do you solemnly swear te tell the truth,
7 7 courtfoom that the decorum is maintained and I 7 | the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you
8 | appreciate everyone's cooperation, 8 | God?
8 I'm sorry for the delay, but we had to 9 TAE WITNESS: Yes.
10 { make sure everybody got fed because it is going to take 10 THE CLERK: Please speak into the -
11 | us a little while this afternoon, 11 | microphone, state your first and last rame and spell
12 56 the exclusionary rule has been invoked, 12 | each for the record.
13 | 1f you are going to be a witness and you don't leave I3 ~PHE COURTT State your Cirstand jastmame |
14 | the courtroom, when you get called you'll not be 14 | and spell them both, please.
I5 | aliowed to testify. So it's important that everybody 15 THE WITNESS: My name is Merridee Moshier,
16 | understands that. 16 | M-g-r-r-i-d-e-e, Moshier, M-o-s-h-i-e-r.
17 Anything else anyone wants to add before 17
:g v get starte:;\- MCOONALD: Yot on bebalf of the :98) having been first duly sgggnl.ﬂg%z%éstify as follows:
20 | defense. 20 DIRECT EXANINATION
21 MR, STANTON: Mo, Judge. 21 | BY MR, STANTON:
22 THE COURT: Call your first witness, 22 §.  Miss Hoshier, let me ask you a couple
23 MR. STANTON: Merridee Moshier, 23 | foundaticnal questions here today. Do you have an
24 MR. MCDONAED: Your Homor, I did have a 24 | adult daughter by the name of Arica Foster?
25 | request, 1'w serry, for my ciient to be able to write 25 A Yes.

7 8
H 0.  And do you live here in Las Vegas? l A.  To the best of my recollection Bredie came
2 A, Yes, 2 | over cn Saturday —- the previeus Salurday and he left
3 Q.  Are you aware that in June of this year 3 | sunday evening with Arica.
4 | your daughter Arica had a son? 4 0.  And who else was in your home during that
5 A Yes. 3 {veekend caring or around Brodie?
6 Q.  What was your grandson's name? 6 A My hosband was there, Brad Moshier. On
7 A, Brodie hschenbrenner. 7 | Sunday ny other daughter was there Blaine Opey and my
H] Q. Aschenbrenner? 8 |1littie -- other granddaughter Lilly was there.
9 A Yes, 9 0. And you also have another daughter besides
10 Q.  2nd did you have any reguiar or routine 10 | the ones you've mentioned?
11 | interaction with Brodie? 11 A1 have Amanda.
12 A Yes, 12 0.  And they're all adult daugnters?
13 0.  Could you describe that to the court. i3 A Correct.
14 A.  Brodie was with myself and my husband 14 0.  Let me ask you about Brodie during that
15 | usually at least ooe weekend day while Arica worked. 15 | weekend. How would you describe his behavior during
16 | They had lived with us for quite awhile so he was used 16 | the weekend compared to what it normally was?
17 | to staying with us and we would watch him so she’d 17 B PBrodie was my angel and that entire
18 | work. 18 | weekend was normal. He was getting into stuff, dancing
19 ¢.  And in June of that year would it be 19 | on my coffes taple to the Wiggles, eating everything,
20 | accurate to say that during the weekend, in particuiar 20 | clinbing up the fzidge shelves to get yogurt, asking
21 | sunday, June 52th, that you would have been in the 21 | for sippy cups. Just the normal weekend. Outside
22 | care of Bredie for several hours that day? 22 | playing in the pool, in the sandbox.
23 A,  Correct. 23 WR. STANTON: MNow, Your Honor, with the
24 0.  Can you describe when you got Brodie that 24 | assistance of your Court Clerk 1 have previeusly marked
25 | weekend and when Brodie left your care? 25 | and shown to-defense counsel State's Exhibits 1 through
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L )11, May I approach the witness? 1 Q. What time of day on Sunday do you recall
2 THE COURT: Yes, you may. 2 | bathing Brodie?

3 | BY MR, STANTOM: ki A There was & routine so it was right after
4 Q.  Showing you what's been marked State's 4 [we would have fed him dinner, him and Lilly, becavse we
5 | Exhibit 1 do you recognize who is depicted ip this 5 | always sald tubby and they'd go racing up the stairs.
6 | photograph? & Q. What time of day would be normal to bathe
7 A, That's my baby Bredie. 7 |and to feed Brodie?

8 Q.  Does that accurately depict generally how 8 A He'd start dinner sometime between five

9 | he Jocked on June of this year? 9 land six

10 A.  Mbsolutely. He was on his bike, He was 10 ¢ That's p.m.?

11 | going for it. 11 A Correct,

12 MR. STANTON: Move for State's 1 into 12 Q. And is that your best recollsetion on

T3 fevidence. ' 13| dume 12t that s what occurred inste your-twms?

14 MR, WCDONALD: Ko opposition, Your Honor, 14 K, Yean. It was just normal.

15 THE COURT: It will be introduced. 15 Q. And what was Brodie's normal routine as
16 {State's Exhibit 1 was admitted.) 16 | far as an appetite in eating? Was he a fusay eater or
17 | BY MR, STANTON: 17 | a pretty good eater?

I8 Q. Now, ma'am, during June of the weekend in I8 k. He ate everything.

19 | dune that you were caring for Brodie did you have i Q. And that was the case on Sunday, June

20 | occasion along with your husband te give Brodie a hath 20 | 13th? _

21 | on Sunday the 12th? 21 B Correct,

22 A Yeah, but my daughter Elaine was with we, 22 Q. How, when you were bathing along with your
23 | not my husband. 23 | daughter I believe you told detectives and you've told
24 0. . Okay. Elaine's last name is what? 24 [ ne that you kind of had a particular role with Brodie
25 A, Opey. 25 | that night, that Sunday evening, due in part to your

11 12

1 }back. What did you do and your daughter do regarding ; A Twenty-seven,

2 | the bathing duties of Brodie? 2 Q.  What kind of assignments as an RN have you
3 A, Well, I had Lilly and Brodie in the tub, 3 |had in the medical field?

4 | they were having a bubble bath and they were sliding 4 A, I've worked as a manager, director, ICU,

5 | down the edge of the tub and just laughing, and then 5 |CCU, cut-patient, in-patient, clinlcs, med surge, teli,
6 | Elaine come up and washed their hair. I have had back 6 | pretty much all the above,

7 i surgeries, I can't lean over a bathtub. 7 Q. And obviously from your description of

8 So when we were finished with the bathing 8 | those duties that would indicate that you've been

9 | then Elaine got Brodie out like always and wrapped nin 9 | around children in 2 medical setting as well?

10 | in 2 towel and put him on my bed with me because I 10 A, Correct.

1 | always toweled the kids off, the little quys, and then 11 Q. Can you tell this court what if any

12 | loticned them and then put their jammies on. 12 | injuries you observed to Brodie's body when you vere
13 0. s that what yeu did on the 1240 of June i3 | lotioning hin on Sunday, June 12th,

14 | with Brodie? 14 A, Brodie had a little bruise on his cheek.
15 A, Yes. 15 | 1t had been there since Saturday when he got there, It
16 Q.  Rould it be accurate to say that you saw 16 1 looked tike a little round bruise,

17 { hin naked Erom head to toe? 17 Q. For the record you're pointing to your

18 A.  Oh, absolutely. 18 | right cheek?

19 Q.  Ma'am, before I ask you the next series of 9 A, I think that's correct, I don't remember
20 | questions can you tell me what you do for a living? 20 | what cheek now when I'm looking.

21 A, I'man BN, 1 have a double masters, I 21 Q: 50 there wz3 cne on the cheek?

22 | manage the cath lab, specials lab, specials trauma in 22 Ao Uh-hoh,

23 | telemetry at EMC, 23 Q. And you said it may be on the right check.
24 Q. 50 you've been a registered nurse for how 24 | What cther injuries did you note if any on his hody?
25 | many years? 25 A, He had like a chapped 1lip right here.
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1 | He'd suck on his lips. I |you saw when you lotioned your grandson.
2 Q. You're pointing to your lower lip? 2 A, MNo.
3 A, Correct. 3 _ 0.  Did you see any of the injuries to the
4 0.  What other injuries if any did you note? 4 | extent, location and nature that you see in Exhibit 27
5 A, I'mtrying te remember. 1 think that was 5 A, Ho.
6 | it. He had been out in the yard on and off all weekend 6 THE COURT: Is thet a no?
7 |0 1don't really remember anything else right now. 7 THE WITHESS: Mo,
8 Q.  fhen you were applying lotion to Brodie at 8 | B MR. STANTON: :
9 | any point when you were applying lotion did Brodie g 0. Let me show you Exhibit 3. Did you see
10 | react as if he was in pain? 10 [ any of the injuries depicted in Exhibit 3 when you were
11 A, Mo, He was a wiggle worm. He'd wiggle 11 | loticning Brodie on Sunday evening? Take your time.
12 1 all over the bed and laugh. 12 A, Mo,
13 ¢.  But nething thakt would indicate to you as T T Einally et e show -
14 | a nurse that when you were touching an area of his bedy 14 k. That's my baby, you guys,
15 | that he was in pain? 15 0. Let me show you Exhibit 4, the back of
16 A Mo, 16 | Brodie. Did you see any of those injuries?
17 WR. STANTON: May I approach again? 17 A HNo. Fo.
18 THE COURT: You may. 18 §.  Ma‘ap, when Brodie left your care on
19 Bhat day was this? I'm sorry, 19 | Sunday evening --
20 MR. STANTON: Sunday, June 12th, 20 THE COURT: Do you need a break, na'am?
2] | BY MR. STANTON: 21 THE WITNESS: Yes. .
2 Q. Ma'am, T am going to show you 2 series of 22 THE COURT: Court will be in recess for
23 | photographs, and I apologize for the nature of them, 23 | about five minutes. Court will be at ease for five
24 | but T want you te look at Exhibit Mumber 2 for me and 24 | minutes.
25 | tell me if you recognize any injuries that you see that 25 [OFf the record.)
15 16
i THE COURT: Counsel, continue. b | the courtroom and what he's wearing?
2 MR. STANTON: fThamk you, Your Honor, 2 A, He's on my left at the other table with
3 | Y MR. STANTOM: 3 |the red shirt holding the pen.
4 0.  ¥iss Moshier, let me go back to my last 4 MR, STANTON: May the record reftect
5 | question to you which is on the evening, Sunday 5 |identification of the defendant?
6 | evening, when Brodie left I believe your earlier 6 THE COURT: It witl so reflect.
7 | testimony was that your daughter Arica picked Brodie 7 MR. STRHTON: I will pass the witness,
8 fup? 8 | Your Honor.
9 B, Yesh, Arica came to get Brodman after 9 THE COURT:  Counsel.
10 | work. She had gotten off work a little bit eariy. 10 ¥R. MCDOMALD: Thank you, Your Homor.
1 Q.  What time do you think your daughter Arica 11 CROSS-EKAHINATION
12 | left with Brodie, left your home? ¥2 | BY MR, HCDONALD: ————
13 A, Mot real exact. Between 5:30 and 8:00. I 13 @ Hiss Moshier, do you recall speaking to a
14 {don't have a real exact frame in my mind. 14 | detective somewhere around June 23787
15 Q. Rnd was anybody with your danghter Arica I5 A, T don't know exact days.
16 | when she picked up and left with Brodie from your home? 6 Q. Do you recall ever speaking to a detective
17 A No, ‘ |7 | in reference to your grandson Brodie?
18 Q.  Did you know that your daughter at that 18 B oh, yesh.
19 | tine peried was living with someone else? 19 Q. Do you recall describing Brodie as a wild
20 A Correct. 20§ chitd?
21 0.  Hho was that? 21 A TYes.
22 A, Mike. 22 @ That he'd get up on your counters?
23 0. RAnd do you see Mike in court today? 23 A.  Uh-huh,
24 5 Yes. 24 Q. Up on your tables?
25 Q.  Could you please describe where he is in 25 A, Uh-huh.
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1 Q. Jump off? 1| It's not something - 1 mean, there was 2 spot that's

2 A, TYes, 2 | like this wide.

3 0. He really didn‘t have any fear of getting 3 Q. ALl right.

4 | huet? 4 A, And there's a spot that's like this wide.

5 A, Tden't know if I'd say no fear. 5 | As the corners are obviously very auch wider of the tub

6 Q.  You don't remember saying he had no fear? 6 | than the edge right here. )

7 A.  MNo, 1 don't remember. 7 0. And he would get up aud stand on the edge

8 Q. I'msorry? 8 | and then slide into the bathtub?

9 A, Iden't remember that specific verbiage, 9 4. MNo. They'd sit on their butt,

10 Q. Now, do you recall telling the detective 10 G - And slide into the tub?

11 | that it wasn't wnuswal for Brodie ta crash himself into 1] A.  Ub-huh, And then they'd yell boom,

12 | the tub? 12 Q.  And T assume the bath water would stiil be

13 A No, It vasn't, T T3"|"in the tub while they WeTe still Going Chis?

14 Q.  And what did you mean by crash himself 14 A, Not all of if.

15 | inte the tub? 15 0.  Some of it would be splashed on the floor?

16 A, Him and Lilly were doing it that night, I 16 &,  Pretty mech. I always kept towels an the

17 | have a big round bathtub in my bathroom and it's not 17 | floor.

18 {deep, it's just round, and they'd climb up on the edge 18 @ Do you recali telling the detective about -

19 | of it and slide, boom and laugh. They used it as a 19 | the granite countertops in the kitchen?

20 [ slide. 20 A, Correct,

21 Q. I3 there much of a ledge zround the 21 0.  And that the height of the countertop was

22 {circular tub? 22 | approsimately the same height as the top of Brodie's

23 A.  For them. 23 [ forehead or his head?

24 Q. What would you estimate the width to be? 24 A. 1t was just a little bit higher than his

25 A, You know, I don't estimate widih weil. 25 | temple. Right before this happened he went through a
19 20

1 jhuge growth spurt. 1 Ao Mo

2 Q. And he had a habit of hitting his forehead 2 Q. - So not even the mark on the cheek that you

3 |into the grapite countertops? 3 referred to? _

4 A, Twvouldn't call it a habit. 4 A.  There was a little mark on Ris cheek like

5 Q. Well, it happened, correct? 5 |his little fingertip size. But whatever was in the

6 A. It happened, yes. 6 | picture, that wasn't it. Those were -- it was like a

7 Q. It happened with some degree of frequency, 7 | yellowing little hruise the fingertip size on his

8 | correet? 8 | cheek.

g A, Hhat's frequent? 9 0. And wag there any bruising on his arms or

10 Q.  Well, at least when he'd spend those 10 | his legs that Sunday night?

11 | weekends there it would happen? il A, HNot his arms. He could have had a few,

12 A, Mot every weekend. 12 | you kaow, just on his lower legs I wouldn't be

13 Q. You described how his lower legs always 13 { suzprised because -- _

14 | had bruises because he was so wild? t4 Q. Because it was typical fer Brodie to have

15 A Yesh, I5 | bruises, right?

16 §.  1In fact, you called him the bruiser? 16 A, On his lower legs.

17 A.  We called him the wild child. I alse 17 Q.  That's what I'n speaking of.

18 | called hin San-Banm and I called Lilly Pebbles like 18 A, Yeah. He's a boy.

19 | the Flintstones, : 1% Q. And he alse would have bruises on his

20 Q.  MNow, counsel for the State had shown you 20 | face, wouldn't he?

21 1 some photographs earlier. 21 A.  Fron time to time,

22 A TYes, 22 MR. MCDOWALD: Court's indulgence one

23 Q.  And it's your testimony of whai appeared 23 | noment.

24 | to be injuries on those photographs, you never saw any 24 I'11 pass the wikness, Your Honor,

25 | of that on your grandson op Sunday evening? 25 MR. STANTON: WNothing further, Your Honor.
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1 THE COURF: Can we excuse this witness? 1 Ao Yes.
2 MR, HCDONALD: As far as the defense ig 2 Q.  Mr, Fico, as you testify here today, sir,
3 | concerned. 3 | how old are you?
4 MR. STANTON: Same with the State, Judge, 4 A Twenty-seven.
G THE COURT; Thank you, ma'am. You are 5 0. Do you know Michael Laa?
6 | excased. 6 A, VYes, sir.
7 MR, STANTON: State would call Danny Fico. 7 0. Do you see him in covrt today?
8 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand. 8 A Yes.
9 Do you solemaly swear to tell the truth, 9 0. Can you tell me what he's wearing and
10 | the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you 10 | where he is in the courtreom?
11 ] God? 11 A Red jumpsuit.
12 THE WITHESS: Yes. i2 @, %here is he in the courfroom?
13 THE CLERK: FPlease speak info the™ ~ |7 IR Right over Thére,
14 | microphone, state your first and last name ard spell 14 0.  sitting at counsel table to my right, your
15 | each for the record. 15 | left?
16 THE WITNESS: Damny Fico, D-a-n-a-y, i6 & fes, :
17 § F-i-c-o. 17 HR. STANTON: May the record reflect
18 MR, STANTON: May I begin, Your Ronor? I8 § identification of the defendant?
19 THE COURT: You may. 19 THE COURT: It may.
20 20 | BY MR, STANTON:
5
i; having been first dulybglw%‘lyrnflggﬁ testify as follows: ; g ;{c’:r::: :;uw:itlzwhi:.m;e:r;ale e since the
23 DIRECT EXAMENATION 23 | age of five.
24 | BY HR. STANTON: 24 Q.  And as you testify hers today would you
25 0. Do you pronounce your last name Fico? 25 | consider yourself to be good friends with ¥r. Les?
23 24
1 A Yes, I }and I have briefly spoke prior to your testimeny here
2 0. And what do you do for a living? 2 ytoday; is that correct?
3 A I panage a gonvenience store. 3 A, Yes.
4 0.  where is that? What is the name and the 4 Q. And you have also been contacted by
5 | location of that convenience store? 3 | detectives on a covple of occasions in this case?
6 A, America's Mart Shell, it's off of Cactus 6 A Yes, .
7 | and Spencer, 1797 Bast Cactus. 7 Q. First of all, Mr. Lee, have you as you
8 Q. Kind of off of the St. Rose Parkway as 8 | testify here today suffered any felony convictions?
9 | weil? 9 A 1 have, yes.
10 A, Yes. Right there. 10 ¢, FHow many and for what and when?
1 Q. What is your precise title at this place? 11 A, Three counts of robbery with use of a
12 A Mine? 12 | deadly weapon and one count of burglary with possession
13 0. Yes. 13 | of a firearn from back in -- convicted in Augst of
14 h.  General manager. 14 | 2002,
15 Q. Does Hr, Lee have ap employment status 15 Q. And you've expired or flattened that time,
16 | with that same establishment? 16 | correct?
17 A, Yes, he worked there. 17 A Yes,
i8 Q. Hhat did he de? : I8 Q. One of your co-defendants during that case
19 A, He Was the supervisor of the car wash. 19 | was the defendant Mr. lee?
20 0. And there is some car wash attendant to 20 B Yes,
21 ] the convenience store? 21 0. MNew, during the course of your being his
22 A, We have a full service car wash and 22 | superviser -= would that be accurate?
23 | everything there. 23 A Yes,
24 Q. Dburing the course of the month of June of 24 0. -- did there come a time in June,
25 [this year I want te ask you about a couple events. You 25 | specifically Monday or Tuesday before Brodie

11
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't | Aschenbrenner's death, that you interacted wlth Brodie 1 A.  We were at my house watching the Yankae

2 | and the defendant at your home? 2 | game,

3 A. At oy hone, yes, 3 0, - What time of the evening did you first see

4 Q. What day of the week was it? 4 | them and when did they leave your home?

5 A, Monday. ) 3 A, Probably around fiveish, The game started

6 ©.  If I represent fo you that Brodie was 6 |at four and they got there right after.

7 | found deceased on Wedresday the 15th of June, would- 7 Q. And how long did they stay at your home?

8 | you take my representation it would be accurate in your 8 A, For the remainder of the game,

9 {nerory that that would have besn June 13th of this 9 Q. Cive me a time,

10 | year? 10 A, ¥hatever time the game ended, Around

H . Yes. _ 11| sevenish, .

12 Q. During the course of -- 12 Q. Would I be accurate in stating they were

3 THE COURT: 1'm sorry, coungel, T didn't 13 |'there Tor Several hours?

14 | understand the question. Could you do that again. 14 A Yeah.

15 ¥R, STANTON: Certainly. If he would take 15 Q. Had you seen Brodie prior to that time?

16 |my representation that if Brodie was found deceaged on 6 A Yes.

17 | dune 15th, Wednesday, that the date that he vonld 17 0. Been around hin?

18 | have interacted with the defendant and Brodie would 8 A, Just saw him briefly in the corning,

19 | have been Konday the 13th of June. 19 | earlier that merning.

20 THE COURT: Okay. 20 Q. But prior to that day bad you been around

21 | BY MR. STANTON: 21 | Brodie before?

22 Q. You'd agree with that? 22 A, Yeah, T saw him almost every day most of

23 A fes. 23 i the tite, yes, .

24 Q. Uan you tell me where you interacted with 24 Q. Now, ny question next is what your

25 | Brodie and the defendant? 25 { observations of Brodie were that Monday evening as far
27 28

1 |as his hehavior? | ‘0. T am just speaking about Monday evening

2 A.  Be seemed fine. He was fine, 2 |when you were watching the game at the defendant's

3 0.  There was no indicaticn to you that he had 3 {home. Did you inquire of the defendant about the

4 |keen injured or was in pain? ’ 4 | injuries on Brodie?

5 A, HNo. 5 A, Mo, T was mostly watching the game,

6 0. Did you see anything that you thought or 6 VR. STANTON: May I approach the witness?

7 | chserved to be injuries on Brodie? 7 THE COURT: You may.

8 A, Yeah, he had some bruising on the face. & BY MR. STRNTON:

9 ¢.  Where were the bruising on his face? 9 0. Showing you three photogzaphs, 2, 3 and 4,

10 A. I resewber one under the chin, the cheek, 10 | and ask you to look at these photographs and tell me if

Il | T believe the area on his forehead. 11 | you observed any of these injuries on Monday evening.

12 Q. Do you remember how many bruises there 12 } And I an going to lay out to your far left and middle

13 | were? . 13 |and to your far right, Tell me if you recognize any of

14 A, No, Idon't remember how many. There was 14 | those injuries. Once again I'm referring to Honday

15 }a few, though, 15 | evening.

16 0. Do you remember how large the bruises 1] R, Under the chin, the cheek.

V7 |were? 17 Q. You peinted in Exkibit Wumber 3 --

13 A.  Yeah, a litbie bit, They were around the 18 KR, MCDONAZD: May I sppreach, Your Honor?

19 | eye, what looked like & black eye, and the cheek was a {s THE COURT: You may.

20 | decent sized bruise. 20 | BY MR. STANTON:

21 Q. Did you ask or inquire of either the 21 Q. Khy don't you just wait until counsel gets

22 | defendant ot of Brodie how those injuries came about? 22 | up here and point to the bruise that you see in £xhibit

23 A. 1 asked Arica, yes, how Brodie received 23 | Number 3 that you saw Monday evening,

24 | ore of the bruises. I don't recall which day it was, 24 A, T believe it was the one onr the cheek

25 | though, 25 | right there,
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t Q.  The right cheek you're peinting to? 1 A. - Yeah, He seemed fine.

2 k. Yes. 2 ¢.  Was there any incident that occurred at

3 Q. Was it the same size and color as you 3 | your hoze where Brodie was injured?

4 | observed that Monday evening? 4 A, No. Mot that I can recall, no, sir.

5 A, It was yellowish. It was yellowish and 5 ¢. Mot that you can recall?

6 |blue, yeah. 6 A, No, not that I saw.

7 Q. What other injuries in those three 7 Q. S0 at no point did Brodie scream, holler,

8 | photographs do you recall seeing? 8 | some accident, something that occurred in your presence

9 A There was multiple. I meam, I cen't 9 [or while you were there?

10 | recall them atl, but there was some on his forehead and 10 A o,

11 | there was nulkiple, Like four or five. 11 B.  Were you ever advised by the defeadant

12 0. Do you see any of those in the photographs 12 | that anything had occurred to Brodie while they were

13 |2 and 3 that depict the front of Brodie™s face? 13| LeaFing your hoe?

14 A, Just mostly right up here and this one 14 i Yo

i5 | right under the chin. 15 Q. Did you see him later on that week at

16 0. S you're now pointing to Exhibit Number 16 | werk?

17 |2, you're indicating down under his lower Mip? 17 A, Could you say that again.

18 A Yes. 8 @.  Did you see the defendant latecr on that

19 0. Bnd you're also up in his hairline? 19 [ week at work? '

20 A, Yes, 20 R, Wednesday,

21 0. And once again you never asked the 21 2. Did you also see him socially?

22 |defendant how these injuries tock place? 22 A, - Yes. T saw -- well, he came in the store

23 A, Mo, 23 | Monday and Tuesday.

24 Q. Yoo indicated that Brodie was behaving in 24 0.  And up until even today's date you've had

25 | his normal fashion? 25 | numercus interactions and commurications with your good
31 32

1 | friend the defendant? I | comment to his mether about Brodie's condition?

2 A, Yes. 2 A T don't know if it was the Monday or the

3 ¢. Did he ever mention to you or tell you 3 | Tuesday. T'm not sure.

4 | leaving your home on Honday evening that Brodie was 4 0.  that did you say if anything to his

5 | injured in any way? 5 | nother?

6 A Mo, 6 A I recall just asking how he got one of the

7 Q. Never sald that? 7 | bruises, :

8 A, Mo. 8 Q. Which bruise wag it that was of concern to

9 Q. The next day, Tuesday the 14th of June, 9 | you?

10 | did you have occasion to see Brodie along with his 10 A, The one on the right cheek area.

11 | mother Arica? {1 Q. And did you see that on Brodie with the

12 A, They came in that morning, Tuesday 12 | mom in your store again just like you had Monday?

13 | morming. 13 A Yes.

14 0. Do you recall what time it was Tuesday 14 0.  Was Brodie wearing a hat?

15 | that he came in?" 15 B. Mot a hundred percent sure, I can't

i6 A.  I'mnet sure of the time, It wes in the 16 | remember if he was or not.

17 | =orning time I believe. 17 0. Do you recail what if anything Arica

i8 0.  Sometime in the morning? 18 | Brodie's mother said to you in response to your

19 R, I believe so, yes. 19 | questicn about the bruise?.

20 0.  When did you start your shift that day? 20 B, She wasn't sure.

21 A.  Five in the merning probabiy. 21 Q.  She wasa't sure?

22 Q. Do you recall seeing Brodie with his 22 A,  Yeazh, she didn't know.

23 | mother inside your store? 23 9. How much time did you spend in the

24 Ao Tes. . 24 | presence of Brodie at work on this day?

25 0.  Did you notice anything or make any 25 k. Maybe a couple minutes while they were

13
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1 |walking around the store. 1 | exactly sure. Re came back to work a couple days

2 Q. Did you see the defendant there at all? 2 | 1ater.

3 A, Yes. 3 Q. And worked up until the time of his

4 Q. What was he deing? 4 | arcest?

5 Buying stuff. 5 A Yes,

6 Q. - Did he ever go over to the car wash area 6 0. Now, do you recall the day of June 16th
T Yto your knowledge? 7 | interacting with any detectives from the Henderson

8 A, Yeah, most likely. He usually went there. 8 | Police Department?

2 Q.  And then they left your store? 9 A Yes.

1) A.  Yes. {1} Q.  And what if anything was the interaction
1 Q. How, when did you find out in relatfonship 11 [on the 16th about?

12 | to that day when Brodie had been found deceased? 12 A Asking about -- I can't recall exactly.
3 K. T fownd out after Wichael fad Ieft; his 13 It v inreference of thiscases

14 | sister called ae and told me. 14 0. Do you recall them coning fo your store?
15 Q.  That would have been the next day, 15 A Yes,

16 { Hedoesday? 16 0. And they asked if you could pull somethin
17 R Yes, 17 | from your surveillance system? :
18 Q. And did the defendant continue Lo work at 18 A Yes,

19 | your establishment? 19 0. What was it that they asked for?

20 A Yes, i) A Taped time of when they wers -~ when

21 Q.  How long did he work after this at your 21 [Hichael and Brodie were in the store I believe.

22 | place of employment? 22 Q.  And when the defendznt was in your store
23 A.  After it happened? 23 ) Tuesday by himself in the evening hours, correct?

24 Q. TYes. 24 A fes,

25 A.  Be teok a couple days off. 1 can't be 25 0. And you provided that to them?

35 36

1 ko Yes. ! 0. That would have been approximately three
2 Q. At some point during that conversation of 2 | weeks later?

3 1 the tape did you mentior to them the bruisiag incidest 3 A It could have been, yes.

4 | #ith Brodie? 4 Q. Why did the police want to talk to you?
5 & Ho. 5 | that did they tell you?

6 Q. ¥hy not? 6 B It wes in reference about the case.

7 A. T just asked again what they wanted and 7 0. And what did you respond to them when they
8 | they came and asked for surveillance and I gave it to 8 | asked you that?

9 | then. 9 A I had nothing to say.

10 0. Did you think that was relevant or 10 0. You didn't want to talk to them?

11 | igportant for the detectives to know investigating 11 R No, sir.

12 | Brodie's death? 12 0. Is there any particular reason why you
13 A, 1 didn't know any type of cause of death 13 | didn't want to talk to hinm?

14 |or anything. 1 was ¢ut of the loop about all that. I 14 A, I was trying not to get involved with it,
15 [ was just waiting to hear, 15 ' MR. STANTON: Pasa the wiiness.

16 Q. The detectives contacted you again after 16 THE COURT; Counsel.

17 | getting the videotape from you. Do you remember that? 17 HR. MCDONALD: Yes, Your Honor,

18 A, Yes, ig .

19 Q. How much time had elapsed between 19 | BY MR. MCDOMALD: EROVS-ERNMINATION

20 | obtaining the videotape and when they contacted you 20 0. Do you recall what days off Michael Lee
21 }again; do you recall? 21 | had when he was working for you back in June of 20117
22 A. Mo, sir. 22 A, Be had #onday, Tuesday.

23 Q. If I represent to you that would have been 23 G.  Michael Lee came into the is it called
24 fon July 6, would that be accurate? 24 | hmerica's Mart?
25 A Tt could be, yes. 25 ko Yes,

14
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1 2. On the rorning of ¥onday, June 13th, | |have been after eight. I can't be sure, Sometime in
2 {correct? 2 | the morning.
3 A, Yes. 3 Q.  And why would it have to be after eight?
4 Q. And did you know at that time that he was 4 A, Because I know he wasn't there before
5 Fon his way to the Whitney Ranch community peol? 5 {8:00. Usually when he comes, when he cane it was at
6 A, Yes, 6 {seven and T know it wasn‘t that early,
7 ¢.  And he purchased some ice? 7 Q. You contacted Michael Lee later in the day
8 A, Yeah. I don't remember what he purchased, & | in reference to the Yankee/Indian game being on
S | He purchased some things. ' 9 | television, correct?
10 0. Was Brodie with hin? 10 A Yes.
11 A Yes, 11 0. Did you invite Michael and Brodie over to
i2 0.  Was Arica with him? 12 | your residence to watch the game?
13 a. Yes, ) ) T UORT Yes T e
14 Q.  Wag Brodie acting normal? 14 Q. And there were ofher péople present at
15 A, Yes, 15 | your residence, correct?
16 0.  Was he crying, was he upset? 16 A, Yes,
17 A Ho. 17 Q. Your father?
I8 g.  Did you notice those bruises that morning 18 R Yes.
19 | that you identified when the prosecutor had those 19 Q. Your father resides there?
20 1 pictures in front of you? 20 A, Yes.
21 A, Yes, 21 Q. And how meny bedrocns in the apartment?
22 0. Do you recall approximately what time it 22 kv,
23 }was that the three of them came into the store Monday 23 G, And Michael's sister Jemnifer was there?
24 | norning? 24 A Michael's sister Jemnifer, her fiance John
25 k. It was sometime in the morning. It would 25 | and her two kids.

3% 40
] Q.  So do you recall approximately when | Q. Did your father qo over?
2 | Michael Lee and Brodie arrived? 2 . Yo
3 A.  Yeab, It was a little bit after five I 3 Q. Do you recall approximately how leng you
4 |believe. Aarcund fiveish time. 4 @were at Jemnifer's house?
5 0. So the game had been on awhile before they 5. A, Mot long. It was 10, 15 minutes and then
6 |got there? 6 |we left and went down to the gas station and dropped a
7 A About an hour, T think so. _ 7 | car off to my girlfriend and Mike gave me a ride home.
8 Q. ¥hen ¥ichazel and Brodie arrived did Brodie g 0.  So did Mike and Brodie follow }ou?
9 {have the same Lruises that yew saw earlier that day cn 9 A Yes,
10 | ¥onday morning? 10 Q. In Michael's car?
11 A Yes, n A TYes,
12 Q.  Did you gee Brodie eat? 12 Q. He lived in the same apartzent complex,
13 A, Yes, he ate a plate of chicken parmegian. 13 | correct?
14 Q.  And what else did you see Bradie do, if 14 B, Yeah. Same bujlding, yes.
13 | anything? 15 Q. When you got back from dropping the car
16 4, 1 was not really watching him. He was 16 | off to your girlfriend Brodie was still with the two of
17 | being Brodie. I think he was playing with my two 17 | you?
18 | nephews. [ was mostly focused on watching the game, ‘ 18 B, Yes,
19 0.  After the game was over did you go 19 0. npd did you obgerve those same bruises on
20 | anywhere? 20 | his face at that time?
21 A, Yes, We left and went over to his -- I 2] B, Hell, I wasn't really paying attention
22 | left by myself and went to his sister's house and Mike 22 | that much, but I know he had the bruises,
23 | and Brodie met ze over there. 23 Q.  How long had you known Brodie?
24 0. S0 you went to Jemnifer's house? 24 A, Just when Mike met Arica,
25 A, Yes. : : 25 Q. Approximately how long?
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1 4. November of last year, December time. 1 | those mornings.
2 | Probably November, 2 Q. How about Menday moining, do you recall if
3 Q.  Besides that Monday morning, June 13th 3 | Jackie was there Monday merning?
4 {had you ever seen bruises on Brodie's face before? 4 A. I believe so. She was probably there both
5 A, TYes, 5 | those days, She vsually worked Menday, Tuesday
& 0. Approximately how frequently? 6 | mornings,
7 A. It seemed like he had thenm a lot. Ke was 7 Q.  What does Jackis do at the store?
8 | constantly having bruises. B A, Korks in the deli.
9 0. After the three of you got back to the 9 0. 5o she prepares food for sandwiches for
10 | apartment complex and got out of the car did you see 10 | people?
11 | Brodie or Mike ai all the rest of that evening? i A Yeah,
12 A..  Basically said good night, T went upstairs 12 Q. Hhen you saw Brodie on Tuesday morning did
13 | to fy apartment and he went wp Lo Ris. — ~ T 13 he-still have-the same’ bruises—that-yousaw Monday ———— e
14 Q. what about the next day, Tuesday, 14} night?
15 ] gune 140, you saw Mike and Arica and Brodie again at 15 A Yeah, I believe so. Mothing locked
16 | the store. . 16 | different. That 1 can remember,
17 A.  Yeah, they were going t¢ Shark Reef. They 17 Q.  And that's at that point that you asked
18 jwent into the store before they went. 18 | Arica about a particular brujse?
19 Q. How did you know they were going to Shark - 19 A Well, I don't know if it wag Monday or
20 | Reef? 20 | Tuesday. I can't be honest.
21 Michae) told me that they were. 21 0. And when you asked Arica her response was
22 . Do you recall whether or not Jackie was 22 | she didn't know? ‘
23 | working that morning? 23 A, She dlicn't seem like she really knew,
24 A, Not sure. I'm mot a hundred percent sure 24 MR. MCDONALD: Court's indulgence.
25 | if she was. She wost likely was, She usually works 25 110 pass the witness.
43 44
; :gﬁ: Egﬁén:co:’;ﬁ;i;g Further. ; having been first dulyzlgysi%rﬁ,méll‘ﬂ testify as follows:
3 THE COURT: Anything else from the 3 DIRECT EXAMINATION
4 | defense? 4 1 8Y MR, STANTON:
5 HR. MCDONALD: Mo, Your Honor. 3 ¢, Dr. Gavin, hew are you employed?
6 THE COURT: May we excuse the witness? 6 B, I an a medical examiner at the Clark
7 MR. MCDONALD: As far as the defense is 7 | County coroner's office.
$ } concerned. 8 Q. And have you received any speciakized
9 MR, STAHTON: State would call Dr. Lisa 9 | sducational training to perforn those functions at the
10 | Gavin, ' 10 | coroner's office?
11 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand. k1 B, Yes, I have.
12 Do you solemnly swear to tell the tiuth, 12 Q. Could you describe briefly your
13 | the whole truth and nothing but the truth, s help you 13 | educational and your medical experience.
}4 | God? 14 &, Qertainly. I received my medical degree
15 THE WITHESS: Yes, 15 at the University of Connecticut Scheol of Medicine. I
16 THE CLERK: Please speak into the 16 | went onto a pathology residsncy program at Hartford
}7 | zicrophone, state your first and last name and spell 17 | Hospital also in Conrectizut. I did a surgleal
18 | each for the record, 18 | pathology fellowship at Kartford Hespital.
19 THE WITWESS: I'm Dz. hisa Gavim, L-i-s-g, i9 Then T went on to do specifically a
20 | G=a=v~i-n, 20 | forensic pathelogy fellowship and that was at the
21 HR. STANTON: May T begin, Your Honor? 21 | Univeraity of Mew Mexico office of the medical
22 THE COURT: You may. 22 | investigator and afterwards | caze to be employed here
73 23 §at the coroner's office and I've been here for
24 24 | approximataly two years.
25 25 Q. Are you board certified in forensic

18
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! [pathology? t |diagnosis would you have an independent recollection of
2 A, Tamnet, 2 | that or would referring to your report assist you in

3 Q. What is lorensic pathology? : 3 | your testimony?

4 A, It's esseatially the study of suspicious 4 A Referring to wy report would assist ne.

5 |or unexpected deaths in which the medical examiner or 5 MR, STANTON: With the permission of the
6 | they are scmetimes called forensic patholoyists will 6 | court, Your Honor, may I have the witness refer to the
7 | determine the cause and manner of death of ap 7 { report if she needs to during the course of

B | individual. 8 | examination?

9 0. And how many times have you been involved 9 THE COURT: Yes.

190 | in the medical procedure to determine cause and manner 10 | BY KR, STANTON:

11 | of death, often referred to as an autopsy, either as 11 Q. Docior, could you plesse tell the court
12 | the primary physician or an assisting capacity? 12 | what your diagnoses were of the condition of Brodie

13 A, T fave performed approximately 800 |7 T T VY| Ascherbienner dhd THe BaEis Tot your opimions that you |
14 | autepsies either through my training or through the 14 | derived during the course of your autopsy and testing
15 | office where 1 currently work in total. 15 | postmortem? ‘

16 Q. Tou are a dicensed physician in the state 16 A, He had acute peritonitis due to duodenmal
17 | of Heyada? 17 | transection due te blunt force injury of the abdomen,
18 A, That is correct. I am licensed to 18 Q. let me just stop you there, What is acute
19 ! practice medicine in the state of Nevada, yes. 19 | peritonitis?

20 Q. 1'd like to direct vour attention to 20 Ao It's an inflammation of the lining of the
2] |June 16, 2011. Did you have occasion fo conduct an 21 | abdemen,

22 | autopsy of a two-year-old infant by the name of Brodie 22 0, And whern you say "acute", what did that
23 | Aschenbrenner? 23 [mean to you in a medical term from your observation?
24 A, Yes. : 24 A He base the acute on what {ypes of

25 0. IE I ask you your detailed pathological 25 | inflammatory cells are present when we look at the

47 48

| |material underneath the microscope. 1 | speaking when a child of Bredie's age that one would Le
2 0. And so from thai examination you 2 | able to observe after the transection of the duodenun?
3 | determined that the injury was recent in the time of 3 A, Abdominal pain, possibly vomiting as well
4 | when Brodie expired? 4 | as fever eventually,

5 R, Correct. 3 Q. Bhen you say "pain”, & child obvicusly

6 Q.  How, what wag the transection of an organ & | would be manifesting in some sort of crying er

7 |‘that you cbserved in the abdeminal vault? 7 | fussiness? _

- 8 A The duodenun extends from the stomach and 8 A, T conld imagine,

9 | goes out through several loops of your small bowel and 9 0.  What about the appetite?

10 { eventually go into your colon and then fecal matter, if- 10 A, Usually it's limited. Decreased.

11 | you #ill, extends from there. The duodenum comes 1 Q. And you indicated the transection of the
12 | directly after the stomach and it's a tube essentially, 12 | duodenur and what its function is snatomically is

{3 § and the tube was transected, in other words essentially 13 | actually vhat cavsed the cessation of Brodie's life?
14 | cut in half, and therefore all the contents that were 14 A, The acute peritonitis resulting from that
15 | coning from the stomach would just empty up inte the 15 | which resvlted from the blunt foree injury. So the

16 | abdoninal cavity. 16 | sequence.

17 0.  Let me ask you in separate forms, Weuld 17 Q. Did you find in your report and did you
18 | the dissection of the duodenum be an instantaneously 18 ) note itens consistent with that transection of the

19 | incapacitating injury to a two-year-old child? 19 | duodenun in the abdominal cavity?

20 A, There would be immediate pain, but the 20 A, The presence of the fluid, the kind of

21 | contents going out into the abdomen eventvally generate 21 fbrown fluid that was present in the abdominal cavity,
22 | this inflammatory respomseé which ip turn the acute 22 | is an indicator of the transection and of course the
23 {peritonitis and eventually cause the death. So it 23 | developnent of peritenitis suggests that in scme way
24 | could be minutes to houes rather than instantaneous. 24 | the bowels have been disrupted.
25 Q. - What would be the symptoms generally 25 Q. Now, what about the location of the injury

17
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1 {and the indication that it was blunt force trauma? l THE COURT: You may.
2 A.  The iocation of the duodenal where this Z | BY MR, STANTCN:
3 | was torn ig essentially just antericr to the spinal 3 Q. Prior to your testinony today did you and
4 |cord. So in your abdomen, although your bowel is loose 4 | I have a discugsion sbout the photographs that were
5 |within the sbdomen, there's a point anatomically and 5 | taken at the autopsy that was conducted in this case?
6 | developmentally where it stays somewhat attached bo the [ A, Yes,
7 |center. $o right in the middle of your abdomen might 7 Q.  And did you provide me file numbers that
8 |be where you'd point to it iike if you had like ar 8 | are reflected and if you ceuld leok through Siate's
9 |upset stomach, for example. But it's not at the cuter 9 | Exhikbits 2 through 11 in front of you right now and
10 | part of your body, 1t's where your outer part of your 10 | tell ne if you recognize then?
1} {abdomen is, it's deeper than that against where the 11 A Yes.
12 | spinal cord is. So thera's essentially a point where 12 0. Do they all accyrately depict the
137 Tne Tovel 13 atEaChEd at that poift &md it emeigh foree ~ | "I3|conditivh 6t Bigdis ASEHenbIenner as you observed Him )
14 { oceurs, it presses that bowel up against that area and 14 | during the performance of your attopsy?
15 Jactually can cause it to tear, to lacerate essentially. 15 A Yes.
16 Q. Now, what type of cther incidents do you 16 MR. STRNTON: HMove for the admission of 2
17 | as a pathelogist encounter transections of ducdenums in 17 | through 11 in evidence,
1B | children or adults for that matter? 18 HR. HCDONALD: He have no objection for
19 A.  Arotor vehicle accident, any bluat force 19 | purposes of preliminary hearing, Your Honot,
20 | injury to the abdomen. 20 THE COURT: They will be allowed admittad,
21 0. And you're talking about severe enough 2} (State's Exhibits 2 - 11 were adwitted,)
22 | blunt force trauma that someone actually dies during 22 | BY MR. STANTON:
23 | that automebile accident? 23 G.  How, Doctor, the exhibit number is on the
24 A, Correct. 24 ) front of each photograph. Could you pick up those
25 MR. STANTON: May I spproach, Your Hompr? 25 | photographs, I believe it will be 11 and 10 that speak
51 52
1 }to the injury that you just testified to, and could you 1 [ attached to one another. S¢ they've been lacerated,
2 | explain and point to on that photegraph what we're 2 | essentially transected at that point,
3 | looking at. 3 MR. MCDONALD: The blue, is this in the
4 A, Certainly, They can be a little 4 | duodenun?
5 {digturbing to see. Here we have -- 5 THE RITWESS: The part of the forceps
6 MA. HCDONALD: Your Honor, which exhibit -6 | that's holding it wp. So this is the duodenum, the
7 |is she == 7 | tube.
8 THE COURT: This is Number 10. Do you B | BY MR, STANTON:
9 |went to come up, Mr. HcDonald? 9 0. Doctor, let ze ask you whether or not you
10 ¥R. HCDONALD: Yes, sir. 10 | found any injuries to the abdominal torso area of
11 THE COURT: Both counsel can come wp if 1 | Brodie Aschenbrenner that were consistent with blunt
12 | you'd like, 12 | fores traums causing the infuries you just described?
13 THE WITHESS: This is the body opened at 13 B There is evidence of blunt force trauna on
14 | sutopsy. These are the intestines I was telling you 14 | the torso, but they are not in the amterior aspect and
15 | about, This is the colon pulled back and retracted 15 | that's actually not unususl for this type of
16 | becavse it usually lays over the tep of the intestines. 16 | transection injury that you don’t see because there's
17 | And then right here is the area which has bemorrhage 17 | enough give te the skin and the elasf:icity of the skin
18 | ané bleeding around it and laceration of the mesenteric 18 | on the cutside that the snergy is essentiably
19 | vessels, 19 | transferred inward and doesn't pecessarily cause
20 Moving onto Exhibit 11 it's a clese-up of 20 | contusicn ta the skin or subcutaneous srea in the
21 {that. So here is the stomach, here is the laceration 21 1 abdomer,
22 [ of those vesgels that we saw in Exhibit 10, And then 22 Q. Can you describe for me what other
23 [ as we look closer the forceps is holding the ducdeoum 23 | injuries you observed in the abdeminal area that you
24 |which Is the tube egsentially, and then this prebe is 24 | noted in the autopsy of Brodie?
25 | inside the other aspect f the tube that should be 25 A.  Cutansously on the right Flank and the
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I jright hip there's a contusion and also en his back I [ irrequiarities depicted in the radiolegy of the fifth

2 | there are several patterned abrasions as well as a 2 | and gixth?

3 | patterned contusion and that's externally. 3 A, That's correct.

4 Q. And when you say subcutaneously, you're 4 0.  During the course of your antopsy did you

5 | indicating the bruising went below the skin or into the 5 | make any note of any injuries in the head area of

6 | skin? 6 |Brodie both externally and internally?

7 A Correct, 7 A VYes,

8 Q.  Bhat other injuries were you able to note 8 ¢ #hat were the findings that you ohserved

9 | anatomically in the abdomen torso area of Brodie? 9 | in those areas?

i0 A, The external or interral? 10 A, There wers contusions in various states of

11 ¢.  Both, 11 {healing on his forehead near his hairline. fThere were

12 A.  Externally there is in the right upper 12 | abrasions present on his lips as well as om his nose.

I3 [ oack a patterned abrasion, On the right mid back i ~~¥3~| He had-2 tontusion on-his-cheek;and-when I tovkedat—

14 { another semi circular patierned abrasion which consista I4 | the §calp --"we pEzl back the scalp to ook at the

I5 | of smeller abrasions that are separated from each other 15 | injury underneath -- he had what we call subscalpular

16 1Xind of in a semi circular pattern and then on the left 16 ] and subgaleal hemorzhage. And the scalp, as it peels

17 | back is a contusion that has areas of parallel pregsuye 17 | off, there's also a thin layer of fibrous tissue that

18 [parks in it. 18 | rests on the skull itself and that's called the galeal

19 And then internally there was also 19 | and sometimes when you have iniury you can have

20 | evidence that was reviewed by a radiologist that 20 | hemorrhage in that location. And so he had extensive

21 | identified fractures of ome of the ribs and possible 21 | hemorrhage that was partly clotting over at least the

22 | older fractores of one of the ribs, both of which were 22 | right side and part of the left side of his head.

23 | on the left side, 23 0.  And did you make any findings about the

24 0. And that would be the left eighth rib was 24 | condition of Brodie's brain itself?

25 | a non-displaced fracture and that there was 25 A, At that point seeing the injury I chose to
55 56

[ | take the brain and send it to a specialist, a 1 | swelling inside as well?

2 | peuropathologist., Sc although intracranially I didn't 2 A, The blunt trauma that occurred to the

3 | see acute blood and I didn't see subarachnoid 3 | outside of the brain obviously cawsed the imjury that

4 | hemorrhage, there are injuries that can occur at a 4 | we're talking about in terms of the subscalpular amd

5 |=zicroscopic level that a specialist can review and that 5 | the subgaleal hemorrhage. The injury ltself causes

6 |was in fact identified. 6 | enough inertia such that the brain being the soft item

7 Q. In Fact, from the results of that T | inside of a hard skull cam move around inside of there

8 | subsequent testing that you reviewed when it came hack 8 |and cause actually what’s called like a rotational

9 | to your office and befere your report was finalized and 9 ] injury and that rotaticnal injury can cause damage to

10 | signeéd by you? 10 | the neorons that are present within the brain that can

n A.  Correct. [ usually will take a summary 11 | be seen microscopically rather than grossly upon just

12 | plece of whatever highlight conclusion the 12 1 visualizing the brain.

13 { neuropathologist came to and add it in as part of the 13 Q. Let me go to the next area of your report

14 | diagnosis where it's appropriate, 14 | about blunt force injuries of the head and neck outside

15 Q. In layperson's terms your assessment of 15 {of the scalp you just described. Were you able to

16 | the injuries to Brodie's head was that he had 16 | deternine in an anatomical fashion where there were

17 | hemorrhaging in both the left and right hemisphere of 17 | blunt force contusions on Brodie’s head and neck?

18 | his head? 18 A I mentioned where they are specifically.

19 A, It's on top of the skull, though. IL's 19 | There's some contusions on the left forehead, the left

20 | rot intracranial. 20 | cheek, there's some abragions also present, and then

21 Q.  Did you determine that the brain itself 21 | there's a lot of the galeal hemorrhage that's realiy on

22 | had been swollen? 22 | both sides but a dittle more prominent on the right

23 A, Correct. 23 | than the left. ]

24 Q.  And why or how does that oeccur regarding 24 ¢ And you had an indication in your report

25 | the trauma external and the fasct that the brain had 25 ] about the clotting of these. Do you recall thst?
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1 A Yes, the early clotting. I [ abrasion on one of them.

2 Q.  HWhat did that mean to you tegarding the 2 @, Let me ask you about the frenulum. First
3 | tine of these injuries? 3 | anatomically whore is that on our bodies?

4 A,  To ze these injuries are a little older 4 A, hs you lift up your lips up or dewn and

5 | than the injury to the abdomen, 5 { you look in the mirror, between your gum and your teeth
6 D, Now, if you could, under subsection five, 6 | there's a tiny piece of tissue that's there between the
7 |letter F in your pathological diagnosis, there was a 7 | two and that's called the frenuium.

8 | pressure mark on the right ear. Can you tsll me about 8 ¢, And what was the conditien of Brodie's

9 | that? 9 | frenulun?

10 A.  Yes, On the right ear and the left there 10 A There was 2 hole in if. So it goes up and
1t | appeared to be pressure marks present, 1T | down and if you look through it side to side there was
12 Q.  Hhat do you mean by pressure marks? 12 | a hole ir it and & little bit of hemorrhage adjacent to
13 &It appearythet there was-achange in-the— | - —E3 [ it However, it wasn't amavrte lateration soit

14 | Tivor pattern that was there. Livor mortis is when the 14 | suggests an infury did occur becanse 1T™s supposed to
i5 [ blood pools, the blood settles into the bedy, it'll 15 | be intact and whole, but it probably occurred at

16 | settie in the most dependent portions where the body is 16 | anpther peint in time, -

17 | laying at the time and within that there appeared io be 17 0. QCould you tell how long prier to his death
18 | narks that were absent of having that livor area and a I8 | that that occurred?

19 [ possible abrasion, but because it was in the livor it I9 A 1 could not.

20 | was a little difficult to discern that. 20 Q. And there's a number of other injuries of
21 Q. WKhat gave you the idea or the impressien 21 | his other extremities, his ams, his legs, hips,

22 | medically that you determined them to be pressure 22 | thighs, lower legs and fest?

23 | marks? 23 A, There are contusions and abrasions, some
24 A, Because there's an absence ¢f the livor in 24 | of the abrasions have crusting on them, scabbing that
25 | those areas and with that there was a question of an 25 focourred. 8o they are in varlous states of healing.

59 60

J Q.  ¥ow, what did you determine as far as the ! THE OURT: Counsel,

2 lcause of death in this case? 2

3 A, 'The ceuse of death was the acuta 3 BY MR. MCDONALD: ChosS EXMINATION

4 | peritonitis due to the duodenal transection due to the 4 @ Doctor, you mentionsd that you're not a

5 |blunt force injury of the abdomen, 5 |board certified forensic pathologist.

& 0.  Dr. Gavim, what's the manner of death? 6 A That's correct.

7 A.  The mamner of death is homicide. 7 Q.  fhat does it take to become a board

8 Q. Why did you come to that conclusion? 8 ] certified forensic pathologist?

4 A, These injuries are not what you see in an 2 A There's an examination.

10 | accident situation for a two-year-old child. The 10 0. How, you've worked here at the Clark

11 | amount of energy or hlunt force it would take to Il | County coroner's office for you said approximztely two
12 | transect the abdomen is closer to that you'd see in a 12 | years? ’

13 | car accident than just a child falling -- 13 A Correct.

14 G.  and, Dr. Gavip -- 14 ¢ Approximately how many autepsies have you
15 k. - for example. 15 | done at our coroner's office here in Clark County?

16 Q. -- when you pade the deternination of 16 k. Last year was 292 autopsies apd I'm not
17 | homicide you're making that assessment of the nature, 17 | sure what the quote is this year yet, It's probably
IB 1§ that is the recency of these injuries, the number of 18 1 similar in over 200, 250 perhaps.

19 | frequency and the total exam; is that correct? 19 Q. Those are all you did yourself?

20 A Correct, 20 R " Oh, yes.

21 0. And that your opinion from a medical 21 9. Mow, you talked about the blunt force

22 | degree of cerfainty that the injuries that caused 22 | traume to fransect the duodenum, correct?

23 | Brodie's death wers non-accidental in nature? 23 A Correct.

24 A, In ay opinicn. 24 Q. hre you able to tell frem the autopsy
25 ¥R, SUANTON: Pass the witness. 25 | whether that blunt force, if lndeed there was force
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1 | pressed upon, did it come from the fromt er the back? 1 A, The various ones on the body?

2 A, It's hard to tell the direction, It's 2 0. VYes.

3 | less likely that it cae from directly from the back, 3 A, Mo, It's hard to date a conttsion

4 {1's more likely it came from the front or the sides. 4 | specifically,

5 Q. The front or the sides? 5 Q. Could a contusion last for 4 week?

6 A, Uh-huh, 6 A They would be in usvally a different

7 Q. But you dida't see any evidence of injury 7 | shade, 2 different color if they've been there for a

B | to the skin in the sbdominal area? 8 |week's time --

9 A.  It's not uncommon that that's the true -- 9 Q. Mell, you sald usually.

10 Q. I'm just asking you didn't see any? 10 Ao Yss.

11 A, that {s correct, 11 ¢, You had no-prior history with this

12 Q. and it's your opinion that it takes a 12 | individeal, correct?

F37 trenendobs ameunt "5E7TorCe to caugé thie damage thal yol~ 3 TR Correct, T T

19 | saw? 14 0. You don't know how long it took for his

15 A.  Correct. ] 15 {body to process a contusion so to speak?

16 Q.  Force consistent with an automobile 16 4 Correct.

[7 | accident is what you said? : 17 0. Se¢ could some of those contusions on his

18 A, It can be close to that significant, that 18 | body had been there longer than a week?

19 | is what I said. 19 A Possibly.

20 Q. Now, you also talked about contusiong that 20 ¢, What wag the injury to the right flank?

21 | were in various stages of healing, cerrect? 21 A, A contusion.

22 A, Correct. 22 Q. Was it in a stage of healing?

23 Q- Could you tall us here today -- and if you 23 A, T don't recall.

24 | have to review the photographs you can -~ do you have 24 0. If you could review those sxhibits or your

23 | any idea when those contusions occurred? 25 | report would that help you refresh your recollection?
63 64

I A.  Possibly. 1 ]the right then other aress.

2 Q. Hell, go shead and do so. 2 Q. Greater on the right?

3 A, They look like they're relatively recent. 3 A Side of the head,

4 0. And recent as in three, four days ago? 4 Q. And again those injuries, could these

5 A, It could be. 5 | injuries have occurred up to four, five days prior te

6 Q. It could be four days ago? 6 | his demjse?

7 A. It could be. It could be sooner. 7 A& Be, T looked at those histologically and

8 Q. Or sooner? 8 | those are probably sbout 24 hours before his demise.

9 A, Uh-huh, 9 1 Approxinately,

10 Q.  What about the right hip? 10 D.  Okay. You said histologically,

13 A. Tt looks approximately the same, Il A, Uh-huh,

12 0. 1t could be up to four days age? 12 0. Can you put that in layman's term?

13 A Up ta, I3 A, Under the microscops.

14 Q. Four days prior to the -- 14 Q. So you did say something about looking at

15 A.  Death. To death. 15 | the cells urder the microscope?

16 0. How, you also talked about -- and I can't 16 k. Correct.

17 | pronounce all these words -- subscalpular? 17 Q. And what were you looking for?

18 R, Correct. 18 A 1In this case you look for the presence of

19 Q.  And that I assume ia up in the hairline 19 | red blood cells, you look for the presence of

20 | area? 20 ) macrophages, and those cells, whether or not the red

21 A, Actually it can be anywhere underneath 21 [ blood cells are starting to clot and break dowm,

22 | your skin on your skull. 22 | whether or not the macrophages are present and have any

23 0.  Okay. So on the head., And you found 23 | iron present in them, those help you indicate tining.

24 | those all over the skull or in & specific area? 24 | Because we know the sequence of events that it takes

25 A, Tt was all over the skull but greater on 25 | for different types of cells in the body ko come out to

21
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1s he in Clark County?

1 {try to heal injury that's occurred. 1 0
2 0.  And thai's standard for every person, that 2 A No.
3 | timeline? 3 0.  Where is he?
4 A.  It's what's been documented in all of our 4 A Be's located in California.
5 | textbooks. So it's 4 standard approach, The timing of 5 Q.  Bennstt Omalu?
6 | those different cnes has been arqued. ] B Yes.
7 0. Okay. Se there isn't 2 total agreement 7 0. Do you know how to spell Omaiu?
& | then on the timing? 8 A, O-m-a-l-u.
g A, There's a standard text in terms of when 9 Southern California, northern?
10 | those particular cells come out. 10 A, 1'anot sure.
11 '0. A1 right. So based upon that you 1 Q.  You don't know the city he is in?
12 | determined those injuries to be how cig? 12 A.  We have that informaticn at the office if
13 _ A Approximately 24 howrs. T3 yow aded it
14 Q. Mpproximstely 24 hours from the time of 14 Q. Okay. 5o you sent him the brain, the
15 | demise? 15 { entire brain?
16 A, Correct. 16 A TYes.
7 Q.  How, you sent was it the brain or part of 17 0. S0 you weren't preseni when he did eny
18 | the brain to a neurelogical pathologist? 18 | testing en it?
19 R, I sent the entire brain to a 19 A, He sends off his sections that he chooses
20 | neuropathologist. 20 | to take to his laboratory and then will examine those
21 ¢.  Is that somebody eutside the Clark County - 21 | microscopic sections and then generate his report.
22 | coroner's office? ’ 22 0. So your office didn't do any of that
23 A, Yes. 23 | testing?
24 Q. Who did you send it te? 24 A Not the sectioning or the special stains
25 A, Dr. Bennett Cmalu. . 25 | or the staining of any of the glides,
67 68
1 ] S0 only one lab looked at it? [ | conld that have gccurred 48 hours or more prior to time
2 Ao As far as I'm aware. 2 | of death?
3 §.  Okay. As far as you had written in your 3 A Yo,
4 | report that there was brain brauma, correct? 4 Q. All right. What do you base that upon?
5 A, Correct. 5 A Looking at it under the microscope and
6 0. And how did you reach a conclusion whether 6 | seeing what cells are present at the time that I took
7 |that occurred? 7 | the secticns which is at the time of death essentially.
8 A, The blunt force injury to the head with 8 [ At or around the time of death.
9 | the subscalpular hemorrhage that I looked at underzeath b 0. 50 you said the cells that come out, they
10 | the microscope, 10 [ come out at a rate, a standard rate.
11 Q. 50 you said there were several contusicns 11 A, It's scientific evidence that has been
12 | on the head. 12 | generated what the sequepce is that these cells come
13 A, Correct. 13 }out to protect the body.
14 Q. Yow, did you take samples from all of i {.  Did anybody else review your findings
15 | those and look under the microscopa? 15 | before you wrote your report?
16 A Yo . 16 A A1l of our cases are reviewed as overall ¢
17 Q.  Which ones did you look under the 17 [and &, but they don't go through the slides, the other
18 | microscope at? 18 | doctors, they don't go through all the other details.
19 A The qale'al hemorrhage and the subscalpular 19 [He just discuss the cases,
20 | hemorehage directly. 20 0,  With the other foremsic pathologists?
21 0.  Those are the only ones you znalyzed uader 21 A Correct,
22 | the microscope? 22 0.  What did you preserve for a future
23 A, Correct, 23 | testing; do you recall?
24 0.  So it's your opimion that the blunt force 24 A.  The toxicology? Is that what you're
25 | trauma that caused the transection of the duodenum, 25 | referring to?

22



[l

l 69

. 1

I Q. No. Did you preserve any of the patter, 1 A, hgain from the radiologist's consultation.

2 | material that you analyzed? 2 0. So you didn't review any x-rays yourself?

3 A, Yes. In terms of the slides. 3 A. 1 looked at the x-rays and given the

4 Q.  And those were kept at your office? 4 | nature of the case I decided that a consultation would

5 A, The slides are at our office, yes, 5 | be necessary.

6 Q.  You falked about a fracture to a rib? 6 Q. But you're not able today to sit here and

7 A, Correct. 7 | tell us when that occurred?

8 Q.  You wrote that in your report? 8 A, Correct.

9 A.  From the forensic -- well, from the 9 0. Are you able to tell us whether those

10 | radiclogists, rather. 10 | fifth and the sixth occurred simulbansously or at

11 Q. You're nok a radiologist? {1 | different times?

12 A, That's correct, 12 B, No, I'm not.

13 0. So your office took W-rAys ERd EREN the [T TTTTTRI b ogr eyl e rad ologlst b abie to el us? o R

14 | radiologist comes in and reviews them? 14 B, T'mnot certairn.

15 A, Correct. 15 §.  Did you teke the exam to become hoard

16 0.  Ara yoy able to tell me based upon your 16 | certified here in Nevada?

17 Pmedical training how old that injury was? 17 A, Wo. you don't take it in Nevada. You take

i8 . He. 18 | it in Taspa and I haven't taken it,

19 0.  Can anybody tell ug hew ¢ld that injury 19 0. Performing the autopsy did you have any

20 | was? 20 | conversations with any representatives of law

21 A.  The radielogist based on his esperience 21 {enforcement, the Henderson Police Department prior to

22 | may be able to tell you that from looking at the 22 | conducting the avtopsy?

23 | radiographs. ' 23 A, They are present at the autopsy and two of

24 0.  And them there was at the fifth and sixth 24 | them were present, Detective Collins and I-believe it

25 frib, you noted it in your report, correct? 25 | was a captain that was present as well, I forgot his
71 72

1 | last name. But 1 note it when they're present and I 1 | motor vehicle accident within three weeks of his

2 | note it in my report. 2 | denizse? ‘

3 0. And do you gather information from the 3 A, Yes, 1 don't remember if it was the

4 | detectives prior to starting the autopsy? 4 {detective that told me or [ found that out through my

5 A, Tt usually occurs simaltaneously when 5 |investigator, but I was aware that the child had been

6 {we're working on the case, 6 1in an asceident. .

7 0. 5o while you're actually conducting the 7 Q.  Did you review any of the reports from the

8 | autopsy? 8 | aceident? '

9 A, $owe'll get a moraing report where we'll 9 Ao Yes.

10 | hear about what the background is and why the case was 10 Q. What did you review?

11 | brought in and the detective won't be there for that, 11 A. I believe it wes an incident report and

12 | that's based on ocur investigator information. And the 12 | also the pediatrician visit.

13 | detective may be present at the autopsy, they usually 13 Q. You reviewed the incident report?

14 | are, and then if I have questions or he has questicns, 14 A, T believe so.

15 | we can talk back and forth at that time. 13 0. Do you recall anything sbout the incident

16 0. Do you recall if either the detective or 6 | report?

17 | the captain asked you any questions daring the autopsy? 17 A. I remember that he was in a car seat but

18 A. I don't remember what questions may or may 18 | that's vhat I remember.

19 I not have occurred at that time. Tt's pessible, 19 0. Do you recail that the mother represented

20 0. Do you dictate the autopsy réport as 20 | that the car seat was hroken ag a result of the

21 { you're performing it? 21 | accident?

o2 B. Mo, 1don't do it as I'm performing it. 22 A, Yes, I recall as you're saying that,

23 | after 1 tinish 1 dictate my case. 23 9. 'The pediatrician, you reviewed

24 0. Ail right. Did the detective tell you or 24 | pediatrician reports?

25 | did the captain tell you that the child had been in a 25 A Correct, The records that were sest to me

23
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Q. S0 it's not uncommon for scmecne to have

| |by the pediatrician. 1 0. Could the motor vehicle accident have

2 Q. Do you know if you were sent all the 2 | caused a partial tear to the duodenum?

3 | records? 3 B A potor vehicle aceldent can cause that,
4 B, T don't know, We request all them, we 4 | But the timing is off in this particular case.

5 fsubpoena that information and I assuwe that they sent 5 Q. It can cause it to partially tear, not

6 | then, 6 | transect fully?

7 Q. Did anyone tell you that the victia had 7 A. It cap cause a partial tear but there

8 | pulled down the curtain and the rod had struck him in 8 {would be symptoms af that time,

9 | the back? 9 Q. Could it be synptoms like an upset
10 A, T heard that T think again either from our 10 | stomach?

11 | investigator or the detective what I'd known about 11 A They can have an upset stomach,

12 | that. 12 ¢ Tt would be like flu-like syaptoms?

13 Q. Did you ever see the rod or the curtains? 13T A It's possible.

4. A, No, 14 §,  hnd then as the partial tear -- the way I
i5 0.  Could that have -- 15 | understand it is that matter instead of processing out
16 A.  The picture of the rod or the curtains 16 | it’s coming from the stomach inte the abdominal cavity?
17 | could be in our investigative, I don't recall it off 17 & Yes. Ib deesn't even go into -~ he

18 | the top of my head. I8 | wouldn't necessarily have normal bowel movements. He
19 9. Could that curtain rod have caused the 19 | would be vomiting, he wouldn't want to eat.

20 | paraliel iines as you saw on the back? 20 Q.  Depending on the extent of the --

21 A. 1 haven't seen them precisely so 1'd bave 21 A, Well, it's the peritonitis that develops.
22 | to match them up to compare them. So to my 22 | reqardless about the size of the transection., Peaple
23 | recollection I don't remember fhat curtain red, but if 23 | can get it from diverticuls and they can develop

24 | look at the pictures again T prebably could make a 24 | peritonitis and it can be very painful with abdemina}
25 | cozparison and decision based on that. 25 | distension. It happens very quickly. It doesn't
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| | necessarily matter the size of the hole. I[t's the fact I [peritonitis for in excess of iwo weeks before expiring?
2 | that the contents themselves are going into the 2 k. They cap have it for -~ that's correct,

3 {abdoeinal cavity and it’s the response -- 3 | but they're usually sick, a fever, abdominal pain, not
4 Q. Well, the size of the hole -= 4 )eating, could be voniting, may not have aoxmal bowel
5 HR. STANTON: Objection, Your Honmer, 5 | movenments,

¢ | Counsel is asking the question befare the witness is 6 0.  And those are some of the symptoms that a
7 | finished answering, T | person may have, correct?

8 MR. HCDONALD: I1'm sorry. 8 B, That's corcect.

9 THE COURT: Okay. Wait until she 9 Q. They wouldn't necessarily have to have all
1(} | finishes. [0 | those syoptoms? :

11 | Bf MR, MCDGNALD: . 11 A, Usually they have a majority of them.

12 Q. I apolegize. Go right ahead. 12 Q. Bnd that comes from just your education
13 A. It doesa't matter the size of the hole, 13 | from the text books?

14 | it’s the fact of the abdominal contents going into the 14 A, Education, I have seen that when I was in
15 | cavity and that's causing the peritonitis and it's that 15 | nedical school, I have seen people with peritonitis
16 | reaction that epds up making the person sick. 16 [present. I've seen children with peritoritis present.
17 Q.  Well, wouldn't the size of the hole I7 [ T've seen adults die from peritonitis as well as

18 | regulate the amount of matter that is emptying into the £8 | children, '

19 | abdoninal cavity? 19 0. You den't necessarlly have to have as you
20 A The amount that gets into the zbdominal 20 | mentioned a transection of the duodenum to incur

21 | cavity isn’t relevant either because it's the reaction 21 | peritonitis?

22 | to something that's not suppesed to be there that 22 A That's correct.

23 | causes the problem that causes the peritonitis that 23 Q. It can happen from problems with your

24 | causes the death. 24 | pancreas? '

23 23 A That's correct.
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1 0.  How about your gall bladder? - } | the investigative reports, Cccasionally I'i} take
2 A.  Correct. It can do that with the gall 2 | pieces of that and put it into the summary, but it may
3 ] bladder as well. 3 |or may not. I don't know whether I wouid have chose to
4 Q. A iracture of the ribs, fracture of the 4 | put it in or not.
5 |rib, what sysptoms would a person typicaily have from 5 Q. Al right. It's been testified here that
6 | that? . 6 | the victin here had 2 habit of biting his lower 1ip.
7 A. It deperds on the person, it depends on 7 1Would that have caused the injury that you were
8 jthe extent of the fracture, If this was a & | speaking about earlier?
9 | non-displaced fracture that he's discussing they may 9 A, He has one abrasion just beneath his lower
10 | have pain localized. 1f it's a cisplaced fracture they 10 | lip and that could be from his teeth pressing ¢n the
1l fmay have nore severe symptoms, 11 | lower lip as he's biting his lip,
. Q. Mow, the radiologist determined if was a 12 0. Okay. You alsc talked about the part that
momdisplaced? e k3 {had-a-hole in-it?-——
A, Correct, 14 A, The fremclom Cakes a Iot of presdure o be
Q. Were you advised by anyone that 15 | able to do that and you can’t get your fremulum in
approxirately four to five days prior to his depise 16 | between your teeth.
that he was riding on a battery operated quad, went off 17 Q. Right. No, I'm not talking about that.
the curb and allegedly hit his face into an automobile? 18 | I'n just saylng you said it takes a lot of pressure.
A.  Idon't recall that. 19 A, fes,
Q.  MNobody ever teld you that, gave you that 20 Q. So if I pulled I guess on my upper or
information? ' : 21 | lower iip, that's a type of pressure that you're
A.  Tdon't recall it. 22 | talking about?
@.  Hould it be something that you wovld put 23 A, No. It's usually like a smothering
in your report if someone did tell you? 24 | situztion or some kind of force of the lip being
A T usually leave some of that material to 25 | pressed wp against the jaw at that poirt where the qun
79 80
I | line is. 1 |done, corract?
2 @.  Like blunt force trauma? 2 A, There are some other tests thatr could have
3 A It's possible, 3 |been done,
4 Q. Did you estimate an age of that injury? 4 Q. But this was just preliminary testing?
5 A. I did not, 5 A, My impression. I'm not a clinician, but
6 0. Are you able to? 6 ! that's my izpression.
7 A, I'mnot. . 7 Q. Of the 800 or so autopsies that you've
8 0. Is anyhody capable of doing that? 8 !done how many involve the transection of the duodenun?
9 A I don't know, 9 AT have only seen a couple cases and I've
10 Q. You reviewed the pedfatrician's reports or 10 | only done this case,
11 | files? 12! Q. This is the first one you did yourself?
12 A, What I was given. 12 Ao Myself,
13 Q.  Rbat you subpoenaed, correct? 13 BR. MCDONALD: 1'll pass the witness, Your
14 A, What was given to me by subpoena. 14 { Honor,
15 0.  And that there was an indication that this 15 REDIRECT EXAMINATION
16 | child bruised a lot or bruised sasily? 16 | BY MR. STANTON:
17 A,  TYes, 17 Q. What is hypoxia?
18 Q.  Did that cause you any concern? 18 A, That means lack of oxygen.
19 A, He did what [ feel to be the proper 19 €. Was that a contributing factor to Bredie's
20 | evaluation, he looked at the platelet levels and he 20 | death?
21 | looked at some ciotting information to see whether or 21 A, Tt was noted to be present, buf it was
22 | not there wag any kind of abnormality. It's what X 22 | superseded in my opinion by the zcute peritonitis and
23 | know to be a preliminary Investigation of that lssue 23 | all the other injuries we've been discussing,
24 land all of that seemed to be within normal limits. 24 Q. And the hypoxia was due to the swollen
25 Q. But there's other testing that can be 25 | brain?
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THE COURT: I heve a question. Hhat's

] Ao Yes, 1
2 Q.  How, counsel asked you about the review of 2 |done to preserve the evidence that you look at on
3 | pediatrician records, that is the ABL Pediatrics, the 3 | the -- are there microscopic photos taken or anything
4 | treating pediatric group of physicians that treated 4 | of the cells that you took at to preserve if?
5 |EBrodie during his life? 5 THE WITNESS: I have not taken photos.
6 A. I don't know the crganization that the 6 | Once we take the tissue from the body we put it ina
7 | pediatrician belongs to so I assume given that we 7 1 Eixative and then we also can take, once it's ip that
8 | subpoenaed his pediatrician that that was the ome who 8 | fixative, and put it inte the literally small plastic
9 |wss caring for him in his life. 9 | cassettes. Those cassettes themselves are transported
10 Q.  Angd those records reflect the mother 10 { under ¢hain of custody to Quest Laboratories where they
1 | presented Brodie soon after the automehile accident 11 | epbed them and generate the glass slides that we would
12 | that counsel referred to and that the doctors found no 12 | look at under the nmicroscope. So once they generate
13 {injuries to Brodie of rote at all regardivg That<ar ~~ 13| those glass slides those are i maintaimed In———— o
14 | accident? 14 | custody, chain of custedy, Brought to s and {hen we
15 A, That's correct. 15 | review them tnder our micrescope.
16 MR. STANTOM: WNothing further. 16
FURTHER REDIRECT EXAMINATION

17 17 | BY MR, STANTONT—
18 RECROSS EXAMINATION 18 0. 5o when you say "fixative”, that's some
19 | 8Y MR, HCOONALD: 19 { kind of -~ '
20 0.  You don't know what type of examination 20 A Basically it takes out the water and puis
21 | the doctor did on that date, correct? 21 | in something to make more solid, the tlssue more solid
22 A, 1 donet. 22 | so that you can cut a thin piece to put on the glass
23 MR, HCDONALD: No further questions, Your 23 | slide.
24 | Honor, 24 THE COURT: Any cther questiens?
25 MR, STANTOR: Nothing further. 25 MR. STANTCH: Ro, Your Honor.
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I HR. HCDORALD: Mo, Your Honor. : having been first dul?éggrﬁsﬁg'testify ag follows:
2 THE COURT: Thank you. 2
1 KR, STANTON: May this witneas be excused? 3 DIRECT EXAMINATION
4 THE COURT; ~ Yes. 4 | BY MR, STANTON:
5 WR. STANTON: State would call Arica 5 Q. Miss Foster, as you testify here today how
6 | foster. 6-{old are you?
7 THE COURT: Those are proposed? 7 A, Tweaty-four,
3 MR. STANTQN: These have been admitted. 8 . Ang you are Brodie's mother?
9 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand. 9 A TYes.
10 Do you solemnly swear Lo tell the truth, 19 0. Do you recognize Michzel Lee in the
11 ; the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you 11 { courtroom coday?
12 | God? ' 12 Ao Yes.
13 THE WITNESS: Yes. 13 0. Could vou please tell me where he is in
14 THE CLERK: Flease speak into the 14 | the courtroon and an article of clothing that he's
15 | microphone, state your first and last name and spell 15 | wearing this afternoon?
16 | each for the record. 16 B He's on the left-hand side vearing a red
17 THE WITNESS: Arica Foster, A-r-i-c-a, 17 | T-shirt. ‘
[8 | Fo-s-t-e-r, 18 MR. STANTON: May the record reflect the
19 MR. STANTOM: Hay I begin? 19 | identification of the defendant?
20 THE COURT: Yes. 20 THE COURT: It shall,
21 21 | BY MR. STRNTON:
22 22 Q. When did you first meet the defendant?
23 23 A In Dctober,
24 24 0. Of last year?
25 25 A Yes, sit.
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1 Q.  And at sowe point after that did you begin 1 {Sunday before Brodie's death. Did you have occasion to
2 |a relationship with him? 2 |drop your son off or have cause to have him dropped off
3 A, That's eorrect, 3 | at your mother's house? '
4 0. And at some point did he move in with you 4 A, The Sunday before did [ drop him off?
5 [and your son Brodig? 5 Q. Yes, The Sunday of that week.
6 A, Yes, 6 A I picked hin up,
7 Q. When did that occur? 7 0. I'msorry. You picked him vp. When did
8 A.  February of last year. February, 8 | you drop hin off there?
9 0 Of this year? 9 R On Saturday morning.
10 A Yes, 10 0. Rnd what time on Saturday did you drop him
11 0. And did you guys collactively, the V1 foff?
12 | defendant, your son and yourself, live somewhere here 12 A Around 10:30 or 11:00 a.g.
— 3| the valleyt s e b e 3 e - And-what -t ime-did- you- pick-hixup Sunday - |- -
% R, Yes. 4 [ evening?
15 0.  Hhere did you live? 15 A, We left ny mom's about 7:00, 7:30.
16 A, On Sunridge Heights Parkway. 16 0.  Did you have occasion to sbserve Brodie
17 0.  And what was the name of the apartment 17 | that evening, that is Sunday evening, either at your
18 | complex? 18 | mom's house or at your howe when you got home?
19 A, Avalon. 19 Ao Yes,
20 ¢.  And did you live in a particular building 20 Q.  And how was Brodie physically and how was
21 |and apartment? 21 | he acting?
22 A, VYes. 22 A, he was fine. He was happy, glad to be
23 Q.  What was that? 23 | home.
24 A, 2900 Sunridge Heights, apartment 1416, 24 0. Did you see any signs of injury aboul his
25 ¢ 1 want to direct your attention to the 25 | person that Sunday evening?
87 88

1 A, No. He had a little chapped lip, 1 R Wo, sir,
2 | underneath his lip was a little bit chapped. 2 0. Was the defendant at your home that
3 @, And you're peinting to your lower lip? 3 [evening, that is Sunday evening?
4 | A, Yes, sir. 4 A VYes.
5 0.  Did you see any other bruises on hia? 5 Q. And he was there full-time?
6 A, He had a tiny dime size bruise on his 6 R, Yes,
7 | cheex. 7 i} Where did you know the defendant to work?
8 0. You're pointing to your right chegk. Is g A Merica's Mart gas station,
9 | that where Brodie had it on his right cheek? 9 Q. What wes his shift and what were the days
10 A, Iden't cemember if it was hiy right er ED | of week that he worked?
11 ] left. 11 A, Fe wes off on Monday and Tuesday. He
12 Q. But in the cheek area on his face? 12 | usoally went into work very early, probably around

13 A Yes, sir. 13 } 5ix a.n. and then he'd get home between Five and geven
14 ¢.  Did you notice any other injuries? 14 | at night usually.
15 A, No, sir, 15 Q. I want to direct your attention to the
16 ¢.  Did you see Brodie in the state where he 16 | next day, Monday, specifically in the evening, Dig
17 | was naked? 17 | there cone a time whers you knew that Brodis your sen
i8 A Yes. 18 }and the defendant went to Danny Fice's house?
19 ¢.  And what cavsed you to see him Sunday 19 R After I got home from work he told me that
20 | evening naked? 20 | they went there,
21 A, Putting him in his pajamas. 21 0. And did you notice anything umusual about
22 Q.  When he went to bed that evening? 22 | Brodie's condition that evening when you saw him for
23 A, Yes. 23 | the first time?
24 ¢.  Has there anything about his demeaner, 24 B. 1 didn't see him after I got home from
25 | that is how he was behaving, that caused you concern? 25 pwork. I went to bed.
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| Q.  What did you see the next day, if 1 A, It was darker.
2 | anything, on Bredie that caesed you concernt 2 Q. Did you notice any other injuries besides
3 A.  Bruises to Brodie's head, he had two 3 | the ones you just mentioned on the face and his back?
4 | bruises on his forehead. 4 A, DBrodie had a little bit underneath T
5 Q. And ¢id you ask the defendant what 5 fbelieve his left eye, it was a little bit black,
6 | happened to your son? 6 0.  And you hadn't seen that before?
7 A fes. o7 A. 1t was starting to show up on Monday. He
8 Q. What was his response? 8 | had pink eye, Brodie had pink eye.
g1 A.  He fell leaving Danmy's. 9 0.  And was that pink eye something that was
10 0. Danny Fico's house? 10 | diagnosed earlier?
11 A Correct. 11 A, Yes, sir. On Friday.
12 Q. And that Brodie fell? 12 Q. Rnd you started noticing on Monday that he
13 B Yes, T " 13| had darkening wnder ons of his eyes? -
14 ¢.  Did he give any further expianation? 14 A, Yes, sir.
15 A. Mo, sir. 15 ¢. Do you renember what eye that was?
16 Q. What was Brodie's demeanor like on Tuesday 16 k. Ho, sir.
17 | morning? ‘ ‘ 17 Q.  Rere you off Tuesday? Take your time.
18 A, He was very upset and mad and didn't want 18 A, Yes, I was off on Tuesday.
19 | to be around Mike. 1% Q. $o that weuld be the day that both you and
20 0, Did you aotice anything about the bruising 20 | the defendant had days off?
21 | on his cheek and any of the other bruising on his face 21 A, Correct,
22 { that morning? 22 Q.  On that Tuesday did you have plans that
23 A, Brodie had a Little scratch on his back. 23 | you, your son and the defendant went on a trip?
24 Q. And was the bruise that you observed 24 AR, Yes, sir.
25 { Sunday evening still there or in a different condition? 25 0. Where ware you going?
g1 92
1 A.  The Shark Reef. 1 A, By where he worked at.
2 0.  And is that at Mandalay Bay? 2 Q. Vhere did be work at?
3 A, VYes, sir. 3 A.  Over by the car wash,
4 0.  Prior to getting to Mandalay Bay did you 4 0. Did you Eake him to the car wash?
5 | stop anyshere? 3 A, Mo, sin,
6 A Yes. 6 Q. Where did you take him?
7 0.  Where did you stop? 7 A Inside of the gas station,
& A. At Pmerica’s Mart gas station where Mike B 0. Did you meet anybody inside of the gas
9 | worked. 9 | station that you had known before?
10 Q.  Did the defendant tell you to do or not to 10 A.  Yes. Dammy Fico,
11 | do something when you arcived at his place of 11 Q. You had known him and had met him
12 { enployment? ' 12 | previous?
13 A, He told me not to bring Brodie out. 13 A, Coryect,
14 0. why? 14 Q. Did ¥r. Fico ask you about the condition
15 A, DBecause he looked like somebody beat him. 15 { of Brodie when you were in the store?
16 Q.  Row was he dressed, Brodie? 1 A, Yes., We talked abouf his cheek. He had
V7 A.  He had on 2 pair of Jordan shorts, a pair i7 | pointed out his cheek.
I8 | of Jordan sneakers, a black T-shirt and a hat. 18 0.  Mr. Fico brought it up te you?
19 0.  Baseball cap hat? 19 A Yes,
20 A, [No audible answer.) 20 0. It was the bruise on his cheek?
21 0. Is that a yes? 21 A ' Yes.
22 A Yes, sir, 22 Q. ®hat did he ask you about it?
23 Q.  When the defendant told you aot to take 23 A He just made a comment about look at his
24 |-hin out into the store did he express a particular area 24 1 bruise,
25 | in the store he didn't want you to take Brodie to? 25 Q. Did you explain to hin how he got the
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1 [bruise? 1 A, He was getting frustrated but he just

2 A, Wo. I just made a comment that his 2 | walked ahead of us.

3 | forehead is bruised tos. 3 0. Didn't walk with you?

4 0. Fhat happened when you arrived at Mandalay 4 A No, sir,

5 | Bay in regards to how Brodie was acting? 5 0. After you left Circus Circus where did you
6 A Brodie didn't want to hold Mike's hand. 6 | go?

7 ¢ He dide't want to hold the defendant's 7 A, We went to the place where T got my hair
8 | hand? 8 1 done.

9 A Correct, 9 ¢, That's the halr salen?

10 ¢.  Was that consistent how he behaved at the 10 A, Correct.

11 | Mandaday Bay Shark Reef? 11 Q.  Was that before or after McDonald's?

12 A, Correct, 12 A, McDonald’s was daring Cirews Circus,

I3 0. The entire time? - 137 Q. Tell me what happéned at McDonald's

14 A, Yeah, 14 | involving Brodie.

13 0.  After you left the Shark Reef where did 15 A Brodie was sopping through his pants

16 § you qo? 16 | because 1 put a swimmer diaper on him instead of a

17 A, To the Circos Circus. 17 | puli-up,

18 0. Was that part of the social activities 18 0.  Were you trying to potty train your son at
19 | that you all were engaged in that day? 19 | this tine?

20 A, Correct, 20 Ao Yes, sir.

21 9. And once again what was Brodie's demeanor 21 0.  He wet himself at McDonald's?

22 | towards the defendant while at Circus Circus? 22 A, Yes,

23 A Brady didn't want Mike near him. 23 Q. How did the defendant react to that?

24 Q. How did the defendant react as far as 24 A, He was just cranky.

25 | interacting with Brodie and you? 25 2. He was cranky towards you?
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| k. Yeah, i B Yes, From both.

2 Q.  How was he acting towsrds Srodie when 2 0. When you went into the hair salon how long
3 | Brodie wet his pants? 3 | were you in thers?

4 A.  He was pretty much ignoring him. 4 A.  Five minutes.

5 Q. What happened as far as hin being with you 3 0. then you went in what was Brodie deing?
6 |and Brodie walking around after KcDonald's? 6 A.  Sleeping.

7 A, Brodie just wanted hin to walk ahead. He 7 0. When you game out what was he doing?

8 |didn't really walk with us. 8 A, Screaming,

9 0.  The defendant didn't? 9 Q. Did you ask the defendant what happened?
10 A. (Mo audible answer,) 10 A, He just said -- yes, He said he woke up.
11 Q. Is that correct? I Q.  Brodie did?

12 A,  Correct, 12 A Yes.

13 Q.  When you left the Mandalay Bay, HcDonald's 13 0. Hhen did he tell you Brodie woke up in
14 | area you said yov went to a hair salon? 14 i relationship to when you went lnto the halr salen?

15 A, Correct. 15 A, When T shut the car door.

16 Q.  tid you drive there? 16 Q.  How was the defendant acting towards you
17 A;  Mike drove. I was the passenger. 17 | and to Brodie when he was screaming inside the car?
18 D, Where was Brodie? 18 A, Be was just frustrated.

19 A, In the back seat in his car seat. 19 Q.  Was there an issve that had existed for
20 Q. Is that behind you or behind the 20 | the prevailing months between you and the defendant and
21 | defendant? 21 |Brodie regarding his potty training?

22 B, In the center. 22 A, Yes.

23 Q.  Can you reach Brodie as he was seated from 23 Q. Can you desgribe that to us.

24 | elther the driver's side or the passenger side without 24 A, Mike was {rustrated because Brodie
25 | getting out of the car? 25 | wouldn't potty train. He used to tell me that I need
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} |to get him potty trained. 1 B, He said he was tired,

2 MR. STARTON: Your Honor, I don't know who 2 Q. How did he normally fell you, what was the

3 | it was but someone behind defense counsel made an 3 | words that Brodie used?

4 |audible comment or gesture after the witness's last 4 A, Night night,

5 |answer. I'd ask the court to instruet anybody net to 5 ¢ And did he tell you that?

6 {make any audible noises and if they do that you wili G A TYes, sir.

7 | remove them from the courtroom. 7 I} What was Bredie's behavier iike inside the

8 THE COURT: Okay. 1've got marshals 8 | store?

9 |there. They're listening. Let's all be reverent. 9 B, He was being rambunctious. He didn't

10 | BY MR, STANTON: 19 | really want to be walking around.

1 0. Ma'am, after you left the hair salon where 1 Q. In fact, you had to put him in timeout en

12 | did you go next? : 12 | two separate occasions?

13 |{TTAC T T themank.T o - I3RS Correct

14 0. And same thing ag who is driving and where 14 Q. AFter you left Best Buy where did you go?

15 | all the parties are in the car? 15 A.-  Home.

16 A.  Correct. Everything was the same, 16 Q. And do you know what time you arrived at

17 2. Mg after the bank where did you go? 17 | home?

18 A, To Best Buy. I8 A, Iden't remember,

19 Q. Let me ask you about some events that 19 Q.  Would it have been afternoon or evening?

20 | occurred at Best Buy. Did Brodie tell you that he 20 A, Late afternoon.

21 | wanted to do something when he was in Best Buy as far 21 Q. Hhat was the plan and what did you de as

22 | as how he wag feeling? 22 | far as the evening plans when you got home?

23 A.  He wanted me to carry him. 23 A, T just started cleaning, Brodie was

24 0. ~ And did he tell you whether or not he was 24 | helping me. And cocked dianer.

25 | tired? 25 Q. What did you have for dinner that night
99 100

1 | that you were preparing? 1 A, Yes. And I had already put him to bed.

2 A, lasagna. 2 Q. Had you [inished eating?

3 Q. What if anything occurred with the 3 A, Ko,

4 | defendant while you were preparing the evening meal? 4 Q. Did you have the evening meal with the

5 A He laft to go to the gas station. 5 | defendant?

6 0.  How long was he gone? 6 A, Yes, .

7 A.  Maybe an hour. 7 Q. And Brodie is already in bed?

& 0.  Did you ¢all Rim or have communication 8 A . Correct.

9 [with hir while he was at his place of employment? 9 Q. In his pajamas?

] A. I called him after dinner was done, Like 10 A, Ina T-shirt and underwear or a pull-up.
It | after 1 had cooked it. n Q. How, when you put him to bed did you close
12 ¢, He didn't go there to go work, did he? 12 | his bedroom door?

13 A Mo, sir. ‘ 13 R, 1 left it cracked open,

14 0. Why did he go there as you understood it? 14 Q. After Brodie went to bed and you had the
15 A, Somebody called him, 15-] evening meal did you lesve the home that evening?

16 ¢, When you talked to him how did you 16 R, Yes, sir. .

17 ! comwnicate or get ahold of him? 17 0. - Where did you go? ‘

18 A Calied his cell phone. 18 A, To my mom's house and then to the store.
19 ¢ @hat did you tell him when you czlled on 19 Q. Did you tell the defeadant that you were
20 [ the cell phone? 20 | going to do that? !

21 k. 1 said dinner wag teady. 21 A, Yes, slr.

22 0.  Did he come home? 22 Q. How did he react te that?

23 A.  Yez. A little bit later, About 10 23 A. At first he was annoyed that I was going
24 | ninutes. 24 | to leave,

25 Q.  Had Brodie already finished sating? 25 Q. #nd he expressed that to you?
_ _ - e
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i A.  He said why didn't you go earlier. 1 | house?

2 Q. And why did you need to go to your mom's 2 A, 1 believe around eight.

3 | and to the store? 3 0. Eight p.n.?

4 A.  Ihad to go to my mon's to drop off some 4 A, Correct, I don't remember the exact time.
5 {papers from the car wreck that 1 had been in that I 5 |1 believe that it was around eight p.m.

6 | just got in the mail and 1 had to go to the store - 6 Q.  What time did you get back?

7 THE COURT: I'm serry. Could you repeat 7 A.  About an hour iater.

§ | that. Papers fer what? 8 Q.  During that time period of approximately
9 THE WITNESS: A car wreck that we had been 9 tan hour did the defendant ever contact you?

10 | into. Brodie and I. {4 A, Yes, sir.-

11 | BY MR. STANTON: B 0.  How many times?

12 ¢, And you had received some paperwork that 12 A, Once when I first left and -- two times,
37| yéi necded scanned and eiéilad? T 13 0.7 Once When you fiTst left?
14 A, Corrsct, 4 A, And then once when T was pulling back Into
15 Q. S0 you went to your mom's house to do 15 | the apartment complex.

I6 | that? 16 Q. And what was the demeanor of the defendant
17 B, Correct. 17 | when he called you Loth times?

18 0. And you said you went to the store. Why 18 A, First time he sounded fine. He asked me
19 | did you go to the store? 19 | to get Triple A batteries and then the second time ke
20 A, We needed milk. 20 | asked where I was and what was taking so long.

2] Q. For whom? 21 0.  So he was irritated with you when you were
22 A, Brodie. 22 | arriving?

23 Q. And you told all this to the defendant? 23 A Correct.

24 A.  Correct. ) 24 Q.  fhat was he irritated about?

25 {. Do you remember what time you left your 25 A, e taking long.
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i Q.  Khen you got back to your home would it be H Q. What time did you go to bed?

2 japproximately nine p.m. or thereabouts? 2 A, Ten, 10:30 maybe,

3 A Yes siz. 3 0.  bhat tize did the defendant go to bed?

4 Q.  Hhen you walked in the home where was the 4 A, The same time. '

5 | defendant? 5 Q. Did you check on Brodie before you went to
6 A, Sitting on the couch. 6 | bed?

7 0.  What was he doing? 7 A Wo, sir.

8 . Watching V. 8 0. Did you notice anything about the

9 Q.  Anc ¢id you notice anything sbout the 9 | condition of the coor to his bedroon?

10 | condition of Brodie or his door to his bedroonm at this 10 A, Hot that I remember right now,

11 | time? 1} Q. Were you woken up during the night?

12 A, 1 didn't check on him, I though{ he had 12 Ao TYes, sir.

13 | just been sleeping. 13 0. By whe?

14 Q. Did you do anything as far as turning on 14 A, Michael.

15 | something when you put Brpdie to bed? 15 0. The defendant?

16 A, Yes. A Bob the Builder movie. 16 A Yes,

17 0.  And were you playing that when you put him 17 ¢ What did he tell you?

I8 | to bed? 8 A.  Thet Brodie was throwing up. That he had
19 A TYes. 19 {went -- Hike had went to use Brodie's bathroon and

20 Q. So you don't have any recollection of 20 | something smelied bad and Brodie was threwing up.

21 | checking on Brodie when you got back or whether or not 21 0.  Did you go check on Brodie?

22 | the bedroom door to his room was opened or shut? 22 A Yes, sir.

23 A, Mo, sir. 23 Q. And was the door to his bedroom opened or
24 Q. bid you go to bed that evening? 24 | shut?

23 A, Yes, sir. 25 A, Opened.
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1 Q. And when you get in there did you see I | condition?
2 [ Brodie? 2 A. 1 don't remember.
k| A Yes. 3 Q. Did he ask you to clean up Brodie?
4 Q.  Where was he? 4 A, - 1 don't remember right now. I'm sorry.
5 A, On his bed. 5 0.  Hhat did Brodie tell you about how he was
6 Q. Was he awake or asleep? § | feeling?
7 A, He wes awake, 7 A He told me that his head hurt.
8 0. And did you notice the condition of his 8 0. His head hurts?
9 | ed? 9 A. (Mo oral response.}
10 A, He had thrown up, 10 Q. s that a yes?
11 ¢ More then once? I A TYes,
12 A, He had thrown up a lot. 12 0. And what did you do as far as taking care
3 GO the-bed ttself? ~Take your time,— — =~~~ [3| of Brodie and his réom ahd Mis coRdition of i beal
) THE COURT: o you need a break? 14 B, Picked wp Brodie and brought him into the
15 THE WITNESS: ‘Yes, 15 { bathroon and just wiped his face off and just wiped hin
16 THE COURT: Ke are going to take a five 16 | down a little bit, And then I got a towel and laid it
17 | ninute recess. 17 Jon the couch and laid Brodie on the couch with a
18 (0ff the record.} 18 | blapket cver him and ther I taid with him,
19 MR. STANTON: Thank you, Your Honor. 19 ¢  I'm soerry?
20 i BY MR. STANTON; 20 A And I laid with him until he fell asleep.
21 Q.  Matam, T think the last question I asked 2] Q. And what did you do with the bedding?
22 | you about was that Brodie had thrown up on the bed, 22 A Iput it in the washing nachine,
23 A, Yes, sir. 23 0. And when you were with Brodie lying with
24 ¢ fihen you were woken up by the defendant 24 {hin on the couch did you tuzn on the Tv?
25 | did he ask you to do anything about Brodie and his 25 A Yes,
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l Q. What did you tuzn the %Y onto? 1 A Yes,
2 A, Cartoons. _ 2 Q. khat did he tell you?
3 Q. How about the movie in his room? 3 A He asked why I was going to leave the
4 A. It wesa't playing anypore, 4 | living room TV on.
5 0 #as that unusual? 5 0. And what did you do?
6 A, Yes, 6 A.  fent and shut it off,
7 Q. It normally continues to play? 7 Q. Hhat was the next thing that you remember
8 B Yes. & | occurring? _
9 ¢, How long did it take or how long did you g A, Mike laying Brodie in bed with me when he
10 [ lie down with Brodie on the couch? 10 [ went to work in the morning.
11 A, Re fell asleep almost immediately. 11 Q. Do you remember what time that was?
12 Q.  And what did you do? i2 A, o, sir.
13 A.  That's when I went and stripped his 13 G. Lo you remember looking at Brodie when he
14 | bedding and put it in the washing machine. 14 | 1aid Brodie in bed with you? ‘
15 Q. And after you did that what did you do? 15 A. 1 remember glancing over at Rim.

16 A, 1 went and laid back down in bed. 6 Q. What do you remember about his condition?
17 Q.  To your bed? 17 A. T just recell Mike having him just in &
18 A, Yes. 18 [ bianket and then just laying him dawn, but then we
19 | Q. HWas the defendant there? 19 | rolled over and I went to bed,

20 A, Yes. 20 0. Was it dark out?

21 Q. Do you know what time of morning it was at 21 A Yes. '

22 | this time? 22 Q. S0 early in the morping?
23 A, After one a.n. 23 Ao Yes,

24 Q.  Did the deferdant say to you when you get 24 Q. Bot you don't recall what time it waa?
25 | into bed anything? 25 L Mo
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1 0.  What time did the defendant usually get up I [check on him and then I kept ssying Brodie, Brodie.
2 |t go to work? . 2 | And then I qrabbed my phone and I called 9-1-1,
3 A, TFive, 3 Q.  And, Miss Foster, let me ask you a
4 ¢.  Did you hear the defendant leave that 4 | question. There #as a car accident that you wers
5 | morning? 5 | involved in where Brodie was in a car with you.
6 A, No. 6 A Okay,
7 Q.  But Brodie was placed in your bed by the 7 Q. Is that cerrect?
8 { defendant? ' 8 A Yes,
9 A Yes, 9 Q. From the Wednesday moraing the events that
10 Q. You went back to sleep? 10 | you were just testifying how long before that day did
1l B, Yes. 11 | that car accident occur?
i2 Q.  What happened next? 12 A, At least two weeks before that.
I3 R Twoke ip and 1 Eolled G &R Tt Tooked [T 3L g UAAIdEd you take R to the tempttaly |
14 | like Brodie was about fo fall off the bed so I rubbed 14 A. T took bin to ARC Pediatric.
15 (| his back. 5 Q. Tn relationship to when the car accident
16 0.  Fhat did you do? 16 | ocourzed — -
i7 A. T yubbed his back, 17 A, 'The next morning,
18 Q. Do you remember what time of morning this 18 Q.  And you expressed a concern te the docters
19 | was? 19 | about Brodie's condition outside of the car accident?
20 A, 8:50, almest nine I believe. 20 Ao Yes,
21 Q.  hnd was there anything unusual when you 21 Q. What did you ask the doctors, what were
22 | rubbed his back? 22 | you concerned abaut? _
23 A He was cold. 23 A, Brodie bruising too easily,
24 Q. And what did you de at that time? 24 Q. And they said that they were going to run
25 A T juzmped to the other side of the bed fo 25 | some tests?
il 112
} A.  Correct. 1 Q. Do you recall that it was about two
2 0.  Did the doctor teil you as the mother of 2 1e‘clock in the afternoon?
3 |Brodie after his examination frem the car accident any 3 A Yes, gir.
4 | concern that fie had suffered any injury? 4 0. Do you recall telling the pelice that you
5 A No. . 5 | had been hit from behind?
& Q. Did he ever act any differently up until 6 A Yes, sir.
7 | the time that you picked him up from your mother's 7 Q. That caused you to hit the vehicle in
8 | house on Sunday evening before his death that he was 8 | front of you?
9 1acting differently than Brodie did on a requler basis 9 A Mo, sir.
10 | from the car accident to that Sunday evening? 10 Q. It caused you to hit your head somewhere
11 A, o, sir. 11 | in the aterior of the car?
12 0. My final question to you, Miss Foster, is 12 A Yes,
13 | did you in any way harm Brodie from Sunday evening to 13 Q. You den't recall where you hit yowr head?
14 | when you just tubbed his back on the next morning? 14 A, On the window, The side window.
15 A, No, sir. ) 15 Q. Do you recall telling the policz that
16 HR. STANTON: Pass the witness. 16 | Brodie's car seat broke?
17 THE COURT: Counsel. 17 A Yes, sir,
18 HR. MCDONALD: Thank you, Your Homor, I8 Q.  How did it break? What was broken?
19 19 A On the left-hand side on the kop it had
20 | BY MR, MCDONALD: CROss- BXHTUATION 20 | broke off the styrofoan, It came undene.
21 Q. Do you recall the accident, the automobile 21 Q. Did you replace that car seat?
22 | accident occurred on Hay 26th? 22 A Mo, sir.
23 A. 1 don't remember the date. 23 Q.  There was quite a bit of damage to the
29 Q.  Would that sound about right to you? 24 | back of your car, correct?
25 A.  tes, sir. 23 A Yesh,
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1 ¢, Did you take it to have it repaired? 1 |accident to you?
2 A No. . 2 A Ho.
3 ¢ Did you go to a medical facility that 3 0. hnd when you took him to the doctor on
4 | afteenoon or early eveniny May 26th7 4 | May 27th did the docter do any x-rays?
5 A, Yes, 5 A Yo )
6 Q. there did you go? 6 Q. Docter just examined him in the room when
7 A UNC Hospital. 7 | you were present?
8 THE COURT: Where was that? I'm sorry? 8 A Tes. )
9 THE WITHESS: 1MC Hospital. 9 Q.  About how long was the doctor in the room
10 [ BY HR. NCDOWALD: 10 [ with you and Brodie?
1 Q. UMC on Mest Charleston? i A Ten or fifteen minutes,
12 A, On the other side -~ yes. 12 Q. Haw, you had told I believe it was the
13 0. Sonot a Qulck Care, buf UMC emergéncy — 713 | deteckivas Ehat Bivdie had had some {lu-11kE SympLOms a
14 | roon? T4 | couple weeks before his demise, correct?
15 A, Yes, 15 Ao Yes,
16 0. Did you sustain any injuries in the 16 0.  Did you take him te the pediatrician?
17 | automobile accident? V7 A, T don't repember,
18 A. T jerked my neck. 18 Q.  Were you concerned about his flu-like
19 Q.  What about your head? 19 | synptous?
20 B, It was fine, 20 A Tes.
21 ¢.  bid you lose consciousness when your head 21 Q.  And by flu-like symptons would that be a
22 | hit the side window? 22 | fever?
23 A Ho. 23 Vo, sir. Diarrhea,
24 0.  And Brodie never complained of any 24 Diarrhea, How about any vomiting?
25 | injuries on May Z6%%, the day of the automobile 25 A No, sir.
115 116
1 Q.  How many days did he have diarrhea? 1 ¢, And be fell off of the little quad?
2 A. 1 don't remember. 2 A Yes sir.
3 0 You don't remember that? 3 ¢.  And hit his face on a car?
4 i, Mo 4 A, Yo, sir,
5 Q.  Any more than a couple days or you have no 5 Q. khat did he hit his face on?
6 | recollection? 6 A fe hit his cheek on the curb.
7 R, Maybe two. 7 Q. %o on the concrete?
8 0,  When you went to the doctor on May 27 Mike g A TYes,
9 | had asked you to ask the pediatrician about why Brodie 9 Q. It wasn't unusval for Brodie to have
10 | bruised so easily, didn’t he? 10 { accidents Like that, was it?
11 A.  What was the question again? 11 A Wo.
12 0.  The reason you asked the dector about 12 §.  The dog would knock him down?
13 | Brodie bruising so easily is because Mike had asked you 13 A Yes, :
14 | to inquire? 14 Q. He would jump off of things and get a
15 A, No, sir, 15 [ bloody nose?
16 Q. Mike had told you you needed to tzke 16 A, He never had a hloody nose.
17 | Brodie to the doctor after that car accident, correct? 17 Q. He never had g bloody nose?
18 A No, sir. 18 A. Mo,
1§ ¢.  Brodie experiencad a lot of bruising, [9 Q. To the best of your recollection he never
20 | didn't he? 20 | had a bloody nose?
21 A Yes, sir. 2] R Mot that T can remenmber.
22 f.  Brodie had an accident when he was riding 22 ¢.  Mow, did you take him to the doctor when
23 | his little quad and you were walking the dog on the 23 | his chin hit the concrete?
24 | rridey before his demise, correct? 24 A Mo, sir. It was his cheek.
25 25 Q. His cheek hit the concrete. He hag had

A fes, sir.
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1 |stitches in his eyelid at one time, right? 1 Q. Do you recall where he went for that?

2 B, Yes, sir. 2 A. 1 can't remember, A hospital in

3 Q. how did that oceer? 3 | Henderson.

4 R, STANTON: bjection, relevance, Your 4 0. So that would have been like early May?

5 |Honor, and time frame, foundation. 5 A, VYes, sir.

6 THE COURT: T think it's all relevant, 6 Q.  You picked up your son on Sunday night at
T |'BY MR, MCDORALD: 7 | your mother's house, correct?

8 0. Do you recall when that occurred? 8 R Yes.

9 A, Yes. It was about a month and a half 9 0.  And the only bruising you noticed was that
10 | before everything happened. 10 { small bruise on the cheek?

11 Q. Do you recall how thai occurred? it A Yes.

12 A Yes, 2 0. Ho other bruising?

13 Q. Fow was that? - 13 R e Badtwortiny ittt marks o s ohestt—— |
14 A, Mike and Brodie and his nephews and T were 14 0. %0 ke didn™t have any Druising on nis

I5 jat the pack, I had Mike's nephew on the swing, Mike had 15 | forehead Sunday night?

16 | Brodie and he hit his face running ¢n a piece of park 16 A. T don't think he did.

17 | equipaent. 17 0. You den't think he did? What about the
18 Q.  Brodie was running and he hit his face on 18 | chin where he hit the comcrete, was that stifl --

19 1 a piece of park equipment? 19 A. e dida't hit his chin. His cheek.

20 A, He tripped and fell. 20 0. I'msorry. So that small bump is what he
21 §.  So nobody pushed Brodie? 21.] sustained when he fell off his quad and hif the curb?
22 B ¥o. 22 A, Yes. It waz just a little light bruise.
23 Q. And that cavsed him to have a laceration 23 0. S0 you took him back te the apartment

24 | that required stitches? 24 | where you resided with Michael on Sunday night?

25 A, VYes, sir. 28 A, Yes.
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1 0. Got back about 7:30? 1 A, Yes,

2 A Yes. 2 Q.  How, on Monday moening #ike had plans to
3 0.  And had Brodie already eaten dinner? 3 {go te the Whitmey Ranch community peel with his sister
4 A, Yes, I believe so. 4 | and his two nephews, correct?

5 Q.  Your stepdad was barbecuing hanburgers 5 A Yes.

6 [that night, wasn't he? 6 Q.  You and Brodie had not planned te go,

7 A Yes. 7T | correet?

8 ¢.  Did Brodie eat? - 8 A, Yes, we had,

9 A Yes, 9 Q.  You had? So you went to the Anerica's
10 ¢, had you never left the house Sunday night 10 fHart to pick up some ice, right?

11 | to ge anywhere? 11 A, Yes, .

12 A. Mot that I remember. 12 0.  And you and Brodie went ingide?
13 Q. How about Mike, did he leave the house 13 A Yes.

14 | sunday night? ' 14 Q. Now, Brodie was diagnosed with pink eye on
15 A. Mot that T remember. . 15 | the Friday when he had the accident with the quad,

16 Q.  Now, Brodie was at your parents’ Sunday 16 | right? ‘

17 | morning, corzect? 17 A fes.

18 A Yes. 18 0. But still you planned to take a small

19 0. You went and had your hair dene Sunday 19 | child with pink eye to a community pool?

20 | morning befors you went to work? 20 A Yes,

21 A Yes, 21 Q.  The pool irritated his eyes, didn't it?
22 ¢ Did you have your hair dyed? 22 &, Yes,

23 A Yes, 3 Q. The doctor had not told you to keep the
24 0. And they somehow inzdvertently overcharged 24 | child away from swimming pools or water getting in his
25 1 you? 25 {eyes?
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1 A, Not that T remember, 1 A, Yes, .

2 Q. Doctor prescribed medication for the pink 2 Q.  Had you put him down for that nap?

3 |eye, didn'c he? 3 A Yes.

4 B, TYes. 4 Q Do you recall when you put him down?

5 Q. .You worked a part-time job while you wers 5 h Mo,

6 | residing with ¥r. les, correct? 6 Q. Do you recall what time you left for work?

7 A Yes. 7 A.  Azound 3:30.

8 0. And your shifts were approximately four 8§ 0 Do you recall which location you worked

9 | hours? 9 |at?

10 A, Depends. 10 A Mo

11 8. fell, did you work eight hour days toq? 1 Q. Do you recall getting home en Monday

12 A, Usually bwo days a week for eight hours, 12 | night?

T3 71 The Test were four. T ’ 13 K. Vaguely right Tow-

14 Q. Where did you work at? 14 0. To you recall Wike and Bredie sitting on

13 A, For a company called Market Source. I 15 | the couch watching Transformers when you caze [n the

16 { sold T Hobile. 16 | front door?

17 0, And. you wonld work at various locations 17 A Mo

18 | depending on where they needed you? 18 @ Do .you recail Brodie getting off the couch

19 A Yes, sir. 1% { and running over to greet you at the door?

20 0.  So you had to work on Monday? 20 A. Mot on Monday 1 don't.

21 A, TYes. 21 0. I'm sorry?

22 @.  HNonday, June 13th do you remepber what 22 R Ho,

23 | your hours were? 23 Q. Ho you don't recall that?

24 A, Four to eight, 24 A (No oral response,)

25 ¢ Has Brodie asieep when you left for work? 25 Q. Do you recall putting hin to bed after you
123 124

[ |got home Monday night? 1 [done. Do those depict yourself, Brodie and Michael?

2 A Tdon't remember right now. pA B, Yes,

3 ¢ Wher did you plan to go to the Shark Reef . 3 Q. Do you recall when those pictures were

4 fat Handalay Bay? 4 | taken? _

5 A, Khat de you mean? 5 A. At the Shark Reef.

6 0. Well, did you plan it Sunday, ¥onday ] Q.  #hen you were leaving or when you first

7 | night? 7 | got thers?

8 A.  Tuesday morning. B A, When ve got there.

9 Q.  When you were at the Shark Reef at g HR. HCDOWALD: I move for admission of A

10 | Mandalay Bay Brodie wasn't in a stroller, he was 10 | and B.

i1 | walking, correct? It MR. STANTON: Mo objection.

12 A Yes. 12 THE COURT: They will be admitted.

13 Q.  And Mike was holding him so he could see 13 (Defendant's Exhibits A & B were

14 | into the glass te see the fish and sharks? 14 admitted.)

15 A, Once, 15 | BY MR, MCDONALD:

16 Q. Do you recall you, ike and Brodie posing 16 Q. Khen you went to Circus Circus had that

{7 | for a couple of photographs at the Shark Reef? 17 | been plamned prior to going to the Shark Reef?

18 A Yes. 18 A. Mo,

19 ¥R, HCDOWALD: May I have these marked. 19 0. So once you were done at the Shark Reef

20 May I spproach the witness? 20 | you and Hike discassed going to Circus Circus?

21 THE COURT: You may. 2l A Yes.

22 | BY MR. MCDONALD: 22 Q. And Brodie was in his stroiler at {ircus

23] Q. Arica, I am showing you what's been marked 23 | Circus, wasn't he?

24 | az Defense Proposed Exhibifs A ang B, If you could 24 K Yes.

25 | tzke 2 moment and view those and tell me when you're 25 Q. He wasn't walking?
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i A, FNo, i A Yes.
2 Q. then Brodie was at Circus Circus did he 2 0.  Which one?
3 | tell you e vas tired? 3 A By the Galleria Mall.
4 A Yes, 4 Q. So it took 30 or 40 minutes to get from
3 Q. Would Brodie get cranky when he was tired? 5 | Circus Circus to Fantastic Sam's to the bank and then
6 A Yes. ‘ 6 |to Best Buy?
7 0. So he was cranky at Circus Circus? 7 A, Somewhere arcund there, yes.
8 A Yes, 8 Q. . And was Brodie still telling you that he,
9 0. 8o after that'you went to Fantastic Sam's? 9 }wanted to go night night?
10 A, Yes. 10 A.  He had fell aslesp between Circus Circus
1 Q. And then to the hark? 11 | and Fantastic Sam's,
12 KA. Yes. 12 0. But he woke up when you got out of the car
I3 @ Hagthat = drivesthon? T13 At Fantdstic San's, correct?
14 A, Mike went In, 14 A, Yes.
13 And you and Brodie stayed in the car? 15 ¢ Did he stay awake to the bank and to Best
16 fes, 16 { 8uy?
17 . hod then to the Best Buy? 17 A, Yes.
18 A Yes, ‘ 18 0. Was he ¢ranky?
13 0. About how much time had elapsed from the 19 B, A little bit.
20 | tine that you were at Circus Circus and you got to Best 20 Q.  About what time did you guys get home from
21 | Buy? 21 | Best Buy?
22 4. thirty, forty minutes. 22 K. Barly afternoon -- late afternoon 1 mean.
23 ¢ Forty minutes? 23 2. And that's when you started cleaning?
24 A Haybe, ) 24 A, Yes.
25 ¢ Do you recall which Best Buy you went to? 25 Q. And Brodie was helping you clean?
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! A. Yes. I 0 BUE it's your recollection that he had
2 Q. e dicn't lay down for a nmap? 2 | left because someone had called him?
3 A, Ho. 3 B, Yes.
4 ¢, Mike left? 4 0.  So he was gone for a few hours?
5 A Yes, 5 h. Mot a Few hours, Maybe an hour,
6 Q.  So it was just you and Brodie there? 6 0. Maybe an hour. 2And in that hour you fed
7 A Yes. 7 |Brodie?
8 Q. And you made dinper? 8 A Yes,
9 A, TYes, 9 Q. Did yor give him & bath before he went to
10 0. And you called Mike to find out how much 10 | bed?
1} | lenger he was going to be down at the America’s Mart, 11 k. Ho.
12 | corpect? 12 Q. And about what tine did you put him to
13 A.  MNo. T told hie dinner was ready. 13 | bed?
14 Q. 1'm sorry? i4 Ao T30,
15 4 No. I didr't. I told him dinner was 15 Q. Was Mike back before you put him to bed?
16 | ready. ‘ 14 Ao Mo,
171 ¢, A1l right.  You called him when dinner was i7 0. So when Hike got Back the two of you just
18 | ready to find out when he was coming back? 18 7 ate lasagna?
19 A Just to tell him it was ready. 19 A TYes,
20 Q.  You didn't ask him when he was coming 20 0. And did he take a shower?
21 | back, you just todd hinm dinner was ready, correct? 21 8. Possibly., I don't remember,
2 k. Yeah, ' 22 0. Do you remember what time you went to bed
23 Q. Do you recall what time it was that Mike 23 |on Tuesday night?
24 | had left to go down to the stafion? 24 . A Yeah. Probably around 18:00.
25 A Mo, 25 Q. You say probably arcund 10:00. Was that
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1 | the wsual time you'd go te sleep? 1 &  No, I didn't notice anything.

2 A, Yes. 2 0. You took him out to the couch and did you

3 Q.  MNow, when Mike came in to tell you that 3 {arrange the couch in any special way?

4 {Brodie had been sick, ke had Brodie in his arms, didn’t 4 A. T just put a towel down,

5 | he? 5 0. And you stayed with hin for five, ten

6 A o, 6 | minutes?

T 0.  When you cleaned Bredie up what was he 7 A, Yes, .Ke fell right back asleep.

8§ [ wearing? 8 Q. Did he drink anything?

9 A His underwear and I took his shirt off. 9 &, HNo, sir.

10 0. So you removed his shirt. Did you see any 10 0. " Mike has to be at work at six a.m.,

i1 | injuries when you removed his shirt? 11 | correct?

12 A Mo, 12 A, Yes.

13 0. Wo injurles atall? : I3t -0 Andabout howfar—fy-it-Eromthe-spartment———

14 A, Ididn’t notice anything, T was half ' [47| that you two resided iAo m:§ place of employment? |

15 | asleep and it was still king of dark in the house. 15 k. About & mile, mile and a half away.

16 0,  Well, you took him in the bathroom to . 6 9. And he would drive to work?

17 { clear hin up, didn’t you? 17 A, TYes,

I8 A Yes, ’ 18 §. 8o you estimate it would take about five

19 Q. You turned the light on in the bathroon? 19 | ninutes to get to work?

20 A Teah. 20 A, Yes.

21 0. 5o it wasn't dark in the bathroom, 2] Q. 5o you recall Michael bringing Brodie in

22 | correct? | 22 | at about 10 to €:00 and laying him on the bed?

23 A, Correct. ’ 23 A Yes.

24 Q.  You dign't have any problems seeing Brodie 24 Q. How, do you remember telling the

25 | at that time, did you? 25 | detectives that you had woken up and Brodie was over on
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1 | the edge of the bed and you pulled him back to the 1 MR, MCDONALD: Court's indulgence.

2 | center next to you? 2 | BY MR. MCDOMALD:

3 A Mo, 3 Q. Brodie was about two and a half years old,

4 Q. You ¢on't recail telling them that? 4 | correct?

5 A, I don't remember talking to amybody about 5 A ey,

6 | that. 6 0.  Was he speaking at two and a half?

7 Q. You don't recall that happening? 7 A, A little bit. Not like Eons, but enough,

B Hot right now, no, 8 Q. If you were to ask him something was he

9 THE COURT: Could you reask that question, @ | able to answer you?

10 | BY HR. HCDONALD: 10 . Depends on what it was.

11 Q.  You don't recall that happering? 11 G, Well, if you asked him how did you get

12 THE COURT: Before that one. 12 | that cut, would he be gble to tell you?

}3 | BY MR. HCDONALD: 13 A Ho.

14 Q. Do you recall waking up after Mike had I4 Q. Did he ever tell you that Spanky the dog

15 | placed Brodie in the bed with you seeing Brodie near I3 | had knocked him down?

16 | the edge of the bed and you reached out and pulled him 16 A, He said Spanky did it.

17 | back towards you to the center of the bed? 17 Q. Spanky did ie?

18 ko Ne, 18 A th-huh,

19 MR, MCDOMALD: I think I asked you den't 19 Q. And that would have been in response to

20 | recall that hezppening at all. 20 | your question as to what had happened?

21 THE COURT:  Okay. 21 A, Ub-huh,

22 | BY ¥R. MCDONALD: 22 Q. Is that a yes?

23 0.  You oniy recall waking wp at 8:50, 23 A Yes.

24 | correct? 24 Q.  Had the pediairician ever told you to take

25 A, Yes, 25 | Brodie to a netrologist?
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| A.  He suggested it at ome point if his I A Yes.
2 | balance wasn't better. 2 0.  Just be standing one moment and fall down
3 0. At what point was that that the 3 | the next?
4 | pediatrician suggested that? . 4 A, Ho.
5 A. It wasn't his pediatrician. It was the 5 0. Okay. Standing and start to walk and fall
6 | person that did his tubes, 6 | down?
7 Q.  Okay. When were his tubes done? 7 A, He'd be walking,
8 k. It would have been a year ago. 8 Q. bnd fall?
9 §.  So they were done in November of 20107 9 A, And trip over things like his own feet.
10 A.  Sape nonth Kike and [ moved in together. 0 0.  Did you ever take Brodie to a pediatric
1t Q. So February of 20117 11 | neurplogist?
12 Ao Yes. 12 A.  Wo. My pediatrician said not to worry
13 §. Do you recall who did thaf procedure? Y jabaut it T T
14 A, I don't remember his name. 14 0. §o you discussed it with the pediatrician?
15 0. S0 it was that person that advised you to 15 A, Yes.
16 | take Brodie to a pediatric neurclogist? 16 0. You never saw Mike hit Brodie, did you?
17 A Yes. 17 B Vo.
18 Q. Do vou know why that person suggested 18 Q.  And Bike never hit you?
19 | that? 19 A ko
20 A, Becawse 1 was asking about him, about his 20 0 Did Brodie ever tell you that Mike had hit
21 i balance. 21 | hin?
22 ¢, Brodie had a lot of trouble with his 22 A.  He told me cne time the busp hurt head.
23 | balance, dida't he? 23 | He used to call Hike bump.
24 A, He was clumsy. 24 Q. Bump hurt head?
25 0. Bewould fall down? 25 A Yes.
135 136
1 Q.. [id he tell you what had happened? 1 | Bredie?
2 A Mo 2 A. 1 told him not to be rough with him.
3 (.  When was that that he said bump hurt head? 3 ¢, Did he comply?
4 A 1 don't rememper exzctly whem. A couple 4 B, When I was around, yes.
3 | weeks before Bredie passed away. 5 Q. By wrestling do you mean heiding him
6 Q.  Did you ask Mike about that? 6 |and --
7 A.  Yeah. Mike was standing there. 7 R, Just playing around wrestling.
8 Q.  Were you concerned about it? 8§ Q.  That's what I'm asking you. What is
9 A, For a minute, yes. 9 |wrestling to you?
10 0.  What alleviated your concern? 10 A, Just like roughhousing, playing. I don‘t.
11 A.  He told me they were wrestling and he hit 11 | know.
12 | his head. 12 0.  You're not talkirg sbeut punching
13 Q. Did Mike wrestle with Brodie? 13 | somebody, are you?
14 4. They played. 14 A, Mo
15 0.  They would play wrastling in the I5 0. You're not talking about kicking somebody?
16 | apartment? 16 A Ho.
17 A.  Sometimes. 17 Q. Or picking something up and hitting
18 Q.  Did Brodie enjoy wrestling? 18 | something?
19 A o 19 A.  Like picking hin up and tossing him on the
20 ] He did not? 20+ | couch like play wrestling.
21 A, Not usuaily. 21 Q. Things thaf adults sometizes do with smsll
22 Q. Brodie liked to get up on things and jump 22 | children?
23 | off of them, didn't he? 23 R Yes,
24 A, Yes, 24 Q. Did Brodie ever complain to you that he
25 Q. Did you tel Mike not to wrestle with 25 | had pain like where his ribs would be?
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1 A BNo. i A, Oh no.

2 0.  Never, ever? 2 0.  You don't have any idea what time it was

3 A, Ho. 3 {that he put hin to bed?

4 0. Did he ever complain about his stomach 4 4, e

5 | bothering him? 5 MR. STANTOM: Hothing further.

6 A, Like in his whole 1ife? 6 ‘MR, MCDONALD: ©'l] pass the witmess, Your

7 ¢.  Well, let's say the iast couple months of 7 [ Honer.

& |nis life. 8 THE COURT: Can she be excused?

9 A Ho. 9 MR. STANTON: Yes, Your Honor.

10 MR. MCDONALD: I will pass the witness, 10 MR, MCDONALD: Yes, Your Homor.

11 | Your Homor. T THE COURT: Thank you. You're excused.
12 ¥R, STANTON: Just one question, 12 MR. STAKTON: Judge, that would be the
3 T T Ty | statery vase fortoday :

14 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 14 THE COURT: Mz, McDemald,

15 | BY HR. STANTOH: 15 MR. MCDONALD: Your Honor, I've explained
16 Q. Counsel just asked you a series of 16 | to Mr, Lee the purpose and standard at a preliminary
17 { questicns about Mike the defendant's habit and custom 17 | hearing, his censtitutional rights at the preliminary
18 { about what time he went to work, that it was six 18 | hearing. We're not going to present witnesses or

19 | o'clock that he would go to start work and how far you 19 | evidence today. If you want to query the defendant on
20 | lived away and it tock five minutes. Do you remember 20 | that you certainly can,

21 | those questions? 21 THE COURT: They've explained all that to
22 A Yes, 22 | you; is that correct?

23 ¢, Then counsel asked you that on Wednesday 23 THE DEFENDANT: Yes. My attornsy

24 | porning when the defendant put Brodie in bed, he said 24 | explained everything. )

25 | that must have been 5:5) a.m.? 25 HR. MCDOMALD: - Thank you,

139 140

I THE COORT: Thank you. Avguments. 1 | standard at this prelininary hearing, Your Homor, I'd
2 MR, STANTON: Submit it and reserve, Your 2 | ask that the charges be dismissed against Mr. Lee,

3 | Honor. 3 HR, STANTON: Judge, I'}l begin with my
4 THE COURT; Mr. HcDonald, any arguments? 4 [ comments to address Kr. McDonald's factual assessment

5 ¥R, NCDOWALD: Yes. 1 understand the 5 | of what occurred at the prebiminary hearing. To'say
6 {standard is slight or marginal evidence. We have 6 | that there's been po testimony about when Ehese

7 }unfertunately the demise of a two-and-a~hali-yeaz-old 7 |injuries were inflicted belies the uncontroverted

8 ichild, We have testimony from the pathclogist. The 8 | testimony of Dr. Gavin in two critical areas.

9 {pathologist herseif can't say exactly when injuries 9 _ Number 1, as she testified Brodie died of
10 | occurred. There fsn't any direct evidence that the 10 | a combination of two things. The major item was biunt
11 { nother of the child ever saw the accused do anything 11 § force traums significant and equal to that of a fatal
12 | other than wrestle with the child. ) 12 | car accident that rips an internal organ that causes a
13 Though they have pled this as a murder and 13 | fatal infection, She timed that injury based upon the
14 | an abuse and neglect with substantial boedily harm, 14 | circumstances of the symptoms that that child would

15 | quite frankly there isn't even alight or marginal 15 | exhibit afier that injury was inflicted, So to say
16 { evidence that the defendant iy the one who caused the 16 { that these injuries and the fatal injury was not

17 { harm to the child, fThere are pericds of time when the ' 17 {presented within the time vacuum belies the chvious - -
t8 | mether, specifically Tuesday night, is home with the 18 | record,

t9 | child. The child is in bed before the defendant 19 The second ancillary artifact of death of
20 | retuzns home. The defendant alerts the mother to the 20 | Bredie was hypoxia of the brain, a deprivation of

21 | child vomiting, the mother gets up, cleany the child, 21 | oxygen to the brain due to the swelling of the brain.
22 | observes the child in the bathroom and is telling us 22 | The tining of that injury once agaim in an

23 [ she didn't see any evidence of injury at that time. 23 | uncontroverted fashion is the subgalesl hemorrhage in
24 And once again I know the standazd is low, 24 | the skull area that was timed within 24 hours of death
25 Ybut 1 don’t believe Lhe State has even met that 25 | which we generally know to be sometime at eight a.m. on
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| | %ednesday or earlier, "1 {un-ring a bell, but with the testimony of the friend
2 There are three options in this case hased 2 | questioning the bruising, with the testimony that we
3 | upon an absolute medical certainty of Dr. Gavin, 3 | have 1 believe that the burden has been met. 1 think
4 | wazber 1, it's e homicide. This child died at the 4 | by the slightest and slimmest of margins and there's a
5 1hands of ancther human being and critically that it's 5 |lot of stuff hera that I don't know and of course i'm
6 | non-accidental trauma. 5o one of three things took 6 | not the one who is able to ask the questions, I
7 |place. The defendant murdered this child, the mother 7 | believe that slight or marginal evidence has been shown
8 | ourdered this child or they both did. Row, what we & | that murder and child abuse with substantisl bodily
9 |have in this case is the mother of this child and the § | harm has been met and we’ll hold the defendant to
10 | cara and concern that you saw of what and how she cared 10 1 angwer to the charges In the Eighth Judicial District
It | for this child under cath. With that Lestimony, Judge, 11 1§ Court.
12 §1 would submit that there's only one of three options 12 Re is ordered to appear for his initial.
[3 | that exist based upon this evidentiary presentation and 13| arraignment on --
14 | that the defendant committed the charge that's set 14 THE CLERK: November 215%, 10:30, lower
I5 | forth in the crininal compiaint and ask that you bind 15 | level, this case is tracked to Department 23.
16 | him over. _ 16 THE COURT: 1 am going to reduce the hail
17 THE COUAT: I have some problens with the 17 |} in this patter to $50,000 cash or surety.
18 | case, with the amount of knowledge that I've Deen given 18 MR. STARTON: Judge, do you know that the
19 | here this afternoon. 1 believe that the burden is 19 | defendant is on parols?
20 | stight or marginazl, This is 4 tragedy. The testinony 20 THE COURT: Fope. Fill me im.
21 { is uncontroverted that the death was a homicide at the 21 MR, STANTON: The defendant has 11
22 | hands of enother. The question of who did it is a big 22 | convictions for robbery and burglary with a deadly
23 | question. At thig point in time with ali of the 23 | weapon. At the fime of these offenses he was on parole
24 | testimony, and we haven't heazd from the defendant, 24 jand has a parole tail,
25 | which at this point in time 1 don't think you can 25 THE COURT: Bail will stand as it was. I
143
1 ydidn't ¥now that. Thank you.
2
3
4 {The proceedings concluded.)
5
6 ok ok oWk
7 .
8 ATTEST: Full, true gnd accurate
9 | transcript of proceedings.’
¢ o
I A
12 (/ CSR Mo, 186
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
2}
22
23
24
15
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41/% 51/15 53/1 53/13 53/13
53/17 54/14 55/8 61/1 61/3
71715 713/9 73/20 89/23 90/3
95/19 102/6 102/14 103/1
103/21 107/16 109/10 1058/15
109/17 109/22 111/14 112/24
118/23 119/1 127/18 127/21
128/15 12B/17 130/7 131/1
131717

background [1]

bad [1] 104/20

71/10

117/10 119/20 128/9 128/15
131/12 135/5 139/19

begin [5] 21/18 43/21 83/19
85/1 140/3

behalf [1] 5/19

behaved [1] 93/10

behaving [2) 29/24 87/25
hehavioer [3]) B8/15 27/1 98/7

behind (4] 95/20 95/20 97/3
112/5
lbeing [91 5/2 24/21 38/8

39/17 56/6 78/24 ¥5/5 98/9
141/5

belies [2] 140/7 140/17
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bring [1] 91/13 1 '

Bringing (17 130/21%

hbaliave [24) 10/23 15/6 27/11
28/24 31/17 31/19% 34/21 39/4
4274 42/15 50/25 70/24 72/11
72714 90/5 102/2 102/5
108/20 114/12 119/4 139/25
141/19 142/3 142/7

bell [1) 142/1

belongs [1] B81/7

balow [1] 53/5

beneath [1] 78/9

Bannett [2] 65/25 66/5

besides [3] 8/9 41/3 90/2

best [13] 8/1 10/12 97/18
97/20 97/21 98/14 116/19
125/17 125/20 125/25 126/6

126/15 126481 e
haetter[1] 1"\1}'7 .

Brodie [213]

Brodie's [26] 10/15 12/12
18/22 29/13 32/1 32/18 35/12
41/4 4871 48/13 54/24 55/16
56/17 58/8 59/23 §0/19 84/8
86/1 88/22 89/3 89/16 83/21
98/7 104/19 110/19 112/16é

Brodman [1] 15/9

broke [2] 112/16 112/20

breoken [2) 72720 112/18

brought {4] 71/11 82/14 92/18

106/14

brown [1) 48/21

bruise [15] 12/14 12/16 20/7

27/20 28/22 32/8 32/19 42/18

B87/6 89/24 92/20 92/24 93/%-

118/10 118/.22

78/15 118/2 139/9

cap [l] 91/19

capable [1] 73/8

capaoity {11 45/12

eaptain (3] 70/25 71/17 71/25%

car [37} 23/19 23/20 23/22
33/6.40/7 40710 40/15 41/10
58/13 72/17 72/20 81/13 92/3
92/4 95/19 95/25 96/15 86/17
97/15 101/5 101/9 110/4
110/5 110/11 110/15 110/1¢
111/3 111/10 112/11 112/16
112/2y 112/24 115/17 116/3
125/15 126/12 140/12

care [6] 7/22 7/25 14/18
106/12 113/13 141/10

cared [1] 141/10

caring--{3]1—8/5.-9/19-81/9. ... .

carry f1} 97/23

betwaeen [9] 10/8 13/13 35/19
58/5 58/6 78/16 B8/13 96/20
126/1¢

big [2]1 17/17 l4t/22

bike (11 9/1i0

bind [1] 14:/15

bit [13] 15/10 18/24 27/18
39/3 58/12 B7/2 90/4 80/5
99/23 106/16 112/23 126/19
132/7

biting {2] 78/6 78/11

black (3) 27/19 90/5 91/18

bladder [2] 77/1 77/3

blanket [2] 106/18 10B/18

bleading [1] 51/18

bloed [51 55/3 57/15 57/1%5
64/19 64/21

[bloody [4] 116/15 116/16
116/17 116/20

blue [2] 29/6 52/3

blunt [I8] 46/17 48/15 49/1
49715 49/22 52/11 52/13 56/2
56/14 56/17 58%/%5 59/11 60/21
60/25 67/8 67/24 79/2 140/10

boaxrd [4) 44725 60/5 60/7
70/15

Beb [1] 103/16

bhodies [1) 58/3

bedily [2] 139/14 142/8

body [13] 12712 12/24 13/14
49/10 51/13 57/15 57/16 62/1
62/15 62/18 64/25 68/13 B2/6

books [1] 76/13

boem [2] 17/19 18/11

both [121 6/14 42/4 51/11
53/11 53/22 54/6 55/17 hé6/22
90/19 96/1 102/17 141/8

bothering [11 137/5

powal [6)] 47/9 49/4 49/13
49/14 74/18 76/4

bowals {11 48/24

boy (1] 20/18

Brad [1] §&/6

Brady [1] 93/23

1brain [18] 54/24 5571 55/21
55/25 56/3 56/6 56/10 56/12
65/17 65/18 65/19%9 66/14
66/15 €7/4 80/25 140/20
140/21 140/21

break [4] 14/20 64/21 105/14
112/18

Brenske 2] 1/25 143/12

briefly (31 24/1 26/18 44/12

&

bruised [4] 79/16 79/16 93/3

115/10

bruiser [1}] 19/16

bruises [171 1%/14 20/15
20/19 27/12 271/16 27/24 32/7
37/18 39/9 40/19 40/22 41/4
41/8 42/13 87/5 89/3 B9/4

bruising {14] 20/9 27/8 27/9
35/3 53/5 B89/20 B&/21 110/23
115/13 115/19 118/9 118/12
118/14 142/2

bubble {1} 11/4

Builder [1] 103/16

building [2] 40/14 85/20

bump [5] 118/20 134/22

134/23 134/24 135/3

burden {2] 141/19 142/3

burglary [2] 24/12 142/2%

but [4B]

butt [1] 1§/9

Buy [10) 97/18 97/20 97/21
98/14 125/17 125/21 125/25
126/6 126/16 126/21

Buying f[1] 33/5

c

Cactus [2] 23/6 23/7

California [2] 66/4 66/9

call [8] 5/22 19/4 21/7 43/9
54/15 83/5 99/8 134/23

callad [22) 5/2 5/14 19/16
15/17 19/18 19/18B 33/14
36/23 45/6 54/18 56/8 58/7
§9/10 99/15 99/18 99/19
102/17 110/2 121/15% 127/10
127/17 128/2

came [20) B8/1 15/9 271/22
30/22 31/12 31/15 34/1 35/8
36/23 37/23 38/5 44/22 55/8
55%/13 61/3 61/4 96/7 112/20
122/1% 129/3

can {46} 5/5 7/24 11/20
12/11 21/1 22/9 25/24 30/4
30/5 42/16 49/15 51/4 51/11
92/22 54/19 55/4 55/5 5&8/7
56/9 56/10 57/8 61/18 61/24
63/21 64/12 69/1% T71/15 74/3
7475 T4/7 74711 T4/23 74/23
T74/24 7672 16/23 77/2 19/25
82/7 B2/22 85/23 96/23
116/21 138/8 138/20 141/25

can't [I1] 11/7 29/9% 32/15
33/25 34/12 38B/1 42/20 63/16

Cartoons [1] 107/2

cama {261 1/2 1/9 4/21 4/24
5/2 5/3 5/6 10/19 24/5 24/18
34/13 36/6 50/5 58/2 64/18
0/4 71/6 71/10 71/23 74/4
B0O/10 138/13 141/2 141/9
141/18 142/15

ecases [3] 68/16 68/19 BO/9

cash [1] 142/17

cassettes [2]- 82/9 82/9

cath [1] 11/2?2

cauge [16] 35/13 45/7 45/10
47/23 49/15 52/19 56/8 56/9
59/2 58/3 61/13 74/3 74/5
74/7 79/18 88/2

causad [14] 48/13 56/3 59/22
67/25 73719 74/2 78/7 81/19
87/25 8972 112/7 1iz/10
117/23 139/16

causaes [5] 56/5 75/23 75/23

75/24 140/12

causing [2) 52/12 75/15

cavity [8} 47/16 48/19 48/21

74/16 75/3 75/15 15/19 75/21

CCr {11 1/25

CCcU [1] 12/5

eall [2] 99/18 99/20

cells [1l] 46/25 64/15 €4/19

64/20 64/21 64/25 65/10 €8/6
68/9 68/12 B2/4

canter {4 49/7 95/22 131/2

131/17

certain [11 70/14

cortainly [4) 25/15 44/14
51/4 138/20

certainty {2} 58/22 141/3

certified {41 44/25 60/5 e0/8

70/16

cessation [1l] 48/13

chain [2] 82/10 82/14

change [1] '57/13

chapped [3] 12/25 §7/1 B87/2

charge [1]1  141/14

charges [2] 1460/2 142/10

Charleston [17 113/11

check (5] 12/23 103/12 104/5

104/21 110/1

checking [1] 103/21

cheek [28] 12/14 12/19 12/20
12721 20/2 20/4 20/8 27/10

27/19 28/16 28724 29/1 32/10
%4/13 56/20 87/7 87/8 81/%
§7/12 89/21 92/16¢ 92/17
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. communications [1] 30/;,?. 48/8 50/8 50/24 51/1 57/6

c community [3! 37/5 120/3 5B/17 58/1% 61/23 62/5 62/17
cheak... [6] 92/20 116/86 120/19 62/24 63/5 63/6 .63/7 63/7
116/24 116/25 118/10 118/19 |company [1] 121/15 63/12 64/4 68/1 13/15 73/17
chest [1] 118/13 compare [1] 73/22 73/19 73/24 74/1 74/9 76/4
chicken (1] 39/13 comparad [1] 8/16 78/10 86/2 84/13 101/7
child [2B] 16/20 19/17 47/19 |comparison [1] 73/25 123713 123/24 131/9
48/1 48753 59/10 59/13 71/25 |complain [2} 136/24 137/4 counsel [18] 8/25 15/1 16/9
72/5% 79/16 120/1% 120/24 complained [1] 113/24 19/20 22/14 25/13 28/21
138/8 139711 139/12 139/17 lcomplaint [1] 141/1% 36/16 43/1 51/11 60/1 75/6
139/19 139/19 139/21 139/21 complex [4] 40/12 41/1C 85/18 81/2 81/12 97/3 111/17
139/22 140/14 141/4 141/7 102/15 137/16 137/23
141/8 141/9 141/11 142/8 comply [11 136/3 count [1} 24/12
children {5] 12/9 49/18 76/16{concern [8) 32/8 79/18 87/25 |counters [1} 16/22
76/18 136/22 B9/2 110/18 111/4 135/10 countertop [11 18/21
chin [6] 27/10 28/16 29/15 141710 countertops [2] 18/19% 19/3
116/23 118/18 118/19 concerned [5] 21/3 43/8 counte (1] 24/11
i emeeeen| chOOB@S 66 419 - - - |-110/22 114/18 135/8 - JcouNny- [6]-—1/5—44/T—-60/11 -
chose- [2)1- 54425 _78/3 cencluded [1]  143/4 60/15 65721 Ba/t]
circular [3]1 17/22 53/14 conclusion (3] 55/12 59/8 couple {121 6/22 23/25 24/5
53/16 - {1 61/8 32/2% 33/25 34/1 80/9 114/14
eircumstances [1)] 140/14 concrete [4] 116/7 116/23 115/5 123717 13574 137/7
Circus [24} 93/17 93/17 93/22| 116/25 118/18 course [8] 23/24 24/21 25/12
93/22 94/5 94/5 94/12 94/12 |condition [15] 32/1 46/12 46/7 46/14 48/22 54/4 142/5
124/16 124/16 124/20 124/20 50/13 54/24 58/8 88/22 B9/25|eourt [12] 1/4 7/13 8/24
124/22 124/23 125/2 125/2 92/14 103/10 104/9 105/8 12/11 14/22 14/23 15/23 2247
125/7 125/7 125/20 125/20 106/1 106/13 108/16 110/19 d6/6 46/11 97/5 142/11
126/5 126/5 126/10 126/10 conduct {11 45/21 Court's [3) 20/22 42/24 132/1
city [1] 66/11 conducted [1} 50/5 courtroom (9] 5/4 5/7 5/14
CLARE [6] 1/5 44/6 60/10 conducting [2] 70/22 71/7 16/1 22/10 22/12 84/11 84/14
60/15 65/21 66/1 Connecticut {21 44/15 44/17 91/7
clean [3} 106/3 126/25 consciousness [1] 113/21 cracked 1] 100/13
129717 gonsider [1] 22/25 cranky [B] 94/24 94/25 125/5
cleaned [1] 129/7 consistent (4] 48/18 52/11 125/7 126/18%
cleaning [2] 98/23 126/23 61/16 93/10 crash [2) 17/11 17/14
cleans {1] 139/21 consista [1] 53/14 eriminal [1]1 141/15
clerk [1] 8/24 constantly [1] 41/8 critical [1] 140/8
elient [1) 5/25 censtitutional [1] 138/17 aritically (1] 141/5
elimb [1] 17/18 consultation [2] . 70/1 70/4 CROSS [41 16/11 36/18 60/2
climbing [1] 8/20 centact [1] 102/% 1i1/19
clinieian [1] 80/5 . contacted [4] 24/4 35/16 CROSS~EXAMINATION [4] 16/11
clinies [1] 12/5 35/20 38/7 36/18 60/2 111/19
close [3] 51/20 61/18 100/11 jcontents [4] 47/14 47/21 75/2|crusting {1} 58/24
eclose-up [1]1 51/20 75/14 ) crying [2] 37/16 48/6
cleoser (2] 51/23 59/12 continue [2] 15/1 33/18 CSR [1) 143/1i2
clot [1]1 64/21 continues [1) 107/7 " |ewups [1] 8/21
clothing [1] B84/14 contributing [1] B80/19 curb [3] 77/18 116/6 118/21
clotting [4] 54/21 56/25 57/1|contusion [9] 52/20 53/1 53/3jcurrently [1] 45/15
78/21 53/17 54/13 62/3 62/5 62/15% leurtain [3] 73/8 73/19 13/23
clumsy [1] 133/24 62/21 curtains [2] 73/13 73/16
co [1] 24/18 contusions [B] 54/10 56/17 custody [31 82/10 82/14 82/14
co~defendants [1} 24/18 56/19 58/23 61/20 61/25 custom {1} 137/17
coffes {11 B8/19 62/17 67/11 cut [3] - 47/14 82/22 132/12
cold [1] 109/23 convenience [3] 23/3 23/5 Cutaneously [i} 52/25
collactively {1] 85/11 23/21 D
Collins {1} 70/24 cenversation [1] 35/2
colon [2] 47/10 51/15 conversations [1] T70/20 D-a-n-n-y (1] 21/16
color [2] 29/3 62/7 convictad [1) 24/13 damage (3] 56/9 61/13 112/23
combination [1) 140/10 convictions [2) 24/8% 142/22 Jdancing [1] 8/18
come (131 11/6 24/24 51/9 cooked (2] 98/24 99/11 Danny 6] 21/7 21/16 21/21
51/11 59/8 61/} 64/25 65/10 |cooperation [1] 5/8 B88/18 89/108 82/10
68/9 68710 68/12 88/17 99/22|cord [2] 49/4 49/12 Danny'se [1] 8%/9
comes [4] 38/5 47/11 69/14 corners [1] 18/5 dark [3] 108/20 129/15
76/12 coroner's [6] 44/7 44/10 129/21 .
coming [S] 34/14 47/15 74/i6 | 44/23 60/11 60/15 65/22 darkening [1] §0/13
127/18 127/20 corract [103} darker [1] 90/1
comment [4]1 32/1 92/23 93/2 eouch [10] 103/6 108/17 date [5]1 25/17 30/24 62/3
97/4 ) 106/17 106/24 107/10 122/15 81/21 111/23
comtants [1} 140/4 122718 130/2 130/3 136/20 danghter [11] &6/24 7/4 8/7
committad [1] 141/14 could [44] 6/1 7/13 15/25 8/9 9/22 10/23 11/1 15/7
communicataea [1] 9%/17 20/11 25714 30/17 34/16 15/1% 15/15 ;5/18
communication [1] 99/8 35/2% 36/3 44/12 46/11 47/24 |daughters [1] 8/12
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D
DavID [2] 1/16 1/21
day [24) 7/15 7/22 10/1 10/%

13/19 25/4 26/20 26/22 27/2¢
31/9 31/20 32/24 33/12 33/1%
34/6 38/7 35/9% 41/14 BB/16
89/1 90/19 83/19 110/10
113/25
days [17] 16/15 33/25 34/1
36/20 42/5 63/4 €3/6 63/12
63/14 64/5 77/16 BB/9 90/2¢
115/1 115/5 121/11 121/12
deadly [2]1 24/12 142/22 .
death [24] 25/1 35/12 35/13
45/7 45/11 47/23 58/17 59/2
59/3 59/6 59/7 59/23 £3/15
—63/15-68/2--68/7-68/8-75/24—

ganf20-86/1 11148 140410
O = e

determineg [5]1 45/7 45/10.

55/21 56/16 58/1
determinad [4)] 47/3 57/22
65/12 71/12 '
davelop [1] 74/23
developmaent [1] 48/23
devalopmentally [1] 49/6
davelops {1} 74/21
diagnosed [2] 90/10 120/14
diagnosaes [1] 46/12
diagnosis [3] 46/1 55/14 57/7
diaper [1] 94/16
diarrhea [31 114/23 114/24
115/1
dictate [2]
did -[258]
didn't [45]

71/20 71/23

17/3 25/13 32/22

-35/13 36/10 36/13 42/22-—-~

427273 55/2 55/3 ¢1/7.61/10

dog [3] 115/23 1l16/12 132/14

doing [7] 17/16 1B/13 33/4
79/8 96/5 96/7 103/7

dont't {67]

dona [13) 6&0/15 BO/1 BO/3
80/8 BO/L0 82/2 94/8 99/10
119/19 124/1 124/19 133/7
133/9

door [8] ©6/15 100/12 103/10
103/22 104/9 104/23 122/16
122/19

double [1}) 11/21

down [22) 11/5 29/17 40/6

5B/4 58/11 64/21 73/8 106/16

107/10 107/16 108/18 116/12

122/2 122/4 127/2 127/11

127/24 130/4 132/15 133/25

- 1344213446
Dx [B)} 43/9 43/10 44/5 58/§

140/24 141/21

deaths {11 45/5

deceased [3] 25/7 25/16 33/12

December [1] 41/1

decent [1} 27/20

decided [1] 70/4

decision [1]1 73/25

decorum [1] 5/7

Decreoased [1] 48/10

deep [1] 17/18 :

deapar (1] 49/11

defendant [62]

dofendant's [6) 4/18 4/18
28/2 93/7 124/13 137/17

dafendants {1} 24/18

defense [9] 4/8 4/12 5/20
8/25 2172 43/4 43/7 97/3
123724

dagree [3] 19/7 44/14 59/22
delay [1] 5/9
deli [1] 42/8

demeoancr [4] B7/24 89%/16
93/21 102/16

demisa [8] 64/6 64/8 65/15
72/2 17/16 114714 115/24

139/7

Department [3] 34/8 70/21
142/15
dependent [1] 57/16

depending [2] " 74/20 121/18

depends [4] 77/7 77/7 121/10
132/10
depict [4] 9/8 29/13 50/12

124/1
dapicted [3)
deprivation [1]
Deputy [1] 1/21
derived [1] 46/14
describa [7) 7/13 7/24 8/15

15/25 44/12 52/22 96723
deseribad [3] 19/13 52/12

56/15
describing [1] 16/19
description [2] 3/2 12/7
detailed [1] 45/25
details [1] 68/18
datective [11)] 16/14 16/16

17/10 18/18 70/24 71/11

71/13 71/16 71/24 72/4 73/11
detectives [B8)] 10/23 24/5

34/7 35/11 35/16 71/4 114/13

130/25
determination [1]

9/5 14/10 54/1
140/20

593/16

S o=

66/22 70/2 88/24 89/18 91/25
93/6 93/7 93/23 94/3 95/8
95/9 98/9 9¢/12 101/1 103/12
115/10 115/20 118/14 11B/19
120/21 121/3 127/2 127/15
127/20.129/4 129/14 128/17
129/24 130/1 133/23 135/23
139/23 143/1

dia (1] 76/17

died [2] 140/9 141/4

dias [1) 49%/22

different [7]1 42/16 62/6 62/7
64/25 65/6 70/11 89/25

differantly [2] 111/6 111/%

difficult [1] 57/20

dime [1] 87/6

dinner [12] 10/4 10/8 98/24
98/25 99/10 99/21 119%/3
127/8 127/13 127/15 127/17
127/21

direct [B] 6/20 21/23 44/3
45/20 84/3 85/25 B88/15
139/10

direction [1]

diraectly [4]
67/20

director [1)

discarn [1]

discuas [1]

discussad [2]

61/2
4/19 47/12 &1/3

12/4
57/20
68/19
124/20 134/14

discussing [2] 77/9 BO0/23
discussion [1] 50/4
dismissed {1] 140/2
displaced [4] 53/25 77/9
77710 77/13
disrupted [1] 48/24
dissection {11 47/18
distansien [l) 74/25
pistrict [2] 1/21 142/10
disturbing [1] 51/5
diverticula [11 74/23

do [127]

doctor [16] 46/11 54/23 52/9
60/4 81721 111/2 114/3 114/4
114/6 114/9 115/8 115/12
115/17 116/22 120/23 121/2

dootors [4] 68/18 81/12
110/18 110/21

dogumented [1] 65/4

does [51 3/B8 23/1% 42/7
§5/24 60/7
doesn't [5] 4/25 52/1% 74/17

74/25 75/13

59/14 65/25 140/8 141/3
dressed [1} 91/l6
drink [1) 130/8

drive [3) 95/16¢ 125/13
13G/16 ’ '
drive-thru [1]
driver's {1} 85/24

driving [1] 97/14

drop [5] 86/2 86/4 86/8

86/10 101/4

dropped [2) 40/6 86/2
dropping [1] 40/15

drove [l] 95/17

due 7] 10/25 46/16 46/17
59/4 59/4 80/24 140/21

duly {4] 6/18 21/21 44/1

84/1

duodenal [3] 46/16 49/2 58/4
duedanum [14] 47/8 47/11
47/18 4B/2 48/12 48/19 51/23
52/4 52/6 60/22 67/25 T4/2
76/20 80/8

ducdenums {1] 49/17

during [20] 7/20 8/4 B/14
B/15 9/18 23/24 24/18 24/21
25/12 35/2 46/7 46/14 49/22
50/14 54/4 71/17 B81/5 94/12
102/8 104/11

duties [2] 11/2 12/8

dyved [1] 119/22

125/13

E

each [6}] 6/12 21/15 43/18

50/24 53/15 83/16

ear {2) 57/8 57/10

earlieor [B] 15/6 19/21 26/18

39/9 78/8 90/10 101/1 141/1

early [8] 15/10 38/6 57/1

§8/12 108/22 113/4 118/4

126/22

ease [1] 14/23

easily [4) 79/16 110/23

115/10 115/13

Bast [1] 23/7

eat [3] 39/12 74/19 119/8

eatan [1] 119/3

eater (2] 10/16 1C/17

sating [5] B8/19 10/16 76/4
99/2% 100/2

edge (6] 11/5 17/18 18B/6
18/7 131/1 131/16

education (2] 76/12 76/14

aducational [2] 44/9 44/13
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26/25 28/1 28/11 28/15 28/23|extends [2] 47/8 47/11 fine [6] 27/2 27/2 30/1
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100/15 100/15 103/24 111/8 54/6 100/2
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have [118]
haven't [3]
141/24
having [8] 6/18 11/4 21/21
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110/13 113/7 113/9 118/2
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140/22
inquire [3) 27/21 2B/3 115/14
inside [12} 5/5 10/13 31/23
51/25 56/1 56/7 56/7 92/7
92/8 96/17 98/7 120/12
instantanacus [1] 47/24
inatantaneously [L] 47/18
instead [2] 74/15 84/14¢
instruet [1] 97/5
intact {1] 5B/15
interacted [3) 25/1 25/18
25/24
interacting [2]
interaction [2] 7/11-34/1Q
interactions [11 30/25
interior {1] 112/11
internal [2] 53/10 140Q/12
intarnally [2} 53/19 54/6
intestines [2] 51/14 51/1¢
into [37] 6&/10 8/18 9/12
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39/22 40/6 53/16 53/23 53/24
54/22 55/17 56/19 56/1%
56/23 57/10 B4/16 B6/15
87/11 90/5 93/15 94/5 95/13
97/11 98/14 99/5 100/13
101/25 102/12 102/13 112/19

30/13 31/4 89/9

invelving [1] 94/14 32/22 35/11 35/13 37/4 38/4 14/13 14/15% 15/4 46/18 47/17
inward [1] 52/1% 3876 40722 41/19 42/19 42/22| 52/9 56/13 58/2 97/19 110/3
iron [1] 64/23 62/14 64/24 66/7 66711 13/2 flet's [2) 97/% 137/7
irregularities [1] 54/1 73/4 78/3 79/9 78/23 81/6 letter [1] &7/7
irritated (31 102/21 102/24 81/20 88/7 97/2 98/16 107/21|level [2) 55/5 142/15
120/21 133/18 136/11 139%/24 140/25 |levels [i] 79/20
is [122] 142/5 142/18 143/1 licensed [2} 45/16 45/18
isn't {4] 65/7 75/21 139/10 |knowladge [21 33/7 141/18 lie {1] 107/10
139/15 known [4) 40/23 73/11 92/6 life [6] 22/22 48/13 81/5
iasue [2] 79/23 96/1%9 92/11 81/9 137/6 137/8
-l -{225)— e L I — ,li,f,t,,,[,]_,],,,,s8,/,4,7,,,,,,,,, - e
6131 £33 57’/15 light [2] 118/22 129/19
it's [49) L-i-s-a [1] 43/19 like [41] 11/9 12/16 12/25
item [2] 56/6 140/10 lab [31 11/22 11/22 &71/1 18/2 18/4 19/18 20/4 20/6
itams [1} 48/18 Laboratories [11 82/10 27/19 29/11 32/12 4177 42/23
its [1) 48/12 laboratory [1] 6€6/20 45/20 49/8 49/8 B51/12 56/8
itself [51 54/18 54/24 55/21i |iacerate [1] 48/15 63/3 74/8 T74/12 74/12 718/23
56/5 105/13 lacerated [1] 52/1 79/2 B89/16 91/15 $8/7-99/10
J - laceration [4] 51/18 51/21 109/14 114/13 114/18 114/21
58/13 117/23 116/10 118/4 132/7 134/%
Jackie [3] 41/22 42/3 42/1 lack [1] B80/18 136/10 136/19 136/20 136/25
jammies {1] 11/12 laid [6] 106/16 106/17 137/6
jaw {11 78/2% 106/18 106/20 107/16 108/14 |liked [1] 135/22 ]
Jannifer (2] 38/23 38/24 large [1] 27/16 likely [4] 33/8 41/25 61/3
Jennifer's [2] 39/24 40/4 Las [1] 7/1 61/4
jerked [1] 113/18 lasagna [2] 99/2 128/18 Lilly (5] 8/8 10/4 11/3
job [1] 121/5 last [17) 6/11 6/13 9/24 17/16 19/18
John {1] 38/24 15/4 21/14 21/25 41/1 43/17 |limited [1] 48/iC
join [1] 4/14 60/16 62/5 71/1 83/15 84/24 |limits [1] 79/24
Jordan [2] 91/17 91/18 85/8 97/4 105/21 137/7 line [1] 7%/1
Judge [7] 4/16 5/21 21/4 late [2] 98/20 126/22 lines (1} 73/20
138/12 140/3 141/11 142/18 |iater (7] 30/15 30/18 34/2 lining [1] 46/20
Judicial {1) 142/10 36/2 3B/7 99/23 102/7 lip [12] 12/25 13/2 29/17
July [1]1 35/24 laugh [2] 13/12 17/1% 78/6 78/10 78/11 718/11 18/21
July 6th [1} 35/24 laughing [1] . 11/5 78/24 81/1 87/2 B1/3
Jump [3) 17/1 116/14 135/22 law [1] 70/20 lipa [3] 13/1 54/12 58/4
jumped [1] 109/25 lay [2] 28/12 127/2 Lisa [5] 1/25 43/9 43/19
jumpsuit [1] -22/11 layer [1] 54/17 44/1 143/12
Juna [26} 7/3 7/18 7/21 9/9 |laying [4} 57/17 108/9 liataning [1} 97/9
9/18 9/19 10/13 10/19 11/13 108/18 130/22 literally [1]1 82/8
12/13 13/20 16/14 23/24 layman’s [1] 64/12 little {30 5/11 8/8 11/11
24/24 25/7 25/9 25/17 25/19 Jiaypexsonts [1] 55/15 12/14 12/16 15/10 18724 20/4
31/9 34/6 36/21 37/1 41/3 lays [11 51/16 20/5 20/7 27/18 39/3 51/4
41/15 45/21 121/22 lean [1} 11/7 ° 56/22 57/4 51/20 58/12 B7/1
June 12th [4] 7/21 10/13 least [4] 7/15 1%/10 54/21 B7/2 89/23 90/4 90/5 99/23
12/13 13/20 110/12 106/16 115/23 116/1 118/13
June 13th [4] 25/9% 37/1 41/3 |leave [B] 5/13 26/4 77/25 118/22 126/19% 132/7

live [4] 7/1 85/12 B85/15
85/20

lived [3) 7/16 40/12 137/20

living [4) 11/20 13/19 23/2
108/4

livor [B] 57/14 57/14 57/18

57/19 57/24

localized [1} 77/10

located [1] 66/4

location [6] 14/4 23/5 4B/25

49/2 54/20 122/8

locations [1] 121/17

long [L6] 26/7 33/21 40/3
40/5 40/23 40/25 58/17 62/14
86/2 99/6 102/20 102/25
107/9 107/9 110/10 114/9

longer [2] 62/18 127/11

look [18] 13/24 28/10 46/25
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58/5 58/11 63/3 64/18 €4/19
67/15 67/17 13/24 B2/2 B2/4
82/12 92/23

locked [13) 9/9 12/16& 27/19
42/15 54713 64/7 67/]1 67/9
70/3 719/2Q 79/21 91/15
108713 .
looking [7] 12/20 51/3 64/14
64/17 68/5 69/22 108/13

locks (1] 63/11

loop [1] 35/14

loops [1]1 47/9

loose [1) 49/4

losa [1] 113/21

~fot- (91 —41/7-56/21-78/14

FAET9A 6105215419

L match [1] 73/22
material {31 47/1 €9/2 77/25
lock... [15) 50/8 51/23 54/1d|matter [9#1 4/20 47/10 49/18

69/1 74/15 75/1 75/13 15/18
142/17

may (42} 9/1 9/2 12/23 13/17
13/18 16/4 21/18 21/19 22/17
22/1% 28/6 28/7 28/18 28/19
43/6 43/21 43/22 46/6 49/25
50/1 69/22 71/13 71/18 71/18
16/4 76/7 77/9 T1/11 T8/2
78/3 83/3 B3/19 94/18 111/22
113/4 113/25 114/4 115/8

133/22 142/5
lotion [2] 13/8 13/9
lotioned 2] 11/12 14/1
lotioning [2] 12/13 14/11
low [1)] 139/24
lower [12] 13/2 1%/13 20/12
20/16 29/17 58/22 78/6 78/9
78/11 7B/21 B7/3 142/14
lying [1] 106/23

118/4 123/19 123720 123/21
May 26th [3] 111/22 113/4
113/25
May 27 [1} 115/8
May 27th (1] 114/4
maybe—{71—32/25 90/7 10
115/7 125/24 128/5 128/6
MCDONALD [4] 1/23 51/9 138/14
139/4
McDonald's [71 94/11 94/12
94/13 94/21 95/6 95/13 140/4
me {54}
meal [3] 99/4 100/4 100/15
maan [10] 4/25 17/14 18/1
2979 46/23 57/2 57/12 123/5

M

M-e-r-r-i-d-e-e {1] 6/16
-a-8-h-i-a-r [1} 6/16

oa'am [B] 9/18 11/19 13/22
14/18 14/20 21/5 97/11
105/21

machine [2]

nacrophages (2]

mad [1] 893/18

made [5)] 59/16 92/23 93/2
97/3 127/8

MAGDENKC [1] 1/24

mail {i] 101/6

maintained [2] 5/7 82/13

majozr [1] 140/10

majority [1] 76/11

make {8] 5/¢ 5/10 31/25 54/5
54/23 73/24 82/21 97/6

making [2] 59/17 75/16

Mall (1] 126/3

manage {2} 11/22 23/3

managexr [21 12/4 23/14

Mandalay [7] 91/2 91/4 93/4
93/11 95/13 123/4 123/10

manifesting [1] 48/6

manner [4] 45/7 45/10 59/6
59/7

many [10] 11/25 24/10 27/12
27/14 38/21 45/9 60/14 B0/8
102/1% 115/1

marginal [4]
141/20 142/7

margins [1] 142/4

mark [31 20/2 20/4 57/8

106/22 107/14
64/20 64/22

139/6 139/15

marked [4] B/24 3/4 123/19
123/23

Market [1} 121/15

marks [6] 53/18 57/11 57/12

57/18 57/23 118/13
marshala {1] 97/8
Mart [6] 23/6 36/24 88/8

91/8 120/10 127/11
masters [1]

11721

126/22 136/5 :
maans [1] BO/18
med [1] 12/5
medical [14] 12/3 12/9 44/¢
44713 44/14 44/21 45/% 45/10
46/23 59/21 69/17 76/15
113/3 141/3
madically [1]
medication [1] 121/2
wadicine {2) 44/15 45/19
meat {2] 84/22 92/8
memory [1] 25/9
mention [2] 31/3 35/3
mentionad [5} 8/10 56/18 60/4
76/20 90/3
Merridee (31 5/23 €/15 6/18
mesenteric [1] 51/18
met [6) 39/23 40/24 92/11
139/25 142/3 142/9
Maxico [1] 44/21
MICHAEL [17] 1/10 4/4 22/5
33/13 34/21 36/20 306/23 38/7
38/11 39/2 39/8 41/21 84/10
104/14 118/24 124/1 130/21
Michael's [3} 38/23 38/24

57/22

40/10 _
microphone [4] 6/11 21/14

43/17 83/15 )
microscope [10] 47/1 64/13

64/1% $7/10 €7/15 67/18
67/22 68/5 82/12 82/15

micrescopic [3] 55/5 66/21
82/3

microscopically [1}

mid (1} 53/13

middle [2] 28/12 49/7

might [1] 49/7

Mike [46]  15/22 15/23 39/22
40/7 40/8 40/24 41/11 41/15
89/19 91/8 93/23 95/17 96/24
104/19 1G68/9 108/17 115/8
115/13 115/16 117/14 117/15
119/13 120/2 122/14 123/13
123/16 124720 125/14 127/4

56/11

-84/5 110/3- 111412 e -

127/10 127/23 128/15 128/17
129/3 130/10 131/14 133/10
134/16 134/18 134/20 134/23
135/6 135/7 135/13 135/2%5
137/17

Mike's [2) 93/6 117/15

mile [2] 130/15 130/15
milk [1] 101/20

mind [1] 15/14

Mine [1] 23/12

winute [2] 105/17 135/9

minutes [14] 14/23 14/24
32/25 40/5 47/24 96/4 9%8/24
114711 125/22 125/23 126/4
130/6 130/19 137/20

58/5
6/22 15/4 16/13

bile—fl]— 121/16

mem [1] 32/12
mom's [6] 846/15 86/18 100/18
101/2 101/4 101/15
moment [3] 20/23 123/25
134/2
Monday [34] 24/25 25/5 25/19
26/25 28/1 28/11 28/14 28/23
29/4 30/23 31/4 32/2 32/12
3g/22 37/1 37/23 39/10 41/3
42/2 42/3 42/5 4z2/13 42/19
B8/11 88/16 9C/7 90/12 120/2
121/20 121722 122/11 122/20
123/1 123/6
month [3} 23/24 117/9 133/10
monthe [2] 96/20 137/7
mora [8] 56/22 61/4 68/1
77/11 82/21 82/21 105/11
11%/5
norning [38] 4/17 26/18 26/19
31/12 31/13 31/17 31/18
31/21 37/1 37/18 37/24 31/25
38/2 39/10 41/3 41/23 42/2
42/3 42/12 71/9 86/9 B9/17
89/22 107/21 108/10 108/22
ip9/5 109/18 110/9 1106/17
i11/14 119/17 119/20 120/2
123/8 137/24
mornings {2}
mortig [1] 57/14
Moshier [8] 5/23 6/1% 6/16
6/18 6/22 8/6 15/4 16/13
most [4] 26/22 33/8 41/25
57/16
mostly [3]) 28/5 2%/14 39/18
mother [16] 4/18 31/1i 31/23
32/1 32/5 32/18 72/19 81/10
B4/8 111/2 139/11 139/18
139/20 139/21 141/7 141/9
mother's (3] 86/3 111/7 118/7

42/1 4276

motor [4] 49/19 72/1 74/1
T4/3 ‘

move [51 9/12 50/16 5&/7
85/4 124/9

moved [1] 133/10

movements [2] 74/18 76/5

movie [2] 103/16 107/3

Moving {11 51/20

Mr [1] 140/4

Mr, [14] 22/2 22/21 22/25

23/15 24/7 24/19 51/9 92/14
92/18 121/6 13B/14 138/16
139/4 140/2

Mr, Ficoe £3] 22/2 92/14 92/18
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non-displaced [3] 53/25 T'Q

T1/13

Mr. Lee [8) 22/21 22/25 23/15
24/7 24/19 121/6 138/16
140/2

Mr, McDonald [3] 51/9 138/14
139/4

much [10] 12/6 17/21 18/5
18/16 32/23 35/19 40/22 95/4
125/19 127/18 _

multiple [2] 29/9 25/11

aurder [2] 139/13 142/8

murdered [2] 141/7 141/8

must [2] 5/4 137/25

my [51]

myself [3) 7/14 39/22 80/12

Nope [11 142/20

nexrmal [10] 8/16 8/21 10/6
10/14 10715 28/25 37/14
74/18 76/4 19/24

normally {31 8/16 98/2 107/7

northern {1} 66/9

nose [S5] 54/12 116/15 116716
116/17 116/20

not [87]

note [8] 12/24 13/4 48/18
53/8 54/5 71/1 71/2 81/13

noted [3] 52/24 69/25 80/21

notes [1] 6/1

nothing (123 6/7 13/13 20/25

N

| -81/716 81725 83/11 138/5

21/10 36/9 42/15 43/2 43/13

naked [3]1 11/17 87/17 B7/20

nama [15] 6/11 6/13 6/15
6/24 7/6 9/24 21/14 21/25
23/4 43/17 45/22 71/1 83/15
B5/17 133/14

nap [2] 122/2 127/2

nature [5] 13/23 14/4 55/17
59/23 70/4

near [3] 54/11 93/23 131/15

necessarily [5) 52/19 74/18
75/1 16/9 76/19

necessary [1] 70/5

neck [3] 56/14 56/17 113/18

need [6] 5/6 14/20 66/13
96/25 101/2 195/14

neaded [4} 101/13 101/20
115/16 121/18

needs [1] 46/7

neglect {1} 139/14

nephew [1] 117/15

nephews (31 39/18 117/14
120/4

[neurological [1)] 65/18

neurologist (3] 132/25 133/16
134/11

neurons [1] 56/10

neuropathologist [3] 55/Z
55/13 65/20

MEVADA [8] 1/5 1/7 4/1 4/4
45/17 45/19 70/16 70/17

never [111 19/24 29/21 31/7
113/24 116/16 116/17 116/19
119/10 134/16 134/18 137/2

taw [1] 44/21

next [15] 11/19 26/24 31/9
33/15 41/14 56/13 88/16 85%/1
97/12 108/7 109/12 110/17
111/14 131/2 134/3

night [23] 10/25 17/1é 20/10
41/12 42714 88/14 98/4 98/4
98/25 104/11 118/6 118/15
118/24 119/6 119/10 118/14
122/12 123/1 123/7 126/9
126/9 128/23 139/18

nine [21 103/2 1089/20

nine p.m [1] 103/2

no [136]

nobody [2] 77/20 117/21

noises [1]1 97/6

non [5] 53/25% 59%/23 71/9
77/13 141/¢6

non-accidental [2] 59/23

141/6

31 /98 37 /13 871
3

| 65722-66/12--66/22—69/4-69/5

110/16 1211/22 117/8 117/11
135/10 140/5

ococurring [1] 108/8

occurs (2] 49/14 71/5

october [11 84/23

of f [371 11/11 13/6 14/25
15/10 17/1 23/6 23/8 33/25
36/20 40/7 40/16 54/17 66/1%9
73/17 74/4 77/17 B6/2 BB/2
86/4 B6/8 B6/11 88/11 90/17
90/18 90/20 101/4 105/18
106/15 108/6 109/14 112/20
116/1 116/14 118/21 122/18
126/9 135/23

offenses [1] 142/23

office [14] 44/7 44/10 44/21

44/23 45/15 55/9 60/11 60/15

0/

. %11
noTIce— &%) [ g oy e s ma i o 4

14

g§8/21 89/2C 90/2 103/9 104/8
105/8 129/14 130/1

noticed [1] 118/9

notieing [1) 90/12

NOVEMBER [6) 1/18 4/1 41/1
41/2 133/9 142/14

November 21at [1] 142/14

NOVEMBER 8 [1] 1/18

now [41] B/23 §/18 10/22
12/20 13/7 17/10 19/20 24/21
26/24 29/16 33/11 34/6 47/6
48/25 49/16 50/9% 50/23 57/6
59/1 60/10 60/21 61/20 63/1¢6
65/17 67/14 71/12 81/2
100/11 104/10 106/4 114/12
116/22 119/16 120/2 120/14
122/13 123/2 123/3 130/24
131/8 141/8

number {10)] 13/24 28/17 28/23
26/16 50/23 51/8 58/20 5%/19
140/9 141/4

Numbar 1 [21 140/% 141/4

aumbers {1} 50/7

numercus (11 30/25

nurse [2] 11/24 13/14

0

o'clock [21 112/2 137/19

o-m-a-1-u [1] 66/8

cath [1] 141/11

objection {4] 50/18 75/5
117/4 124/11

observation [1] 46/23

observations [1] 26/25

observe [3] 40/1% 48/2 86/16

observed (91 12/12 27/7 28/11
29/4 47/7 50/13 52/23 54/8
89/24

obsarves [1] 139/22

obtaining [1] 35/20

obvious [1} 140/17

obviously [4] 12/7 18/5 48/5
56/3

oceasion [5] 9/20 31/10 45/21
86/1 86/1¢6

Cecasionally (11 78/1

occasions [21 24/5 98/12

secour [6] 55/4 55/24 58/14
85/7 110/11 117/3

occurrad [24] 10/13 30/2 30/8
30/12 56/2 58/15 58/18 58/25
61/25 64/5 65/1 67/7 88/1
70/7 70/10 71/19 97/20 89/3

often [1] 45/11

Oh [4] 11/18 16/18 60/20
138/1

Okay [14] 9/24 25/20 63/23
64/10 65/7 66/14 67/3 75/9
78712 97/8 110/6 131/21
133/7 134/5

old [10] 22/3 45/22 47/19
58/10 65/12 69/17 69/19 B84/6
132/3 139/7

older [2) 53/22 57/4

omalu [3] 65/25 66/5 66/7

on [206]

once [14] 28/14 29/21 B2/%
g2/7 B2/12 93/21 102/12
102/13 102714 105/11 123/15
124/19 139/24 140/22

cna [34] 5/4 7/15 12/21
20/22 24/12 24/18 27/10
27/24 28/24 29/14 32/6 32/10
48/1 52/1 53/21 53/22 58/1
67/1 78/9 BO/11 B1l/8 20/13
107/23 117/1 126/2 131/12
133/1 134/2 134/22 137/12
139/16 141/6 141/12 142/6
one a.m [1] 107/23

onea [6] B8/10 62/1 65/6
67/17 61/21 90/3

only [7]1 67/1 67/21 80/9
BO/10Q r18/9 131/23 141/12
onto [3] 44/16 51/20 107/1
opon [11 100/13

opaned [4] 51713 103/22
104/23 104725

cperatad [1] 77/17

opay [2]1 &/7 9/25

opinion [S] 59/21 59/24 61/12
67/24 B8G/22

opinions [l1] 46/13

opposition [1] 9/14

opticons [2]1 141/2 141/12

or [110]

oral [2) 106/9 122/24

orderad [1] 142/12

organ [2] 47/6 140/%2
organization [1] B81/6

other [31] 8/7 8/8 12/24

13/4 16/2 2877 38/14 47/13
49/16 51/25 52/22 53/8 53/15
58/20 58/21 64/1 68/17 68/18
68/20 79/25 80/2 BO/23 B2/24
87/5 B7/14 89/21 90/2 109/25
113712 118/12 139/12
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pattern [2] 53/16 57/14
patterned [4]1 53/2 53/3 53/13

our [9] 58/3 60/15 65/4 :
68/16 69/5 71/12 73/10 73/17
82/15

out [29) 11/9 12/5 13/6

28/12 33711 33/13 35/14
41710 47/9 47/21 64/25 65/1Q
68/9 68/10 €8/13 72/4 74/15
82/20 91/13 91/24 92/17
9%/25 96/7 108/20 126/12
127/10 127/18 130/2 131/16

out-patient [1] 12/5

outer [2} 49/9 4%/10

outside [7)] 5/4 8/21 52/18
56/3 56/14 65/21 110/19

over [24]1 8/2 11/7 13/12

227133376 38/1139/19 39/21

o EAfan endan

jpeople (5} 5/5 38/14 42/10

53/14

paying [1] 46/21

PRACE (1] 1/17

Pebblea [1} 13/18
pediatric [4] 81/4 110/24
133/16 134/10
poediatrician [14} 72/12 72/23
~72/24 73/1 81/3 81/7 8L/8
114/16 115/9 132/24 133/4
133/5 134/12 134/14
padiatrician's [1] 78/10
Pediatrics [1] 81/3

peal (1] 54/14

poeals [1] 54/16

pen [1] 16/3

playing [61 8/22 32/17 103/17
107/4 136/7 136/10

please [8] 6/10 6/14 15/25
21713 43/16 46/11 93/14
84/13

pled [1] 139/13

point [20] 13/9 28/22 30/7
35/2 42/17 49/5 49/8 48/12
4%9/13 51/2 52/2 54/25 58/16
78/25 85/1 85/4 133/1 133/3
141723 141/25

pointed [2] 28/17 92/17

pointing {61 12/17 13/2 28%/1
29/16 B7/3 87/8 .

fpolice 5] 34/8 36/4 70/21

112/4 112/15

pool [S] 6&/22 37/5 120/3

[ 120719120721 -

{2]— 57/ 15120424

39!’23 40["1 51{’10 i 2ot e
63/24 63/25 92/3 106/18
108/15% 108/19 108/13 122/1%
130/25 134/9 141/16

overall [1] 68/16

ovarcharged [1)] 119/24

own [1) 134/9

oxygen [2] 50/18 140/21
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stop [3] 46/18 91/5 91/7

atore [241 23/3 23/5 23/21
ap/e22 31/23 32/12 33/1 33/9
34/14 34/21 34722 37/23
41/16 41/18 42/7 91/24 91/25
92/15 98/8 100/18 101/3
101/6 101/18 101/1%

stripped [1] 107/13

stroller [2] 123/10 124/22

substantial (2] 139/14 142/8

such (1) 56&/6

suck 1] 13/1

suffared [2]

suggested [3]
133/18

suggests [2]

summary [2) 55/11 78/2

Sunday {34] 7/21 8/3 8/7 8/21
10/1 10/19 10/25 12/13 13/20
14/11 14/19 15/5 19/25 20/10
86/1 86/4 86/5 86/13 B6/17
86/25 B87/1% BB/3 BS/25 111/8
111/10 111/13 118/6 118/1%
118/24 119/10 119/14 118/16
1158/19 123/6

Sunridge [2]

supersadad (1]

supaxviser [2] 23/19 24/22

supposed [2] 58/14 75/22

sure (13] 5/6 5/10 31/16
32/3 32/15 32/20 32721 34/1
38/1 41/24 41/24 60/17 66/10

surety [1] 142/17

surge {1] 12/5

surgeries [1) 11/7

surgical {(1] 44/17

smurprised [1] 20/13

surveillance [2] 34/17 35/8

suapicious [1] 45/4

sustain [1] 113/16

gsustained [1] 118/21

ewear [4] 6/6 21/9 43/12
83/10
swalling [2]

swimmer [1] 94/16

swimming (1] 12G/24

swing [1) 117/15

swollen [2) 55/22 80/24

sworn [4] 6/18 21/21 44/1
84/1

symptoms [12] 47/25 74/8 74/%
74/12 76/6 76/10 77/5 77/11
114/313 114/19 114/21 140/14

syastem [1] 34/17

24/8 111/4
133/t 133/4

48/23 58/14

85/16 85/24
80/22

56/1 140/21

78/22 131/5 136/12 136/15

Tampa {1] 70/18

tapa {1] 35/3

Taped [1] 34/20

tear [5] 49/15 74/2 74/5
7477 14/14

teeth {3] 58/5 78/10 78/16

telemetry [1] 11/23

television [1] 3B/9

teld [3] 12/5

tell [54]

telling (9) 17/10 18/18B 51/14
‘11274 1:2/15 126/8 130/24
131/4 139/22

temple {17 18/25

ten [3] 104/2 114/11 130/5

term [2] 46/23 64/12
terms [4) 55/15 56/4 €5/9
69/3

testified [3] 51/1 78/5 140/9

testify [11] 4/25 4/25 5/15
6/18 21721 22/2 22/24 24/8
44/1 84/1 84/5

testifying [:] 110/10

testimony [13} 15/7 19/23

24/1 46/3 50/3 139/8 140/6
140/8 141/11 141/20 141/24
142/1 142/2

tasting [7] 46/14 55/8 66/18

66/23 68/23 79/25 B0/4

tests [2) B80/2 110/25

text [2] 65/9 76/13

taxtbooks [l] 65/5

than [14] 18/6 18/24 47/24

49/11 56/11 56/23 57/5 59/13

62/18 64/1 105/11 111/9

115/5 1398/12

Thank [11) 6/4 15/2 16/10
21/5 83/2 105/19 111/18
138/11 138/25 139/1 143/1

that [534]

that's (40} 9/7 10/10 10/13
12719 14/14 18/1 18/4 20/17
42/17 52/%6 52/15 53/3 54/3
%4/18 56/2) 58/6 5B/7 60/6

T

61/9 65/1 B65/2 69/12 71/12
72718 75/15 75/22 76/2 76/8

T-shirt [3] 84/17 91/18
100/10
table {3]
tables {[1]

tail {1]

take f[36]

8/19 le/2 22/14
16/24

142/24

5/10 14/11 25/8

76/22 16/25 789/21 BO/6 B1/15
82/18 85/3 94/9 107/13
126/23 136/8 141/14
their [3] 11/6 11/12 18/9
them [32] 6/14 11/12 13/23
17/23 26/4 29/10 34/14 34/25
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T . 125/5 17/15 17/22 18/5 16/10 18/13
tissue {4] 54/17 58/6 82/6 tubby [1] 10/5 :
them... [24} 35/3 35/9 36/7 82/21 tube [5] 47/12 47/13 51/24
36/10 37/23 41/7 5Q/10 57/22|title [11 23/11 51/25 52/1
5B/1 58/24 64/23 69/14 70/24[today [14] 6/23 15/23 22/2 tubes [2) 133/6 133/7

73/4 13/6 73/21 73/22 73/22
76/11 82/11 B2/15 97/7 131/4
135/23
themselves [2] 75/2 82/9
then [40] 5/5 11/5 11/9
11/11 11/12 18/8 18/11 33/9
40/5 44719 47/10 51/17 31/22
$1/24 53/16 53/19 56/20 65/8
66/20 66/21 €9/13 69/24
71/14 T74/14 B2/7 B2/14 88/13
100/18 102/14 102/19 106/16

22/7 22/24 24/2 24/8 50/3
61/23 70/6 84/5 84/11 138B/13
138/1%9

today's [1] 30/24

toe [1]1 11/17

together [1) 133/10

told (21] 10/23 10/23 33/14
41/21 7274 77/20 88/1% 91/13
81/23 101/23 106/7 114/12
115716 120/23 127/13 127/156
127721 132/24 134/22 135/11

TUESDAY [211 1/18 24725 30/23
31/9 31/12 31/14 32/3 34/23
36/22 41/14 42/5 42712 42/20
B8/11 89/16 90/17 90/18
90/22 123/8 128/23 139/18

turn [3] 47/22 106/24 107/1

turnaed [1] 129/19

turning [1] 103/14

TV [4] 103/8 106/24 107/1
108/4

Twanty (3] 12/1 22/4 84/7

106/18 108/18 103/18 110/1 136/2 Twenty-four [1] 84/7
................ -11-0/42—125/11-125/417- 126/5- - --|tons [1]- 132/7 - - - .- —|Twenty=-saven.[2] —12/1.22/4
137/23 too [3) . 93/3 110/23 121/11 two [26] 38/22 38/25 39/171
thera {103] took [14] 29/22 33/25 62/14 40/16 44/24 45/22 47/19 58/7

there's [18] 18/4 49/5 49/12
52/16 53/1 54/17 56/19 56/20
56¢/21 57/24 58/6 58/20 60/9
65/9 79/25 140/6 141/12

142/4
thereabouts [1] 103/2
therefore [1] 47/14

these [15] 28/10 28B/11 29/22
51/14 56/25 57/3 57/4 59/9
59/18 63/17 68/12 B3/8
123/19 140/6 142/23

they [66] R

they'd (41 10/5 17/18 18/%
18/11

they'ze [56] 8/12 63/3 71/1
76/3.97/9

they've [3]1 52/1 62/7 138/21

thighs [1] 58/22

thin [2] 54/17 B82/22

thing [2] §7/14 108/7

things [7) 37/9 116/14 134/9

135722 136/21 140/10 14l1/6

think [14] 12/19 13/5 15/11
35/10 39/7 39/17 13/10
105/21 117/6 118/16 118/17
131/19 141/25 142/3

Thirty [1] 125/22

thig [70}

those [5i]

though [4] 27/15 27/25 55/19
139/13

thought [2} 27/6 103/12
three [11] 24/11 28/9 29/7

36/1 31/23 41/9 63/4 72/1
141/2 141/6 141/12
through (13} 6/25 18/25 45/14
45/14 47/9 50/8 50/9 50/17
58/11 68/17 68/18 72/4 94/15

68/6 69/13 110/14 114/3
118/23 126/4 129/9 129/16
130/2 137/20 141/6

top 5] 18/22 51/16 55/19
T3/18 1i2/19

torn [1] 498/3

torae [3] 52/10 52/14 53/9

tossing [1] 136/19

total [3] 45/15 59/19 65/7

touching (1) 13/14

towards [5] 93/22 94/25 95/2
96/16 131/17

towel {3] 11/10 106/16 130/4

towalaed [1] 11/11

towals [1] 18/16

TOWNSHIP [11 1/4

toxicology [1) 68/24
tracked [1] 142/15
tragedy (1] 141/20

tragic [1] 5/6

train [2) 94/18 96/25

trained (1} 97/1

training {4] 44/9 45/14 65/17
96/2%

TRAN {1] 1/1

transeript [2] 1/13 143/9
transest [3] 59/12 60/22 74/6
transected [2] 47/13 52/2

transection [12] 46/17 47/6
48/2 48/11 4B/18 48/22 52/16
59/4 67/25 74/22 76/20 8(Q/8

transections [1] 49/17

transferred {1] 52/19

Transformera [1] 122/15

transported [1] 82/9

trauma [13] 11/22 49%/1 49/22
52/12 52/13 55/25 56/2 €0/22
67/4 €7/25 79/2 140/11 141/6

59/10 60/11 70/23 76/1 89/3
98/12 102712 110/12 112/1
115/7 118/13 120/4 121/12
128/17 130/14 132/3 132/6
139/7 140/8 140/10 '

two-and-a-half-year-old [1]
139/7
two-year-old [3)
59/10

type [5)} 35/13 49/16 52/15
78/21 81/20

types [2] 46/24 64/25

typical [1] 20/14

typieally [1] 77/%

45/22 47/19

L}

Oh [9)] 12/22 16/23 16/23

18/11 61/6 €3/9 64/11 132/18

132721

Uh-hubh [9] 12/22 16/23 16/25
18/11 61/6 63/9 64/11 132/18
13z2/21 .

uMC [51 11/23 113/7 113/9
113/11 113/13

un [11 142/1
un-ring [1] 142/1
uncommon [2] 61/9 75/25

uncontroverted [3] 140/7
140/23 141/21

under [18] 5/1 5/2 27/10
2B/16 29/15 29/17 571/6 64/13
64/15 61/15 67/17 67/21 68/5
§2/10 82/12 82/15 90/13
141/11

uvnderneath {6] 47/1 54/15
63/21 67/9 871/2 80/4

understand [3] 25/14 74/15
139/5

throwing [2] 104/18 104/20 treated {1] 81/4 understands {11 5/16

thrown [3] 105/10 105/12 treating [11 B81/4 understood [1] 99/14
105/22 tremendous [1] 61/13 underwear (2] 100/10 129/%

thru (1) 125/13 trip [2) 90/23 134/9 undone [1) 112/20

time (88] Triple {1] 102/19 unexpacted {11 45/5

timed [2] 140/13 140/24 tripped [1] 117/20 unfertunately {1] 139/7
timeline {1} 65/3 trouble [1] 133/22 unhandeuffed (1] 6/1
timecout [11 98/11 true (2} 61/9 143/8 University [2] 44/15 44/21
times (5] 45/9 70/11 102/11 f[tzuth [12] 6/6 &/7 6/7 21/9 |ontil {6] 28/21 3G/24 34/3
102/12 102/17 21/10 21/10 43/12 43/13 75/9 106/20 111/6

timing [S5] 64/23 65/5 65/8 43/13 63/10 83/11 B3/11 unusual [6]1 17/11 52/15 88/21
74/4 140/22 try [1) 65/1 107/5 109/21 116/9

tiny [3) 58/6 87/6 118/13 trying [3] 13/5 36/14 94/18 [up [67]

tired [4] 97/25 98/1 125/3 tub [8] 11/3 11/5 17/12 upon [B] 56/11 61/1 65/11
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watching [7] 26/1 28/2 28,

39/16 39/18 103/8 122/15

upen... (51 68/4 §9/16 140/13
141/3 141/13

upper (2] 53/12 78/20

upeget [S] 37/16 4%/9 74/9
74/11 89/18

upstairs {11 41/12

us {137 5/11 7/16 7/17 6l/23
69/19 70/7 70/9 T0/13 82/14
94/2 95/8 96/23 139/22

use [2] 24/11 104/19

used [5]1 7/16 17/19 96/25
9B/3 134/23

wsual [1] 129/1

usually [21] 7/15 33/8 38B/5
41/2% 4275 48/10 51/16 55/11

62/ 676279 TL/5T1/13°76/3

[s)

‘lwoek [8) 2574 30/15 30/19

water [3] 18/12 82/20 120/24
way [6] 31/5 37/5 48/23
74/14 111/13 130/3

we [S0]

jwe'd (1] 10/8

wa'll [3] 71/9 71/9 142/9
wo're [4] 51/2 56/4 71/6
138/18

we've [1] B80/23

weapon [2] 24/12 142/23
wearing [6] 16/1 22/9 32/14
84/15 84/16 129%/8 )
Wadnesday [7] 25/7 25/17
30/20 33/16 110/9 137/23
141/1

62-/5—62/ 188645 89-/3.D. 121/12

wild [3] 16/19% 19/14 19/17

will [151 ©9/15 14/22 14/23
16/6 16/7 45/6 47/11 50/20
50/2% 55/11 66/20 97/6
124/12 137/10 142/25

window [3] 112/14 112/14
113/22

wiped [2) 106/15 106/15

within {71 49/5 56/10 57/17
72/1 79/24 140/17 140/24

without {11 095/24

|witness [18] 5/13 5/22 9/1

16/7 20/24 21/1 28/6 36/15
42725 43/6 46/6 58/25 75/6
80/13 83/3 111/16 123/20
137/10 138/6

witness'a [1] 97/4

|witnesses—[11 - 138/18 .. . .

woke [41 96/10 96/13 105/13

- 4 i L1t
fofll 37/25 73{23 SQI 14

§8/14 108/1 121/12 135/21

ULy O UL A0 Doy =7

waeck's [1l] 62/8

\'4

weekand [11] 7/15 7/20 7/25
g/5 8/15 8/16 8/18 8/21 8/18

vaguum [1] 140/17

vaguaely [1) 122/13

valley [1] 85/13

various [5] 54/10 58/25 €1/21
62/1 121/17

vault [1) 47/7

Vagas [1] 7/1

vahicle [5] 49/19 72/1 74/1
74/3 11277

verbiage [1} 17/9

versus [1] 4/4

vary [51 18/5 74/24 74/25
8B/12 88/18

vessels [2]1 51/19 51/22
victim [2] 73/7 18/6
videotaps [2] 35/17 35/20
view [1]1 123/25

visit [1} 72/12

vigualizging [1] 56/12
vomiting [5] 48/3 74/19 76/4
114/24 139/21

voN [1] 1/24

13/6 19/12

weakends [1] 19/11

weaks (6] 36/2 72/1 16/1
110/12 114/14 135/5

wall [2B] 4/22 11/3 12/9
17725 19/5 19/10 23/6 30/22
40/21 42/19 48/3 53/2 54/12
56/1 62/9 63/2 69/9 70/25
74721 7574 15/17 76/17 T7/3
121/11 123/6 129/16 132/11
137/7

want [50]

ware [94]

weren't [1] 66/17

West [1] 113/11

wot [2] 94/21 95/3

what [180]

what's [7] 9/4 19/9 56/8
59/6 65/4 92/1 123/23
whatever [3] 20/5 26/10 553/12
when [140]

where [57]

W

whether [11] 41/22 52/9 60/25
64/20 64/22 67/6 70/9 78/3

wait [2] 28/21 75/9

waiting [1] 35/15

waking [2] 131/14 131/23

walk [4] 94/3 95/7 95/8
134/5

walked [2] 94/2 103/4

walking [7] 33/1 95/6 98/10

115/23 123711 124/25 134/7

want [17] 4/10 13/24 23/25
36/4 36/10 36/13 51/9 74/19
85/25 88/15 89/18 91/25 93/6
93/7 83/23 98/10 138/19

wanted [5] 35/7 95/7 97/21
97/23 126/9

wants [2] 4/25 5/17

was [339]

wash [6] 23/19 23/20 23/22
33/6 92/3 92/4

washed [1] 11/6 -

washing [2] 106/22 107/14

wasn't [18] 17/11 17/13 20/¢
32/20 32/21 38/4 38/6 40/21
58/13 107/4 116/9 119/6
123/10 124/23 124/25 129/21
133/2 133/5

watch [2) 7/17 38/12

79/21 97/24 103/21

which [18] 15/5 27/24 32/8

45/5 47/22 48/15 51/6 51/17

51/24 $3/14 53/22 6€7/17 68/7

122/8 125/25 126/2 140/25

141/25

while [11] 5/11 7/15 18/13

30/9 30/12 32/25 7177 93/22

99/4 99/9 121/5

Whitoney [2] 37/5 120/3

who [14] 4/23 4/24 8/4 9/5

15/21 65/24 81/8 87/2 97/14

104/13 133/13 139/16 141/22

142/6

whole [7) 6/7 21/10 22/22
43/13 58/15 83/11 137/86

whom [1] 101/21

why [16] 28/21 35/6 36/4
36/12z 38/3 55/24 59/8 71/10
91/14 99/14 101/1 101/2
101/18 108/3 115/9 133/18

wide [2] 1B/Z 18/4

wider [1]1 18/5

width [2] 17/24 17/25

wiggle [21 13/11 13/11

Wiggles {1] 8/19

126/12

woken [31 104/11 105/24

130/25

won't [1] 71/11

words {3] 47/13 83/17 988/3

werk [301 7/18 15/190 15/10

30/16 30/19 32/24 33/18

33721 34/1 45/15 88/7 88/12

88/19 88/25 92/2 99/12

1068/10 109/2 118/20 121/11

121/14 121/17 121/20 121/25

122/6. 130/10 130/16 130/19

137/18 137/19

worked [111 7/15 12/4 23/17

34/3 42/5 60/10 88/10 91/9

92/1 121/% 122/8

working [3] 36/21 41/23 71/6

works [2] 41/25 42/8

worm {1] 13/11

worry [11 134/12

would [B1]

wouldn't [8] 19/4 20/12 20/20

74718 74/19 75/17 16/9 96/25

wrapped [1] 11/9

wreck (2] 101/5 101/9

wrastle [3] 135/13 135/25

139/12

wrastling (71 135/11 135/15
135/18 136/5 136/7 136/9
136/20

write [1} 5/25 .

written {1] §7/3

wrote [2] 68/15 69/B

X

x-rays [4] 69/13 70/2 70/3
114/4

h 4

Yankee {2} 26/1 38/8

Yankee/Indian [I] 38/8

yard [1) 13/6

yaah [27] 9/22 10/14 15/9
16/18 19/15 20/1i8 26/14
26/22 27/8 27/18 .29/6 30/1
32/22 33/8 37/8 39/3 40/14
41/17 42/11 42715 93/14 95/1
112/25 127/22 128/24 129/20
135/7

yoar {161 7/3 7/1% 9/9 23/25
25/10 41/1 45/22 47/19 59/10
60/16 60/17 B4/24 85/8 85/9
133/8 138/7
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years [4) 11/25 44/24 60/12
132/3

yell [1] , 18/11

yallowing [1] 20/7

yallowish [2] 29/5 29/5

yes [271]

yat [1] 60/17

yogurt {1] 8/20

you {789]

youtrd [51 25/22 49/8 51/12
598/12 129/1

you'll [2] 5/1 5/14

you're [24] 5/4 12/17 13/2
29/1 29/16 29/17 29/19 49/21
53/4 59/17 60/4 68/24 69/11

TO76 L/ T/ 21 12/22 1B/ 21

ey oy e fa e

8389/ 123/ 25136712
136/15 138B/11
you've [B] 8/10 10/23 11/24
12/8 24/15 30/24 60/10 80/7
your [206]
yourself [6] 22/25 60/19 70/2
80/11 85/12 124/1
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DAVID ROGER
2 )| Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #002781
3 | DAVID L. STANTON
Chief Deputy District Attorney
4 || Nevada Bar #003202
200 Lewis Avenue
5 || Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 6/1-2500 ‘
6. _____Att01711ey,f0,1:,,]2]ai11tiff i . e e
T 1 LA.11/21/2011 DISTRICT COURT
10:30 AM. CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
8 | P. MCDONALD, ESQ. _
9
10 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
11 Plaintiff, ; Case No: C-11-277650-1
Dept No: XXIH
12 vs- 3 P
13 | MICHAEL ALAN LEE, % |
14 || 71699107 . % INFORMATION
Defendant. )
15
16 | STATE OF NEVADA %
88,
17 || COUNTY OF CLARK
18 DAVID ROGER, District Attorney within and for the County of Clark, State of
19 || Nevada, in the name and by the authority of the State of Nevada, informs the Court:
20 That MICHAEL ALAN LEE, the Defendant(s) above named, having committed the
21 || crimes of MURDER (Category A Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.030, 200.508) and CHILD |
77 | ABUSE & NEGLECT WITH SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM (Category B Felony -
23 | NRS 200.508, 0.060), on or between the 13th day of June, 2011 and the 15th day of June,
24 || 2011, within the County of Clark, State of Nevada, contrary to the form, force and effect of
25 || statutes in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of
26 || Nevada,
27 | //
28 || ///
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COUNT 1 - MURDER

2 did, on or between June 14, 2011 and June 15, 2011, then and there, without
3 | authority of law and with malice aforethoﬁght, willfully and feloniously kill BRODIE
4 | ASCHENBRENNER, a minor child being approximately 2 years of age of age, by
5 || subjecting the said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER to acts of child abuse, to-wit: by striking
e -l the-said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER in the abdominal area.and/or-did-cause. blunt-force . |
7 | trauma to BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER'S abdominal area in an unknown manner, all of
8 || which resulted in the death of said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER.
9 | COUNT2-CHILD ABUSE & NEGLECT WITH SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM
10 did, on or between June 13, 2011 and June 14, 2011, wilfully, unlawfully,
11 | feloniously, and knowingly neglect, cause, or permit a child undér the age of 18 years, to-
12 || wit: BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER, being approximately 2 years of age, to suffer
13 unjustiﬁablé physical pain and substantial bodily harm, by striking the said BRODIE
14 | ASCHENBRENNER in the head and/or did cause blunt force trauma to BRODIE
15 | ASCHENBRENNER’S head in an unknown manner and/or after determining that the said
16 | BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER had suffered head injuries, Defendant did fail .to seek
17 | medical care for the said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER. |
18
19 “
20 BY fad/VUal
2 DISTRICT ATTORNEY
5 Nevada Bar #002781
23 |
24 Names of witnesses known to the District Attorney's Office at the time of filing this
25 || Information are as follows:
26 (| NAME ADDRESS
27 | ASCHENBRENNER, Dustin 2600 S. Montana, Butte, MT
. 28 || BENJAMINS,F. HPD #720
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[

COLLINS, G. HPD #324

2 || CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS or Designee Clark County Coroner’s Office
3 | CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS or Designee Clark County Detention Center
4 | CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS or Designee HPD Communications
5 || CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS or Designee HPD Records
6 || FOSTER, Arica ... C/IOCCDA’S Office
7 || GAVIN, Dr. Lisa Clark County Coroner’s Office
8 || HOLDEN, Melissa 410 E. Naples Dr., #6, LV, NV
9 | KESTERSON, G. HPD #1627
10 | MOSHIER, Merriddee C/O CCDA’S Office
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® ORIGINAL @

PETN
PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ.

}%’.

FILED

2 || Nevada Bar No. 3526 :
STEVEN B. WOLFSON; CHTD. . Uec 124 1 py )
3 gOl S. SeveIr\iith géreet :
as Vegas, Nevada 89101 :
4 || Tel: (702) 385-7227 Q. =S
Fax: (702) 385-5351 CLERK GF THE CouRT
5 || Attorney for Petitioner
6 ~ - DISTRICT COURT
7 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
. 8 % & &k
9 | STATE OF NEVADA, )
) Case No;  C277650
10 Plaintiff, i Dept No:  XXIII
11 f vs.
12 | MICHAEL ALAN LEE, % Date of Hearing:
#1699107, Time of Hearing:
13
Defendant.
14
15 PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
16 | TO: THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT CQURT OF
- THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK:
17
18 The Petition of MICHAEL ALAN LEE, by and through his attorney of record, PATRICK
19 | E. McDONALD, of the law firm of STEVEN B, WOLFSON, CHTD., respectfully shows:
20 | L. That he is a duly qualified, practicing and licensed attorney in the City of Las Vegas,
21 |t County of Clark, State of Nevada.
22 2. That Petitioner is the Defendant in the above entitled matter;
23 3. Petitioner makes this application for Writ of Habeas Corpus; that the Petitioner is
24 || restrained of his liberty; that the place where the Petitioner is imprisoned actually or constructively
25 || imprisoned and restrained of his liberty is the High Desert State Prison; that the officer by whom he
26 | is imprisoned and restrained is Dwight Neven, Warden. fg‘;:'é-msﬁud ~
27 i ;’;?;t;;ﬁim Wt of Habeas Corpus
28

|
RECEIVED o ”
DEC 12 201

CLERK OF THE COURT

Hl

I

i
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63—



I

1 4, That the imprisonment and restraint of said Petitioner is unlawful in that: there was
2 || insufficient evidence presented at the Preliminary Hearing in order to bind the counts of Murder and
3 || Child Abuse & Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm over to District Court.

4 5. No other Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus has heretofore been filed on behalf of

5 |[ Petitioner in this particular issue.

6 6. This Petition is based upon the records and pleadings on'ﬁ'le*herein;"the*Mmoréﬁﬁufﬁ

7 || of Poinis and Authorities attached hereto, and upon such other grounds and evidence as may be

8 (| adduced at 2 hearing on this Writ. _

9 WHEREFORE, the Petitioner prays fhat this Honorable Court enter an Order directing the
10 | County Clerk to issue a Writ of Habeas Corpus directed to Warden Dwight Neven, commanding him
11 | to appear before Your Honor, and return the cause for restraint of the Petitioner.

12 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 12 day of December, 2011,
13 STEVEN B. WOLFSON, CHTD.
14
15 By, g ﬁ
ATRICK E. McDONALDYESQ.

16 Nevada Bar No, 3526

601 South Seventh Street
17 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
it Attorney for Petitioner
19
20
21
22
23
24 o
25 - |
26
27
28
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1 NOTICE OF HEARING
2 [f TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff
3] TO: CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff
4 YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing PETITION FOR WRIT OF
HABEAS CORPUS will be heard ON‘bﬂJ' \'I 1 2OV 2— 201 at //-I ‘50 am. in
- N Departmcnt&l"bf—l)istriet Courti- - = S e e
7 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 12" day of December, 2011.
8 STEVEN B. WOLFSON, CHTD.
9
10
11
601 South Seventh Street
12 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
3 Attorney for Petitioner
14 DECLARATION
15 | STATE OF NEVADA )
16 | COUNTY OF CLARK ; *
17 PATRICK E. McDONALD, ESQ., being first duly sworn upon his oath, deposes and says:
18 1. [ am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada; I am the
19 || Attorney hired to represent the Defendant in the instant matter, and | am familiar with the facts and
20 || circumstances of this case.
21 2. That the Preliminary Hearing was heard on November 8, 2001,
22 3. That the Preliminary Hearing Transcript was filed on November 23, 2011.
23 4, That the evidence presented by the State at the Preiirﬁinary Hearing does not support
24 |t a bind over on Count | - Murder and Count 2 - Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily
25 || Harm.
20 5, That I am the attorney of record for Petitioner in the above matter; that I have read
27 || the foregoing Petition, know the contents thereof, and that the same is true of my own knowledge,
28

except for those matters therein stated on information and belief, and as to those matters, I believe

3
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them to be true; that Petitioner, MICHAEL ALAN LEE, personally authorizes me to commence this

@WM
TRICK E. MoDONALD, ESQ.

Writ of Habeas Corpus action.

I SUBSCRIBED and SWORN tobefore -~ - - = o oo
N e §

me-this12-day of December; 2011+

e -

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

22

23
24
25
26
27
28

KRISTA BARGER
Notary Public
: State of Nevada
No. 04-80833-1
My Appt, Expires Jul 28, 2012

- _
NOTARJY PUBLIC in and for sxid
County and State

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

COMES NOW, Petitioner, MICHAEL ALAN LEE, by and through his attomey, PATRICK
E. McDONALD, ESQ., of the law office of STEVEN B. WOLFSON, CHTD., and submits the
following Points and Authorities in Support of Defendant’s Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus.
I
FACTS

On October 20, 2011, the State of Nevada filed a Criminal Complaint against MICHAEL
ALAN LEE (hereinafter “Petitioner”) charging him with: Count 1 - Murder (Felony i N.R.S.
200.010, 200,030, 200.508), and Count 2 - Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm
(Felony - N.R.S. 200.508, 200.060).

This matter went before the Honorable David S. Gibson in Henderson Justice Court,
Department No. 3, for a Preliminary Hearing on November 8, 2011, to determine if there was
sufficient probable cause to hold Petitioner, MICHAEL ALAN LEE, for further criminal
proceedings. At the conclusion of the Preliminary Hearing the Petitioner was bound up on both
counts.

It is the Petitioner’s contention that the Judge erred holding the Petitioner to answer on

Counts 1 and 2, as there was no slight or marginal evidence presented. Therefore, Judge Gibson

4
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should not have found sufficient evidence to support these charges.

2 The standard at a preliminary hearing for the finding of probable cause to support a criminal
3 || charge may be based on “slight or even marginal evidence.” Even with such a low standard, the
4 | evidence presented did not meet this standard at the Preliminary Hearing.
5 The first witness called by the State was Merridee Moshier, the grandmother of Bfodie
6-{-Aschenbrenner. - Ms. Moshier testified that during her visit with-Brodie-on-Sunday, she-observed .| ... . -
7 || Brodie naked from head to toe and the only injuries she observed on him was the bruise on his cheek
8 || and his lips being chapped as he was always sucking on his lips. {(PHT at Page 13). Ms. Moshier
9 || further described Brodie as a wild child, stating that he would climb up on her counters and tables
| 10 || and jump off. (PHT at Page 16).  She further testified that she had informed detectives that it
11 || wasn’t unusual for Brodie to crash himse!f into the tub. He and his cousin would ¢limb up on the
12 || tub and use it as a slide. (PHT at Page 17). -
13 "Ms. Moshier was also questioned if she recalled telling the detective about the granite
14 || countertops in the kitchen. (PHT at Page 18). A portion of Ms, Moshier’s testimony follows:
15 BY MR. McDONALD:
16 Q. Do you recall telling the detective about the granite
countertops in the kitchen?
v A Correct.
'8 Q. And that the height of the countertop was ap roxiﬁately the sz;me
19 height as the top of Brodie’s forehead or his head?
20 A. It was just a little bit higher than his temple. Right
before this happened he went through a huge growth spurt.
2! Q. And he had a habit of hitting his forehead into the granite
22 countertops?
23 A, I wouldn’t call it a habit,
24 Q. Well, it happened, correct?
25 A, It happened, yes.
26 Q. It happened with some degree of frequency, correct?
| 27 A. What’s frequent?
Q. Well, at least when he’d spend those weekends there it woul
28 happen? \
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28

that earlier in the morning, Petitioner, Arica and Brodie had come into the store to purchase some

ice before going to the community pool. (PHT at Page 37). He noticed that Brodie had the same

A.  Notevery weekend.
7 :
Q. You described how his lower legs always had bruises because
3 he was so wild?
4 A, Yeah,
5 Q. Infact, you called him the bruiser?
SR | --A. - We called him the wild child. I also called him Bamm-Bamm-and called
Lilly Pebbles-like-the Flintstones:
7 -
Q. Now, counsel for.the State had shown you some photographs
8 garlier.
9 Yes.
10 Q. Andit’s your testimony of what appeared to be injuries on
those photographs, you never saw any of that on your grandson
I1 on Sunday evening?
12 A.  No.
13 Q. So not even the mark on the cheek that you referred to?
14 A, There was a little mark on his cheek like his little fingertip
size. But whatever was in the picture, that wasn’t it. Those
15 were - it was like a yellowing little bruise the fingertip size
on his cheek.
16
Q. And was there any bruising on his arms or his legs thatSunday night?
17
A Not his arms. He could have had a few, you know, just on his
18 were on his legs I wouldn’t be surprised because - - -
19 Q. Because it was typical for Brodie to have bruises, right?
20 A, On his lower legs.
21 Q.  That’s what I'm speaking of.
22 A Yeah. He’s a boy.
23 Q. And he also would have bruises on his face, wouldn’t he?
24 A, From time to time.
25 The State then called Danny Fico to the witness stand. Mr. Fico was questioned about
26 || Petitioner and Brodie’s visit with him on Monday evening to watch the baseball game. He testified

6




bruise on his cheek that Ms. Moshier had testified to. A portion of Mr. Fico’s testimony foltows:

BY MR. McDONALD:

Q. Michael Lee came into the, is it called America’s Mart?

A Yes.

Q. On the morning of Monday, June 13", correct?

A, - YeS,

Q. And did you know at that time that he was on his way to the
Whitney Ranch community pool?

A, Yes.

Q. And he purchased some ice?

A. Yeah. ] don’t remember what he purchased. He purchased
some things.

Q. - Was Brodie with him?

A, Yes.

Q. Was Arica with him?

A Yes.

Q. Was Brodie acting normal?

A Yes.

Q. Was he crying, was he upset?

A. No.

Q. Did you notice those bruises that morning that you identified
when the prosecutor had those pictures in front of you?

A. Yes.

M. Fico further testified that he contacted Petitioner later in the day to invite .Petitioner and
Brodie to watch the Yankee/Indian game being on television. (PHT at Page 38). Mr. Fico H
testified that there were other people present at his residence that evening, His father, Jennifer Lee,
Jennifer's children and her husband. Mr. Fico testified that when Petitioner and Brodie arrived,
Brodie had the same bruises that he saw earlier that day on Monday morning, He stated that while

at his residence, Brodie was playing with Petitioner’s two nephews and he was mostly focused on

7




1 || watching the game. He testified that after the game was over, they went to Petitioner’s sister’s
2 }i house and Mike and Brodie met him over there. (PHT at Page 39).
3 Mr. Fico testified that the next day, Tuesday, June 14th, he saw Mike, Arica and Brodie again
4 3 at the store. They told him they were going to Shark Reef. He was asked if on Tuesday morning
5 || Brodie still had the same bruises that he saw Monday night, to which he stated yes. It was at that
E— ---6-Jpoint-he questioned-Arica-about the bruise on Brodie, and she acted-as-if-she-didn’t really know.
7| (PHT at Page 42). N
8 The State next called a pathologist, Dr. Lisa Garvin. Dr. Garvin testified that she could not,
9 || with a degree of certainty, say exactly when the injuries occurred which caused Brodie’s death. She
10 || further testified that Brodie’s injuries were consistent the force one may experience from that of an
11 {| automobile accident. (PHT at Page 74). A portion of Dr. Gavin’s testimony follpws:.
12 BY MR. McDONALD:
13 Q. Could the motor vehicle accident have caused a partial tear to the duodenum?
14 A, A motor vehicle accident can cause that, But the timing is off in this particular
s case.
Q. It can cause it to partially tear, not transect fully?
16 A, It can cause a partial tear but there would be symptoms at that time.
i Q. Could it be symptoms like an upset stomach? |
s A, They can have an upset stomach.
P Q. It would be like flu-like symptoms?
20 A. It s possible.
21 Q. nd then as the partial tear -- the way I understand it is that matter instead of
22 processing out it’s coming from the stomach into the abdominal cavity?
23 A, Yes, It doesn’t even go into -- he wouldn’t necessarlly have normal bowel
movements. He would be vomiting, he wouldn’t want to eat.
2 Dr. Gavin further testified that:
2 A. It doesn’t matter the size of the hole, it’s the fact of the abdominal contents
- 26 going into the cavity and that’s causing the perltomtis and it’s that reaction
that ends up making the person sick.
77 Q. Well, wouldn’t the size of the hole regulate the amount of matter that is
28 emptying into the abdominal cavity?

8
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1
A, The amount that gets into the abdominal cavity isn’t relevant either because
2 it’s the reaction to something that’s not supposed to be there that causes the
problem that causes the peritonitis that causes The death.
3
Q. So it’s not uncommon for someone to have peritonitis for in excess - of two
4 weeks before expiring?
5 A. They can have it for -- that’s correct, but they’re usually sick, a fever,
abdominal pain, not eating, could be vomiting, may not have normal bowel
Y W | .. movements. o i e —
7 Q. And those are some of the sympfoms that a person may have, correct?
8 A.  That's correct.
9 Q.  They wouldn’t necessarily have to have all those symptoms?
10 A.  Usually they have a majority of them.
11 Q. And that comes from just your education from the text books?
12 A. Educatiqn. I hgwe seen that when [ was in medical school. I have seen people |
with peritonitis present. I’ ve seen children with peritonitis present. I've seen
13 adults die from peritonitis as well as children,
14 Q.  Youdon't necessarily have to have as you mentioned a transection of the
duodenum to incur peritonitis?
15
A That’s correct.
16
17 When Dr. Gavin was questioned as to whether anyone had advised her that approximately
18 || four to five days prior to his demise, that Brodie was riding on a battery operated quad, went off the
19 |{ curb and allegediy hit his face into an automobile, she did not recall being told that. Dr. Gavin also
20 || testified that Brodie had one abrasion just beneath his lower lip and that could be from his teeth
21 || pressing on the lower lip as he’s biting his lip, which Ms, Moshidee earlier testified that Brodie did
22 || quite often. She further testified that she had only seen a couple of cases like this but this was the
23 || only one she had done by herself. (PHT at Page 80).
24 During the testimony of Arica Foster, the mother of Brodie Aschenbrenner, she admitted that
25 || she never saw Petitioner do anything other than wrestle with the child in a playful manner.
26 From Arica’s own testimony there are large periods of time when Arica Foster, specifically
27 || Tuesday night, was home with the child alone, including the morning hours prior to his death, Ms,
28 || Foster even testified that the evening prior to Brodie’s death when she was cleaning him up after

kS
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1 || vomiting, that she never noticed any injuries on the child. Further, her testimony that Danny Fico
2 || questioned her about the bruising on Brodie, does not support probable causé, by either “slight or
3 || marginal® evidgnce, that Petitioner committed the acts which led to his death, Relevant testimony
4 || from Arica Foster follows (PHT at Page 92):
5 BY MR. MCDONALD:
o ~ Q. . __Did Mr. Fico ask you about the condition of Brodie when - ——— - .
you.were in the store?...—
! A, Yes. We talked about his cheek. He had pointed out his
8 cheek, oo
9 Q. Mr. Fico brought it up to you?
10 A Yes. |
1 ] Q. It was the bruise on his cheek?
12 A. Yes.
I3 Q. What did he ask you about it?
14 A. He just made a comment about look at his bruise.
15 Q. Did you explain to him how he got the bruise?
16 A. No. 1 just made a comment that his forehead is bruised too.
17 Mr. Fico observing the bruises, in no way indicated that it was Petitioner who caused these
18 [ injuries. Though Arica testified that she didn’t know what caused them, does not estéb] ish probable
19 |} cause that Petitioner committed violent acts upon Brodie. '
20 Ms. Foster also testified to several other relevant matters. First, Ms. Foster testified as
21 | follows as to the events of that evening. (PHT at Page 99):
22 BY MR. STANTON: _
23 Q. What if anything occurred with the defendant while you were
preparing the evening meal?
o A. He left to go to the gas station.
2 Q. How long was he gone?
2 A, Maybe an hour.
?7 Q.  Did you call him or have communication with him while he
28 was at his place of employment?

10
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A I called him after dinner was done. Like after I had cooked it.

: Q. He didn’t go there to go work, did he?.

3 A, No, sir.

! Q. Why did he go there as you understood it?

’ A, Somebody called him. ;

E— _ 7Q — When }cu tralked‘to him héw d.d,ou@ommW ; I fﬁ——

7 hold of him?

8 A, Called his cell phone,

9 Q. What did you tell him wheh you called on the cell phone?

10 A, I said dinner was ready,

Il Q. Did he come home?

12 A Yes. A little bit later. About 10 minutes.

13 Q. Had Brodie already finished eating?

14 A, Yes. And I had already put him to bed.

15 Arica testified that she had come home, Petitioner left and she alone with Brodie, in fact,
16 || he was in bed when Petitioner returned and she continued to have the evening meal with the
17 || Petitioner.

18 By Arica’s own testimony, and the time frame given by Dr, Gavin, she was the person who
19 | had been alone with Brodie in those 24 hours preceding his death. Arica testified that after her meal
20 |i with Petitioner, she had gone to her mother’s house, and then to the store io buy some milk for
21 {| Brodie. Further testimony is as follows (PHT at Page 103):
22 BY MR. McDONALD:
23 Q. When you walked in the home where was the defendant?
24 A. Sitting on the couch.

25 Q What was he doing?

A. Watching TV.

26 Arica stated that upon her return, she did not check on Brodie as she believed that he wés
j; sleeping, She stated that she and Petitioner went to bed together around 10:00, 10:30 p.m. She

11
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1 | testified that around 1:00 a.m., Petitioner advised her that Brodie was sick and had been vomiting,
2 |t A portion of Arica’s testimony follows (PHT at Page 105):
3 Q. When you were woken up by the defendant did he ask you to
4 do anything about Brodie and his condition?
_ 1 don’t remember.
5
. Q. Did he ask you to clean up Brodie?
b A Tdowtremem berright now.-1’m-somry. |
7
Q. What did Brodie tell you about how he was feeling?
8
A, He told me that his head hurt.
9 :
Q. His head hurts?
10
A, (No oral response.)
| 11 _
: Q. Is that a yes?
| 12 :
‘ A, Yes.
: 13
f Q. And what did you do as far as taking care of Brodie and his
14 room and his condition of his bed?
15 A, Picked up Brodie and brought him into the bathroom and just
wiped his face off and just wiped him down a little bit. And then
16 I got a towel and laid it on the couch and laid Brodie on the couch
: with a blanket over him and then I laid with him,
17
Q. I'm sorry?
18
A. - And]laid with him until he fell asleep.
19
20 Arica testified that she and Brodie had been in an automobile accident about two weeks prior
21 { to his demise and that as a result, Brodie’s car seat had broken. A portion of her testimony follows
22 || (PHT at Page 111):
23 Q. Do ﬁu recall the accident, the automobile accident occurred
on May 26th? ‘
24
A. I don’t remember the date.
25
Q. Would that sound about right to you?
26
A, Yes, sir.
27
Q. Do you recall that it was about two ¢”clock in the afternoon?
28

12
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1 A. Yes, sir.
2 Q. Do you recall telling the police that you had been hit from
; behmnd?
A, Yes, sir.
4 .
5 Q. That caused you to hit the vehicle in front of you?
p A, No, sir .
1 Q It c"aused-yeu—té—hit—yeu-r—headseﬁ.aewhére—i—nfthe-iﬁfer;}émﬁﬂm_—F -of the -
7 car?
8 A. Yes.
9 Q. You don’t recall where you hit your head?
10 A, On the window. The side window.
It Q. Do you recal] telling the police that Brodie’s car seat broke?
12 A. Yes, sir. ‘
13 Q. How did it break? What was broken?
14 A, On the left-hand side on the top it had broke off the
Styrofoam. It came undone.
15
6 Q. Did you replace that car seat?
A. No, sir,
17 :
Q. There was quite a bit of damage to the back of your car,
18 correct?
19 A, Yeah,
20 Q. And Brodie never complained of any injuties on May 26™, the
day of the automobile accident?
21
A, No.
22 ,
Q. And when you took him to the doctor on May 27th did the
23 doctor do any x-rays?
24 A. No.
25 - »
Q. Doctor just examined hirh in the room when you were
26 : present?
27 A. Yes.
28 Q. About how long was the doctor in the room with you and

13
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1 Brodie?
2 A, Ten or fifteen minutes,
3 Moreover, Arica testified that Brodie was a clumsy child, who fell often and bruised very
4 || easily. A portion of her testimony follows (PHT at Page 115);
5 Q. Brodie experienced a lot of bruising, didn’t he?
7 Q. Brodie had an accident when he was riding his litile quad
. and you were walking the dog on the Friday before his demise, correct?
o A. Yes, sir.
Q. And he fell off of the little quad?
10
A Yes, sir.
11
Q. And hit his face on a car?
12
A, No, sir.
13 '
Q. What did he hit his face on?
14 '
A, He hit his cheek on the curb,
15
_ Q. So on the concrete?
16
A, Yes.
17 _
Q. It wasn’t unusual for Brodie to have accidents like that, was it?
18 :
A. No.
19
Q. The dog would knock him down?
20 ,
, A. Yes.
21 _
Q. He would jump off of things and get a bloody nose?
22
A, He never had a bloody nose.
23
Q. He never had a bloody nose?
24
A, No.
25 _ ‘
Q. To the best of your recollection he never had a bloody nose?
26
A, Not that I can remember.
27
g Q. Now, did you take him to the doctor when his chin hit the concrete?
2

14
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1 A. No, sir. It was his cheek.
2 Q. His cheek hit the concrete, He had stitches in his eyelid at one time, right?
A. Yes, sir.
) Q. How did that occur?
! MR. STANTON: Objection, relevance, Your Honor, and time fréme, foundation.
> THE COURT: I think it’s all relevant.
! Q. Do you recall when that occurred?
’ A. Yes. It was about a month and a half before everything happened.
’ Q. Do you recall how that occurred?
0 A, Yes.
11
Q. How was that?
2 A, Mike and Brodie and his nephews and I were at the park,
13 I had Mike’s nephew on the swing, Mike had Brodie and
- he hit his face running on a piece of park equipment.
" Q. Brodie was running and he hit his face on a piece of park equipment?
N A He tripped and fel,
-16 Q. So nobody pushed Brodie?
v A.-  No.
18
19 There was testimony presented that Brodie had a black eye on Monday and Tuesday before
20 | his death. However, Arica testified that she had taken Brodie to the commuﬁity pool, after he was
21 || diagnosed with pink eye on the previous Friday. Prior (PHT at Page 120). She stated that it was her
22 {| thattook Brodie, with pink eye, to @ conmunity pool, and that the swimming pool irritated his eyes.
23 When questioned by the State, Arica made it appear that Brodie was grumpy during their trip
24 || to the Shark Reef, among other places, on Monday, due to some fault of Petitioner, However, when
.25 questioned, Arica lestified as follows (PHT at Page 124): -
26 - BY MR. MCDONALD:
27 Q. When you went to Circus Circus had that been planned prior
to going to the Shark Reef?
28
) - 15
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No.
2 Q. So once you were done at the Shark Reef you and Mike
; discussed going to Circus Circus?
A, Yes.
4
Q. And Brodie was in his stroller at Circus Circus, wasn’t he?
5 .
A Yes.
e o s
Q. He-wasn’t-walking?
7
A, No.
8
Q. When Brodie was at Circus Circus did he teil you he was
9 tired?
10 A, Yes.
11 Q. Would Brodie get cranky when he was tired?
12 A, Yes. |
13 Q.  So he was cranky at Circus Circus?
14 A, Yes.
15 Q. So after that you went to Fantastic Sam’s?
16 A, Yes.
17 Q. And then to the bank?
18 A. Yes.
19 Q. Was that a drive-thru?
20 A. Mike went in.
21 Q.  And you and Brodie stayed in the car? -
22 A Yes.
23 . . .
The period where Petitioner went into the bank, once again gives her an opportunity to be
2%
- alone with Brodie. She further testified that Brodie was very cranky. (PHT at Page 126):
25
BY MR. McDONALD:
26
Q. So it took 30 or 40 minutes to get from Circus Circus to
27 Fantastic Sam’s to the bank and then to Best Buy?
28 A

Somewhere around there, yes.

16
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Q. Ang y}vas Brodie still te]lmg you that he wanted to go night
night?

A He had fell asleep between Circus Circus and Fantastic Sam’s.

Q. But he woke up when you got out of the car at Fantastxc
Sam’s, correct?

Yes.

[=-] -1 [« (¥ =8 L2 (o] — = o oo ~1 (=] (¥4 + [V o — <
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Did-he-stay awake to-the-bank-and-to-Best Buy?——
Yes.

Q. Washe cranky?

A, Alittle bit,

o >

She testified that they had returned home from Best Buy in the late afternoon. She stated she
then started cleaning and Brodie was helpin'g her. Ascranky and tired as he was, she didn’t put him
down for a nap as she testified to, but instead, she kept him awake and he helped her clean, This
seems strange for a small child who had been sleepy and cranky and asking to go “night night” only
moments before their arrival at home. Shortly thereafter, Petitioner received a call and left to go to
his place of employment, and it was just Arica and Brodie there alone. She stated that she made
dinner and called Petitioner to tell him dinner was ready. (PHT at Page 128).

The following portion of Arica’s testimony would negate the inference of either slight or
marginal evidence that probable cause exists 1o believe that it was Petitioner who committed these
acts against Brodie, and tend to cause one to wonder if it wasn't in fact Arica who committed_ these
offenses. (HT at Page 128):

BY MR. McDONALD:

Q. When you cleaned Brodie up what was he wearing?

A, His underwear and I took his shirt off.

Q. So you removed his shirt. Did you see any injuries when you
removed his shirt?

Al No.

Q. No injuries at all?

17
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So-it-wasn t dark-in-the-bathroom;-correct?

I didn’t notice anything, I was half asleep and it was still kind of
dark in the house.

Well,' you took him in the bathroom to clean him up, didn’t you?
Yes. |
You turned the light on in the bathroom?

Yeah.
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Correct,
You didn’t have any problems seeing Brodie at that time, did you?
No, I didn’t notice anything.

You took him out to the couch and did you arrange the couch in any special

I just put a towel down.

By her own testimony, she did not observe any injuries to Brodie at that time. It was

following this incident that she and Petitioner went to bed together and the following morning

Petitioner, on his way to work, placed Brodie next to Arica on the bed before he left. Arica testified

that she awoke around 8:50 am., notice that Brodie was at the edge of her bed and rubbed his back.’

She felt that he was cold and non responsive, and that’s when she called 911.

Arica testified that Brodie was very clumsy and although she had been previously advised

to take Brodie to a neurologist, she neglected to so. If this was in fact the cause for Brodie’s

bruising, why wouldn’t she seek help for her child in an attempt to keep him from getting injured

all the time. Arica was questioned about whether Brodie was always bruised and if she had ever

seen Petitioner either strike or harm Brodie, she testified as follows (PHT at Page 133):
BY MR. McDONALD:

s L PO

Brodie had a lot of trouble with his balance, didn’t he?
He was clumsy. |
He would fall down?

Yes.

18
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1 Q. Just be standing one moment and fall down the next?

2 A.  No.

3 Q. Okay. Standing and start to walk and fall down?

4 A. He’d be wélking.

5 Q. And fall?

;N R A, And trip over things like his own feet. e
Q. Did you ever take Brodie to a pediatric neurologist?
3 A. No. My pediatrician said not to woiry about it,

9 Q.  So you discussed it with the pediatrician? -
10 A. Yes.
11 Q. You never saw Mike hit Brodie, did you?
12 A. . No.
13 Q. And Mike never hit you?
14 A. No. _
15 . She stated that the only physical activity she had ever observed was Petitioner and Brodie
16 || wrestling playfully. It would appear by the record, that the substantial periods of time in which, even
17 || Arica testified, that Brodie was alone for a period of time long enough to sustain the injuries, was
18 || when he was in her care. She cleaned Brodie up, observed no injuries, and then went to bed with
19 || Petitioner, She stated she looked over at Brodie the morning he was placed in her bed, he was fine,
20 || and several hours later, the child suddenly and mysteriously died.
21 Petitioner submits that there was no evidence, either slight or marginal, to bind him over on
22 | these charges, as there is no probable cause to believe that it was Petitioner who committed any acts
23 | of abuse against Brodie Aschenbrenner.
24 At the Preliminary Hearing, even the State argues that it is questionable as to who actually
25 || committed these crimes against Brodie that caused his death, Mr. Stanton’s testimony follows in
26 || part (PHT at Page 141): | |
27 BY MR. STANTON:
28 This child died at the hands of another human being and critically
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that it’s non-accidental trauma. So one of three things took place, The
defendant murdered this child, the mother murdered this child or they

2 both did. Now, what we have in this case is the mother of this child
and the care and concern that you saw of what and how she cared for
3 this child under oath. With that testimony, Judge, [ would submit that
there’s only one of three options that exist based upon this evidentiary
4 resentation and that the defendant committed the charge that’s set
orth in the criminal complaint and ask that you bind him over.
5
i -6 -~ The State, by Mr. Stanton’s own argument admits that the evidence against Petitioner does
7 [| not establish probable cause to support a reasonable inference that Petitioner commitied these
8 |l offenses, Mr, Stanton explicitly states: “there are three options that exist based upon the testimony
9 [| and arguments bresented at the Preliminary Hearing.” That statement alone “one of three options,”
10 || reflects that even the Staie realizes that there was no finding of probable cause at the Preliminary
11 | Hearing to support the criminal charges based on “slight or even marginal evidence” to bind
12 | Petitioner over on these charges.
13 Following the State’s closing argument, Judge Gibson even admitted in his finding that the
14 | evidence against Petitioner was by the “slightest and slimmest™ of probable cause to support a
15 || criminal charge that it was Petitioner who committed these offenses. Judge Gibson’s statement
16 | follows in part (PHT at Page 141):
17 - THE COURT:
18 I have some problems with the case, with the amount of knowled ge
that I've been given here this afternoon. I believe that the burden is
15 slight or marginal. This is a tragedy. The testimony is uncontroverted
that the death was a homicide at the hands of another, The question
20 of who did it is a big question. At this point in time with all of the
testimony, and we haven’t heard from the defendant, which at this
21 point in time I don’t think you can un-ring a bell, but with the
testimony of the friend questioning the bruising, with the testimony
22 that we have I believe that the burden has been met. I think by the
slightest and slimmest of margins and there’s a lot of stuff here that
23 I don’t know and of course I'm not the one who is able to ask the
uestions, I believe that slight or marginal evidence has been shown
24 that murder and child abuse with substantial bodity harm has been
met and we’ll hold the defendant to answer to the charges in the
25 Eighth Judicial District Court,
26 Based upon the fact that there was no probable cause, either “s]igﬁt” or “marginal”,
27 || presented at the Preliminary Hearing that it was Petitioner who committed these acts against this
28 || child, these charges simply cannot stand against Petitioner.

20
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LEGAL ARGUMENT
The Defendant understands that the finding of probable cause to support a criminal charge
may be based on “slight or even marginal evidence...because it does not involve a determination of

the guiit or innocence of the accused.” Sheriff v. Hodes, 96 Nev. 184 (1980). “To commit an

|| accused for trial, the State is not required to negate all inferences which might explain his-conduet,
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but to present enough evidence to support a reasonable inference that the accused committed the

offense.” Kinsey v. Sheriff, 87 Nev. 361 (1971).

An inference is a deduction which the reason of the jury (trier of the facts) makes from the
facts proved, without an express direction of law to that effect. While the inference drawn neéd not
be a necessary inference, it still remains that the inference must be reasonable, not unreasonable or
50 remote as to be unwarranted. Probable cause requires that there shall be more evidence for guilt
than against.

State v. Von Brincken, 86 Nev. 769, 773, 476 P.2d 733 (1970).

To establish probable cause at a preliminary hearing, the evidence presented must support
a reasonable inference that the defendant probably committed the offense charged. Shériff, Clark
County v. Cunha, 93 Nev. 567, 571 P.2d 112 (1977). Probable cause requires that the evidence be
weighed by the magistrate toward guilt, but the facts must be such that would lead a person of
“ordinary caution and prudence to believe and conscientiously entertain a strong suspicion.” Graves
v. Sheriff, Clark County, 88 Nev. 436, 498 P.2d 1324 (1972).

To sustain a prosecution to trial in district court, there must either be an indictment or

information filed based upon probable cause that the Defendant committed the offense charged.

N.R.S.171.206,172.155. Slight or marginal evidence must be shown regarding each element of the

crime charged to support a finding of probable cause. Sheriff, Washoe County v. Middleton, 112

Nev. 956, 921 P.2d 282 (1996) (“At preliminary hearing stage, the state’s burden with respect to the
corpus delecti is the same as its burden to show probable cause.”); Domingues v. State, 112 Nev.
683,917 P.2d 1364 (1996) (In determining whether a crime has been committed, the elements of the

crime, the corpus delicti, must be established in order 1o hold a defendant for trial).

21
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In the instant matter, the burden of proof necessary in order to hold Petitioner to answer in

the district court was not met by the States at the preliminary hearing as it was not supported by

“substantial and competent evidence. Even on a murder charge the quantum of proof necessary in

order to hold an accused to answer in the district court is only that it appear to the magistrate, from

substantial and competent evidence, that an offense has been committed and that the defendant

{-committed it; when the evidence is in conflict at the preliminary examination it is the-function-of the-
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magistrate to determine the weight to be accorded the testimony of the witnesses, and so long as an
inference of criminal agency can be drawn from the evidence it is proper for the magistrate o draw
it, thereby leaving to the jury at the trial the ultimate determination of which of the witnesses are
more credible. Bryant v, Sheriff, Clark County, 86 Nev. 622, 472 P.2d 345 (1970).
In Azbill v, State, 84 Nev, 345, 350, 440 P.2d 1014 (1968), the court held:

“If a death is thought to be caused by criminal means and a person is charged with

a crime for causing that death, before he can be held for tral two things must be

proved by sufficient legal evidence before a grand jury if an indictment is sought or

before a magistrate if a complaint is filed and a preliminary hearing is held. They are

(1) the fact that a crime has been committed; and {2} probable cause to believe that

the person charged committed it,”

“In proving the crime, which is otherwise known as the corpus delicti two elements must be
established (1) the fact of death; and (2) the criminal agency of another responsible for that death.
Beasley v. Lamb, 79 Nev. 78, 80, 378 P.2d 524 (1963)."

An open murder complaint charges murder in the first degree and all necessarily included
offenses. NRS 175.501; Parsons v. State, 74 Nev. 302, 329 P.2d 1070 (1958); State v. Oschoa, 49
Nev. 194, 242 P. 582 (1926).

At a preliminary hearing on such charge, the degree of proof required to hold a person to
answer in the disirict court is only that it appears to the .magistrate, from legal, competent evidence,
that an offense has been committed and that the defendant committed it. Goldsmith v, Sheriff, 85
Nev, 295, 454 P.2d 86 (1969).

In the case at bar, the evidence presented by the State does not support a'bind over on the

Counts of Murder and Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm as the elements were

not established as to the fact of death; or that there was probable cause to believe that Petitioner

22

84~



—

committed these offenses.
A, THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE BY SLIGHT OR MARGINAL EVIDENCE
THAT THE PETITIONER WITH INTENT COMMITTED THE CRIMES
ALLEGED
To withstand a Writ of Habeas Corpus, the Court must find that the State presented sufficient

legal evidence at the preliminary hearing or at the grand jury proceedings to show (1) probable cause

{|-that-a-erime-was committed and (2) probable cause to believe that the defendantcharged-committed
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that crime. Frutiger v. State, 111 Nev. 1385, 907 P.2d 158 (1995); see also Lamb v. Holsten, 85
Nev. 566, 459 P.2d 771 (1969); NRS 172.155. "The purpose of the preliminary proceedings is to

weed out groundless or unsupported charges of grave offenses and to relieve the accused of the
degradation and the expense of a criminal trial," State v. VonBrincken, 476 P. 2d 733 (Nev. 1970),
~ Itis foreseeable that after an independent review of the evidence presented at the preliminary
hearing, the district court would find the justice court erroneously determined proba'ble cause existed.
Higher courts often review lower courts decisions and overturn those decisions. This is such a
situation. In the instant case, the State failed to prove by slight or marginal evidence that it was the
Petitioner who maliciously with intent committed the crimes alleged. |
In the instant case, the State failed to prove by slight or marginal evidence that the Petitioner

maliciously with intent committed the crimes alleged, as there was absolutely no evidence presented

by the State to make a determination that probable cause existed to believe that Petitioner committed
the offenses he has been charged with. In fact, as above noted, both the State as well as Judge
Gibson, distinctlj; admit that the question as to whom these alleged acts were committed by, is a big
one,

As to Count 1 of Murder, there was no evidence presented at the Preliminary Hearing that
Petitioner committed the unlawful killing of ahuman being with malice aforethought, either express
or implied, as there was no showing of probable cause that it was Petitioner who committed any of
the alleged acts. Therefore, the Petitioner cannot be held to answer for this crime. There is clearly
insufficient evidence, either “slight” or “marginal,” to establish that the Defendzant committed Count
1, Murder. .

As to Count 2 of Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm, there was

23
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absolutely no evidence presented that Petitioner had the intent to abuse, neglect or endanger a child
by willfully causing a child less than 18 years of age to suffer unjustifiable physical pain or mental
suffering as a result of abuse or neglect, or to be placed in a situation where the child may Suffer
physical pain or mental suffering as the result of abuse or neglect.

As outlined in the above Statement of Facts, there are substantial periods of time that Arica

-Foster, the.week prior to and more specifically on the night prior to his death, is-at-home-and alone
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with the child. Arica puts the child to bed prior to Petitioner returning home. After Petitioner alerts
Arica that the child had vomited, she got up, cleaned him up and laid him on the couch, and returned
to bed. By her own testimony, she did not observe any injuries to the child when she was in the
bathroom cleaning him up. Petitioner leaves for work the next morning and the child is again left
alone with Arica and a short time later the child is reported deceased.

Clearly there is insufficient evidence fo establish that the Defendant committed Count 2,
Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm. |

The State bears the burden of proof'to establish a finding of probable cauée at the Preliminary
Hearing to support the criminal charges baséd on “slight or even marginal evidence” to bind

Petitioner over on these charges,

not establish probable cause to support a reasonable inference that Petitioner committed these
offenses. Mr. Stanton explicitly states: “there are three options that exist based upon the teStimoﬁy
and arguments preserited at the Preliminary Hearing.” That statement alone “one of three options,”
reflects that even the State realizes that there was no finding of probable cause at the Preliminary
Hearing to support the-criminal charges against Petitioner based on “slight or even marginal
evidence” to bind him over on these charges. If there are three options which exist, it is irrefutable

that probable cause has not been shown by the evidence presented at the preliminary hearing, that

by either “slight” or “marginal” evidence. If probable cause had been shown by evidence either
“slight” or “marginal,” only one option would exist, not three options as rightfully pointed out by

Mr. Stanion. .

24

The State, by Mr. Stanton’s own argument, admits that the evidence against Petitioner does

Petitioner possessed intent to commit or that he did commit the crimes he has been charged with,
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Moreover, following Mr. Stanton’s statement, Judge Gibson thereafter mai(es the same
admission. Judge Gibson states: “The question of who did it is a big question.” Judge Gibson then
goes on to state “I think by the slightest and slimmest of margins and there’s a lot of stuff here that
Idon’t know and of course I'm not the one who is able to ask the questions. I believe that slight or

marginal evidence has been shown that murder and child abuse with substantial bodily harm has

been met and we’ll hold the defendant to answer to the charges in the Eighth Judicial District Court.” .

10
11
12
13

14

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

D0 = N W

Clearly, Judge Gibson’s finding to bind Petitioner over on these charges is reversible error.
What Judge Gibson is basically saying is that, well I believe that a crime has been committed, there
is a big question as to who committedit, and as I'm not the one who can ask questions, we’ll just
go ahead and hold Petitioner to answer to the charges in District Court. The “big question” as to
who committed these acts completely negates “slight” or “marginal” evidence supporting probable
cause that Petitioner committed these crimes. )

Further, the statement made by Judge Gibson that “At this point in time with all of the
testimony, and we haven’t heard from the defendant, which at this point in time I don’t think you can
un-ring a bell, but with the testimony of the friend questioning the bruising, with the testimony that
we have, I believe that the burden has been met,”. That only applies to the element of death by
criminal agency, not as to who perpetrated the criminal act. To decide that probable cause was met
as to the identity of the perpetrator is not supported by, and is contrary to the evidence, and the
record discloses a substantial conflict therein.

There is a substantial conflict in the matter which is clearly disclosed on the record at the
Preliminary' Hearing, Mr. Stanton statés “So one of three things took place. The defendant murdered
this child, the mother murdered this child or they both did. Now, what we have in this case is the
mother of this child and the care and concern that you saw of what and how she cared for this child

under cath. With that testimony, Judge, I would submit that there’s only one of three options that

-exist based upon this evidentiary presentation and that the defendant committed the charge.” What

Mr. Stanton, as well as Judge Gibson, are implying is that well we are still really not sure who
committed these acts, but since the mother got on the stand and testified and Petitioner did not, it had

to have been him.
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Petitioner would submit that the finding to bind him over on'the charges based upon the fact
that Arica testified and he did not, is clearly contrary to the law that an accused persons failure to
testify cannot be held against them. Considering the totality of the circumstances, Arica would have
no reason to be afraid to present testimony against Petitioner in this matter as she is not the one

accused of murder or child abuse. If Arica did in facts commit the acts which resulted in the death

-of her son, it is not unreasonable to believe that she could testify in a manner which would attempt
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to shift the blame further away from her.
As the State has failed to present any evidence either “slight” or “marginal,” the charges
against Petitioner were improperly bound over for trial and should be dismissed.
B. THE STATE FAILED TO PRESENT ANY EVIDENCE THAT THE
PETITIONER HAD ANY INFERENCE OF INTENT TO COMMIT
THE OFFENSES HE HAS BEEN CHARGED WITH
It is the burden of the State to prove that Petitioner committed the offenses he has been
charged with and that he had intent to commit ér\y of these crimes. In this case at bar, the State has
not met that burden.
To constitute a crime there must be unity of act and intent. In every crime or public offense

there must exist a union, or joint operation of act and intention, or criminal negligence. N.R.S.

193.190. Intention is manifested by the circumstances connected with the perpetration of the

_offense, and the sound mind and discretion of the person accused. N.R.S. 193.200.

Therefore, probable cause must have been shown, by the evidence presented at the
preliminary hearing that Petitioner possessed intent to commit the crimes he has been charged with
for the charges to have been properly bound over for trial, There was insufficient evidence presented
which supported any criminal intent by Petitioner.

Intent is an essential element to support a charge. Ifno such intent is shown, then the charge
cannot stand as no showing of intent was made. Consequently, at the preliminary hearing the State
should have been required to present evidence that Petitioner had intent to commit the criminal acts
that he has been charged with.

As to the charge of Murder, the State failed to present any evidence supporting this elements

of this offense and therefore failed to show probable cause that Petitioner possessed the intent to
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1 || commit or that he did commit murder.
2 The statute. which governs the elements to substantiate a charge of Murder are outlined in
3 || N.R.S. 200.010 “Murder” defined, is the uniawful killing of a human being:
4 1. With malice aforethought, either express or implied;
5 2. Caused by a controlled substance which was sold, given,
traded or otherwise made available to a person in violation of chapter
.6 e 453 of NRS; or e
7 3. Caused by a violation of NRS 453,3325,
8 " E The unlawful killing may be effected by any of the various means
by which death may be occasioned,
9
No evidence was presented at the Preliminary Hearing to demonstrate that the Petitioner
10
committed murder. Though the standard is probable cause, slight or marginal evidence, this standard
11 -
has not been meet. There hasn’t been any evidence to show that it was Petitioner who committed the
12
acts which fead to the death of Brodie Aschenbrenner. Assuch, the count of Murder was improperly
13
bound over for trial and Count 1 should be dismissed.
14 _
It is also the State’s burden to present sufficient evidence to support a finding of probable
I5
cause that the Petitioner had the intent to commit or that he did commit the offense of Child Abuse
16 ' ‘
and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm to warrant a bind-over on this charge, N.R.S. 200.508
17 : '
is the governing statute regarding abuse, neglect or endangerment of child; Penalties; definitions.
18
N.R.S. 200.508 states:
19 '
1. A person who willfully causes a child who is less than 18 years of age to
20 suffer unjustifiable physical pain or mental suffering as a result of abuse or neglect
or to be placed in a situation where the child may suffer physical pain or mental
21 suffering as the resuilt of abuse or neglect: :
22 (a) If substantial bodily or mental harm results to the child:
23 (1)  Ifthe child is less than 14 years of age and the
harm is the result of sexual abuse or exploitation, is
24 guilty of a category A felony and shall be punished by -
imprisonment in the state prison for life with the
25 Eossibility of parole, with eligibility for parole
eginning when a minimum of 15 years has been
26 served; or
27 (2) In all other such cases to which subparagraph (1) does not apply, is guilty of
a category B felony and shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for a
28 minimum term of not less than 2 years and a maximum term of not mote than 20
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years; or

1
2 h(lb If substantial bodily or mental harm does not result to the
child: '
3
(1) If the person has not previously been
4 convicted of a violation of this section or of a
violation of the law of any other jurisdiction that
5 prohibits the same or similar conduct, is guilty of a
category B felony and shall be punished by
6 § imprisonment in the state prison for a minimum term . — . ..ocoe
of not less than 1 year and a maximum-term-ofnot
7 more than 6 years; or
8 (2) Ifthe person has previously been convicted of
a violation of this section or of a violation of the law
9 of any other jurisdiction that prohibits the same or
similar conduct, is guilty of a category B felony and
10 shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison
for a minimum term of not less than 2 years and a
11 maximum term of not more than 15 years,
12 E unless a more severe penalty is prescribed by law for an act or
omission that brings about the abuse or neglect.
13
2. A person who is responsible for the safety or welfare of a child and who
14 permits or allows that child to suffer unjustifiable physical pain or mental suffering
as aresult of abuse or neglect or to be placed in a situation where the child may suffer
15 physical pain or mental suffering as the result of abuse or neglect:
16 (a) If substantial bodily or mental harm results to the child:
17 (1)  Ifthe child is less than 14 years of age and the
harm is the result of sexual abuse or exploitation, is
18 guilty of a category A felony and shall be punished by
imprisonment in the state prison for life with the
19 possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole
‘ beginning when a minimumn of 10 years has been
20 served; or
21 " (2} Inall other such cases to which subparagraph
(1) does not apply, is guilty of a category B felony and
22 shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison
“for a minimum term of not less than 2 years and a
23 maximum term of not more than 20 years; or
24 h'(llzl) If substantial bodily or mental harm does not result to the
child:
25
(1) If the person has not previously been
26 convicted of a violation of this section or of a
violation of the law of any other jurisdiction that
27 prohibits the same or similar conduct, is guilty of a
gross misdemeanor; or
28

28
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(2) Ifthe person has previously been convicted of
a violation of this section or of a violation of the law
of any other jurisdiction that prohibits the same or

similar conduct, is guilty of a category C felony and
shall be punished as provided in NRS 193,130,

E unless a more severe penalty is prescribed by law for an act or
omission that brings about the abuse or neglect,

A person does not commit a viclation of subsection 1 or 2 by virtue of the
ct-that the person delivers or allows the delivery of a child to-a-previder of - -
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emergeney-services-pursuant-to- NRS-432B-630.

4.

Likewise, no evidence was presented at the Preliminary Hearing to demonstrate that the

oSty

As used in this section:

(a) “Abuse or neglect” means physical or mental injury of a
nonaccidental nature, sexual abuse, sexual exploitation, negligent
treatment or maltreatment of a child under the age of 18 years, as set
forth in paragraph (d) and NRS 432B.070, 432B.100, 432B.110,
432B.140 and 432B. 1 50, under circumstances which indicate that the
child’s health or welfare is harmed or threatened with harm.

(b) “Allow” means to do nothing to prevent or stop the abuse or
neglect of a child in circumstances where the person knows or has
reason to know that the child is abused or neglected.

‘(c) “Permii” means permission that a reasonable person would
not grant and which amounts to a neglect of responsibility attending
the care, custody and control of a minor child.

(d) *Physical injury” means:
(1) Permanent or temporary disfigurement; or

(2) Impairment of any bodily function or organ of
the body.

(e) “‘Substantial mental harm” means an injury to the intellectual
or psychological capacity or the ¢emotional condition of a child as
evidenced by an observable and substantial impairment of the ability
of the child to function within his or her normal range of performance
or behavior.

Petitioner willfully caused a child less than 18 years of age to suffer vnjustifiable physical pain or
mental suffering as a result of abuse or neglect or placed a child in a situation where the child may
suffer physical pain or mental suffering as the result of abuse or neglect. The standard is probable
cause, slight or marginal evidence, however, this standard has not been met. There hasn’t been any

evidence to show that it was Petitioner who committed the acts which lead to the death of Brodie
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Aschenbrenner. As such, the count of Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm was

improperly bound over for trial and Count 2 should be dismissed.

C. PETITIONER SHOULD NOT BE REQUIRED TO STAND TRIAL FOR
MURDER OR CHILD ABUSE. AND NEGLECT WITH SUBSTANTIAL
BODILY HARM BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO PROVIDE
SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTING ALL THE ELEMENTS OF
THE ALLEGED OFFENSES

In establishing the corpus delicti of murder two elements must be established:-(1)-Thefact
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of death; and (2) the criminal agency of another responsible for that death, Tertrou v. Sheriff, Clark

County, 89 Nev. 166, 509 P.2d 970, 1973 Nev, LEXIS 459 (1573).; there must be sufficient evidence
to establish the corpus delicti independent of confessions and possibly admissions. Hogker v.

Sheriff, Clark County, 89 Nev. 89, 506 P.2d 1262, 1973 Nev. LEXIS 429 (1973),

In Hooker, Defendant sought review of an order of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark
County (Nevada), which denied his pre-trial petition for a writ of habeas corpus. Defendant had been
charged with the murder of his wife, a violation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 200,010.

Ordered to stand trial for the murder (NRS 200.010) of his wife, appellant sought pre-trial
habeas relief in the district court. Appealing from an order denying that relief, his sole contention
is that the evidence introduced before the magistrate was insufficient to establish probable cause. The
supreme court agreed. The court reversed the order and ordered that defendant be freed from custody
unless within a reasonable time the State e;lected to bring a new charge.

The death of a human being may be brought about by any one of four means: (1) natural
causes; (2) accident; (3) suicide; or (4) criminal means.

In establishing the corpus delicti of murder two elements must be established (1) the fact of
death; and (2) the criminal agency of another responsible for that death. Beasley v, Lamb, 79 Nev.
78, 80, 378 P.2d 524 (1963).

If a criminal complaint is filed charging a person with the death of another and a preliminary

hearing is held, (1) probable cause to believe that a crime has been committed; and (2) probable
cause to believe that the person charged committed it must be proved by sufficient legal evidence.
NRS 171.206.

~ In Hooker, the fact of death was conceded by both parties. However, the appellant contends
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tﬁat evidence is totally lacking to establish that the death was caused by the criminal agency of
another. The State’s own witness testified that the gunshot wound could have been self inflicted. The
only connection, established by the prosecutor, between the accused and the alleged homicide is the
appellant’s spontaneous statement. Even if we were to assume such statement to be incriminating, _
standing alone, it does not meet the test. There must be “sufficient evidence to establish the corpus

-delicti.independent of confessions and possible admissions, . . .” Azbill v, State, 84 Nev.-345, 351, |-

10
1
12
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19
20

21

22
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440 P.2d 1014, 1018 (1968); Hicks v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 67, 464 P.2d 462 (1970).

Once the corpus delicti is determined to have been proved by sufficient evidence, confessions
and admissions may be considered in establishing probable cause to show that it was the particular
defendant charged who was the criminal agency causing the death. In re Kelly, 28 Nev., 49], 83 P.
223 (1905). In Hooker, the coust found that there was no evidence independent of the appellant’s

spontaneous declaration te indicate that the criminal agency of another was responsible for the death.

Proof of the corpus delicti could have been established by direct evidence, People v, Watters. 259

P. 442 (Cal. 1927); partially by direct and partially by circurstantial evidence or totally by |-
circumstantial evidence, State v. Ah Chuey, 14 Nev. 79 (1879); State v, Loveless, 17 Nev, 424, 30
P. 1080 (1883); People v. Clark, 233 P. 980 (Cal.App. 1925); Hartman v. State, 206 S.W.2d 380

(Tenn. 1947); People v. Scott, 1 Cal.Rptr. 600 (Cal. App. 1959). None of these avenues were utilized
by the state. The evidence before the magistrate was insufficient to establish probable cause of the
corpus delicti of murder.

Accordingly the court reversed the order of the lower court, and ordered that appellant be
freed from custody unless within a reasonable ﬁme the state elects to bring a new charge.

In the case at bar, the State did not present evident sufficient to support the elements to
establish the corpus delicti of murder, (1) the fact Qf death; and (2) the criminal agency of another
responsible for that death. Petitioner should not be required to stand trial for the- count of Murder
as the State failed to provide evidence supporting all of the elements of the alleged offense.
Moreover, there was absolutely no probable caiis;e to support that it was Petitioner who committed
the offense based on “slight or even marginal evidence,”

Finally, at the preliminary hearing, the State failed to provide sufficient evidence supporting
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the essential elements of Count 2, the offense of Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily
Harm,
NRS 205.508 provides, among other things, that: an individual may be convicted of felony
child abuse or neglect if she “willfully causes a child who is less than 18 years of age to suffer

unjustifiable physical péin or mental suffering as a result of abuse or neglect or to be placed ina

situation where the child may suffer physical pain.or mental suffering as the.result of abuse or
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neglect.” N.R.S. 200.508(1). Therefore, probable cause must have been shown, by the evidence
presented at the preliminary hearing, that abuse or neglect occurred fof this case to have beenr
properly bound over for trial.

N.R.S. 200.508(4)(a) defines abuse and neglect, That statute states in pertinent part:

“Abuse or neglect” means physical or mental injury of a nonaccidental nature.
[emphasis added%.

“Physical injurg” means: (1) Permanent or temporary disfigurement; or (2)
Impairment of any bodily function or organ of the body.

Additionally, N.R.S. 432B.070 defines mental injury, That statute states:

“Mental injury” means an injury to the intellectual or psychological capacity or the
emotional condition of a child as evidenced by an observable and substantial
impairment of his ability to function within his normal range of performance or
behavior.

Consequently, at the preliminary hearing the State should have been required to present some
sort of evidence that the child was harmed by abuse or neglect, or in other words, that a physical or
mental injury occurred to the child. The State failed to present any evidence supporting this element
of the crime. There was absolutely no evidence presented that a physical or menta) injury occurred
as a result of abuse and as such this count was improperly bound over for trial.

However, there was no sufficient evidence presented supporting the elements of the offense

charged. As the State failed to produce evidence supporting all of the elements of the alleged

offense, the count of Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm should not stand.
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1 111,
2 CONCLUSION ‘
3 WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing facts and argument, Petitioner prays that this
4 || Honorable Court issue a Writ of Habeas Corpus.
5 DATED this 12" day of December, 2011,
I - ‘ - STEVEN.B. WOLFSON, CHTD— - o
7
PAT CKE MCDGNALD ESQ.
9 Nevada Bar No. 3526
601 South Seventh Street
10 Las Vegas, Nevada 82101
. Atitorney for Petitioner
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
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Electronically Filed

NOH 12/13/2011 10:48:27 AM
| DISTRICT COURT | )
1 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA  (74isn b s
2 - CLERK OF THE COURT
3| STATE OF NEVADA,
4 Plaintiff,
5 Vs, : _ CASENO. (277650
DEPTNO., XXIII
6! MICHAEL ALAN LEE,
7 Defendant.
8 /
9 NOTICE RESETTING DATE and TIME OF HEARING
10
1 Please be advised that the date and time of the hearing set before Honorable Stefany
121l A Miley has been changed. PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that at the Court’s request, the above
13|| matters have been reset from January 4, 2012 at 9:30 am to January 30, 2012 at 11:00 a.m.
14 DATED this 12th day of December, 2011,
15 HONORA STEFANY A. MILEY
16
17 By:
: per
18 Judicial Executive Assistant to
\\ 19 Honorable Stefany A. Miley
)
NI |
\ CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE
21
@ I hereby certify that on the 12th day of December 2011, I caused a copy of the
22 Foregoing Notice of Resetting Date and Time of Hearing to be faxed to the following:
q\ 23|| Tom Carroll, Esq. at (702) 455-6980 and to Patrick E. M¢Donald at (702) 385-5351.
N .
\ 24 By:
25 ' Carmen Alper -
Judicial Executive Assistant to
26 Honorable Stefany A. Miley
27
28

STEFANY A. MILEY
DISTRICT JUDGE

DEPARTMENT TWENTY THREE
LAS VEGAS NV 89101-2408
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Electronically Filed
12/15/2011 11:11:36 AM

NOTC (ﬁ;‘. i-m

DAVID ROGER
2 || Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #002781
3 || ANDREA RACHIELE
Chief Deputy District Attorney
4 I Nevada Bar #009158
200 Lewis Avenue
5 | Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
6 | Attorney for Plaintiff
7 DISTRICT COURT
" CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
o || THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
10 Plaintiff, ) CASENO: C-11-277650-1
11 -Vs- : DEPT NO: XXIII
12 || MICHAEL ALAN LEE, %
3 #1699107 )
Defendant. %
14
NOTICE OF EXPERT WITNESSES
15 [NRS 174.234(2)]
16
17 TO: MICHAEL ALAN LEE, Defendant; and
18 TO: P.MCDONALD, ESQ., Counsel of Record:
19 YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the STATE OF
20 | NEVADA intends to call the following witnesses in ifs case in chief:
21 1. BECKWITH, K., P #1739, Crime Scene Analyst, Henderson Police Department,
22 || or Designee: He is an expert in the area of the identification, documentation, collection and
- 23 || preservation of evidence and will give opinions related thereto. He is expected to testify
24 || regarding the identification, documentation, collection and preservation of evidence in this |
25 || case.
26 || 1/
27 |
28§/
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2. BENJAMINS, F., P #720, Detective, Henderson Police Department, or Designee:
She will testify as an expert in homicide investigation, preservation and processing of
evidence from crime scenes, knowledge of injuries and cause and manner of death; and the
investigation done in this case.

3. COLLINS, G., P #324, Detective, Henderson Police Department, or Designee: He

will testify as an expert in homicide investigation, preservation and processing of evidence
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from crime scenes, knowledge of injuries and cause and manner of death; and the
investigation done in this case.

4, Forensic DNA Analyst, Bexar County Criminal Laboratory, 7337 Louis Pasteur
Dr., San Antonio, TX: He/She will testify as an expert in all aspects of DNA including the
statistical assessment of DNA findings and the specific DNA conclusions in this case.

5. GAVIN, Dr. Lisa, Clark County Coroner’s Office: She is an expert in the area of
forensic pathology and will give scientific opinions related thereto. She will testify as to the
findings, conclusions and contents of his autopsy of BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER, and to
the content and his report and photos at autopsy.

6. MCCONNELL, C., P #1749, HPD, or Designee: He is an expert in the area of the
identification, documentation, collection and preservation of evidence and will give opinions
related thereto. He is expected to testify regarding the identification, documenfation,
collection and preservation of evidence in this case.

7. LNU, Paramedic, Henderson Fire and Rescue Unit #98, or Designee: He is a
paramedic with Henderson Fire & Rescue and is an expert in emergency treatment and
response and is expected to testify as to the observations and diagnosis of BRODIE
ASCHENBRENNER. _

. 8. TREATING MD or PA, ABC Pediatrics, 10950 S. Eastern Ave., Ste 100,
Henderson, or Designee: He/She will testify to the medical care and treatment of BRODIE
ASCHENBRENNER for the time period prior to Brodie's death.

9. WHITE, C., P #856, Forensic Analyst, HPD, or Designee: is an expert in forensic

examination of computers, cell phones, and wireless technology, including, but not limited

C:\Prt%rarn Files\Neevia.Com\Document Converteritemp'2438100-2878967.D0C
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to, hardware, software, forensic examination of software, stored files of all kinds, date

2 || recovery, hidden date, hacking and wireless communications and is expected to testify
3 I thereto.
4 The substance of each expert witness' testimony and a copy of all reports made by or
5 at the d1rect10n of the expert witness has been provided in discovery.
| 6 1 A copy of each expert witness' curriculum vitae, if available, is attached hereto.
7
8
9 BY el ¥ Y
DAVID ROGER
10 DISTRICT ATTORNEY
» Nevada Bar #002781
12
13 CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION
14 I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing, was made this 14" day of
‘15 || December, 2011, by facsimile transmission to:
16
17 P. MCDONALD, ESQ.
18 385-5351
19
20 BY: /s/ D. Jason
71 Employee of the District Attorney's Office
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
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Lisa Gavin, M.D., M.PH.

1704 Pinto Lane, Las Vegas, NV 89106 4 702.455.3210 4 LGavin@co.clark.nv.us

Current Position Medical Examiner, 2009 to present

Training &
Education

Office of the Coroner/Medical Examiner, Clark County, Las Vegas, Nevada

Forensic Pathology Fellowship, 2008 to 2009
Office of the Chief Medical Investigaror, Albuquerque, New Mexico

Surgical Pathology Fellowship, 2007-2008

Research
Experience

Awards &
Scholarship

Memberships

Hartford Hospizal, Hartford, Connecticut

Anaromic & Clinical Pathology Residency, 2002 - 2007
Hartford Hospital, Hartford, Connecticut

Post-Sophomore Fellowship in Pathology, 2001 - 2002
Universizy of Connecticut Health Cenzer, Farmingeon, Connecticur

Medical Degree, 2001
University of Connecticut School of Medicine, Farmington, Connecticut

Master Degree of Public Health, 1994
Columbia University School of Public Health, New York, New York

Bachelor of Arts, 1991
Mounr Holyoke College, Sourh Hadley, Massachusetts

Polyoma Virus Hemorrhagic Cystitis in an Otherwise Normal Child, 2008
Hartford Hospital Depariment of Pathology & Depariment of Pediatric Infectious Disease

Metastatic Testicular Choriocarcinoma in a Young Male with Abdominal Pain, 2007 |
Hartford Hospital Depariment of Pathology & University of Connecticut
Deparement of Internal Medicine

Inter-observer Variability in Diagnosing Colon Biopsies as Indefinite for Dysplasia, 2006
Hartford Hospital Department of Pathology

Susceptibility of Streptococcus Pneumonize to Moxifloxacin and
Other Antimicrobial Agents, 2004
Hartford Hospital Department of Pathology & Laberatory Medicine

Dr. Beckett Book Award, 2007 -
Martin Berman Immunopathology Award, 2007
Bloomberg Award for Psychiatry, 2001

American Academy of Forensic Sciences (2009 to presen)
American Society of Clinical Pathology (2003 — 2008, 2010)
United States and Canadian College of Pathologist {2005 — 2007)
College of American Pathologist (Delegate 2003 — 2007)
Connecticut Society of Pathologists (CSP} Delegate (2003 — 2007)

Next Page > > >
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Lisa Gavin, M.D., M.PH.

1704 Pinto Lane, Las Vegas, NV 89106 4 7024553210 4 LGavin@co.clark.nv.us

Connecticut Malignant Peritoneal Mesothelioma in 17 year-old male, January 2006
Society of Focal Nodular H: lasi 2004 |
Pathologists yperplasia, june
Presentations
Resident & Two Unusual Neuropathology Cases, January 2008
Fgllow Topics Testicular Germ Cell Tumors, October 2007
Waldenstroms Macroglobulinemia, October 2005
Minimal Change Disease & Focal Segmental Glomerular Sclerosis, October 2004
Crescentic Glomerulonephritis or Rapidly Progressive Glomerulonephritis, January 2004
Mitral Valve Prolapse and Sudden Death, July 2003
Previous Work  Teacher of “Correlated Medical Problem Solving” Course, 2001 ~ 2002
Experience University of Connecticut School of Medlicine, Farmington Connecticut
Manager of South Marshal Street Pediatric Clinic, 1995 - 1997
Salvarion Army, South Marshall Streer, Hariford Connecticur
Administrative Assistant to the Director of Admissions & Career Development
and to the Director of Academic & Student Affairs, 1992 - 1994
Columbia University School of Public Health, New York, New York
Tutor and Evaluator of children with learning disabilities, 1988 — 1994 & 1996 — 1997
Milford, Connecticut & Farmington, Connecticut
Coordinator of Infant Registration Project, 1991 — 1992
New York City Department of Health: Office of Child Health Planning, New York, New York
Service Work * Annual Host for summer high-school student tours of Hartford Hospital

Medical License

Department of Pathology

Education of Medical Students & Residents on rotation in Harcford Hospital
Department of Pathology

Guest speaker for Public Relations Deparement at Hartford Hospital
for local middle-school children -

* Guidance 1o Medical Technician Students interested in future careers in Medicine

* Editor of personal statements and resumes

State of New Mexico, 2008 — 2011
State of Nevada, 2009 — 2011

Eligible For Anatomic Pathology,”
Clinical Pathology and Forensic Pathology Boards
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1 | NOTC !
DAVID ROGER i
2 || Clark County District Attorney E
Nevada Bar #002781 !
J | ANDREA RACBHIELE |
Chief Deputy District Attorney
4 1| Nevada ﬁ’ar #009158
200 Lewis Avenue t
5 || Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 |
(702) 671-2500 |
6 | Attorney for Plaintiff !
7 DISTRICT COURT ‘
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA.
3
9 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
10 Plaintiff, CASENO: C-l 1-27765(?-1
1 V5= DEPTNO: XXIl J
12 | MICHAEL ALAN LEE, |
#1699107
3 Defendant.
14
' NOTICE OF EXPERT WITNESSES
15 [NRS 174.234(2)]
16 |
17 TO: MICHAEL ALAN LEE, Defendant; and iz
18 TO: P.MCDONALD, ESQ., Counsel of Record: i
19 YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the STATE OF
z
70 | NEVADA intends to call the following witnesses in its case in chief:

[
]

b]
3

1. BECKWITH, K., P #1739, Crime Scene Analyst, Henderson Police! Department,
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DAVID ROGER
2 | Clark County District Attorney ' CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #002781
3 | ANDREA RACHIELE
Chief Deputy District Attorney
4 || Nevada Bar #009158
200 Lewis Avenue
5 | Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
Il (702) 671-2500
6 | Attorney for Plaintiff
7 DISTRICT COURT
5 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
9 || THE STATE OF NEVADA, ) |
10 Plaintiff, g CASENO: C-11-277650-1
11 -V§- % DEPT NO: XXIlI
12 || MICHAEL ALAN LEE, )
3 #1699107 g
_ Defendant. %
14
NOTICE OF WITNESSES
15 [NRS 174.234(1)(a)]
16
17 TO: MICHAEL ALAN LEE, Defendant; and
I8 TQ: P. MCDONALD, ESQ., Counsel of Record:
19 YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the STATE OF
20 || NEVADA intends to call the following witnesses in its case in chief:
21 || NAME ADDRESS
22 || BECKWITH, K. - HPD #1739
23 | BLAZVICK, Melissa, or Designee Smith’s, 1000 N. Green Vly Pkwy, Hen. NV
24 | BOYD, Annette, or Designee Sunridge Heights Apartments,
25 _ 2900 Sunridge Hgts., Henderson, NV
26 | BURTON, Kathleen C/O P. McDonald, Esq., 601 S. 7% St., LV
27 | BUTLER, Amanda C/O CCDA’s Office, VWAC unit
28 ||
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CARTER, Candice

NV Dept of Parole & Probation,

2 _ 215 E. Bonanza, LV, NV
3 | COLLINS, G. HPD #324 |
4 CUSTODIAN.OF RECORDS or Designee ABC Pediatrics, 10950 S. Eastern, Ste 100,
5 H.enderson, NV
6 || CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS or Designee | ”Béxar County Criminal Laboratory,
7 7337 Louis Pasteur Dr., San Antonio, TX
8. || CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS or Designeé Henderson Fire & Rescue, 240 Water St.,
9 Henderson, NV
10 | DAHL, Nancy Clark County Coroner’s Office
11 | ENGEL, M. HPD #1254
12 || FICO, Danny C/O P. McDonald, Esq., 601 S. 7" St., LV
13 | FORENSIC DNA SPECIALIST Bexar County Criminal Laboratory,
14 7337 Louis Pasteur Dr., San Antonio, TX
15 {| FOSTER, Arica C/O CCDA’s Office, VWAC unit
16 {| GAVIN, Dr. Lisa Clark County Coroner’s Office
17 | HAMILTON, John C/O P. McDonald, Esq., 601 8. 7™ St.,LV
18 | HOSAKA,M. HPD #777
19 | LEE, Gary C/O P. McDonald, Esq., 601 S, 7" St., LV
20 || LEE, Jennifer C/O P. McDonald, Esq., 601 8. 7" St., LV
21 || LNU, Paramedic Henderson Fire & Rescue Unit #98
22 240 Water St., Henderson, NV
23 | MCCONNELL, C. HPD #1749
24 | MCKENNA, D. HPD #277
25 || MITCHELL, C. HPD #949
26 || MOSHER, Merridee C/O CCDA’s Office, VWAC unit
27 | MOSIER, Brad C/O CCDA’s Office, VWAC unit
28 i OPIE, Alayne C/O CCDA’s Office, VWAC unit
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PANET-SWANSON, M. | HPD #649

1
2 || RASMUSSEN, T. HPD #954
3 || SMITH, Nicole ‘ C/O CCDA’s Office, VWAC unit
4 | TREATING MD or PA ABC Peciatrics, 10950 s. Eastern, Ste 100,
5 Henderson, NV
6 | wmitE,C. HPD #856
7 || YUREK, T. HPD #3880
8 These witnesses are in addition to those witnesses endorsed on the Information and
9 || any other witness for which a separate Notice has been filed.
10
11
13 BY ‘\& '3 7
DAVID ROGER
; Novada Bar #002781
15
16
17 CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION
18 |
19 I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing, was made this 14™ day of
| 20 | December, 2011, by facsimile transmission to: |
21 P. MCDONALD, ESQ.
79 385-5351
23
24 BY: /s/ D. Jason
25 Employee of the District Attorney's Office
26
27
28
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1 | NoTC
DAVID ROGER I
2 || Clark County District Attorney |
Nevada Bar #002781 !
3 | ANDREA RACHIELE |
I Chlef D uty District Attorney =
4 ar #009158
200 Lew1s Avenue
5 Il Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
: gOZ ) 671-2500
6 ttorney for Plaintiff
71 DISTRICT COURT |
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA ;
8 ' .
o | THE STATE OF NEVADA, ) |
10 Plaintiff, CASE NO: C-11-277650-1
1 vs- DEPTNO: XXM
12 { MICHAEL ALAN LEE, ;
#1699107
13 Defendant. |
14 .
NOTICE OF WITNESSES |
15 | [NRS 174.234(1)(a)] :
16 |
17 TO: MICHAEL ALANLEE, Defendant; and
18 TO: P. MCDONALD, ESQ., Counsel of Record:
19 YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the STATE OF
20 | NEVADA intends to call the following witnesses in its case in chiefi |
21 | NAME - ADDRESS |
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DAVID ROGER
2 Clark County District Attomey CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #002781
3 | DAVID STANTON
Chief Deputy District Attorney
4 || Nevada Bar #003202
200 Lewis Avenue
5 || Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
g702) 671-2500
6 tate of Nevada
7
8 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
9
10 S
In the Matter of Application, )
11 )
of )
12 7 Case No. C277650
13 | MICHAEL AL AN LEE, Dept No. XXIII
#1699107 ) :
14
for a Writ of Habeas Corpus. % :
15
16 RETURN TO WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
17 DATE OF HEARING: JANUARY 4, 2012
TIME OF HEARING: 11:00 A M.
18 :
19 COMES NOW, DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE, Sheriff of Clark County, Nevada,
20 | Respondent, through his counsel, DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, through DAVID
21 | STANTON, Chief Deputy District Attorney, in obedience to a writ of habeas corpus issued
27 || out of and under the seal of the above-entitled Court on the 12th day of December, 2011, and
23 || made returnable on the 4th day of January, 2012, at the hour of 11:00 o'clock A.M., before
24 | the above-entitled Court, and states as follows:
25 1, Respondent denies the allegations of Paragraph(s) 3 and 4 of the
26 | Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.
7 2. Paragraph(s) 1, 2, 5 and 6 do not require admission or denial.
28 | //
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3. The Petitioner is in the actual custody of DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE,

1

2 || Clark County Sheriff, Respondent herein, pursuant to a Criminal Information, a copy of

3 || which is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated by reference herein.

4 Wherefore, Respondent prays that the Writ of Habeas Corpus be discharged and the

5 | Petition be dismissed.

6 DATED this 21st day of December, 2011.

7 Respectfully submitted,

8 DAVID ROGER

Clark County District Attorney

9 Nevada Bar # 002781
10
11 BY /s/ David Stanton
12 gﬁé/flges E&/%Eggct Attorney
3 Nevada Bar #003202
14 POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
15 The instant petition should be denied in its entirety for two (2) principle reasons.
16 |i First, the “facts” set forth in the petition are misteading and selectively edited to support their
17 argumént. In the critical areas of this case, the selective factual presentation in the writ
18 || paints an inaccurate picture of the facts presented. Second, the writ fails to accurately state
19 || the law regarding child abuse murder in Nevada.
20 The instant Petition concedes, as it must, that Brodie Aschenbrenner was murdered.
21 | The Petition makes several inaccurate representations of what evidence was introduced at the
22 | Preliminary Hearing. The following are but a few of these examples.
23 The most critical involve the medical testimony of Dr. Lisa Gavin who performed the
24 || autopsy on Brodie and determined the cause and manner of Brodie’s death.  First, the
25 || Petition claims: “Dr, Gavin testified that she could not, with a degree of certainty, say
26 | exactly when the injuries occurred which caused Brodie’s death,” Petition, pg. 8, Ins 8-9, A
27 || claim repeated and argued by Mr. McDonald at close of the Preliminary Hearing. PHTr. pg.
28 I 139, lns. 5-12. In fact, Dr. Gavin was able to testify, from a medical degree of certainty that
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the primary cause of Brodie’s death (acute peritonitis) occurred within “minutes to hours”
from his death. PHTr. pp. 46/47; 47, In. 23-24, This blunt force trauma was the type and
severity seen in fatal antomobile coliisions. PHTR. pg. 49, Ins. 19-24. There were numerous
injuries to Brodie’s abdomen that are consistent with such a fatal injury, They include
significant blunt force abrasions and a fractured rib. GITr. g. 53.

The secondary cause of Brodie’s death was swelling of the brain from repeated and

e Nl i w1
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13
14
15
16

17

18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

27

28

severe blows to his head. GJTr. pp. 54-56; pg. 80-81. These injuries occurred with Brodie’s
last twenty-four (24) hours of life. GJTr. pp. 63-64; pg. 65, In, 13, Thus, the timing of the ‘
fatal injuries was clearly testified to and was not imprecise.

Next, the Petition strongly suggests and cites to Arica’s testimony about a pre-
existing car accident could have been the source of the injuries to Brodie, Petition cites, at
Jength to this testimony but makes no direct argument as to the relevance of this testimony.
The mere fact that this was cited by the in the petition begs the question why? The answer is
compelling but completely avoided in the petition. In fact, both Dr. Gavin and Brodie’s
mother clearly ruled that event as having no cause and effect to the fatal injuries in this case.
PHTr pg. 81, Ins. 2-15. (Dr. Gavin); PHTr. p. 113-114 (Arica Foster).

Further, the Petition claims, repeatedly, that the mother of Brodie (Arica) was, at
times, alone with Brodie when these fatal injuries could have been inflicted. For example
the Petition states: “By Arica’s own testimoﬁy, and the time frame given by Dr. Gavin, she
was the person who had been alone with Brodie in those twenty-four (24) hours preceding
his [Brodie’s] death.” Petition, pg. 11, Ins 18-19. Agéin: “It would appear by the record that
the substantial periods of timé in which, [sic] even Arica testified, that Brodie was alone for
a period of time long enough to sustain the injuries, was when he was in her care.” Petition,
pg. 19, Ins 16-18; see also Petition, pg. 24, Ins 5-11. This claim is clearly belied by the
actual record of the Preliminary Heariﬁg. The fact that the petition purposefully decides not
to mention if, does not morph that into a fact. ‘

i
I
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Incredibly, the Petition fails to mention that Petitioner was not only left alone with
Brodie, but that the timing of these events is more compelling about when the fatal injuries
were inflicted. o

This Court would have had no accurate knowledge of the events leading up to

Brodie’s death relying on the petition’s statement of facts. In fact, it is uncontroverted that

Petitioner was also alone with Brodie on numerous occasions, These occasions are critical in
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light of the manner and cause of Brodie’s death and the motive that exists for the repeated
and severe beatings. After the Mandalay Bay Shark Reef visit, all three (Brodie, Arica &
Petitioner) traveled by car to a couple of businesses to run errands. On one occasion, Arica
went into her hair salon to get some money back since she had previously overpaid for some
services. PHTr. pg. 96, No where in the petition does the testimony of this event exist,
however, it is quite compelling what actually occurred. Arica testified as follows:

Q:  When you went into the hair salon how long were you in there?
Five minutes.
When you went in what was Brodie doing?

Sleeping.

o r o >

When you came out what was he doing?
A: Screaming.
PHTr. pg. 96, Ins 2-8.

Yet the Petition repeatedly argues that Arica, Brodie’s mother, was the one (1) pérson
alone with Brodie during that last twenty-four (24) hours of his life and therefore was the
person who inflicted the fatal beating injuries to Brodie.

Petitioner was also alone when the mother went out for approximately an hour during
Tuesday evening to go to her mother’s home and to the store to purchase milk for Brodie.
GJTr. pp. 100-103. Petitioner was annoyéd and angry that he was left with Brodie. GJTr.
pg. 102, Ins 16-235. ,

Incredibly, the Petition fails to mention that when Brodie is suffering signs of his fatal

beating, vomiting, he was “found” by the petitioner alone. GJTr, 104, Further, when taking
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1 | care of Brodie (Petitioner played no role in caring for Brodie when he was vomiting) the
2 | relevant testimony was:
3 Q:  What did Brodie tell you about how he was feeling?
4 ‘A:  He told me that his head hurt.
5 {| GITr. pg. 106, Ins 5-7.
6 Another compelling fact omitted from the instant Petitioﬁ i.s-t“he Behavior exhibi{ed by
7 | Brodie towards the Petitioner during the last day of his life. On several occasions Brodie did
8 || not want to be near the Petitioner, One example was this: |
9 Q:  Once again what was Brodie’s demeanor towards the defendant
10 at Circus Circus? |
1'1 A:  Brady [Brodic] didn’t want Mike [Petitioner] to be near him.
12 § GJTr. pg. 93, Ins 21-23.
13 " One would think that a two (2) year old child who is being beaten to death might
14 | exhibit behavior during the time period reflecting who their abuser is. In fact, Brodie did —
15 | he didn’t want o have anything to do with Petitioner. These uncontroverted facis are
16 || somehow irrelevant to the sufficiency analysis and argument set forth in the Petition.
17 | Another examplef
18 | Q:  What happened when you arrived at Mandalay Bayin regards to
19 how Brodie was acting? |
20 A:  Brodie didn’t want to hold Mike’s [Petitioner] hand.
91 Q:  He didn’t want to hold the defendant’s hand?
2 A:  Correct. |
Q:  Was that consistent how he [Brodic] behaved at the Mandalay
23 Bay Shark Reef? -
24 A:  Correct.
25 Q:  The entire time?
26 A Yeah
27 || GITr. pg. 93, Ins 4-14.
28 || /
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1 Ongce again, facts clearly omitted from the factual presentation in the instant petition.
2 || Once again the following passage was conveniently omitted from the petition that directly
3 | contradicts the assertions made in the petition. Petition, pg. 18-19. Here, the petition quotes
4 | a lengthy passage of Arica’s testimony, yet stops just short of the next portion of Arica’s
5 || testimony that is extremely relevant and directly contradicts the entirety I the petition’s
6 | argument. Aricé’s omitted testimony (on cross-examination by Mr. McDonald) is as
7 || follows: |
8 Q:  Did Brodie ever tell you that Mike had hit him?
9 A:  He told me one time the bump hurt head. He used to call

10 Mike buiimp.

T Q:  Bump hurt head?

12 A: Yes.

T Q:  Did he tell you what had happened?

14 A:  No.

s Q:  When was that he said bump hurt head?

A: 1 dor’t remember exactly when. A couple weeks before he

16 Brodie passed away.

17 Q:  Did you ask Mike about that?

18 A:  Yesh. Mike was standing there.

19 Q:  Were you concerned about it?

20 A:  For a minute, yes.

21 Q:  What alleviated your concern about it?

22 A:  He [Mike] told me they were wrestling and he hit his head.

23 Q:  Did Mike wrestle with Brodie?

24 A:  They played.

25 Q:  They would play wrestling in the apartment? -

26 A:  Sometimes.

27 Q:  Did Brodie enjoy wrestling?

28 A:  No.
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PHTY. pp. 134-135.

Motive. There was substantial evidence that Petitioner was frustrated with Brodie not
being potty trained fast enough. Further, Brodie had an episode where he wet himself at
McDonald during the last day of his life. PHTr. pg. 94; pg. 96-97; to read the petition, none
of these events ever happened. An unfortunate characteristic of child abuse is the frustration

created, in the abuser’s mind, from the failure to be potty trained. Yet, the petition wants
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this Court to view the evidence at Preliminary Hearing as Brodie’s biclogical mother, for
absolutely no reason, begins to savagely beat to death her own son. '

The petition argues: “Arica testified that Brodie was very clumsy and although she

had previously advised to take Brodie to a neurologist, she neglected to do s0.” Petition pe.

18, Ins 18-20. Once again, the complete testimony sheds a completely different and more
accurate explanation to these events.

Q:  Did you ever take Brodie to a pediatric neurologist?

A:  No. My pediatrician said not to worry about it.
Q:  So you discussed it with the pediatfician?
A Yes,
PHTr, pg. 134, Ins. 10-15 (emphasis added).
The quoted portion of Arica’s actual testimony explains why: “my pediatrician said
not to worry about it.” Thus, Arica did not neglect to bring Brodie to the doctor; sh_e_@

advised by Brodie’s doctor that it was not necessary!

The petition cites to the testimony of Merridee Moshier, Brodie’s grandmother. If
you were to read the Petition’s “factual statement” one would be left with the false
impression that she testified Brodie was a very clumsy child and was constantly getting
bruises. Ms. Moshier testified to much more than that. The critical aspect 6f her testimony,
not surprisingly, is completely absent from the petition. Ms. Moshier is a registered nurse
with a double maters degree. She has worked in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) at UMC and
has been around children throughout her twenty-seven (27) year nursing career. She was the

last adult person, outside of Petitioner and Arica, to care for Brodie before he died. On
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Sunday evening she bathed and applied lotion to Brodie’s naked body. PHTr. pp. 11-12.
She had the ability to observe him from head to tow and any injuries that were on his body.
When she was shown State’s exhibits 2-4, the photos of Brodic at autopsy, she adamantly
denied that she had never seen anything like the nature, severity and most of the injuries
depicted in those photographs. Thus, to suggest, as the petition clearly does, that the entirety

of the relevant testimony of Ms. Moshier was that Brodie was clumsy and bruises a lot is
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simply a gross mischaracterization of the record. Her testimony clearly shows that Brodie
was delivered to Arica and Petitioner, with a few minor bruises and he was otherwise in
excellent health and full of vigor.

The petition states that “Mr. Stanton’s testimony follows in part ...” Petition, pg. 19,
line 25. So the record is clear, Mr. Stanton did not testify at the Preliminary Hearing.
Further, the citation to the State’s closing arguments proves the point and highlights the
exact reasons why the instant petition must be denied in its entirety. There is not evidence to
suggest that Arica inflicted any of numerous and fatal injuries to her own child. Once again
a highlight of critical testimony notideably absent from the instant petition’s rendition of
facts:

Q: My final question to you, Miss Foster, is did you in any way
harm Brodie from Sunday evening to when you just rubbed his
back on the next morning [when Brodie was found dead]?

A: - No, sir,

GJTr. 111, Ins 12-15,

The entire basis of the instant petition argues that Brodie was murdered, but the
evidence at preliminary hearing establishes that it was his mother, Arica and not the
Petitioner who murdered Brodie. Yet, that exact question was asked of Arica, under oath,

and yet was not mentioned, at all, in the petition.

SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRODUCED AT PRELIMINARY HEARING

The petition argues: “there was absolutely no evidence presented by the State to

make a determination that probable cause existed to believe that Petitioner committed the

offenses he has been charged with.” Petition, pg. 23, Ins 17-19 (emphasis in original). The
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1 | entirety of the petition’s argument is merely to repeat this phrase, in one form or another,
2 || throughout the “legal analysis” portion of the petition. The petition is devoid of any actual
3 || legal analysis of the facts adduced at the preliminary hearing and the law.
4 It is a simple principle of criminal law regarding the State’s burden at a preliminary
5 i hearing, The Nevada Supreme Court held:
0 A preliminary examination is not a trial. At the preliminary
examination, where the state 1s charged-only-with- the-burdenof
7 showing that a crime has been comimitted and that the accused
probablf( committed it, the quantum of proof 1s not so great as at
8 the triai, where the state's burden is to prove guilt beyond a
reasonable doubt. Moreover, we have held that to commit a
9 defendant for trial the state is not required to negate all
inferences but need only present enough proof to support a
10 reasonable inference that the accused commutted the offense.
11 Whittley v. Sheriff, Clark County, 87 Nev. 614, 616, 491 P.2d 1282, 1283 (197]) (emphasis
12 || added).
13 Next, the petition completely misstates and apparently misunderstands the law
14 || regarding murder. Petitioner complains that no evidence was produced to establish “intent.”
15 || The petition cites, in four (4) pages, to the language of NRS 200.010 (Murder) and NRS
16 | 200.508 (Child Abuse with Substantial Bodily Harm) but makes no argument on how the
17 || law has been misapplied by Judge Gibson. Petition, pg. 26-30. The entirety of the argument
18 || is largely incoherent as it says nothing. This is best shown by the argument expressed as
19 || follows: “The statute which governs the elements to substantiate a charge of Murder are [sic]
20 { outlined in NRS 200.010.” Petition, pg. 27, Ins. 2-3. In fact, thé elements are not found in
21 || NRS 200.010. NRS 200.010 defines malice and the relationship that malice has to the
22 || offense of murder. |
23 The elements of murder, as defined and charged in the criminal complaint before
24 || Judge Gibson are found in NRS 200.030. First degree murder is statutory defined to include
25 || the act of child abuse. One need not look far (or hard for that matter) to find the reasoning
26 || and basis for these definitions. The Nevada Supreme Court has held:
27 “It is unnecessary to analyze murder by means of child abuse in
terms of deliberation and premeditation because the soundest
28 view is simply that a murder perpetrated by an enumerated
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means is first-degree murder by force of statute, without legal

1 concern with or factual inquiry into willfulness, deliberation, and
5 premeditation,
3 || Collmanv. State, 116 Nev. 687, 714, 7 P.3d 426, 443 (2000).
4 Likewise, the petition’s “analysis” as it relates Count 2 — Child Abuse with
5 || Substantial Bodily Harm merely cites the statute and makes the broad allegation that no
6 || evidence was presented to support this charge. Once again, there petition is devoid of any
7 || factual or legal analysis at all. The State cannot meaningfully and intelligently reply to an 1
8 || argument that does not undertake any such legal/factual analysis. The only response form
9 | the State, based upon what the petition actually states is: yes, we presented sufficient
10 | evidence to establish the elements as reflected in the preliminary hearing transcript.
11 CORPUS DELICTI DOCTRINE
12 The Corpus Delicti doctrine has relevant applications under two circumstances: (1)
13 | when the sole basis of a criminal prosecution is based upon the defendant’s confession to
14 | police; and (2) i a criminal case when an issue exists as to whether a person died (missing |
15 | body cases) or, if they did die, whether the death was the result of criminal agency (See
16 || Frutiger, et al).
17 'The argument made in this section of the petition is completely nonsensical since this
18 | case has no application to with the corpus delicti doctrine. The first prong, as outlined
19 | above, is irrelevant since the.Defendant’s statement was not admitted at the Preliminary
20 || Hearing and the doctrine has never been applied at a Preliminary Hearing, The second prong
21 || cannot possibly be relevant as the argument is inherently inconsistent with the petition itself.
22 || As the Petition states several times, the uncontroverted medical testimony presented at the
23 preliminary hearing conclusively establishes that Brodie was murdered. His death was of
24 || non-accidental trauma intentionally inflicted upon a two (2) year old boy. The issue, if one
25 || exists, is not whether a crime committed, but who committed the crime. The corpus delicti
26 || doctrine has nothing to do with this inquiry or analysis at all.
27 . Petition’s citation to Hooker, Beasley and others compound the confusion further. All
28 |i of the cases cited to in the petition speak to one of the two issues outlined above regarding
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the corpus delicti doctrine. Criminal agency is conceded and argued in the petition that the

2 (| person criminally liable for Brodie’s death is the biologiceﬂ mother, Arica. Thus, the Petition
3 || itself contradicts any claim that the corpus delicti doctring applies in this case.
4 Simply put, this argument makes no factual or legal sense.
5 CONCLUSION
6 The instant Petition fails to fully cite to the facts produced at the Preliminary Hearing.
7 || The selective edited portions cited in the petition are misleading and incomplete. Brodie
8 || Aschenbrenner was murdered. The evidence produced at the Preliminary Hearing clearly
9 || establishes that petitioner is his killer, The instant petition should be denied in its entirety.
10 DATED this 21st day of December, 2011.
11 Respectfully submitted,
12 DAVID ROGER
Clark County District Attorney
13 Nevada Bar # 002781
14
15 BY /s/ David Stanton
DAVID STANTON
16 Chief Deputy District Attorney
17 Nevada Bar #003202
18
19 CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION
20 I hereby certify that service of Return To Writ Of Habeas Corpus, was made this 21st
21 | day of December, 2011, by facsimile transmission to:
22 PATRICK MCDONALD, Esq.
385-5351
23
24
BY: /s/R. Johnson
25 R. Johnson
26 Employee of the District Attorney's Office
27
28

C:\Pro;inim Files\Neevia.Com\Document Converteritemp\2462287-2908297.DOC

118




g

......... }: airomoatly Filed
] - ’1\:-.\ G;&Gq ’-l‘} §"ﬁ

= L NP -

7 .{I}ﬁ&’ D ROGER

= Chark County Distdet Atlorney
= 1 Nevads Bar 800278

b im‘ﬂ D L. STANTON

1 Chief Deputy District Attomey
= 4 & Nevada Ev R0

=3 200 Lowis AVENUS

o f \L& \ cgik Mevada 891552212

CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURY
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

& | P MUDONALD, BSQ.

W THE $TA i"‘“ (F NEVADA,

i Plaintifl, Case Mo: -1 LRTTRE0A

Dept Now XX

1y :

13 m 1, ALAN LEE,
14 INFOEMATION

Defendant,

e St Nt Aot b St e P e P g8

I F STATE OF NEVADA
7 8 COUNTY OF OLARK
i BAYID ROGER, Districl Attovney within and for the County of Clark, Stk of

et N e
e
o

rs

19§ Nevada, in the ngrag wnd by the authority of the State of Mevada, informs the Comrty
30 That 300 HAEL ALAN LEE, the Defendani(s) above named, having committed the
218 drimes of MURDER {Category A Felotiy « NRS 200018, 200,036, 200.508) and CHILD

22 | ABUSE & NEGLECT WITH SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM (Cetegory B Felony -

23 | NRS 200,508, 0.060), on or between the 13t day of June, 20171 and the 15th day of Jane,
24 1 2011, within the County of Ulark, State of Nevade, contrary to the form, force and effect of

statulen in such cages made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the Siate of

At
LA

6§ Mevada,

Iy

R i

RO RS R VIAC UMD MENT CONYERIERY T4 300 s

N

118



L

. then and these, seithout
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authonity of Iaw and with madice aforethought, willdly and Telonimaly kil RRODIE
ASCHENBRENNER, a miner child being approximately 2 yews of age of age, by
subjecting the said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER to acts of child abuse, to-wit; by suiling

the said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER. in the abdominal ares andlor did cause blunt force

traumg 0 BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER'S abdomina! area in an vnknows manger, all of
- which resulted in the death of said BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER,

did, on or between June 13, 2011 and Jume 14, 2011, wiltully, wnlawfully,
icloniousty, and keowingly neglect, cause, or porniit & ohild under the age of 1% years, to-
witt  BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER, betng approxinwtely 2 vears of age, to suifer
unustifiable physieal pain and substential bodily harin, By stiking ihe said BRODIE
ABCH
ASUHE
BROME ASCHENBRENNER had suffered besd infwies, Defendant did @il 1o sesk

medionl cave for the said BRODIE ASUHENBRENNER.

INBRENNER o the head andior did couse Shant fome trawms w BRODIE

BRENNER™S head i-an unkoown manser andior afier dofermining ihat dhe sald

<

BY

DAVIVROCER ™™™
BISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #0278

Naes of whnesses known fo the Distiet Attomey's Offices g die thne of fling this |

information are a8 followy;

ASCHENBRENNER, Dastin 2600 S Montana, Butle, MT
BENJAMING, ¥, HPD 720
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